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Ministers’ Messages �

I am pleased to present to Parliament the 2006 – 2007 Departmental Performance 
Report for the Department of Human Resources and Social Development. This Performance 
Report represents achievements against the commitments set out in the Report on Plans and 
Priorities, and provides Canadians with the assurance that their government is accountable 
for results achieved.

Canada’s New Government has made it clear that we want to bolster Canada’s competitiveness. 
Advantage Canada — our long-term economic plan — is designed to make us a world leader 

for today and future generations. One of its key pillars is building a Knowledge Advantage; we have set a bold, but 
achievable, goal to create the best educated, most skilled and most flexible workforce in the world. 

Budget 2007 put the Knowledge Advantage in action with the announcement that the government will invest $3 billion 
over 6 years to increase participation in the workforce through new agreements with provinces and territories. In addition, 
I have signed agreements with Prince Edward Island, Nova Scotia, Quebec and the Yukon for the Targeted Initiative 
for Older Workers. As well, Budget 2007 enhanced the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Partnership Program 
by $105 million over five years. 

As Minister of Human Resources and Social Development Canada, I have had the opportunity to see first hand 
how the Department touches the lives of citizens. I am excited by the important steps we are taking as a department 
to help Canadians seize opportunities and build better lives for themselves and their families.

During this past year, Canada’s New Government has also taken a leadership role in supporting the choices of Canadians 
to actively participate in society. In July 2006 we launched Canada’s Universal Child Care Benefit. Some two million 
families now receive benefits that support their child care choices.

We are also helping persons with disabilities. We have put in place changes to the Canada Pension Plan and Old Age 
Security Act (Bill C-36) that provide enhanced disability benefits for long time contributors to the Canada Pension Plan. 
At the same time, in collaboration with Canada Revenue Agency, seniors who file income tax returns will benefit from 
the on-going renewal of the Guaranteed Income Supplement without having to re-apply every year.

As well, in December 2006, Canada’s New Government delivered on its commitment to help those who are homeless 
and those at risk of becoming homeless by introducing a new Homelessness Partnering Strategy. Combined with renewed 
investment in Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation’s renovation programs, this represents an investment 
of $526 million over two years to help Canadians have access to safe and secure homes.

Finally, Service Canada is the Government of Canada’s one stop service delivery network. In partnership with other 
departments, agencies and levels of government, it provides Canadians with a growing range of government programs 
and services. We have introduced an automated, on-line reading service to assist the visually impaired and introduced 
171 new points of service, some of which provide multi-lingual service. This has resulted in ninety-five percent of 
Canadians now living within 50 kilometres of a Service Canada point of service.

Human Resources and Social Development Canada is committed to service and excellence. We will continue to serve 
Canadians with a focus on enhancing accountability and real results.

The Honourable Monte Solberg, P.C., M.P.
Minister of Human Resources and Social Development
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The Labour Program plays a pivotal role in creating a successful and prosperous 
Canada by promoting and protecting the rights and well-being of employees and their 
employers. The workplace is where Canada’s wealth is generated and where most Canadians 
spend a significant part of their lives. It is the goal of the Labour Program to help ensure that 
the workplace functions well. 

Through our programs and services, the Labour Program helps both employees and employers 
meet the challenge and opportunities of the changing workplace. By promoting fair, stable, 
safe, healthy and productive workplaces and by providing labour-related research and 

information, we help improve the quality of life of all Canadians.

We are proud of our successes in the last year, which include:

• the resolution of important labour disputes;

• the modernization of rules and regulations, and improvement of enforcement and compliance related 
to occupational health and safety; 

• advancements related to issues concerning employment and pay equity, wage earner protection and the review 
of labour standards;

• promotion of a racism free workplace; and

• advancements in the negotiation and implementation of international labour cooperation agreements 
and related activity programs.

The Labour Program works with other orders of government in many of its activities. We collaborate with our 
provincial and territorial partners to help build better workplaces across Canada. On the international stage, where 
we are the voice of Canadians concerning labour issues, we work with our international partners to promote core 
labour standards and improved living and working conditions. 

The collaborative efforts of the Labour Program and Human Resources and Social Development Canada, will continue 
to ensure that Canadian employees and employers are provided with every opportunity to compete and thrive in the 
new global workplace and to build a stronger, more sustainable Canada.

The Honourable Jean-Pierre Blackburn, P.C., M.P.
Minister of Labour and Minister of the Economic Development 

Agency of Canada for the Regions of Quebec
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Management Representation Statements

Human Resources and Social Development Canada 
I submit for tabling in Parliament, the 2006 – 2007 Departmental Performance Report for Human Resources and Social 
Development Canada.

This document has been prepared based on the reporting principles contained in the Guide for the Preparation of Part III 
of the 2006–2007 Estimates: Reports on Plans and Priorities and Departmental Performance Reports:

• It adheres to the specific reporting requirements outlined in the Treasury Board Secretariat guidance;
• It is based on the Department’s approved Strategic Outcome(s) and Program Activity Architecture that were 

approved by the Treasury Board;
• It presents consistent, comprehensive, balanced and reliable information; 
• It provides a basis of accountability for the results achieved with the resources and authorities entrusted to it; and 
• It reports finances based on approved numbers from the Estimates and the Public Accounts of Canada.

Janice Charette
Deputy Minister

Human Resources and Social Development
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Labour
To the best of my knowledge, the results achieved in support of the Labour program are presented in a complete, 
accurate and balanced manner in the 2006 – 2007 Departmental Performance Report for Human Resources and Social 
Development Canada.

Munir A. Sheikh
Deputy Minister of Labour and Associate Deputy Minister 

of Human Resources and Social Development 
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Service Canada
To the best of my knowledge, the results achieved in support of Service Canada are presented in a complete, accurate 
and balanced manner in the 2006 – 2007 Departmental Performance Report for Human Resources and Social 
Development Canada.

Hélène Gosselin
Deputy Head of Service Canada and Associate Deputy Minister 

of Human Resources and Social Development 
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Introduction

T his document reports on the performance of 
Human Resources and Social Development Canada 

for the period from April 1, 2006 to March 31, 2007. 
It reports on the Department’s achievements related 
to the commitments set out in the 2006 – 2007 Report 
on Plans and Priorities. 

This section provides a departmental overview, includ-
ing a brief description of the socio-economic environ-
ment, and a summary of departmental performance. 
Section II includes detailed performance results infor-
mation by strategic outcome. The financial tables and 
information concerning the specified purpose accounts 
are in Section III and Section IV provides more details 
on programs supporting activities and the consolidated 
financial statements.

The Department’s vision is to build a strong and com-
petitive Canada, to support Canadians in making 
choices that help them live productive and rewarding 
lives and to improve Canadians’ quality of life. The 
Department’s broad economic and social mandate 
touches all Canadians: from families with children 
to seniors, from school to work, moving from one job 
to another, from unemployment to employment, and 
from the workforce to retirement. The Department works 
to provide Canadians with the tools they need to thrive 
and prosper in the economy and society through access 
to learning and training opportunities, safe and pro-
ductive working conditions and labour-management 
relations, as well as policies, programs and services 
that support the well being of individuals and families 
and their participation in the economy and society.

Ensuring Canadians have the tools they need to 
participate fully in the knowledge-based economy 
and to face today’s labour market challenges, requires 
the active participation of a multitude of partners with 
the Department acting as a catalyst. Human Resources 
and Social Development Canada works closely with its 
provincial and territorial partners, building on established 
relationships through multilateral and bilateral forums. 
Employers and unions have an important role in work-
place skills investments. Promoting socio-economic 
well-being also involves working in partnership with 
the voluntary sector and not-for-profit organizations, 
learning partners, community groups, including 

official language minority communities, and the 
private sector to develop integrated programs and 
provide information and services to Canadians. The 
Department works with numerous international part-
ners to learn and share best practices and approaches 
to maximizing participation of Canadians in economic 
and social development.

To deliver on its mandate, the Department provides 
programs and services to millions of Canadians. This 
includes providing income support through legislated 
pension benefits, temporary income support during 
periods of unemployment, and employment programs 
that enable Canadians to prepare for, find and keep 
employment. The Department promotes lifelong learning 
by encouraging skills development in workplaces and 
by developing and disseminating information about the 
labour market. Human Resources and Social Development 
Canada also financially invests in learning to facilitate 
access to post-secondary education and adult learning 
opportunities, and reduce barriers to adult learning 
and literacy and early childhood development. The 
Department’s social policies and programs help to 
ensure that children and families, seniors, people with 
disabilities, homeless persons, communities, and oth-
ers who face barriers have the support and informa-
tion they need to maintain their well-being and 
participate in society and the workplace. The Depart-
ment also promotes stable industrial relations and safe 
effective workplaces within the federal jurisdiction, as 
well as negotiating and implementing trade-related 
international labour agreements.

Service Canada provides one stop access to services 
of Human Resources and Social Development Canada 
and a number of other federal departments. It builds 
on best practices in service excellence found within 
Canada and abroad and builds on over a decade of 
work within the Government of Canada to improve 
the delivery of service to Canadians. The Service 
Canada delivery network brought together close 
to 600 points of service in communities throughout 
Canada; a national 1 800 O-Canada telephone service 
providing Canadians with information about federal 
government services and 23 other networked call 
centres;  benefits processing infrastructure and, 
a range of on-line services at

http://www.servicecanada.gc.ca/en/home.html.

People • Partnerships • Knowledge
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Human Resources and Social Development Canada’s 
programs and services are designed to achieve results 
across a broad range of social and labour market out- 
comes. Five strategic outcomes form the structure for 
reporting plans, priorities and resources in this report:

Canada’s Performance

HRSDC Government of Canada Outcome

 Strong economic growth

 An innovative and knowledge-based 
economy

 Income security and employment 
for Canadians

 A fair and secure marketplace

 Healthy Canadians 

 A diverse society that promotes 
linguistic duality and social inclusion

 Safe and secure communities

 A prosperous global economy that 
benefits Canadians and the world

For more information on Canada’s Performance 
2006, please visit:

http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/report/govrev/06/
cp-rc_e.asp

Canada’s Performance is an annual report to 
Parliament on the federal government’s contribution 
to Canada’s performance as a nation, highlighting both 
strengths and areas for improvement. As a companion 
piece to the Departmenta l Performance Reports, the 
report provides an overview of how the performance 
of individual departments and agencies contributes to 
broader, government-wide outcomes in the following 
key policy areas: economic affairs, social affairs, inter-
national affairs, and government affairs.

The strategic outcomes developed by Human Resources 
and Social Development Canada contributed to several 
government-wide outcomes as set out in Canada’s 
Performance 2006.

“Policies and programs that meet the 
human capital and social development 
needs of Canadians”

“Enhanced Canadian productivity 
and participation through efficient and 
inclusive labour markets, competitive 
workplaces and access to learning”

“Safe, healthy, fair, stable, cooperative, 
productive workplaces and effective 
international labour standards”

“Enhanced income security, access 
to opportunities, and well-being for 
individuals, families and communities”

“Achieve better outcomes for Canadians 
through service excellence”



16 2006 – 2007 Estimates  A Departmental Performance Report

• 
Em

p
lo

ym
en

t 
In

su
ra

n
ce

   

•
La

b
ou

r M
ar

ke
t

Pr
o

g
ra

m
s

La
bo

ur
M

ar
ke

t

• 
W

o
rk

p
la

ce
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
s

• 
Fo

re
ig

n
 W

o
rk

er
s

an
d

 Im
m

ig
ra

n
ts

• 
Sk

ill
s 

an
d

 L
ab

o
u

r M
ar

ke
t 

In
fo

rm
at

io
n

 

W
or

kp
la

ce
Sk

ill
s

• 
St

u
d

en
t 

Fi
n

an
ci

al
 

A
ss

is
ta

n
ce

• 
C

an
ad

a 
Ed

u
ca

ti
o

n
 

Sa
vi

n
g

s 
Pr

o
g

ra
m

• 
A

d
u

lt
 L

ea
rn

in
g,

 L
it

er
ac

y 
an

d
 E

ss
en

ti
al

 S
ki

lls
 

Pr
o

g
ra

m

• 
In

te
rn

at
io

n
al

 A
ca

d
em

ic
 

M
o

b
ili

ty
   

   

Le
ar

ni
ng

• 
Fe

d
er

al
 M

ed
ia

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 
C

o
n

ci
lia

ti
o

n
 S

er
vi

ce

• 
N

at
io

n
al

 L
ab

o
u

r 
O

p
er

at
io

n
s

• 
In

te
rn

at
io

n
al

 a
n

d
 

In
te

rg
ov

er
n

m
en

ta
l 

La
b

o
u

r A
ff

ai
rs

• 
W

o
rk

p
la

ce
 P

o
lic

y 
an

d
 

In
fo

rm
at

io
n

La
bo

ur
 

• 
Se

n
io

rs
 a

n
d

 P
en

si
o

n
s 

• 
D

is
ab

lil
it

y 
Pr

o
g

ra
m

s 

• 
C

an
ad

a 
Pe

n
si

o
n

Pl
an

 –
 D

is
ab

ili
ty

 

• 
C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
an

d
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
s

So
ci

al
In

ve
st

m
en

t

• 
C

h
ild

 C
ar

e
- U

n
iv

er
sa

l C
h

ild
C

ar
e 

B
en

ef
it

• 
M

u
lt

ila
te

ra
l F

ra
m

ew
o

rk
 

fo
r E

ar
ly

 L
ea

rn
in

g
an

d
 C

h
ild

 C
ar

e

• 
Ea

rl
y 

C
h

ild
h

o
o

d
 

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

A
g

re
em

en
ts

• 
N

at
io

n
al

 C
h

ild
 B

en
ef

it

C
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d 
Fa

m
ili

es

• 
Su

p
p

o
rt

in
g

C
o

m
m

un
iti

es
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
In

it
ia

ti
ve

• 
U

rb
an

 A
b

o
ri

g
in

al
 

H
o

m
el

es
sn

es
s

• 
R

eg
io

n
al

 H
o

m
el

es
sn

es
s 

Fu
n

d

• 
N

at
io

n
al

 R
es

ea
rc

h
 

Pr
o

g
ra

m

•
H

om
el

es
s 

In
di

vi
du

al
s 

an
d

 
Fa

m
ili

es
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
 

Sy
st

em

• 
Su

rp
lu

s 
Fe

d
er

al
R

ea
l P

ro
p

er
ty

 fo
r 

H
o

m
el

es
sn

es
s 

In
it

ia
ti

ve

H
ou

si
ng

 a
nd

 
H

om
el

es
sn

es
s

Se
am

le
ss

,
C

it
iz

en
-C

en
tr

ed
 

Se
rv

ic
e

•
In

te
g

ri
ty

•
C

o
lla

b
o

ra
ti

ve
, 

N
et

w
o

rk
ed

G
o

ve
rn

m
en

t
Se

rv
ic

e

Se
rv

ic
e 

C
an

ad
a

En
h

an
ce

d
 in

co
m

e 
se

cu
ri

ty
, a

cc
es

s 
to

 o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

ie
s 

an
d

 w
el

l-
b

ei
n

g
 fo

r 
in

d
iv

id
u

al
s, 

fa
m

ili
es

 a
n

d
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it

ie
s

En
h

an
ce

d
 C

an
ad

ia
n

 p
ro

d
u

ct
iv

it
y 

an
d

 p
ar

ti
ci

p
at

io
n

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 e
ff

ic
ie

n
t 

an
d

 
in

cl
u

si
ve

 la
b

o
u

r m
ar

ke
ts

, c
o

m
p

et
it

iv
e 

w
o

rk
p

la
ce

s 
an

d
 a

cc
es

s 
to

 le
ar

n
in

g
A

ch
ie

ve
 b

et
te

r 
ou

tc
om

es
 fo

r C
an

ad
ia

ns
th

ro
u

g
h

 s
er

vi
ce

 
ex

ce
lle

n
ce

Sa
fe

, h
ea

lt
h

y,
 fa

ir,
 s

ta
b

le
, 

co
o

p
er

at
iv

e,
 p

ro
du

ct
iv

e 
w

or
kp

la
ce

s 
an

d
 e

ff
ec

ti
ve

 
in

te
rn

at
io

na
l l

ab
ou

r 
st

an
da

rd
s

V
is

io
n

: 
A

 s
tr

o
n

g
 a

n
d

 c
o

m
p

et
it

iv
e 

C
an

ad
a 

th
at

 e
n

ab
le

s 
in

d
iv

id
u

al
s 

to
 m

ak
e 

ch
o

ic
es

 t
h

at
 h

el
p

 t
h

em
 li

ve
 p

ro
d

u
ct

iv
e 

an
d

 re
w

ar
d

in
g

 li
ve

s.

• 
St

ra
te

g
ic

 P
o

lic
y

• 
K

n
o

w
le

d
g

e,
 A

n
al

ys
is

, A
u

d
it

 a
n

d
 E

va
lu

at
io

n

• 
Pu

b
lic

 A
ff

ai
rs

 a
n

d
 E

n
g

ag
em

en
t

Po
lic

ie
s 

an
d

 p
ro

g
ra

m
s 

th
at

 m
ee

t 
th

e 
h

u
m

an
 c

ap
it

al
 a

n
d

 s
o

ci
al

 d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

n
ee

d
s 

o
f C

an
ad

ia
n

s

Po
lic

y,
 R

es
ea

rc
h 

an
d 

C
om

m
un

ic
at

io
n

R
es

u
lt

s
 fo

r
C

an
ad

ia
n

s

D
EP

A
R

TM
EN

T 
O

F 
H

U
M

A
N

 R
ES

O
U

R
C

ES
 A

N
D

 S
O

C
IA

L 
D

EV
EL

O
P

M
EN

T 
 • 

 P
R

O
G

R
A

M
 A

C
TI

V
IT

Y
 A

R
C

H
IT

EC
TU

R
E



Section I Overview  Human Resources and Social Development Canada 1�

Mandate
On February 6, 2006, Human Resources and Skills De-
velopment Canada and the former Social Develop-
ment Canada were consolidated into the Department 
of Human Resources and Skills Development to be styled 
Human Resources and Social Development. The pow-
ers, duties and functions of the Minister of Social 
Development were transferred to the Minister of 
Human Resources and Skills Development, and the Min-
ister was styled as Minister of Human Resources and 
Social Development. The Minister was also made 
responsible for the Canada Mortgage and Housing 
Corporation. Further, a Secretary of State for Seniors 
was appointed on January 4, 2007.

Until new legislation is enacted, the Minister will re-
ly on the provisions of the Department of Human 
Resources and Skills Development Act and the Depart‑
ment of Social Development Act for specific 
authorities.

The Department of Human Resources and Skills Devel‑
opment Act defines the powers, duties and functions 
of the Minister of Human Resources and Skills Devel-
opment, the Minister of Labour, and of the Canada 
Employment Insurance Commission. The legislative 
mandate of Human Resources and Skills Development 
is to improve the standard of living and quality of 
life of all Canadians by promoting a highly skilled 
and mobile labour force and an efficient and 
inclusive labour market. The Minister of Human 
Resources and Skills Development has overall responsi-
bility for the employment insurance system, while the 
administration of the Employment Insurance Act is the 
responsibility of the Canada Employment Insurance 
Commission.

The Department of Human Resources and Skills Devel‑
opment Act provides for the appointment of a Minis-
ter of Labour who is responsible for the Canada 
Labour Code and the Employment Equity Act, as well 
as other legislation on wages and working conditions. 
The departmental statute provides that the Minister 
of Labour make use of the services and facilities of 
the Department. The Act also sets out the mandate 
of the Minister of Labour to promote safe, healthy, 
fair, stable, cooperative and productive 
workplaces.

The Department of Social Development Canada Act 
defines the powers, duties and functions of the Minister 
of Social Development. The mandate of Social Develop-
ment Canada is to promote social well-being and 
security. In exercising the power and performing the 
duties and functions assigned by this Act, the Minister is 
responsible for the administration of the Canada Pension 
Plan, the Old Age Security Act, and the National Council 
of Welfare, and the Universal Child Care Benefit Act.

Service Canada operates within the legislative mandate 
and framework of the current departmental legislation. 
Its mandate is to work in collaboration with federal 
departments, other orders of government and community 
service providers to bring services and benefits together 
in a single service delivery network.

On June 1, 2006, the Policy Research Initiative 
was integrated into the Human Resources and Social 
Development Canada portfolio. It leads horizontal 
research projects in support of the medium-term policy 
agenda of the Government of Canada and identifies 
data needs and priorities for future policy development.

Expenditure Profile
Human Resources and Social Development Canada 
includes resources of the former Human Resources and 
Skills Development and the former Social Development 
departments. Human Resource and Social Development 
Canada expenditures on programs and services total 
more than $79 billion, of which $75 billion or almost 
95% are direct benefits to Canadians through Employ-
ment Insurance, the Canada Pension Plan, Old Age 
Security, Universal Child Care Benefit, loans disbursed 
under the Canada Student Financial Assistance Act and 
other statutory transfer payments. The Department 
expenditures were $1.0 billion in voted grants and 
contributions; $33.6 billion in statutory grants and 
contributions; and $2.1 billion for Employment Insur‑
ance Part II.
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 Diagram   2006 – 2007 Expenditure Profile 
Consolidated Total $79,225.1M

Loans Disbursed
under CSFAA
$1,231.9M

1.6%

Other
$512.8M

0.6%
Voted Grants

and Contributions
$1,031.7M

1.3%
Gross Operating

Costs
$2,608.7M

3.3%

Universal Child Care Benefit /
Canada Student Loans /

Other Statutory Payments
$3,361.3M

4.2%

Employment Insurance
$14,079.4M

17.8%

Canada Pension Plan
$26,115.3M

33.0%

Old Age Security /
Guaranteed Income Supplement /

Allowance
$30,284.0M

38.2%

 Table 1   Human Resources and Social Development Canada (millions of dollars)

Human Resources and Social Development 
Canada Gross Expenditures

Statutory Transfer Payments

Budgetary

Net operating costs 969.7

Add recoveries in relation to:
Canada Pension Plan 261.9
Employment Insurance Account 1,290.0
Workers’ Compensation 87.1 1,639.0

Gross Operating Costs 2,608.7

Voted Grants and Contributions 1,031.7

Total Gross Expenditures 3,640.4

Other – Workers’ Compensation 
and EI/CPP Charges and Recoveries

512.8

Non-Budgetary

Loans disbursed under Canada 
Student Financial Assistance Act 
(CSFAA)

1,231.9

Grants and Contributions

Old Age Security 22,878.8

Guaranteed Income Supplement 6,901.1

Allowance Payments 504.1
Other Statutory Payments

Canada Student Loans 347.7
Canada Education Savings Grant 505.0
Canada Learning Bond 21.8
Energy Cost Benefits 3.7
Universal Child Care Benefit 1,784.4
Childcare – Prov./Terr. Agreements 650.0
Others 0.1 3,312.7

Sub-total 33,596.7

Canada Pension Plan benefits 26,115.3

Employment Insurance benefits
Part I 11,992.5
Part II 2,086.9 14,079.4

Other Specified Purpose Accounts 48.6 a

Total Statutory Transfer Payments 73,840.0

a This amount includes payments related to Government Annuities Account and Civil Service Insurance Fund.
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Socio-Economic 
Year in Review
This section provides an overview of the socio-economic 
context for 2006, covering the broad macroeconomic 
and social indicators that are of interest to Human 
Resources and Social Development Canada. 

The issues that were facing the Canadian 
economy and labour market in 2005 became even 
more pronounced during 2006. Economic growth 
was strong and modest productivity growth was 
accompanied by employment gains. The sources of 
growth have been shifting west in response to high 
commodity (especially energy) prices, and the capacity 
of the economy to grow is being constrained by 
available labour supply, despite inter-provincial 
migration towards those fast-growing provinces.

The Canadian economy performed 
well in 2006
Canada’s economy grew by 2.7 percent in 2006, a rate 
slightly less than the previous year. Relative to previous 
years, the drivers of economic growth were domestic, 
led by spending by Canadian consumers and business 
investment. Strong domestic demand, combined with 
a high Canadian dollar and competition from low-cost 
countries such as China, helped imports to grow faster 
than exports and lead to a deteriorating trade surplus. 
General global economic strength and booming 
demand from China pushed up commodity prices as 
evidenced by the Bank of Canada’s commodity price 
index which has almost doubled since 2002.

Canadian labour productivity slowed in 2006. Most 
of this weakness is attributable to recent declines in 
productivity growth in the resource sector. In particular, 
shortages of skilled labour in the west and developments 
associated with activity in Alberta’s oil sands, resulted in 
strong growth in the volume of hours worked without 
generating increases in production. Canada’s productivity 
growth was again below that in the United States.

Employment continued 
to advance strongly
Employment advanced at a rate of 2.0 percent 
(315,000 jobs) in 2006, outpacing the gains recorded 
in 2005 and for the third consecutive year, gains in 
employment were predominantly full-time. The employ-
ment rate – the percentage of people aged 15 – 64 

who are working – rose to a record 72.9 percent 
in 2006, surpassing the previous record registered 
over the prior two years. 

Employment growth was constrained by the capacity 
of the labour force to grow. For the third consecutive 
year, labour force growth stalled, largely reflecting a 
slower population growth but also an absence of gains in 
labour force participation. The participation rate for those 
working age Canadians remained almost unchanged 
in 2006 from the previous year at 77.9 percent. In 
contrast, the unemployment rate fell to a 30-year low 
of 6.3 percent. The long-term unemployed (people 
unemployed a year or more) made up only 8.7 percent 
of all unemployed in 2006, its lowest share since 1990 
(the average share of long-term unemployed among 
the G-7 countries is 30.9 percent).

The Bank of Canada estimates that the economy 
was operating very close to its potential during 2006.

High energy prices and the high Cana-
dian dollar are leading to shifts in eco-
nomic activity, employment and even 
populations
The Canadian economy is a mix of regional economies, 
each with its own mix of industry and resources. The 
Canadian economy has, overall, benefited from high 
commodity and energy prices and falling manufacturing 
prices, as Canada is an energy and commodity exporter 
and (on net) a manufactured products importer. However, 
these major changes in commodity and manufactured 
goods prices have had quite different impacts 
on particular sectors and regions.

On the one hand there have been booming investments 
in the energy sector, higher incomes overall and even 
better fiscal positions on the part of governments. As a 
result, the West, particularly Alberta and British Columbia, 
have been quite strong and recorded the fastest 
employment gains.

On the other hand, the combination of the high 
energy and material input costs, the high value of the 
Canadian dollar, and the high level of competition from 
emerging economies has led to another cycle of con-
siderable weakness in the manufacturing sector. Manu-
facturing output growth has been weak and Canadian 
manufacturing has now joined the almost world-wide 
trend of economies losing manufacturing jobs. Ontario 
and Quebec have been the most affected provinces.
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Yet, by historical standards, economic health has 
actually been quite widespread provincially. With the 
exception of Nova Scotia, all provinces recorded job gains 
in 2006. When looking at unemployment, labour market 
health seems to be even more widespread than employ-
ment growth. All provinces except Prince Edward Island 
had falling rates of unemployment, and most were 
at or near their lowest unemployment rates on record. 
Large provincial differences in unemployment rates per-
sisted, however. Alberta had an unemployment rate of 
3.4%, the lowest while the rate in Newfoundland and 
Labrador was 14.8%, the highest. During 2005, Alberta 
attracted over 100,000 inter-provincial migrants and 
even more during 2006. These are coming from across 
Canada, with over a third from Ontario alone. 

Earnings increased steadily 
and at a faster rate than inflation
Economic progress is not just about jobs, it is about 
earnings in those jobs. In 2006, average hourly earnings 
rose 3.3%, up slightly from 2005. With inflation running 
near 2.0% last year, these were significant real gains in 
average real hourly earnings. Among unionized workers, 
major wage settlements negotiated between employers 
and their unions gave average annual increases in base 
rates of 2.5% in 2006, slightly higher than the average 
increases in 2005. 

The low-income rate remains unchanged 
for most family types
Earnings gains are, of course, not evenly distributed 
and poverty is an ongoing issue, often best measured by 
how many families fall below a particular income level 
and by how much. In 2005, an estimated 655,000, or 
7.4%, of all Canadian families were below the Statistics 
Canada after-tax ‘Low-Income Cut-Off. Families in 
low-income needed an average of $7,900 to bring their 
income above the cut-off. While, overall, the incidence 
of low-income remained unchanged between 2004 
and 2005, female lone-parent families experienced 
a 6.9-percentage point decline in their low-income 
rate over the period. This decline continued a four-year 
downward trend – reflecting sustained increases in 
the earnings and in the proportion of earners among 
lone mothers. Despite these gains, the incidence of 
low-income among female lone-parent families remains 
more than four times as high as that of two-parent 
families with children.

…but the gap between the 
lowest- and highest-income families 
and between the ones with the lowest 
and highest net worth is wider 
The difference in income between the top and bottom 
20 percent of families widened during the past decade. 
While this gap fluctuated between 1980 and 1996, 
by 2005 it had reached $105,400. Though all income 
groups benefited from the positive economic conditions 
that have prevailed since the early 1990s, the largest 
gains were for the top 20 percent. Current evidence 
suggests that the recent gains observed in the top 
quintile of percent of families accrued mainly to the top 
1 percent of families. Interestingly, between 1999 and 
2005, the median net worth of families in the top 
20% of the wealth distribution increased by 19%, 
while the net worth of their counterparts in the 
bottom 20% remained virtually unchanged.

Canadian communities 
According to the 2006 Census more than 81% of 
the Canadian population lived in an urban centre of 
10,000 people or more, up from 76% in 1971. About 
68% of Canada’s population now live in communities 
located within the nation’s 33 census metropolitan areas. 
International migration continues to be the major popu-
lation driver of large urban centres. In 2001, 62% of 
all immigrants lived in Toronto, Montreal or Vancouver 
compared to 52% in 1981. As a result, projections sug-
gest that visible minorities could represent 50% of 
the population of Toronto and Vancouver by 2016. 

Summary of 
Departmental Performance 
by Strategic Outcome
This section summarizes achievements of Human 
Resources and Social Development Canada by strategic 
outcome and provides a report card on the Department’s 
performance against specific indicators and objectives 
outlined in the 2006 – 2007 Reports on Plans 
and Priorities.

Policies and programs that meet the 
human capital and social development 
needs of Canadians.
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During the year, the Department provided strategic 
policy, research, and communication expertise in support 
of the government’s efforts to improve the standard 
of living and quality of life of Canadians, and promote 
their social well-being and security. A major focus of 
this work was supporting the government’s commit-
ments contained in the 2006 Budget and economic 
and fiscal update, including supporting the principle 
of creating new opportunities and choices for people 
that was announced in Advantage Canada: Building 
a Strong Economy for Canadians. 

In 2006 – 2007 a number of strategic initiatives 
were launched that will help the Department become 
a recognized centre of excellence for labour market and 
social development policy and knowledge. One such 
initiative included progress in developing an approach 
that recognizes the importance for economic and social 
strategies to be mutually reinforcing, and that fairly 
reflects both the social development and economic 
aspects of the Department’s mandate. A medium-term 
policy planning process was launched that implements a 
forward-looking perspective through which the Depart-
ment can identify and prepare for challenges expected 
to emerge over the medium-term. To ensure that it 
remains current over time, a provision was built into 
the planning process that calls for regular reassessment 
of emerging issues. 

Significant progress was made during the year on 
integrating the Department’s extensive knowledge 
capacity to better inform its policy and program develop-
ment functions, including the development of a draft 
knowledge plan that encompasses priority setting for 
creating, maintaining, using, and disseminating knowl-
edge, data, and research.

Enhanced Canadian productivity 
and participation through efficient and 
inclusive labour markets, competitive 
workplaces and access to learning.

During 2006 – 2007 Human Resources and Social 
Development Canada worked on a number of broad 
fronts — supporting labour market efficiency and 
inclusiveness, enhancing the competitiveness of 
workplaces, and helping Canadians gain access to 
learning opportunities — toward the common goal 
of supporting Canada’s continuing prosperity through 
enhanced productivity and participation. The Depart-
ment’s labour market, workplace skills, and learning 

programs complemented each other in working 
towards creating the best educated, most skilled and 
flexible labour force, and in contributing to a number 
of broad Government of Canada outcomes: strong 
economic growth, an innovative and knowledge-based 
economy, income security, employment for Canadians 
including targeted groups and those facing barriers, 
and employment for Canadians, and a fair and secure 
marketplace. Departmental efforts under this strategic 
outcome and its major program activities were con-
sistent with the principle of creating new opportunities 
and choices for people that is outlined in the Govern-
ment’s economic plan: Advantage Canada: Building 
a Strong Economy for Canadians.

Labour Market
Work by the Department’s labour market program 
activity to increase labour market inclusiveness and 
enhance participation was pursued through a variety 
of horizontal initiatives and collaborative efforts involving 
other federal departments, provinces and territories, 
external organizations, and other stakeholders. An 
important accomplishment was the devolution of the 
Labour Market Development Agreement to Ontario, 
in keeping with the government’s goal of transferring 
such agreements to provinces and territories. Efforts 
to improve Aboriginal labour market outcomes included 
working with partners to strengthen the Aboriginal 
Human Resources Development Strategy in the areas 
of urban service delivery, labour market research, and 
private sector engagement. As well, agreements under 
the Targeted Initiative for Older Workers were signed 
with three provinces and one territory to help meet the 
needs of displaced older workers. All others who have 
indicated they will participate in this initiative signed 
the agreements in 2007 – 2008.

The Employment Insurance program provided Canadians 
with temporary income support while they were unem-
ployed, or took a temporary absence from work for 
sickness, pregnancy, childbirth, or to care for a family 
member. To ensure the Employment Insurance program 
continues to support individual well-being and eco-
nomic stability, various measures were undertaken, 
including the implementation of a pilot project that tests 
the labour market impacts of offering five additional 
weeks of regular benefits in regions of high unemploy-
ment, and an expansion of the eligibility for the Com-
passionate Care Benefit so more people can access it.
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Workplace Skills
Through its workplace skills program activity Human 
Resources and Social Development Canada worked 
to improve Canada’s economic competitiveness and 
enhance the competitiveness of Canadian workplaces. 
This work, undertaken in collaboration with numerous 
partners, focused on encouraging employers to invest 
in the skills development of their workers so they can 
adapt to evolving skills requirements. The Department 
took a number of actions to increase the pool of skills 
available to the Canadian labour market and promote 
effective participation of skilled workers. Efforts to help 
Canadian workplaces benefit from the skills possessed 
by internationally trained individuals and help these 
individuals integrate more successfully into the labour 
market included making investments pertaining to the 
recognition of foreign credentials. Work to increase 
access to apprenticeships in Red Seal trades and promote 
inter-provincial mobility included launching the applica-
tion process for the Apprenticeship Incentive Grant. 
By year end, more than 4,900 applications had been 
received for the grant, which helps eligible apprentices 
registered in a Red Seal trade program cover expenses. 
The Department also made investments to help improve 
inter-provincial mobility within priority health 
occupations.

Learning
With lifelong learning becoming increasingly vital 
to individual well-being and Canada’s productivity, 
competitiveness and prosperity, the learning program 
helped Canadians gain access to the learning they need 
to better participate in a knowledge-based society and 
economy. Departmental efforts supported the objective as 
outlined in the Government’s economic plan Advantage 
Canada: Building a Strong Economy for Canadians of 
exploiting Canada’s knowledge advantage to create the 
best-educated, most skilled and most flexible workforce 
in the world. The Department worked to make Cana-
dians aware of the importance of lifelong learning 
and the need to save, plan and pay for post-secondary 
education; facilitated access to post-secondary education 
and adult learning opportunities; and worked with part-
ners on the delivery of learning programs and services. 
The Department helped to make post-secondary learning 
opportunities accessible to thousands of Canadians 
through student loans and study grants, as well as 
access grants for groups that are under-represented in 
post-secondary education. Eligibility for Canada Student 
Loans was expanded by reducing the expected parental 
contribution, effective for the 2007 – 2008 academic 

year. Financial supports and incentives were also 
provided to encourage Canadians to save for 
post-secondary education, and more support was pro-
vided for education savings by low-income families. This 
support through an enhanced Canada Education 
Savings Grant and the Canada Learning Bond, became 
widely available by the end of 2006 – 2007 once more 
financial institutions had signed agreements with the 
Department and upgraded their systems. The Depart-
ment also implemented the Government’s commitment 
to adult literacy through an integrated program, the 
Adult Learning, Literacy and Essential Skills Program, 
in partnership with the provinces and territories.

Safe, healthy, fair, stable, cooperative, 
productive workplaces and effective 
international labour standards.

Labour
Throughout the year, the Labour Program worked 
to ensure safe, healthy, fair, stable, cooperative and 
productive workplaces within the federal jurisdiction, 
administered labour related legislation governing fed-
erally regulated industries, fostered cooperation within 
the network of labour jurisdictions in Canada, and man-
aged Canada’s international labour affairs. This work 
cast its influence over a broad spectrum of labour issues: 
maintaining a fair balance in the relationship between 
employers and employees; creating competitive work-
places; supporting Canada’s productivity and promoting 
international respect for labour rights. For example, 
mediation and conciliation assistance provided to 
employers and unions led to over 96 percent of collec-
tive bargaining disputes being settled without a work 
stoppage; a program was implemented to help ensure 
an adequate supply of labour negotiators and media-
tors in the future; and funding was provided to labour 
capacity-building programming in Canada’s trading part-
ners in the Americas. The final report Fairness at Work: 
Federal Labour Standards for the 21st Century, by the 
independent Commissioner reviewing Part III (Labour 
Standards) of the Canada Labour Code was released. The 
Minister of Labour met with key stakeholders to obtain 
their views regarding the report’s recommendations on 
modernizing labour standards in the federal jurisdiction. 
The Labour Program’s efforts also contributed to numer-
ous Government of Canada outcomes: a fair and secure 
marketplace; safe and secure communities; a safe and 



Section I Overview  Human Resources and Social Development Canada 23

secure world through international cooperation; and 
a strong and mutually beneficial North American 
partnership.

Enhanced income security, access 
to opportunities and well-being for 
individuals, families and communities.

The Department continued helping individuals, fami-
lies, and communities achieve their potential in con-
tributing to Canadian society and sharing in 
the opportunities society provides. Challenges require 
that the Department be flexible in finding the most 
effective ways to provide assistance. At times this 
involved providing direct assistance, such as the finan-
cial benefits paid to parents to help them choose the 
kind of care they want for their young children. Other 
approaches included working horizontally with other 
federal departments and orders of government; working 
with groups at the community level; tapping the capac-
ity of non-profit organizations; or generating awareness 
about issues among the public at large. Some challenges, 
such as enhancing the income security of seniors, affect 
a broad segment of the population and involved pro-
viding pensions to millions of people; other challenges 
called for a more tailored approach to address particular 
circumstances, such as providing the assistance that 
helped more than 2,500 people with disabilities improve 
their employability. Working towards this strategic 
outcome also contributed to a number of Government 
of Canada outcomes, such as A Diverse Society that 
Promotes Linguistic Duality and Social Inclusion, Safe 
and Secure Communities, Income Security and 
Employment for Canadians, Strong Economic Growth 
and an Innovative and Knowledge Based Economy.

Social Investment 
Under its Social Investment activity the Department 
administered Canada’s national pension plans, which 
constitute important sources of secure income for 
seniors, who are the fastest growing age segment 
of Canada’s population, and to people with disabilities 
who are often unable to earn adequate income from 
employment. As an illustration of how important such 
pensions are to seniors, the most recent figures available, 
for 2004, indicate that Old Age Security accounted 
for more than half of the total post-retirement income 
of low-income seniors and that Old Age Security and 
Canada Pension Plan benefits accounted for more than 
40% of the total post-retirement income for seniors.

Other efforts to help targeted groups improve their 
well-being and participation in communities included 
approving 775 new projects under the community based 
New Horizons for Seniors Program to provide funding 
to encourage seniors to share their knowledge and skills 
with others in their communities and reduce their social 
isolation. Also, investments were made in 99 projects 
under the Social Development Partnerships Program 
for early childhood development, children and families, 
official language minority communities and voluntary 
sector initiatives. As lead federal department on issues 
affecting people with disabilities, Human Resources 
and Social Development Canada administered a number 
of programs to help them improve their employability 
and well-being, including Labour Market Agreements 
for Persons with Disabilities, the Opportunities Fund, 
and the Disability Component of the Social Development 
Partnership Program.

Children and Families
Recognizing the priority that families place on 
child care and the diversity of challenges this presents 
to parents, the children and families program activity 
oversaw implementation of the new Universal Child 
Care Benefit, which provided financial assistance to 
help parents decide for themselves what form of child 
care best suits their circumstances. In the last month 
of 2006 – 2007, 1.5 million families with young children 
received the Universal Child Care Benefit. In addition, 
Budget 2007 announced $250 million for the creation 
of child care spaces. Financial assistance and services 
were provided to low income families through the 
National Child Benefit, a partnership among federal, 
provincial and territorial governments, including a First 
Nations component. The National Child Benefit Sup-
plement for low-income families was increased by 
approximately $185 per child. The federal government 
also provided substantial financial assistance through 
the Canada Social Transfer to support early childhood 
development by means of such Human Resources and 
Social Development Canada-managed federal, provin-
cial and territorial initiatives as the Multilateral Frame-
work on Early Learning and Child Care, and the Early 
Childhood Development Agreement. 

Housing and Homelessness
People become homeless through a variety of circum-
stances, and the homeless population has many faces. 
The housing and homelessness program activity leads 
work in this area in collaboration with numerous part-
ners and stakeholders. The Department invested in 
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communities across Canada to help them develop 
the tools and a range of interventions to help homeless 
people move towards self-sufficiency. For example, 
approximately $175.5 million in National Homelessness 
Initiative funding helped 1,140 homelessness-related 
projects provide services in 121 communities. A new 
Homelessness Partnering Strategy that increases hori-
zontality and partnerships was developed to improve 
access to the range of services and programs that 
homeless individuals and families need to move 
toward self-sufficiency. The new Strategy shifts the 
emphasis from remedial interventions to prevention 
and reduction of homelessness through transitional 
and supportive housing. The strategy relies on partner-
ships, improved collaboration, and better alignment 
of investments by the various partners to implement 
local solutions for local problems. 

Achieve better outcomes for Canadians 
through service excellence

Service Canada continued to work towards the 
goal of providing high-quality, personalized, one-stop 
service for Canadians. To this end, new services were 
provided and existing ones were expanded, new points 
of services were opened, internet service was improved, 
efforts were made to improve stewardship of public 
funds, and partnerships with other federal departments 
and orders of government were strengthened. An 
important step included implementing client advisory 
groups that provided a unique perspective on the service 
needs and priorities of particular segments of clients, 
such as people with disabilities, and members of the 
voluntary sector. Access to service was improved through 
new points of service, as well as a new user-friendly 
internet website. The range of services delivered by 
Service Canada also continued to expand, for example, 
access to pleasure craft licences and the Universal Child 
Care Benefit, which, by helping parents decide for them-
selves the kind of care they want for their young children, 
embodies the government’s principle of expanding 
choices for people. Improvements to existing services 
included expanding the number of locations providing 
passport application service to Canadians in smaller 
and remote communities that do not have a Passport 
Canada office. Efforts to cope with increased demand 
for telephone service included extending hours of 
service, and providing service on Saturday. Measures 
to ensure that the benefits Service Canada issues go 
to the right person, in the right amount, and for the 

purpose for which they were intended, included a 
continued emphasis to strengthen the integrity of the 
Social Insurance Number and become a safe and 
secure common identifier. Examples of work to expand 
and strengthen partnerships included providing new or 
expanded service on behalf of five federal departments, 
working collaboratively with the province of Alberta 
to streamline the application process for persons with 
disabilities, and managing the transfer of design and 
delivery responsibilities for Employment Insurance funded 
labour market programming to the province of Ontario.

Seamless, citizen-centred service
Through this program activity, service delivery is being 
transformed from a program focus, which required 
clients to navigate through an array of government 
programs to find the services they wanted; to a focus 
centred on client needs that provides integrated, per-
sonalized services available through a variety of service 
channels. Implementing a client community service 
strategy has enabled Service Canada to gain a better 
insight into the needs and priorities that are unique 
to specific segments of clients. Such insight helped 
to implement better service to persons with disabilities, 
such as an automated reading service that assists visually 
impaired users of the Service Canada internet site. Service 
Canada’s presence grew through the introduction of 
171 new points of service, several of which provide 
multilingual service, putting ninety-five percent of Cana-
dians within 50 kilometres of a Service Canada point of 
service. Efforts to cope with a 22% increase in demand 
for telephone service, to a total of over 60 million calls, 
included extending hours of service, and providing call 
service on Saturday. Internet service was improved 
with the launching of a more user-friendly web-site 
that incorporates a client feedback capability, a voice 
feature that reads out content for clients, and increased 
availability of internet service to more than 99% of the 
time. More than 22 million visits were made to the 
Service Canada web site in 2006 – 2007. Accountability 
and transparency were strengthened through the publi-
cation of the first Service Canada annual report.

Integrity
Maintaining sound stewardship of public funds 
and generating savings included efforts to strengthen 
the integrity of the Social Insurance Number as a safe 
and secure common identifier. This included numerous 
Social Insurance Number investigations, providing 
assistance to individuals with a compromised Social 
Insurance Number, and helping Canadians to become 
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aware of proper and improper uses of their Social Insur-
ance Number and testing ways to improve the quality 
and integrity of Social Insurance Number issuance.

Savings were realized through a combination of mea-
sures, including program integrity strategies that 
helped to ensure benefit payments went only to those 
who were eligible and improvements to procurement 
practices for goods and services.

Collaborative, networked 
government service
Work under this program activity included increasing 
Service Canada’s capacity to become a one-stop point 
of service for Canadians. To that end, activity focused 
on expanding relations with other departments and 
government organizations, efforts that resulted in an 
increased number of organizations for whom Service 
Canada delivers service, such as Transport Canada 
on whose behalf Service Canada issued more than 
123,000 pleasure craft licences. Additional progress 
was made in expanding the use of automated processes, 
which saw the renewal of Employment Insurance claims 
through electronic means exceed 30%, and an addi-
tional 24,000 employers registering to provide Record 
of Employment information online. Measures were also 
undertaken to improve the process through which vital 
event information is provided to Service Canada by 
provincial and territorial government organizations 
which will help to ensure greater accuracy of identi-
fication information in the Social Insurance Registry 
which is crucial for the detection of fraud and abuse. 

Departmental Scorecard 
for Program Indicators

NOTE TO READER: For 2006 – 2007 the 
number of indicators and the range of activities 
covered substantially increased in comparison 
to the number of indicators that existed in the 
two former departments prior to their merger. 
The 2006 – 2007 indicators were aligned with the 
new Department’s Program Activity Architecture 
and Strategic Outcomes. The Scorecard that follows 
represents the first set of program performance 
indicators developed by Human Resources and 
Social Development Canada since the new 
Department was created.

In recognition of the need for greater rigour 
and focus on results, efforts were made to further 
refine the departmental Performance Measurement 
Framework. This led to a more concise and 
consistent set of indicators being proposed for 
2007 – 2008. Work also began on the development 
of a plan to guide the further evolution of per-
formance measurement with the goal to increase 
the Department’s capability and readiness for 
measurement and reporting of performance 
leading to better strategic decision making and 
continuous performance improvement.

Program indicators are among several sources used 
for evaluating departmental performance. Program 
evaluations and audits and the Employment Insurance 
Monitoring and Assessment Report are also tools to 
provide a comprehensive understanding of performance.

The Scorecard displays results information for the 
Department’s program performance indicators that 
were published in the 2006 – 2007 Report on Plans 
and Priorities. For indicators that have an established 
target, the Scorecard provides a rating in terms 
of whether expectations were met, mostly met, 
or not met. No rating is provided for indicators that 
do not have established targets. Brief comments are 
included for indicators where required. More detailed 
comments on indicator results are included in the sec-
tion of the document that discusses performance by 
strategic outcome.
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Table 2   Summary of Departmental Program Performance by Strategic Outcome

Legend
	Target met or exceeded 		Target not met

	Target mostly met N/A	Not applicable

Rating Program Indicators 2006 – 2007 Target Results

Enhanced Canadian productivity and participation through efficient and inclusive labour markets, 
competitive workplaces and access to learning

Labour Market
Access

N/A Percentage of unemployed targeted by 
the Employment Insurance program eligible 
to collect regular Employment Insurance benefits

2005 Result: 83.4%

N/A Rate of participation of designated groups 
(self-identified) and older workers in Employment 
Benefits and Support Measures (EBSM)

Rate of Participation in EBSM 
2005 – 2006

Percentage of the entire 
unemployed labour force 

(2001 census)

Women 50.0% 45.5%

People with disabilities 4.6% 9.8%

Aboriginal persons 7.2% 6.5%

Visible minorities 6.8% 16.2%

Older workers (55 and over) 6.5% 17.3%

Adequacy
N/A Proportion of regular entitlement collected 

by Employment Insurance claimants (%)
(2004 – 2005) 59.8%

N/A Proportion of Employment Insurance maternity/
parental entitlement collected by Employment 
Insurance claimants

Result: (2004 – 2005) 
93.5%

Labour Market Efficiency

 Number of youth clients who return to school 
or become employed following an employment 
program intervention under the Youth Employment 
Strategy and proportion of these clients in the total 
number of action plans closed

7,400 8,539 
Proportion: 65.29%

Comments: These targets do not include returns to school following participation in the Summer 
Career Placements initiative under Summer Work Experience.

 Number of Aboriginal clients who return to school 
or become employed following an employment 
program intervention under the Aboriginal Human 
Resources Development Strategy and proportion 
of these clients in the total number of action 
plans closed

20,500 23,230 
Proportion: 54.17%

 Number of clients employed or self-employed 
following an employment program intervention, 
and proportion of these clients in the total number 
of action plans closed

220,000 226,453
Proportion: 59.15%
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Rating Program Indicators 2006 – 2007 Target Results

Workplace Skills
N/A Number of apprentices that received the 

Apprenticeship Incentive Grant
New Measure Service Canada 

received more than 
4,900 applications 
for the Grant as 
of March 31st, 2007

 Increase in the number of trades people who 
are fully mobile in Canada through Red Seal 
endorsement

15,000 20,386 
(2006)

Comments: Red Seal statistics are reported annually, based on the January to December time period.

 Number of tools and processes completed to be 
used in verifying and recognizing foreign credentials 
and work experience of foreign-trained 
professionals

85 89 (April 2004  –  
March 2007)

Learning
N/A 3-year loan default rate (direct loans only 

for 2006 – 2007)
26% On track to meet 

targeted 3-year result 
(actual available 
in 2009 – 2010)

 Number of Canadians who have ever received 
a Canada Education Savings Grant and who are 
attending postsecondary education in the current 
fiscal year

192,000 190,000
(calendar year)

 Percentage of Canadians under 18 years of age 
who have ever received a Canada Education Savings 
Grant

34% 34%

 Percentage of children eligible for the Canada 
Learning Bond who have a Registered Education 
Savings Plan

22% 8%

Comments: Widespread availability was delayed until July 2006 when a significant number 
of financial insitutions became ready to offer the new Canada Learning Bond.

Service Indicators

 Client satisfaction with the overall quality of services 
provided by the Canada Student Loans Program

76% 75%

 Client (Registered Education Savings Plan providers) 
satisfaction with the overall quality of services 
provided by the Canada Education Savings Program

88% 92%

Safe, healthy, fair, stable, cooperative, productive workplaces and effective 
international labour standards

Labour

 Percentage of collective bargaining disputes settled 
under Part I (Industrial Relations) of the Canada 
Labour Code without work stoppages

90% 96.9%

 Percentage of unjust dismissal complaints settled 
by inspectors (Part III of the Canada Labour Code)

75% 74%
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Rating Program Indicators 2006 – 2007 Target Results

 Disabling injury incidence rate (DIIR) measuring the 
change in the rate of lost time injuries, illnesses and 
fatalities within federal jurisdiction industries from 
year to year

10% reduction over 
5 years from 2001 
to 2005

•  All industries 
reduced by 11.0%

•  High priority 
industries reduced 
by 20.2%

 Percentage of money collected in relation to the 
amount found to be owed for complaints under 
Part III (Labour Standards) of the Canada Labour 
Code (excluding unjust dismissal complaints)

75% 74% 

Service Indicator

 Client satisfaction with the quality of Workplace 
Information Directorate data

80% 96.4% rated as good, 
very good and 
excellent

Enhanced income security, access to opportunities and well-being for individuals, 
families and communities

Social Investment
N/A Proportion of CPP contributors who have 

contributory coverage/eligibility for CPP Disability
New measure 67% (males)

62% (females)

N/A Number of CPP Disability recipients who report a 
return to work and leave benefits – proportion of 
this group of clients who have remained off benefits 
for six months or more

New measure 2,107

N/A Number of partnerships concluded that provide the 
public with knowledge of the OAS/CPP programs

New measure Results not available 
(indicator being pilot 
tested)

Labour Market Agreements for Persons with Disabilities (LMAPD)
Number of participants in programs/services 
under the LMAPD

199,812 Results not available

Number and percentage of participants completing 
a program or service through LMAPD programming, 
where there is a specific start and end point 
to the intervention, by province

76,311 
(38%)

Results not available

Number and percentage of participants who 
obtained or were maintained in employment 
through LMAPD programming, where the 
program or service supports the activity

43,680 
(22%)

Results not available

Opportunities Fund for Persons with Disabilities

 Number of clients served 5,539 4,923

 Number and percentage of clients who obtained 
employment

1,711 
(31%)

1,757 
(36%)

 Number and percentage of clients with enhanced 
employability

2,198 
(40%)

2,642 
(54%)

 Number and percentage of clients who sought 
further skills upgrading (returned to school)

242 
(4%)

223 
(4.5%)
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Rating Program Indicators 2006 – 2007 Target Results

Social Development Partnerships Program
N/A Knowledge is created and disseminated to meet 

the social development needs of citizens
New measure yes

Understanding the Early Years Initiative
N/A Number of communities that apply through 

the Call For Proposals process during each year
New measure 33 communities 

applied for funding

New Horizons for Seniors Program
N/A Number of seniors leading and or involved in 

funded project activities within the community
New measure 106,745 

(estimate)

Social Development Partnerships Program Office for Disability Issues

 Number of proposals (from contribution 
agreements) funded

46 61

Children and Families
N/A Incidence of low income – the change in the number 

and percentage of families and children that fall below 
the post-tax Low Income Cut-off, due to the National 
Child Benefit, in one year

Actual data 
to be reported

In 2003, 60,500 families 
with 159,000 children 
were prevented from 
living in low income 
due to the National 
Child Benefit, a reduc-
tion of 12.4% in fami-
lies with low income 
with children

Comments: Most recent analysis is year 2003

N/A Depth of low income – the change in the aggregate 
amount of income that low-income families would 
need to reach the post-tax Low Income Cut-Off, 
due to the National Child Benefit, in one year

Actual data 
to be reported

In 2003, National 
Child Benefit reduced 
depth of low income, 
low income gap for 
families with children 
who received National 
Childcare Supplement 
by a total of 
$610 million.

 Number of children under six years of age for whom 
their parents are receiving the Universal Child Care 
Benefit

95% of all children 
under six years 
of age.

95%

Housing and Homelessness

 Percentage of investments directed toward 
the continuum of supports and services based 
on priorities established by the community

At least 75% invested 
in community 
priorities

100%

 Ratio of total National Homelessness Initiative 
investments versus funding by type of partners 
for each province and territory 2003 – 2007

1 to 1.5 1 to 1.89

 Increase in accessible sources of information/data 
on homelessness

Evidence of uptake 
of data/information

yes

Comments: The National Homelessness Initiative website received an average of 1,593 “visits” 
per day from 2006 – 2007, showing an ongoing uptake of information on homelessness. 



30 2006 – 2007 Estimates  A Departmental Performance Report

Rating Program Indicators 2006 – 2007 Target Results

Achieve better outcomes for Canadians through service excellence

Service Indicators

 Increase in number of Service Canada points 
of service (from 320 in March 2005)

533 587

 24/7 availability of Internet – information and 
transaction (compared to March 2005 where only 
information was accessible online)

95% 99.3%

 Percentage of calls answered by an agent within 
180 seconds

95% 58.5%

Comments: A number of changes were made to address the service challenges posed 
by summer and winter peak periods.

 Extend hours of service in Service Canada Centres 
(from 0 in March 2005)

60 53

 Percentage of availability of Interactive Voice 
Response System

95% 98%

N/A Maintain or reduce number of official language 
complaints

Actual results 
to be reported

23

 Establish Official Language Minority Community 
Groups points of service (from 0 in March 2005)

17 33

 Offer service in languages other than English 
or French (from 0 in March 2005)

10 19

 Provide forms online in formats accessible 
for people with disabilities

10 11

 Percentage of notifications sent within seven 
days of receipt of applications

80% 65.6%

Comments: Results will improve with automation of claims.

 Percentage of Employment Insurance payments 
issued within 28 days of filing

80% 79.7%

Percentage of passports delivered by Passport 
Canada within 20 working days of receiving the 
application from Service Canada, excluding mailing 
time

90% Accountability rests 
with Passport Canada 
to report on results

Comments: Memorandum of Understanding between Human Resources and Social Development 
Canada and Passport Canada was signed where there was an agreement to measure the “effec-
tiveness of the Passport Receiving Agents (Service Canada)”. Indicators were developed to measure 
critical and non-critical errors committed by Service Canada as a receiving agent.

 Percentage of Canada Pension Plan retirement 
first payment within the month of entitlement

85% 92.8%

 Percentage of Old Age Security first payments 
issued within 30 days of entitlement

90% 94.1%

 Percentage of pleasure craft licences issued 
in one visit (service not offered in March 2005)

90% 80%

 Percentage of Social Insurance Numbers issued 
in one visit (service not offered in March 2005)

90% 67%

Comments: Results for this new service showed a steady increase throughout the fiscal year 
from a base of 0.

N/A Maintain or increase client satisfaction Actual results 
to be reported

Results not available 
(survey not 
conducted)
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Human Resources and Official 
Languages Indicators

The Department has worked throughout the year 
to develop and implement initiatives aimed at achieving 
the objectives of the government’s 2003 – 2008 Action 
Plan for Official Languages and its Horizontal Results-
Based Management and Accountability Framework. For 
example, under the literacy initiative, teaching materials 
for trainers and learners were distributed in Canada’s 
Official Language Minority Communities and efforts 
to increase awareness about the importance of family 
literacy among target clients and within these commu-
nities were undertaken. Other accomplishments include 
the establishment of a formal coordinators’ network 
to strengthen collaboration between official language 
minority communities and departmental officials; 
development of promotional tools for training and in-
formation sessions to departmental employees, and 
participation in external workshops, meetings 
and conferences.

Human Resources and Social Development Canada 
initiated work on a departmental framework on gender 
and diversity. Training sessions were organised to help 
ensure that gender and diversity considerations are fully 
integrated in the Department’s policies and programs 
and provide departmental employees with concrete tools 
to apply gender and diversity analysis in their work.

The Department participated in the Canadian 
delegation for the United Nations Commission on 
the Status of Women 50th session and in collaboration 
with Heritage Canada, two information sessions on the 
Canadian Multiculturalism Act were recently organised 
for departmental employees.

Departmental Corporate Management

Human Resources and Official Languages Indicators

Legend
	Target met or exceeded 		Target not met

	Target mostly met N/A	Not applicable

Employment Equity

 Representation of visible minority persons 9.4% 9.0%

 Representation of Aboriginal persons 3.0% 4.1%

 Representation of people with disabilities 3.6% 8.1%

 Representation of women 60.1% 70.8%

Comments:  These results are the designated group representation percentages that will be reported 
in the 2006 – 2007 Employment Equity Annual Report.

Official language complaints
N/A Language of work Actual results 

to be reported
2

N/A Service to the public Actual results 
to be reported

5

Comments:  These do not include Service Canada.
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Management Priorities
Human Resources and Social Development Canada has 
focused on strengthening the auditing and accountability 
functions within the Department and on participating 
in the review by the Blue Ribbon Panel on Grants and 
Contributions.

Other priorities for the planning period include work 
on performance indicators to strengthen accountability 
and a sustained focus on governance, financial steward-
ship and human resources management.

Achievements Against Priorities

Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

Management Priorities

Governance and Effective Management

Strong leadership and communication in managing 
the integration of the Department

Developed and implemented communications 
strategies to support the integration of Human 
Resources and Social Development Canada.

Modernize shared corporate services Managed the ongoing delivery of Shared 
Transactional Services from Service Canada.

Established Assistant Deputy Minister level Shared 
Services Governance Tables for Human Resources, 
Information Technology, Administration, including 
one overarching Shared Service Table and a Sub-Table 
on Accommodations, to directly address day-to-day 
service delivery issues, focus on results, and identify 
joint work, track priorities and the achievement 
of milestones.

Ensure effective governance relationship among 
policy development, program design and service 
delivery through Service Canada

Assistant Deputy Ministers’ committees were 
established to ensure discussion on program policy 
and service delivery issues.

Ensure effective governance of the Department’s 
significant engagement in horizontal 
and intergovernmental activities

In 2006 – 2007, the Department worked closely 
with provincial and territorial governments through 
multilateral forums as well as through bilateral 
interaction in advancing policy and program priorities.

The Minister and Deputy Minister of Human 
Resources and Social Development Canada met with 
their provincial and territorial social services counterparts 
and discussed child care, persons with disabilities and 
low-income families. Federal Provincial and Territorial 
Ministers Responsible for Seniors also met in September 
of 2006. The Department held regular Federal Provincial 
and Territorial meetings under the Forum of Labour 
Market Ministers.

During the summer and fall of 2006, the Minister and 
the Deputy Minister of Human Resources and Social 
Development Canada consulted their provincial and 
territorial counterparts responsible for labour market 
and post-secondary education. These consultations 
helped inform the development of a labour market 
strategy and the Government of Canada’s Advantage 
Canada.
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Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

Implement the new communications governance 
model for grants and contributions

Developed new communications protocols for grant 
and contribution agreements designed to strengthen 
the consistency, coherence, collaboration, compliance 
and relevancy across the portfolio.

Pursue a robust internal communications program 
that supports a common culture, and which provides 
timely information and communications tools 
to HRSDC employees

Provided communications support and advice 
for over 90 corporate initiatives.

Financial Stewardship

Enhance and sustain the integrity of financial 
analysis, monitoring and reporting to support 
managerial and parliamentary decision-making

Organizational changes were announced to strengthen 
policy, programs and corporate management at Human 
Resources and Social Development Canada. As part 
of these changes, a Chief Financial Officer position 
was created to strengthen the overall stewardship 
of departmental resources and to support the Deputy 
Minister as the Accounting Officer for Human Resources 
and Social Development Canada, the Labour program 
and Service Canada.

Guidelines were also developed to improve financial 
forecasting processes and regular meetings of senior 
management officials were held to review the depart-
mental financial situation on a portfolio-wide basis.

Improve performance measures and management 
of departmental risks

The Departmental Performance Measurement 
Framework was improved through the development 
of a more concise and consistent set of indicators 
for 2007 – 2008 and risk information was integrated 
in the 2007 – 2008 business planning cycle.

Strengthen integrity of programs by improving 
identity information and reducing error and fraud

Consistent with commitments made to the Auditor 
General, Service Canada continued to enhance integrity 
initiatives. These included 9,000 investigations of possible 
abuse related to Social Insurance Numbers and the 
launch of a Social Insurance Number Code of Practice 
to inform Canadians and key stakeholders of ways 
to use Social Insurance Numbers properly.

Expanded online authentication by Canadians of 
their identity, particularly for online access to services, 
validating 11.7 million transactions against the Social 
Insurance Registry

Piloted a Social Insurance Number Quality Management 
Strategy to improve identity information and reduce 
error and fraud, while supporting the automated 
processing that can improve service to Canadians, 
while reducing costs and processing errors.

Strengthen internal audit, in accordance 
with the Internal Audit Policy

Developed a three-year, risk-based internal audit plan 
which was approved by the Management Audit and 
Evaluation Committee. In addition, developed and 
approved a comprehensive Policy Implementation Plan 
to ensure the timely and appropriate implementation 
of the new Treasury Board Secretariat Policy 
on Internal Audit.
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Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

Review the management of grants 
and contributions

Supported the work of the Independent Blue Ribbon 
Panel on Grant and Contribution Programs.

Created a departmental, Director-level Grants 
and Contributions Policy and Program Committee 
and a Learning and Development Sub-Committee.

Through Service Canada, realize Expenditure 
Review savings commitments

Service Canada had set a savings target of $355 million 
but has exceeded the target, generating $424 million.

Savings were largely realized as a result of increased 
activities to address the most common forms of abuse 
in Employment Insurance and public pension benefit 
programs. Savings were also achieved through 
reductions in procurement costs and salaries.

Human Resources Management

Nurture a values-based organization that is fair, 
enabling and safe, as well as productive 
and principled

An Informal Conflict Management System was 
established, following consultations with the unions, 
and services were provided on an ongoing basis through 
contracts with Justice and Health Canada.

The Department developed a Values and Ethics 
framework during 2006, the foundation of which 
was the launching of a Values and Ethics Intranet site, 
the establishment of a Values and Ethics Advisory Group, 
and a regular agenda of values and ethics events 
and messaging.

An update on Values and Ethics was presented 
to unions. A union representative was invited 
to the Advisory Group meetings.

The intranet site houses values and ethics 
information from all events, and useful links to 
Canada Public Service Agency material. The Values 
and Ethics Advisory Group meets bimonthly, and has 
representation from all branches. Agenda items include 
branch-specific challenges and needs, and sharing of 
best practises. A regular agenda of values and ethics 
events includes Lunch and Learn and information 
sessions on values and ethics-related issues identified 
as risk areas needing more awareness, and monthly 
messaging takes place via internal email. 

The Department strives to reinforce values and ethics 
as the basis of all actions, and will continue to improve 
upon what has been created to date to ensure values 
and ethics remain strong in Human Resources and 
Social Development Canada working culture.

Enhance the sustainability and adaptability of the 
departmental workforce through human resources 
planning, recruitment, succession management, 
performance management and continuous learning

The Department held learning initiatives to 
support learning culture, inclusiveness and diversity 
and to promote leadership and open communication. 
Action learning group pilots were established 
for the Administrative Services, Middle Manager 
and Executive groups.

Become a model employer with respect to 
accessibility in all aspects of the employment 
relationship

Supported managers in meeting their Employment 
Equity and Duty to Accommodate obligations by 
working to eliminate under-representation for members 
of visible minority groups and supporting the integration 
of Employment Equity analysis with Human Resources 
planning.
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Corporate Risk
Over the past fiscal year, the Department continued 
to strengthen the practice of risk management to 
effectively manage ongoing strategic and operational 
risks in delivering programs and services. The Department 
faced three corporate risks in achieving its objectives and 
commitments for 2006 – 2007. A summary of the key 
risks and associated strategies implemented are outlined 
below. The three key risks are:

• building relationships with external partners 
and stakeholders

• recruiting and retaining competent and skilled people

• exercising appropriate governance and oversight

Building relationships with our 
external partners and stakeholders

At risk is the ability to engage in and build the right 
relationships with external partners and stakeholders 
to ensure timely progress in the social and economic 
agenda and delivery on commitments.

An important component of the work conducted by 
the Department involves consultation and collaboration 
with the public and private sectors. In 2006 – 2007, 
increased focus was placed on revitalizing relationships 
with partners and stakeholders. The planned results were 
met. A new Intergovernmental Relations Directorate was 
created and provides a focal point for the conduct 
of federal, provincial, territorial and international rela-
tions to advance federal objectives across the portfolio. 
Emphasis was also placed on supporting bilateral minis-
terial consultations with provincial and territorial gov-
ernments, as well as roundtables with major post-secondary 
education stakeholders including businesses, students, 
faculty, colleges and universities. 

In addition, an engagement strategy was implemented 
which enables on-line consultations and roundtables, 
participation in public activities to engage academics 
and experts, on-going emphasis on partnerships and 
collaboration with communities and stakeholders, and 
monitoring of media and stakeholder perspectives. 

To better serve citizens, Service Canada collaborated 
with a number of other government departments 
to help reach more Canadians, such as, delivering the 
Canadian Agricultural Skills Service Program on 
behalf of Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, receiving 

passport applications on behalf of Passport Canada 
and issuing pleasure craft licensing on behalf 
of Transport Canada.

Recruiting and retaining competent 
and skilled people

At risk is the capacity to attract competent and skilled 
people, and retain and develop them, which may hinder 
the ability to deliver on commitments and to exercise 
due diligence.

The Department recognized the importance of ensuring 
the development of a strong organization, with a skilled 
staff and a representative workforce. In support of this, 
Human Resources and Social Development Canada 
held learning initiatives to support strong linkages 
and to promote leadership and open communication. 
Development programs for several specialized 
professional communities are under development and 
action learning group pilots were also established. Human 
Resources and Social Development Canada continues 
to reinforce values and ethics as the basis of action 
with a view to promoting a healthy, supportive 
and respectful working environment. 

In support of the re-integration of the departments, 
an action plan was developed and implemented in 
2006 – 2007. In addition, an Agenda for Excellence, 
focusing on People, Partnerships and Knowledge, was 
developed to further integration objectives and to serve 
as a roadmap for the new Human Resources and Social 
Development Canada.

To ensure that staff are trained and equipped to provide 
quality service to Canadians, the newly launched Service 
Canada College provided training, development 
and accreditation of staff in service excellence.

Exercising appropriate governance 
and oversight

At risk is the ability to exercise appropriate gover‑
nance and oversight on the stewardship of resources 
and the state of internal controls within an environment 
of major organizational changes and evolving 
accountability relationships.

Human Resources and Social Development Canada 
strengthened coordination between policy and program 
design and delivery through regular senior level meetings 
to ensure a strategic and corporate approach to man-
agement, policy program design and service delivery 
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issues. A Corporate Secretariat was established with 
the mandate to consolidate ministerial and corporate 
executive support and to facilitate information sharing 
across the portfolio.

The Department supported the Government-wide 
response to the Report of the Blue Ribbon Panel 
and efforts to review and streamline the administration 
of federal government grants and contributions and 
created a Grants and Contributions Centre of Excellence 
in Human Resources and Social Development Canada.

The Department developed a forecasting guideline 
package and portfolio-wide briefings of the Human 
Resources and Social Development Canada resource 
situation. The Department initiated work for long-term 
capital planning with the identification of business 
requirements for major technology projects and building 
institutional capacity to establish a corporate investment 
process. In addition to these activities, a risk-based 
internal audit plan was also developed.



Section II Performance Discussion 
by Strategic Outcome





Policies and Programs 
That Meet the Human Capital and 

Social Development Needs of Canadians
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D uring the year Human Resources and Social 
Development Canada provided strategic policy, 

research, and communication expertise in support of 
the government’s efforts to improve the standard of 
living and quality of life of Canadians, and promote 
their social well-being and security. A major focus of 

this work was supporting the government’s 
commitments contained in the 2006 Budget and 
economic and fiscal update, including supporting the 
principle of creating new opportunities and choices 
for people that was announced in Advantage Canada: 
Building a Strong Economy for Canadians.

People • Partnerships • Knowledge

Program Activity 
Policy, Research and Communications

Achievements Against Priorities

Policy, Research and Communications

Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

Priority: Promote key human resources and social development policies of the Government of Canada 

Develop policies that 
support the Government’s 
commitments.

Contributed to the New Government Economic Plan: Advantage Canada, 
by supporting development of “Knowledge Advantage” to create the best 
educated, most skilled and most flexible workforce in the world by:

• creating new opportunities and choices for people;

• increasing participation of Canadians and new Canadians in the workforce, and

• enhancing opportunities to acquire knowledge and skills.

Undertake an older worker 
feasibility study.

In January 2007, the Minister of Human Resources and Social Development 
appointed an independent expert panel to undertake a study of labour market 
conditions affecting older workers in Canada and examine potential measures 
to help them, including improved training and enhanced income support, such 
as early retirement benefits.

To support this objective, the Expert Panel on Older Workers has consulted 
extensively with all provinces and territories, as well as employers, labour 
representatives, academia and other stakeholders.

Undertake consultations 
on post-secondary education 
and training to help restore 
the fiscal balance.

Over the summer and early fall of 2006 the Minister and Deputy Minister of 
Human Resources and Social Development Canada consulted with their provincial 
counterparts on post-secondary education and training. Discussions focused on:

• the overall objectives for post-secondary education and training;

• the appropriate roles and responsibilities for post-secondary education and 
training; and

• the development of a framework for measuring results and accountability 
with respect to funding support.

The Department also undertook an on-line consultation that yielded 
162 submissions from individual citizens and 33 from stakeholder organizations. 
This was followed in September and October 2006 by roundtable discussions 
with major associations representing universities, colleges, polytechnics and 
sector councils, students, faculty, business, labour and Aboriginal people. The 
summary findings were subsequently posted on the Finance Canada website
(http://www.fin.gc.ca/activty/consult/fiscbal_2e.html#2)
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Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

Following these consultations, through Budget 2007 the Government of 
Canada legislated an $800 million increase in annual support for post-secondary 
education through the Canada Social Transfer beginning in 2008 –2009. 
In addition, legislation extends the Canada Social Transfer to 2013 – 2014 with 
an annual three percent escalator starting in 2009 – 2010 to ensure predictable 
and growing support and moves the Canada Social Transfer to an equal-per-
capita cash allocation starting in 2007 – 2008.

Work towards developing 
a long-term human capital 
policy/social policy for 
the 21st century. 

Established a Medium-Term Policy Planning process to identify key priorities, 
with an initial focus on globalization, families, social safety net, life-long 
learning, participation and inclusion.

Priority: Develop and implement key departmental frameworks and strategies

Develop a policy framework 
encompassing human capital 
and social development to 
underlie the new Department 
and identify key priorities.

Established an analytical base that will integrate a long-term human capital 
and social policy approach for the 21st century.

Develop and implement a 
department-wide Knowledge 
Management Initiative.

Developed a new approach to Human Resources and Social Development 
Canada knowledge gathering and dissemination to more directly inform policy 
and program development, including a needs assessment of data gathering 
and a better integration of evaluation support.

A departmental Knowledge Conference was held in December 2006.

Develop an integrated 
HRSDC Knowledge Plan, a 
medium-term strategy to 
develop and disseminate 
knowledge.

A Department Knowledge Plan was drafted. 

Develop the HRSDC 
Data Plan, a coordinated, 
comprehensive strategy for 
data and survey planning.

A draft plan was developed to strengthen the data portfolio on human 
resources and social development, identifying products, key data needs and 
concrete actions to support the Department’s mandate and commitments as 
well as to maximize the relevance of a departmental data portfolio over time. 
In 2006 – 2007, the Department conducted a data needs assessment to support 
the development of the Data Plan. 

Strengthen strategies to 
include evaluation in the 
policy development process.

Human Resources and Social Development Canada implemented various 
initiatives to strengthen evaluation support for policy and program 
development:

• Established a dedicated unit responsible for managing and disseminating 
evaluation knowledge as well as fostering linkages between evaluation and 
policy and program activities. This unit conducted thematic studies on lessons 
learned from previous evaluations.

• Approved an Audit and Evaluation Management Action Plan Follow-up Policy. 
Follow-up on all management responses included in evaluations approved 
between 2004 – 2005 and 2006 – 2007 is currently underway.
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Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

Priority: Advance knowledge development to support informed decision-making

Develop rigorous, integrated 
knowledge and evidence 
to identify current and 
emerging social policy 
and human resources 
development issues.

The two research directorates were reorganized so that the centralized 
departmental research in labour market and skills and social policy domains 
were integrated.

• Draft of an integrated Human Resources and Social Development Canada 
Policy Research Plan.

• Over 50 research projects were completed and 175 projects were begun.

•  Major progress was made in engaging Canadian academics in the conduct of 
the research plan. Seven separate academic researcher networks, funded by 
the Department and with work plans developed jointly by academics and the 
Department, became active during 2006 – 2007.

• A major set of policy issue ‘diagnostics’ was completed to help identify 
current and emerging issues as input into the departmental Medium Term 
Planning exercise. 

Develop integrated HRSDC 
knowledge exchange and 
engagement strategies to 
foster the sharing of high-
quality knowledge and to 
support decision-making 
and on-going dialogue 
with external partners.

In 2006 – 2007, the Department advanced key knowledge exchange 
and engagement activities:

• Hosted a departmental Knowledge Conference focusing on research, data 
development, evaluation, knowledge management, and monitoring and 
reporting. The Conference helped to strengthen the Department’s capacity 
to create, share and use knowledge and build partnerships.

• Implemented departmental publication guidelines to ensure quality control 
and relevance of knowledge and research content to corporate priorities.

• Provided the Department with current knowledge and research information 
to support decision-making and venues for knowledge exchange and 
dissemination through such products as internal electronic knowledge 
newsletters, the Monthly Knowledge Series and the Knowledge Web Centre.

Support key government 
priorities through data, 
information and knowledge 
strategies.

The Department developed data, information and knowledge strategies to 
support knowledge development in priority areas (e.g., caregiving, childcare).

Develop a common 
knowledge base on social 
policy and human resources 
development trends.

In 2006 – 2007, the Department developed a set of individual and societal 
well-being indicators to help monitor and better understand well-being across 
the country. In January 2007, the Department launched a pilot version of the 
Indicators of Well-being in Canada website for use within Human Resources 
and Social Development Canada. These indicators help the Department monitor 
trends influencing well-being over time and provide the Department with 
evidence-based knowledge to support the development of effective and 
relevant policies and programs for Canadians. 
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Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

Conduct evaluations 
in key areas relating 
to departmental policies 
and programs.

Undertook work on over 48 evaluation projects in all departmental policy and 
program areas. Among these, the Department completed a major Summative 
Evaluation of Employment Insurance Part I, which provides a summary of all 
evaluation knowledge on Employment Insurance available to date. The 
Department also made progress with respect to evaluation of the Employment 
Benefits and Support Measures delivered under the bi-lateral Labour Market 
Development Agreements. In addition to the evaluation in British Columbia 
that was approved in 2004, the Department completed the evaluation in 
Nunavut and Newfoundland and Labrador.

Approved two new evaluation reports (management response included):

• Summative Evaluation of Employment Insurance Part 1

• Formative Evaluation of Foreign Credential Recognition Program

Also produced reports produced in support of the 2005 Employment Insurance 
Monitoring and Assessment Report.

The Department also approved the management response of four evaluations 
that were completed in 2005 – 2006:

• Summative Evaluation of Employment Benefits and Support Measures 
Delivered Under the Canada/Newfoundland and Labrador Labour Market 
Development Agreement

• Formative and Summative Evaluation of Nunavut Benefits and Measures 
Delivered under the Canada-Nunavut Labour Market Development 
Agreement

• Formative Evaluation of the Youth Employment Strategy

• Summative Evaluation on Pilot Project No. 5 (preventative withdrawal)

Promote consideration of 
international policy research 
and analysis in development 
of policy initiatives to address 
human resources and social 
development priorities.

In June 2006, Canada hosted a forum on the Organization for Economic 
Co-operation and Development’s New Jobs Strategy in Toronto. The forum, 
which brought together Ministers of Employment from the Organization’s 
member countries and labour market and economic experts, provided 
an opportunity to examine and discuss the recommendations contained 
in the Jobs Strategy.

In June 2006, the Minister and Chair of the Council of Ministers of Education, 
Canada and the Minister of Education (Newfoundland & Labrador) co-led the 
Canadian delegation to the G8 Education Ministerial in Moscow. The meeting 
focused on examining education for innovative societies in the 21st century.

In October 2006, the Minister, led the Canadian delegation to the G8 Labour 
and Employment Ministerial meeting in Moscow. The meeting focused on the links 
between economic growth and employment and their impact on productivity, 
labour market performance and social policy.

Priority:  Increase engagement and collaboration with our partners and Canadians through public involvement 
and other activities to ensure better, innovative and complementary policy initiatives

Implement an engagement 
strategy and a Public 
Involvement Framework 
to guide all HRSDC public 
involvement activities in a 
manner that is coordinated 
and integrated both inter-
departmentally and intra-
departmentally.

The Department is actively improving its capacity for public involvement 
through a number of mechanisms, including a Public Involvement Framework 
that includes departmental principles for consultation and citizen engagement. 
A Public Involvement engagement strategy was developed in 2006 – 2007, which 
included an annual stakeholder conference and a web-based citizens’ panel.
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Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

Continue to support and 
enhance federal-provincial/
territorial relations through 
formal meetings, consultations 
and working arrangements, 
which supports the 
Government’s effort to 
strengthen the economic 
union and continue to 
support the social union.

In Budget 2006, the Government of Canada presented its approach to restoring 
fiscal balance and committed to consultations with provinces and territories 
on fostering a competitive and efficient economic union.

During the summer and fall of 2006, the Minister and the Deputy Minister of 
Human Resources and Social Development Canada consulted their provincial 
and territorial counterparts responsible for labour market and post-secondary 
education. The purpose of these consultations was to discuss shared objectives, 
roles and responsibilities, and accountability measures for Post-Secondary 
Education and training. The consultations also provided an opportunity to 
convey the importance of Post-Secondary Education and training to Canada’s 
labour market and economic objectives.

These consultations helped inform the development of the Government of 
Canada’s Advantage Canada, which laid the groundwork for a labour market 
strategy to secure growth and prosperity, while respecting the primary responsibility 
of provinces and territories for delivering labour market programming, and the 
measures that were announced in Budget 2007.

Working with provinces and territories, the Department re-initiated regular 
Federal, Provincial and Territorial meetings under the Forum of Labour Market 
Ministers. Deputy Ministers met in Toronto in February 2007.

In 2006 – 2007, the Department continued to work closely with provincial and 
territorial governments building on established relationships through multilateral 
forums as well as through bilateral interaction in advancing its social policy 
and program priorities.

The Minister and Deputy Minister of Human Resources and Social Development 
Canada met with their provincial and territorial social services counterparts and 
discussed child care, persons with disabilities and low-income families. Federal 
Provincial and Territorial Ministers Responsible for Seniors also met in 
September of 2006, they discussed issues including: safety and security 
for seniors (elder abuse), social isolation and healthy aging.

Develop strategic policy 
advice and opportunities 
to support the social and 
economic development 
objectives of the 
2010 Olympics and 
Paralympics Winter Games 
through horizontally working 
relationships.

Horizontal working relationships were developed concerning the 2010 Games 
with various federal departments – Department of Foreign Affairs and 
International Trade, Industry Canada, Canadian Heritage - and with the Federal 
Government Representative Working Group, and other 2010 Games partners.

Acted as the Co-Chair of the Social Development Issues Cluster, led the creation 
of the social development component of the 2010 Games Strategic Opportunities 
plan and developed opportunities for an Accessibility Showcase for the BC-Canada 
Beijing 2008 Pavilion. Also served as a member of the Economic Issues 
Development Cluster.
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Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

Continue to support the 
Government of Canada’s 
relationships with community 
sector organizations who 
play a key role in serving 
Canadians.

As the Government of Canada lead on the relationship with the 
community sector, the Department recognizes that the community sector 
plays an important role in improving the social and economic well-being of our 
citizens – e.g., $126 billion in economic activity, a workforce equivalent to two 
million full-time employed and engagement of some 12 million volunteers – 
thereby building a stronger, better Canada and supporting Canadians in 
making choices that help them live productive and rewarding lives.

A key dimension of the community sector is the transformational role this 
sector plays in reshaping the thinking about the policy solutions to systemic 
socio-economic problems and in providing citizens meaningful engagement in 
contributing to Canadian society. It is recognized that the community sector is 
one of many partners required for an effective multi-sectoral collaborative 
approach to addressing community issues.

In support of a vibrant sector, the Government of Canada has focused on 
creating an enabling environment for the sector to meet the needs of an aging 
and changing society, a growing population, and the socio-economic challenges 
that face our cities and communities. To this end, Human Resources and Social 
Development Canada continues to: collaborate with the community sector; 
make strategic investments to support its innovation and address the social 
development needs of Canadians, their families and communities; and promote 
its increased self-sufficiency and sustainability. In 2006/2007 HRSDC carried out 
this work through a number of activities, including:

• Supporting the development and launch of a national campaign to raise the 
awareness with the public and the community sector of the community 
sector’s substantial contribution to the economic and social fabric of the 
country.

• Conducting consultations with community sector stakeholders on innovation 
and ways to support the sharing of best practices for a more effective and 
efficient sector through pilot projects. 

• Supporting the development and launch of a web-based portal to provide a 
national forum for community sector organizations to share information, best 
practices, network and develop partnerships for projects and services to 
Canadians.

• Striking a Task Force on Community Investments to provide recommendations 
to promote consistent and coherent federal government funding practices to 
community sector organizations.

• Working with sector stakeholders to develop financial tools designed to help 
them manage community sector organizations. 

For more details on programs supporting this activity, please see Section IV – Other Items of Interest
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Financial and Human Resources 2006 – 2007

Policy, Research and Communication

GROSS SPENDING PLANNED
(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) SPENDING AUTHORITIES ACTUAL

Human Resources and Skills Development Canada
Gross Operating Expenditures 120.1 140.1 139.4

5.15.10.0snoitubirtnoCdnastnarGyrotutatS-noN
Social Development Canada

7.451.463.76serutidnepxEgnitarepOssorG
Non-Statutory Grants and Contributions 0.0 646.4 0.0

6.5911.2584.781latoT

FULL TIME EQUIVALENTS 936 1,143 1,143

Details by Program and Services 2006 – 2007

Policy, Research and Communication

Planned
Spending

Authorities Actual
Spending

43.7 54.9                 53.4 
44.5 52.8                 48.5 
37.1 33.9                 33.7 
(5.2) -                   5.3 

120.1 141.6 140.9

61.7 701.9 50.8

5.6 8.6 3.9

67.3 710.5 54.7
187.4 852.1 195.6

936 1,143 1,143

Financial Resources (in millions of dollars)

Social Development Canada
Sub-Total

Strategic Policy and Planning
Communications and Ministerial Services
Allocated Corporate Servicesa

Otherb

Sub-Total

Allocated Corporate Servicesa

Social Development Policy and Innovation

Total FTE

Total
Human Resources

Human Resources and Skills Development Canada

a Corporate Services resources related to the Minister’s Office, the Deputy Minister’s Office, the Comptroller’s Office 
and the Shared Services have been prorated to each Strategic Outcome.

b Other category is for resources which are not directly related to the sub-activities identified.



Enhanced Canadian Productivity 
and Participation Through Efficient and 
Inclusive Labour Markets, Competitive 

Workplaces and Access to Learning

During 2006 – 2007, Human Resources and Social Development Canada 
worked on a number of broad fronts—supporting labour market efficiency 

and inclusiveness, enhancing the competitiveness of workplaces, and helping 
Canadians gain access to learning opportunities—toward the common goal 
of supporting Canada’s continuing prosperity through enhanced productivity 
and participation. The Department’s labour market, workplace skills, and 
learning programs complemented each other in working towards creating the 
best educated, most skilled and flexible labour force, and in contributing to a 
number of broad Government of Canada outcomes: strong economic growth, 
an innovative and knowledge-based economy, income security and employment 
for Canadians, and a fair and secure marketplace. Departmental efforts under 
this strategic outcome and its major program activities were consistent with the 
principle of creating new opportunities and choices for people that is outlined 
in the Government’s economic plan: Advantage Canada: Building 
a Strong Economy for Canadians.
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People • Partnerships • Knowledge

Program Activity 
Labour Market

C anada has a well educated, highly skilled and 
mobile workforce, which has contributed to one 

of the most flexible and adaptable labour markets 
among Organization for Economic Co-operation and 
Development countries. Canada’s performance 
has remained strong even though the face of the 
labour market has changed significantly over 
the past two decades. To date, the economy has 
shown resilience in its ability to cope with the 
ongoing changes.

New challenges have begun to emerge including growing 
labour shortages in some regions and sectors, as well 
as demographic challenges as the population ages.

The Department has two major program activities that 
assist Canadians with income support and in finding 
and retaining employment in support of this Strategic 
Outcome.

The Employment Insurance program promotes 
individual well being, economic stability and a flexible 
labour market by providing temporary income support 

to unemployed workers who qualify under Part I of 
the Employment Insurance Act. The program 
encompasses a wide range of benefits to address 
the needs of workers and the labour market.

Employment Programs enable Canadians, including 
unemployed adults and targeted groups, such as 
youth, Aboriginal Peoples and older workers, to 
develop their skills and encourage them to invest in 
themselves and become self-reliant. These programs 
and services are funded under the Consolidated 
Revenue Fund and Part II of the Employment 
Insurance Act.

The Department recognizes the importance of working 
in partnership with other federal departments and in 
particular with agencies, external organizations, unions, 
Aboriginal organizations, the voluntary sector and 
provinces and territories to successfully fulfill its mandate 
and meet the needs of unemployed Canadians.

Strategic Outcome Indicators

Labour Market

Indicators Current Level

Percentage of unemployed looking for work for one year or more 
(52 weeks and over).

2006 8.7%

2005 9.6%

Percent of youth (15 – 24 year-olds) neither in the labour force nor in school.* 2006 4.82% a

Involuntary part-time employment as a proportion of all part-time 
employment.

2006 24.1%

2005 25.6%

Employment Insurance regular beneficiaries to unemployed ratio. 2005 44.8%

2004 43.6%

Unemployment Rates by Designated Group. (2005) Women 7.2%

People with Disabilities 10.7%

Aboriginal Peoples 19.1%

Visible Minorities 9.5%

Older Workers 6.0%

a A different methodology was used compared to previous years, and as such, historical data could not be provided.

* Census 2006 data is not yet available. The above results are based on Census 2001 data (includes Labour Force 15 years 
or older that are unemployed).
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Our employment programming is delivered through 
four major Department-led horizontal initiatives: 
Aboriginal Human Resources Development Strategy; 
Aboriginal Skills and Employment Partnership 
program; Youth Employment Strategy; Targeted 
Initiative for Older Workers, and Labour Market 
Development Agreements. In addition to these 
activities, the Department helps to sustain the vitality 
of Official Language Minority Communities through 
the Enabling Fund, which enhances human resources 
development, increases employability and community 
capacity building for the official language minority 
communities. Details on the above-noted horizontal 
initiatives can be found at:

http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/rma/eppi-ibdrp/hrdb-
rhbd/dep-min/HRSDC-RHDSC/hrsdc-rhdsc_e.asp

Key accomplishments for 2006 – 2007 include:

• Devolution of the Labour Market Development Agree-
ment to Ontario on January 1,2007 with required 
sub-agreements and systems. This devolution is 
consistent with the overall government direction of 
negotiating the transfer of Labour Market Develop-
ment Agreements to all provinces per Budget 2007. 

• Worked closely with other federal departments, 
National Aboriginal Organizations and other stake-
holders to strengthen Aboriginal Human Resources 
Development Strategy in key areas of urban service 
delivery, private sector engagement, and labour 
market research.

• Developed draft Self-Government Labour Market 
Development Agreement in implementing the Yukon 
First Nation self-government agreement.

• Throughout the 2006 – 2007 timeframe, agree-
ments for the Targeted Initiative for Older Workers 
were signed with Nova Scotia, Prince Edward Island, 
Quebec, and Yukon. Agreements with all other 
provinces and territories that have indicated they 
will participate in the initiative were signed during 
2007 – 2008.

The delivery of the Employment Programs is primarily 
done through Service Canada and their role is crucial 
in the successful implementation of programs and 
delivery of services to Canadians.

There were a number of summative and formative 
evaluations either launched or completed in 2006 – 2007 
related to Employment Insurance and Employment 
Programs. All evaluations assist the Department in 
ensuring that the programs remain responsive to 
the needs of Canadians requiring income support 
and/or seeking assistance in getting back to work. 
Evaluations undertaken in 2006 – 2007 include:

Evaluations launched:

• Summative Evaluation of the Youth Employment 
Strategy.

• Summative Evaluation of Employment Insurance 
5-week Seasonal Work Pilot.

• Formative/Summative Evaluation of the 
New-Entrant/Re-entrant component of EI Part I.

• Formative Evaluation of Aboriginal Skills and 
Employment Partnerships.

• Formative and Summative evaluation of the Voisey’s 
Bay project.

• Formative Evaluation of the Aboriginal Human 
Resources Development Agreements.

• Formative Evaluation of the Manitoba Labour 
Market Agreements for Persons with Disabilities.

Evaluations completed:

• Support for Monitoring and Assessment Report – 
Over ten evaluative studies focussing on 
Employment Insurance Part I completed for the 
2006 Monitoring and Assessment Report.

• Formative Evaluation of Employment Insurance 
Compassionate Care Benefits (results will be made 
available in fall 2007).

• Summative Evaluation of Employment Insurance Part I.

Other on-going evaluation activities:

• Employment Programs – Summative evaluations 
of Employment Benefit and Support Measures are 
currently underway in several jurisdictions. Key 
findings from the British Columbia, Quebec, 
Alberta, Ontario and Newfoundland and Labrador 
summative evaluations are discussed in the 2006 
Monitoring and Assessment Report. Other sum-
mative evaluations are currently underway and 
where available, findings will be presented in the 
2007 Monitoring and Assessment Report.



50 2006 – 2007 Estimates  A Departmental Performance Report

• Audit and Evaluation Committee approved Action 
Plan to address recommendations in 2005 Formative 
Evaluation of the Youth Employment Strategy the 
2005 Summative Evaluation of Employment Benefits 
and Support Measures Delivered Under the Canada/
Newfoundland and Labrador Labour Market 
Development Agreement and the 2005 Formative 
and Summative Evaluation of Nunavut Benefits and 
Measures Delivered under the Canada-Nunavut 
Labour Market Development Agreement.

• On-going collaborative work for the Evaluation of 
Federal Action Plan for Official Languages.

• Launched of the Formative Evaluation of Enabling 
Fund for Official Language Minority Communities.

Program Indicators

Labour Market

Indicators Notes

Access
Percentage of unemployed targeted by the Employment Insurance 
program eligible to collect regular Employment Insurance benefits
2004 Result: 80.4%
2005 Result: 83.4%

Rate of Participation of Designated Groups and Older Workers 
in Employment Benefits and Support Measures:

Rate of 
Participation 

in EBSM 
2005 – 2006 a

Percentage 
of the entire 
unemployed 
labour force b

Women 50.0% 45.5%

People with disabilities 4.6% 9.8%

Aboriginal persons 7.2% 6.5%

Visible minorities 6.8% 16.2%

Older workers (55 and over) 6.5% 17.3%

Adequacy
Proportion of regular entitlement collected by Employment 
Insurance claimants (%).
2003 – 2004: 60.9%
2004 – 2005: 59.8%

Proportion of Employment Insurance maternity/parental 
entitlement collected by Employment Insurance claimants.
2003 – 2004: 92.9%
2004 – 2005: 93.5% c
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Indicators Notes

Labour market efficiency
Number of youth clients who return to school or become 
employed following an employment program intervention under 
the Youth Employment Strategy and proportion of these clients 
in the total number of action plans closed

These targets do not include returns 
to school following participation in the 
Summer Career Placements initiative under 
Summer Work Experience

Target: 7,400
Result: 8,539
Proportion: 65.29%

Number of Aboriginal clients who return to school or become 
employed following an employment program intervention under 
the Aboriginal Human Resources Development Strategy and 
proportion of these clients in the total number of action plans 
closed
Target: 20,500
Result: 23,230
Proportion: 54.17%

Number of clients employed or self-employed following 
an employment program intervention, and proportion 
of these clients in the total number of action plans closed
Target: 220,000
Result: 226,453
Proportion: 59.15%

a Source: 2005 – 2006 Monitoring and Assessment Report
b Source: Census 2001
c New methodology used for more accurate results and consistency in method used for regular benefits
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Achievements Against Priorities

Labour Market

Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

Priority:  Work with provinces, territories and stakeholders to ensure that labour market programming 
is coherent, comprehensive and flexible

Continue to work with the province of Ontario on 
preparing for the transfer of responsibility for the 
design and delivery of Employment Insurance-funded 
Employment Benefits and Support Measures under 
the Canada-Ontario Labour Market Development 
Agreement, which takes effect on January 1, 2007.

• Labour Market Development Agreement 
devolved to Ontario January 1, 2007 with required 
sub-agreements including systems development.

Develop, assess and propose options for program 
policies to ensure continuing relevance in a dynamic 
labour market based on comprehensive review of the 
lessons learned from program evaluations and other 
sources.

• Designed new policy approach for determining 
financial assistance to Skills Development participants 
to improve transparency, fairness, inclusion, and 
working collaboratively with Service Canada began 
testing new approach in Nova Scotia.

Strengthen links between active employment measures 
and workplace skills programs to ensure greater 
alignment with the demand side of the labour market.

• Released policy allowing the use of Targeted Wage 
Subsidy to assist unemployed apprentices experiencing 
difficulties finding employment related to their 
apprenticeship.

• Enhanced policy under the Labour Market 
Partnerships benefit to allow for an Employer-
Sponsored Training option so that workers facing 
job loss may be supported in training.

Continue to strengthen links with Official Language 
Minority Communities with a view to ensuring the 
vitality of their local labour markets.

• Developed a department-wide Action Plan 
for Official Languages

• Organized six national committee meetings with 
federal partners and community representatives 
and supported in the development of a strategic 
plan for National Human Resources Development 
Committee for English Linguistic Minority.

• The formative evaluation for the Enabling Fund 
for Official Language Minority Communities and the 
related governance structure is currently underway. 
This evaluation is examining program design, delivery 
and implementation including: program objectives, 
data collection, performance indicators, roles and 
capacity of all partners, horizontality aspects and 
achievement of short and medium-term objectives 
(increased capacity and accountability, development 
of community action plans and projects, increased 
leverage of resources and investments and 
strengthened financial partnerships, etc.). In addition, 
the formative evaluation will provide a follow-up to 
the findings and conclusions from the 2003 formative 
evaluation of the predecessor program, the Support 
Fund. The preliminary findings are planned for 
September 2007 and final report for December 2007.
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Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

Priority:  Provide advice on Employment Insurance income support to ensure it remains well suited 
to the needs of Canada’s economy and workforce

Monitor and assess the labour market impacts 
of Employment Insurance pilot projects in regions 
of high unemployment to inform decisions 
for the Employment Insurance Program.

• The labour market impacts of Employment 
Insurance pilot projects in regions of high 
unemployment were monitored and assessed.

• An extended Employment Insurance benefits pilot 
project was implemented in June 2006.

• The extended Employment Insurance benefits 
pilot project will continue to test whether providing 
additional weeks would help address the annual 
income gap faced by seasonal workers whose weeks 
of work and Employment Insurance benefits are 
not sufficient to provide income throughout the year, 
and whether it would have any adverse labour market 
effect on other Employment Insurance claimants.

Complete a formal evaluation of Employment 
Insurance Compassionate Care Benefits, introduced in 
January 2004, and assess the potential for policy 
adjustments related to the benefit.

• A formal evaluation of Employment Insurance 
Compassionate Care Benefits was completed 
in early 2007.

• In June 2006 a regulatory change was made to 
the compassionate care benefit which broadened 
the definition of family member to ensure siblings, 
grandparents, grandchildren, in-laws, aunts, uncles, 
nieces, nephews, foster parents, wards or any 
individuals considered by the gravely ill person 
or his or her representative to be family members 
are eligible for compassionate care benefits.

Continue to review Employment Insurance Economic 
Regions, used to establish entitlement and benefit 
periods, working with new geographic data from 
Statistics Canada.

• New Census 2006 geography data was released 
by Statistics Canada in January 2007. Extensive 
analysis was started.

Monitor and assess the new Employment Insurance 
rate setting legislation to ensure it achieves 
the intended objectives.

• Analysis of process and results is ongoing.

Priority: Build more effective partnerships to improve Aboriginal labour market outcomes

Strengthen and support the delivery of the Aboriginal 
Human Resources Development Strategy and the 
Aboriginal Human Resources Development 
Agreements across the country.

• Approximately 54,797 (includes new starts 
and carry-overs) Aboriginal people assisted 
(16,540 employed; 5,785 returned to school).

• Return to work of the Employment 
Insurance claimants before end of benefit period: 
approximately $15.04M in unpaid Employment 
Insurance Part I Benefits; return to work of 
non-Employment Insurance claimants resulted 
in approx $5.1M in savings to social assistance.

• Worked closely with other federal departments, 
National Aboriginal Organizations and other 
stakeholders to strengthen the Aboriginal Human 
Resources Development Strategy in key areas of 
urban service delivery, private sector engagement, 
and labour market research.
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Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

• Began development of engagement strategy 
for successor strategy for the Aboriginal Human 
Resources Development Strategy program post-2009 
through examination of number of key issues related 
to the Aboriginal Human Resources Development 
Strategy programming.

• Participated in the inter-departmental committee 
lead by Treasury Board Secretariat to develop a new 
Directive on Aboriginal Transfer Payments.

Foster more private sector partnerships such as 
the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Partnerships 
program, thereby improving the participation 
of Aboriginal people in sustainable employment.

• 9 Aboriginal Skills and Employment Partnerships 
projects and training plans were underway.

• More than 1,300 clients were served and 
participated in interventions, with participants 
securing approximately 400 jobs in 2006 – 2007.

• $105M announced in Budget 2007 for enhancements 
to Aboriginal Skills and Employment Partnerships 
(2007 – 2012).

Collaborate with other departments on Aboriginal 
Early Childhood Development to explore options, 
and develop a recommendation for a “single window” 
approach while supporting quality child care programs 
on-reserve and in the North.

• 7,500 child care spaces were subsidized in more 
than 400 First Nations and Inuit communities.

• Participation in testing financial/reporting 
instruments that could lead to national roll-out 
leading to Single Window Model for Aboriginal 
Early Childhood Development.

Work with Aboriginal partners, provinces and 
territories and other stakeholders to develop a new 
approach with workable solutions to reduce poverty 
and narrow the gap in employment outcomes for 
Aboriginal peoples.

• Held six Workforce Connex Forums since 
January 2006 with private sector representatives, 
Aboriginal Human Resources Development Agreement 
holders, government officials, and other key 
stakeholders across Canada to provide information 
on how to tap into Aboriginal labour supply and 
foster new/innovative types of partnerships and 
collaborations for mutual benefit of the Aboriginal 
Human Resources Development Agreement holders, 
their client groups and employers.

• Labour market challenges and opportunities 
for Aboriginal people and communities were 
explored in partnership with Environmental Careers 
Organization of Canada, Canadian Brownfield’s 
Network, and other government departments, 
regarding participation in the clean-up 
of contaminated sites, waste management, 
and remediation sector.

• Working with Provinces and Territories and with 
Health Canada to promote adoption of innovations/
best practices to increase representation of Aboriginal 
people in the health care sector.
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Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

• With 11 federal departments and agencies, 
participated in workshops with territorial 
government departments, Aboriginal organizations, 
the Aboriginal Human Resources Development 
Agreement holders and other youth serving 
agencies to identify partnership opportunities to 
improve the social, economic and skills development 
outcomes of Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal youth 
in the territories (Framework for Action for 
Northern Youth) – concrete outcomes include 
National Aboriginal Achievement Foundation 
annual career fair in Yellowknife; Royal Canadian 
Mounted Police youth advisory committee in Yukon; 
Rivers to Success community plan for Inuit youth in 
Nunavut (major focus on skills development) and 
social development initiative in Nunavut to improve 
community safety, well-being, and reduce crime.

• Aligned Aboriginal Literacy and Essential Skills 
component to the overarching departmental 
strategy.

• Promoted/supported Aboriginal skills development, 
literacy and Essential Skills through the Pan 
Canadian Innovation Initiative Fund.

• Engaged on Aboriginal Health Human Resources 
Initiative to promote integrated approach 
(facilitated partnerships with Métis Aboriginal 
Human Resources Development Agreements).

Priority:  Develop approaches to reduce barriers and help vulnerable Canadians, such as youth, 
disabled and older workers participate in the labour market

In consultation with partners, undertake a review 
of youth employment programming to ensure it is 
aligned with current labour market and youth needs 
at the national, regional and local level.

• Launched the Canada Summer Jobs Initiative.

• Analysed and used up-to-date labour market 
information in development of Canada Summer 
Jobs, taking into consideration today’s strong labour 
market (i.e., lowest level of unemployment rate in 
30 years; 2006 national student unemployment rate 
lowest than in recent years; employers having 
increased difficulties filling jobs in certain areas 
of the country).

Achieve greater effectiveness within the Government 
of Canada for the Youth Employment Strategy and 
across all orders of government and non-governmental 
organizations in the development of youth programming.

• Summative Evaluation of the Youth Employment 
Strategy initiated to examine program relevance, 
success, and cost-effectiveness of the Youth 
Employment Strategy programming delivered by all 
13 participating federal departments and agencies.

Adapt existing programs to the special labour market 
conditions of the North with a special focus on youth.

• Led 11 federal departments and agencies participation 
in workshops with territorial government departments, 
Aboriginal organizations, Aboriginal Human 
Resources Development Agreement holders, other 
youth serving agencies, and youth to identify 
partnership opportunities to improve social, 
economic and skills development outcomes of 
Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal youth in the 
territories (Framework for Action for Northern 
Youth).
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Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

• Worked with regions, provinces and territories 
to ensure the Employment Benefits and Support 
Measures program policies responded to regional 
labour markets (e.g. Newfoundland, Nunavut); 
worked with partners on the development of the 
Northern Youth Strategy and developed an approach 
to use Skills Link funds more effectively in Nunavut.

Work with other orders of government and non-
governmental organizations to address urban violence 
for at-risk youth through employment programming.

• Built partnerships with the province of Ontario and 
the City of Toronto as well as with numerous federal 
departments and agencies as the federal lead on Social 
Development Committee for Tri-Level Task Force 
on Youth Violence.

• Key results include better collaboration among 
policy teams at the federal level, a higher degree 
of coordination among all partners on the ground 
and the development of indicators and benchmarks 
for assessing progress that were agreed upon 
by the three orders of government.

Develop and implement an initiative to respond 
to short-term employment needs of displaced older 
workers, while undertaking a feasibility study to assess 
a range of measures available to assist these workers, 
with a view to developing a longer-term strategy.

• Consulted with provinces and territories in 
the development of Targeted Initiative for Older 
Workers.

• Approval of two-pronged strategy on Older Workers 
and the announcement of new $70M Targeted 
Initiative for Older Workers.

 • Led extensive work with provinces and territories 
to raise awareness of the Targeted Initiative 
for Older Workers.

• Terms and Conditions for the Targeted Initiative 
for Older Workers approved.

• Throughout the 2006 – 2007 timeframe, agreements 
for the Targeted Initiative for Older Workers were 
signed with Nova Scotia, Prince Edward Island, Quebec, 
and Yukon. Agreements with all other provinces and 
territories that have indicated they will participate 
in the initiative were signed during 2007 – 2008.

For more details on programs supporting this activity, please see Section IV – Other Items of Interest.
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Financial and Human Resources 2006 – 2007

Labour Market

GROSS SPENDING PLANNED
(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) SPENDING AUTHORITIES ACTUAL

0.581,17.502,12.423,1serutidnepxEgnitarepOssorG
5.8154.3453.255snoitubirtnoCdnastnarGyrotutatS-noN
1.01.02.0stnemyaPrefsnarTyrotutatS
6.307,12.947,17.678,1serutidnepxEssorGlatoT
5.299,110.820,210.244,21stifeneBemocnI–ItraPIE

dnastifeneBtnemyolpmE–IItraPIE
     Support Measures 2,137.5 2,137.5 2,086.9

4.970,415.561,415.975,41stifeneBIElatoT
Government Annuities and Civil
  Service Insurance payments 48.3 48.6 48.6

6.138,513.369,515.405,61latoT

FULL TIME EQUIVALENTS 13,377 12,305 12,305
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Details by Program and Services 2006 – 2007

Labour Market

Planned
Spending

Authorities Actual
Spending

12,442.0 12,028.0 11,992.5

269.4 288.8               287.3 

658.4 520.1               511.8 

13,369.8 12,836.9 12,791.6

1,353.8 1,140.8 1,120.8
987.0 1,190.0 1,157.5

271.3 281.5               281.4 

30.3 25.0                 14.9 

321.1 300.9               287.6 

11.2 20.4                 12.9 

13.6 14.0                 14.0 

131.2 140.4               139.7 

15.2 13.4                 11.2 

3,134.7 3,126.4 3,040.0
16,504.5 15,963.3 15,831.6

13,377 12,305 12,305

Employment Insurance Benefits

Aboriginal Human Resources Development Strategy

Official Language Minority Communities

Sub-Total

Labour Market Development Agreements Transfers c
Employment Benefits and Support Measures c

Total FTE

Allocated Corporate Servicesa

Otherb

Total d

Human Resources

Sub-Total

Aboriginal Skills and Employment Partnerships

Youth Employment Strategy

Labour Market Adjustments

Financial Resources (in millions of dollars)

Employment Programs

Allocated Corporate servicesa

Otherb

EI Benefits

a Corporate Services resources related to the Minister’s Office, the Deputy Minister’s Office, the Comptroller’s Office 
and the Shared Services have been prorated to each Strategic Outcome. 

b Other category is for resources which are not directly related to the sub-activities identified.
c Includes all resources associated with EI Part II Pan-Canadian activities.
d This amount includes resources for the delivery of programs and services by Service Canada. For a full accounting of Service 

Canada’s operations please refer to the Strategic Outcome, “Achieve better outcomes for Canadians through service 
excellence (Service Canada)”.
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W orkplace Skills aims to improve Canadian 
economic competitiveness by fostering innova-

tive, productive and inclusive workplaces, where 
workers are encouraged and supported to develop 
and use their knowledge, skills and abilities. 

This program area promotes and encourages employ-
ers across the country to invest in the skills develop-
ment of their workers based on partnerships between 
the federal government, provinces and territories, and 
stakeholders. Canada’s success, and the success of 
individual Canadians, relies on our economic produc-
tivity. In addition, our productivity, in turn, is increas-
ingly dependent on skills and learning.

A key component of strengthening Canada’s produc-
tivity and improving quality of life involves enhancing 
the competitiveness of Canadian workplaces. Skilled 
workers contribute to this competitiveness and help 
drive improvements in workplace productivity through 

their abilities to process information, perform tasks 
more efficiently and effectively, and adapt to and 
operate new technology. They are also more skilled at 
generating innovations resulting in new or improved 
information, products, services, and production and 
distribution processes. Human Resources Social Devel-
opment Canada’s work pertaining to the Workplace 
Skills activity supported the Government of Canada’s 
Outcome Area of an innovative and knowledge-based 
economy. 

The Department, in collaboration with partners includ-
ing sector councils, professional regulatory bodies, 
employers, unions, and provincial and territorial 
governments, promotes workplace-related learning 
and skills development and recognition that reflect 
the realities of the changing labour market.

Strategic Outcome Indicators

Workplace Skills

Indicators Current Level

Percentage of adult workforce who participated in job-related 
formal training

27.6% (2005 – source: Survey of Labour 
and Income Dynamics) *

34.7% (2002 – source: Adult Education 
and Training Survey)

28.5% (1997 – source: Adult Education 
and Training Survey)

Percent of adult workforce who participated in employer-supported 
job-related training

20.2% (2005 – source: Survey of Labour 
and Income Dynamics)*

25.0% (2002 – source: Adult Education 
and Training Survey)

22.4% (1997 – source: Adult Education 
and Training Survey)

Average earnings of recent immigrant university graduates as a 
percentage of the earnings of Canadian-born university graduates

2000 65.0% (Source: Census data)

* Note: In previous publications of this report, the Adult Education and Training Survey was used as a source of data for the 
first two strategic outcome indicators. Due to the availability of data, the Survey of Labour and Income Dynamics was used 
this year in order to provide an updated source.

People • Partnerships • Knowledge

Program Activity 
Workplace Skills
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Service Canada delivers the Apprenticeship Incentive 
Grant, Temporary Foreign Worker Program, and 
Labour Market Information.

Main accomplishments for 2006 – 2007 include the 
following: 

• The Apprenticeship Incentive Grant application 
process and website were launched on 
January 1, 2007. As of the end of March 2007, 
more than 4,900 applications had been received 
for the grant.

• The Foreign Credential Referral Office task force 
received approval for the design of the Office, 
facilitated implementation of initial operations and 
undertook consultations and research in support of 
the development of the Office.

• The Foreign Credential Recognition Program made 
investments towards addressing Foreign Credential 
Recognition issues and expanded its scope to 
additional occupations and sectors such as Respira-
tory Therapists and the Biotechnology sector.

• Investments were made towards addressing Labour 
Mobility issues within priority health occupations 
such as Medical Laboratory Technologists, 
Registered Nurses and Audiologists.

Each year, Evaluations are conducted to assist the 
Department in ensuring that its programs and services 
remain responsive to the needs of Canadians. In 
2006 – 2007, there was an evaluation pertaining to 
the Foreign Credential Recognition Program.

Foreign Credential Recognition Program:

• A formative evaluation of the Foreign Credential 
Recognition Program that was completed in 2006 – 2007 
made six recommendations to Management all of 
which have either been addressed or are currently 
being addressed. The recommendations addressed 
issues such as improving the performance measure-
ment strategy and the sharing of project results. The 
formative evaluation and the management response 
can be viewed at the following websites, respectively:

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/publications_
resources/evaluation/2007/sp_ah_687_02_07/
page05.shtml
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/publications_
resources/evaluation/2007/sp_ah_687_02_07/
page03.shtml.

• The Evaluation report concluded that the Foreign 
Credential Recognition Program is progressing well 
towards accomplishing its objectives and outcomes.

Program Indicators

Workplace Skills

Indicators Notes

Number of apprentices that received 
the Apprenticeship Incentive Grant.
Target: N/A
Result:  4,900 applications for the Grant 

as of March 31st, 2007.

Since this indicator is new, no target was set. Approval 
of Apprenticeship Incentive Grant funding occurred 
on March 30, 2007.

Increase in the number of trades people who are fully 
mobile in Canada through Red Seal endorsement.
Target: 15,000
Result:  20,386 (2006)

Red Seal statistics are reported annually, based 
on the January to December time period.

Number of tools and processes completed to be used in 
verifying and recognizing foreign credentials and work 
experience of foreign-trained professionals.
Target: 85
Result: 89

Cumulative totals from April 2004 – March 2007
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Achievements Against Priorities

Workplace Skills

Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

Priority:  Articulating an integrated workplace skills strategy by working with provinces, territories, key 
government departments and stakeholders in advancing multiple activities that include trades and 
apprenticeship, foreign credential recognition, labour market information, as well as sectoral initiatives. 

Further developing and 
strengthening Foreign 
Credential Recognition 
initiatives, including 
the proposed Canadian 
Agency for Assessment 
and Recognition of 
Foreign Credentials.

• The Foreign Credential Recognition Program made investments towards 
addressing Foreign Credential Recognition issues and expanded its scope 
to additional occupations and sectors such as Respiratory Therapists 
and the Biotechnology sector.

• An Investment Selection Process that takes a strategic approach for selecting 
occupations for the Foreign Credential Recognition Program future 
investments was implemented

• The Working in Canada tool that provides seamless integrated Labour 
Market Information from several departmental databases (and the backbone 
to the Foreign Credential Recognition Office website) was developed.

• The Foreign Credential Recognition Office task force received approval 
for the initial design of the Office and undertook research, analysis 
and consultations in support of policy and program development 

Implementation of the 
Trades & Apprenticeship 
Strategy including the 
Apprenticeship Incentive 
Grant.

• The implementation of the Trades and Apprenticeship Strategy 
progressed with the launch of the AIG application process and website 
on January 1, 2007.

• Received more than 4,900 applications for the grant from January 
to March 2007.

• Federal-Provincial-Territorial working groups established under the Trades 
and Apprenticeship Strategy are meeting objectives and timelines of work 
plans established in key areas: common core curriculum; language 
benchmarks; integration of Essential Skills into Red Seal apprenticeship 
training programs; integration into civilian trades workforce of retiring 
military trades people; and evidence-based analysis.

• The Aboriginal Human Resources Development Council is forging partnerships 
through outreach to employers and other to promote Aboriginal participation 
in apprenticeships and the skilled trades. 

Continuing to work with 
provinces and territories 
to improve inter-provincial 
labor mobility under the 
Agreement on Internal 
Trade.

• Forum of Labour Market Ministers Senior Officials approved 
2006 – 2007 Labour Mobility Coordinating Group labour mobility work plan.

• Forum of Labour Market Ministers’ Deputy Ministers reviewed progress 
towards reaching 2009 compliance deadline to accelerate the removal 
of barriers to mobility for Canadians.

• Investments were made towards addressing Labour Mobility issues within 
priority health occupations such as Medical Laboratory Technologists, 
Registered Nurses and Audiologists. 



62 2006 – 2007 Estimates  A Departmental Performance Report

Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

Further developing 
and strengthening the 
Workplace Literacy and 
Essential Skills Initiative.

• Launched first Essential Skills Initiative Call for Proposals with focus 
on Essential Skills in and for the workplace (45 proposals received).

• New National Essential Skills Workplace Service approved to provide 
contributions funding to assist employers in developing the Essential 
Skills of their employees.

• Seven Essential Skills tools were developed to support HR practices 
in the workplace.

• Conducted research that will contribute to the knowledge base for Essential 
Skills including an inventory of Province-Territory Essential Skills initiatives 
and a representative survey of 1,500 Canadian workplaces to better 
understand the extent to which Essential Skills is deemed important and is 
being implemented in Canadian workplaces.

Refining and broadening 
the impact of the Sector 
Council Program, testing 
new and innovative 
approaches to sectoral 
skills development.

• 93% of Sector Councils met or exceeded expected levels of performance.

• The Sector Council Program withdrew funding from two sector councils 
and re-directed investments towards more strategic sectors to broaden impact, 
namely Agriculture and Supply Chain Logistics. Discussions were held with the 
forestry sector to assess the feasibility to establish a forestry sector council.

• Labour Market Transition Initiative was initiated as a new instrument. Five 
pilots were launched in electricity, mining, trucking, environment, and petroleum).

Take first steps to develop 
common core curriculum 
standards for Red Seal 
trades, with the goal 
of improving the labour 
mobility of apprentices 
in Canada.

• Engaged six provinces in the project to develop common core curriculum 
standards for the Red Seal trades, known as the Interprovincial Program 
Guide project.

• Conducted five Interprovincial Program Guide workshops for the Red Seal trades

• Completed three Interprovincial Program Guides as of March 2007.

Through the Forum of 
Labour Market Ministers 
Labour Market Information 
Working Group, continue 
working on issues of 
common interest to provide 
Canadians with quality 
labour market information.

• The Labour Market Information Working Group held its 5th Annual National 
Labour Market Information Forum in Winnipeg, with the theme “The Power 
of Labour Market Information : A Roadmap for Canada’s Changing Labour 
Market”. Over 135 participants attended from Federal, Provincial and Territorial 
governments, academia, business, education communities, with speakers 
from Canada, the United States and the United Kingdom.

• The Labour Market Information Training Resource package, designed for 
career and employment practitioners, was finalized and approved for release 
by the Forum of Labour Market Ministers’ senior officials.

For more details relating to programs supporting this activity, please see Section IV – Other Items of Interest.
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Financial and Human Resources 2006 – 2007

Workplace Skills

GROSS SPENDING PLANNED
(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) SPENDING AUTHORITIES ACTUAL

9.2019.6019.201serutidnepxEgnitarepOssorG

6.833.974.611snoitubirtnoCdnastnarGyrotutatS-noN
5.1412.6813.912latoT

FULL TIME EQUIVALENTS 908 942 942

Details by Program and Service 2006 – 2007

Workplace Skills

Planned
Spending

Authorities Actual
Spending

127.3 89.4 49.4
22.6 32.1 30.0
33.6 24.8 24.4
29.6 31.5 31.3

6.2 8.4 6.4
219.3 186.2 141.5

908 942 942Total FTE
Human Resources

Financial Resources (in millions of dollars)

Workplace Partnerships
Foreign Workers and Immigrants
Skills & Labour Market Information
Allocated Corporate Servicesa

Otherb

Total c

a Corporate Services resources related to the Minister’s Office, the Deputy Minister’s Office, the Comptroller’s Office 
and the Shared Services have been prorated to each Strategic Outcome.

b Other category is for resources which are not directly related to the sub-activities identified.
c This amount includes resources for the delivery of programs and services by Service Canada. For a full accounting of Service 

Canada’s operations please refer to the Strategic Outcome, “Achieve better outcomes for Canadians through service 
excellence (Service Canada)”.
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L ifelong learning is vital to the well-being of 
individual Canadians as well as the productivity, 

competitiveness and prosperity of Canada. As 
announced on November 23, 2006, Canada’s 
economic plan, Advantage Canada, is designed to 
make Canada a world leader for today and future 
generations. It will build a strong Canadian economy 
and make our quality of life second to none through 
competitive economic advantage. The Knowledge 
Advantage component of this plan identifies 
“creating the best-educated, most skilled and most 
flexible workforce in the world”, as one of the five key 
areas of focus to gain a global competitive advantage. 
In recent years the knowledge-based economy has 
increasingly been creating jobs that require a higher 
level of education and skills. The Canadian 

Post‑secondary Education: A Positive Record – An 
Uncertain Future report states that, by 2013, “Two-
thirds (66%) of new non-student jobs will demand 
post-secondary education or be in the management 
group”1.

This report further elaborates that “research shows 
that higher education and training are strongly linked 
to safe communities, a healthy population and sustain-
able environment. Other benefits of an educated popu-
lation include a greater appreciation of diversity, 
resulting in a stronger social cohesion”.

This report also cites a Canada Millennium Scholarship 
Foundation study (2004) that identifies the impact on 
Canada’s economy of investing in post-secondary edu-
cation. For example, university graduates represent 

Strategic Outcome Indicators

Learning

Indicators Current Level

Percentage of population with post-secondary diplomas/degrees 
(2006)

25 – 64 year-olds = 47.0%

25 – 34 year-olds = 54.8%

35 – 64 year-olds = 44.5%

Percentage of adult population (aged 25 – 64) who participated 
in adult learning opportunities (2002)

36.7%

Post-secondary participation of 18 – 21year-olds by family after-tax 
income quartile when youth were age 16 (2001).

Family After-tax PSE Participation

Income Quartile University College

Lowest 21% 30%

Lower-middle 25% 32%

Upper-middle 30% 37%

Highest 38% 30%

Overall 29% 32%

Proportion of adults who were attending university or college, 
by age group (October 2006) 

Age Groups Percentage

25 – 34 9.2%

35 – 44 3.5%

45 – 54 1.5%

55 – 64 0.6%

Overall 25 – 64 3.7%

1 http://www.ccl-cca.ca/NR/rdonlyres/BD46F091-D856-4EEB-B361-D83780BFE78C/0/PSEReport2006EN.pdf#page=24

People • Partnerships • Knowledge

Program Activity 
Learning
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16.1% of the population, provide 33% of income tax 
paid and consume 9.1% of government transfers, 
such as employment insurance or social assistance. 
A similar percentage of the population (19.2%) that 
have less than high school provide much less (8.8%) 
of income tax paid, and consume considerably more 
(35.1%) of government transfers. This suggests that a 
greater investment in post-secondary education could 
yield a substantial benefit to the economy with more 
income tax paid and less government transfers.

Human Resources and Social Development assists 
Canadians in accessing the learning opportunities they 
need to increase their skill levels and participate more 
fully in a knowledge-based economy and society. The 
Department fosters a culture of lifelong learning by: 

• promoting awareness of the importance of lifelong 
learning and the need to save, plan and pay for 
post-secondary education; 

• facilitating access for students to post-secondary 
education and adult learning opportunities; 

• collaborating with provincial and territorial govern-
ments and other key stakeholders on the delivery 
of learning programs and services; and 

• researching and disseminating information on the 
benefits of learning for individuals and society 

As part of its mandate, the Department works with 
Service Canada, provincial and territorial governments, 
foundations, universities, financial institutions and 
other key stakeholders. The Department also manages 
Horizontal Initiatives, including the Canada Student 
Loans Program.2 At the beginning of 2006 – 2007 the 
Department had agreements with four foundations. 3 
Three of these foundations – the Canadian Council on 
Learning, the Canada Millennium Scholarship Founda-
tion and the Peter Gzowski Foundation for Literacy 
received one-time funding in prior years, while the 
Winnipeg Foundation has received cost-matched 
funding on an annual basis ending September 30, 
2006. The funding agreement with the Read to Me! 
Foundation also ended on September 30, 2006. The 
funding agreements for the latter two foundations 
ended due to the expiry of the terms and conditions 
of the National Literacy Program and the approval by 
Treasury Board Secretariat of new terms and condi-
tions for the Adult Learning, Literacy and Essential 
Skills Program.

The Learning program activity manages relations 
between the various participating organizations, develops 
policies and guidelines to ensure the relevance and 
effectiveness of its programs, works to strengthen 
partnerships with provincial and territorial governments 
and stakeholders and introduces changes that contribute 
to streamlining the delivery of the programs. Many of 
these changes originate from budget announcements 
and recommendations from evaluations and the Office of 
the Auditor General reports. Human Resources and Social 
Development Canada also works with Service Canada in 
managing and continuously improving program delivery. 
This partnership, which primarily focuses on the provision 
of technical support in the areas of human resources, 
communication, systems and call centres, enables the 
delivery of the Learning Branch’s programs.

The largest program of the Learning Program 
Activity is the Canada Student Loans Program 
which helps to lower financial barriers for those 
with a demonstrated financial need. In 2006 – 2007 
approximately 461,500 borrowers benefited from 
the Canada Student Loans Program. Approximately 
49,600 Canada Study Grants and 39,000 Canada 
Access Grants were awarded to students to increase 
the participation of under-represented groups 
in post-secondary education.

In order to ensure financial integrity, the Canada 
Student Loans Program worked with its partners, an 
external audit firm, Integrated Provinces and Service 
Canada to deliver 30 audit reports for the year ending 
March 31, 2007. These reports were part of annual 
audits of the two Service Providers and they serve to 
provide assurance on the financial statements of the 
Program, as well as compliance with the Integration 
Agreements between the Federal Government and 
the four Integrated Provinces. Results of the audits 
were very positive.

The 2007 Report on Federal Loans and Grants for 
Post-Secondary Education by the Office of the Auditor 
General found that the Canada Student Loans Program 
is generally well managed. It noted that “The Depart-
ment has the necessary controls in place for disbursing 
loans and grants; it also obtains reasonable assurance 
that its partners in delivering the Program are fulfilling 
their responsibilities”. However, the report noted that 
a clear strategy for measuring improved access to 
post-secondary education was needed. While 

2 http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/est-pre/estime.asp
3 http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/est-pre/estime.asp
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developing national-level indicators is a challenge as 
not all provinces have the same availability of data, 
the Department is committed to developing a perfor-
mance measurement framework to address this. The 
report also found that the Department is taking steps 
to make prospective post-secondary students and 
their families more aware of the financial assistance 
available to them. As an example of this, the Canada 
Student Loans Program ran year two of the Pan-Canadian 
Communications Campaign from September 2006 
until March 2007. Advertisements ran federally in 
national magazines and on-line parenting websites. 
Participating provinces and territory also ran advertise-
ments in newspapers, radio, billboards and cable 
television.

Students can also receive funding from the Canada 
Millennium Scholarship Foundation. The objectives of 
the Foundation are to improve access to post-second-
ary education for all Canadians, especially those facing 
economic or social barriers; to encourage a high level 
of student achievement and engagement in Canadian 
society; and to build a national alliance of organiza-
tions and individuals around a shared post-secondary 
agenda. The Canada Millennium Scholarship Founda-
tion distributes $325 million in the form of bursaries 
and scholarships each year. Since 2000, the Founda-
tion has delivered more than half a million bursaries 
and scholarships worth more than $1.5 billion to 
students across Canada. The Office of the Auditor 
General 2007 Report on Federal Loans and Grants for 
Post-Secondary Education found that the Canada 
Millennium Scholarship Foundation’s bursary programs 
are well managed and that the Foundation has the 
necessary controls in place to ensure that eligibility for 
bursaries is assessed correctly and that payments are 
issued in the right amounts to the right people.

The Learning program activity continued to provide 
supports and incentives for Canadians to encourage 
savings for post-secondary education through the 
Canada Education Savings Program. In 2006 – 2007, 
the Department finalized the implementation of the 
Canada Learning Bond and changes to savings match 
rates following the recommendations of the formative 
evaluation completed in April 2003 and the Govern-
ment’s commitment to provide more support for edu-
cation savings for low-income families. The Learning 
program activity has enabled Canadians to access 
opportunities in support of lifelong learning by pro-
viding education savings incentives through partner-
ships with Registered Education Savings Plan provid-
ers. Furthermore, the Department undertook various 

activities to increase awareness and uptake of the 
Canada Education Savings Program through commu-
nity outreach activities and events across the country 
delivered through Service Canada. A second formative 
evaluation, that was originally scheduled for 2006 – 2007, 
will be conducted in 2007 – 2008 in order to have 
sufficient data on the Program changes to complete 
the evaluation. The overall objectives of this evalua-
tion will be to provide information on the design, 
delivery and early impacts of the changes to the 
program implemented since 2005.

As a result of the Canada Education Savings Program, 
families have been saving more for their children’s 
post-secondary education at a younger age. Since 
1998, the average age at which children receive their 
first Canada Education Savings Grant has dropped 
from 8 years old to 4.3 years old in 2006. During that 
same time frame, there has been a dramatic increase 
in Registered Education Savings Plan savings from 
$4 billion in 1998 to $22 billion in 2006. 

The Department implemented the Government’s 
commitment to adult literacy through an integrated 
program, the Adult Learning, Literacy and Essential 
Skills Program. The Adult Learning, Literacy and Essen-
tial Skills Program was created through the integration 
of the National Literacy Program, the Office of 
Learning Technologies and the Learning Initiatives Program 
in April 2006. The Effective Spending Measures, an-
nounced on September 25, 2006 re-targeted federal 
investments to achieve concrete results and measur-
able outcomes for adult Canadians who want the 
opportunity to improve their learning and literacy 
skills. In 2006 – 2007, the Adult Learning, Literacy and 
Essential Skills Program supported 166 projects 
focussed in four strategic activity clusters including 
knowledge generation, capacity-building, innovation 
and demonstration projects, and promotion and public 
awareness. In addition, the Adult Learning, Literacy 
and Essential Skills Program provided support to 16 
provincial or territorial literacy coalitions and 7 national 
literacy organizations. Results of an interim evaluation 
of the National Literacy Program and of phase 1 of a 
summative evaluation of the Office of Learning Tech-
nologies completed in 2007 will be used to support 
results-based management and accountability of the 
Adult Learning, Literacy and Essential Skills Program.

In 2006 – 2007, key accomplishments included:

• Ensured continuity of the delivery of the student 
loans program by completing the Canada Student 
Loan Program Service Provider Re-procurement 
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process and initiated transition to new Service Provider, 
which will result in improved service to borrowers and 
substantial savings in program administration.

• Launched new communication plan for 2006 – 2008 
to promote planning and saving for education and 
to increase uptake of the Canada Education Savings 
Program.

• Achieved the targeted Canada Education Savings 
Grant uptake of 34%.

• Achieved 92% client satisfaction rate from Regis-
tered Education Savings Plan promoters of the 
Canada Education Savings Program services, 
an increase from the 2004 survey.
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Program Indicators

Learning

Indicators Notes

3-year loan default rate (direct loans only 
for 2006 – 2007)
Target: 26%
Result:  On track to meet targeted 3-year result 

(actual available in 2009 – 2010)

The 3-year loan default rate tracks the default rate of 
loans in the first three years after entering repayment.

The Canada Student Loans Program offers a number 
of measures to assist borrowers in managing their 
Canada Student Loan debt, including an extended 
repayment period, interest relief and debt reduction. 
The intent is to provide short and long-term assistance 
to borrowers who are experiencing financial difficulty 
in meeting their repayment obligations. The Program 
has also put in place a series of portfolio performance 
improvement initiatives and strategies in the past 
three years, including increasing awareness of 
repayment obligations and options. Currently all key 
performance indicators point to lower cohort default 
rates in the years to come.

The 3-year default rate for 2003 – 2004 cohort was 28%. 
The preliminary estimate for the 2004 – 2005 cohort 
is 18%. There is evidence to indicate that performance 
of the 2005 – 2006 will improve. Based on this trend, it 
is anticipated that the target for the 2006 – 2007 cohort 
will be exceeded.

Number of Canadians who have ever received 
a Canada Education Savings Grant and who 
are attending post-secondary education 
in the current fiscal year
Target: 192,000
Result: 190,000 (calendar year)

This year’s result is 1% short of the target.

Percentage of Canadians under 18 years of age who 
have ever received a Canada Education Savings Grant
Target: 34%
Result: 34%

Percentage of Children eligible for the Canada 
Learning Bond who have a Registered Education 
Savings Plan
Target: 22%
Result: 8%

This target was first established when the Program 
was launched in 2005. It was based on an estimate 
of Registered Education Savings Plan savings patterns 
of low-income families in 2004. As a new initiative, 
the Canada Learning Bond required changes to the 
delivery network and awareness of its availability 
as a benefit for low-income families. It was only 
in July 2006 that a significant number of financial 
institutions became ready to offer the new Canada 
Learning Bond. This delayed the widespread availability 
of the Canada Learning Bond to eligible children. 
Throughout 2006 – 2007, the Department promoted 
awareness by sending letters to families of newly 
eligible children and engaging in other communication 
activities to encourage greater Canada Learning 
Bond participation.
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Indicators Notes

As a result, in 2006 – 2007 the number of Canada 
Learning Bond beneficiaries increased by 34,497 from 
3,771 in 2005 – 2006. Cumulatively, this means there 
have been 38,268 beneficiaries paid, which represents 
8% of those eligible for the Canada Learning Bond.

Service Indicators

Client satisfaction with the overall quality of services 
provided by the Canada Student Loans Program
Target: 76%
Result: 75%

Client Satisfaction ratings were 75% in the 
2006 – 2007 loan year, which is the same rating as in 
the 2005 – 2006 loan year. Because the margin of error 
of this client satisfaction survey is 2.6%, statistically 
there is no difference between the target of 76% 
and the level achieved in 2006 – 2007.

Client (Registered Education Savings Plan providers) 
satisfaction with the overall quality of services provided 
by the Canada Education Savings Program
Target: 88%
Result: 92%

Human Resources and Social Development Canada 
undertook a client satisfaction survey with promoters 
of Registered Education Savings Plan and the Canada 
Education Savings Program who received service during 
the 12-month period preceding the survey. A total of 
50 interviews were conducted by telephone with clients 
with the result that 92% of the surveyed clients expressed 
satisfaction with the overall quality of service they 
received, with 50% very satisfied.
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Achievements Against Priorities

Learning

Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

Priority:  Continue to assess policy and program options in order to address financial and non-financial 
barriers to Post-Secondary Education access and to lifelong learning

Ongoing review of the Canada Student Loans 
program, including consideration of the needs 
assessment process.

Initiated significant work towards the simplification 
of the Canada Student Loans Program needs 
assessment process.

Implementation of the Budget 2006 parental 
contribution change as it relates to the Canada 
Student Loans Program.

Implemented the Budget 2006 measure to expand 
eligibility for Canada Student Loans through a 
reduction in the expected parental contribution.

Complete review of supports for debt management 
and assistance to part-time learners.

Completed research, advanced knowledge and policy 
development work related to debt management 
measures (e.g. revision of terms, Interest Relief, Debt 
Reduction in Repayment, and permanent disability 
benefit) and supports for part-time students.

The pros and cons of current supports to part-time 
learners were reviewed, focusing on developing a 
common understanding of the needs and motivations 
of part-time students.

Continue diagnostic work with the Provinces and 
Territories on the appropriate mix of loans, grants, 
and debt management instruments to address the 
needs of students from low and middle-income 
households.

Conducted ongoing research, knowledge and policy 
development related to students from middle-income 
families.

Extensive research and diagnostic work was also 
completed on disadvantaged groups, including 
Aboriginal, rural, disabled, visible minorities and 
recent immigrants, student parents, and low income.

Work in both of these areas has enabled identification 
of data and knowledge gaps that are being addressed.

Priority:  Implement the Adult Learning, Literacy and Essential Skills Program and finalize the implementation 
of the Canada Learning Bond

Complete the development of, and implement, the 
Adult Learning, Literacy, and Essential Skills Program 
building on the strengths of the National Literacy 
Program, the Office of Learning Technologies Program 
and the Learning Initiatives Program, with common 
objectives, outcomes, and processes.

Launched and implemented the Adult Learning, 
Literacy and Essential Skills Program.

Strengthen federal leadership in promoting lifelong 
learning, literacy and essential skills development 
and reducing non-financial barriers to learning by 
increasing public awareness, building the research 
and knowledge base for long-term change, 
supporting learning initiatives in areas of federal 
priority, and enhancing accountability and outcome 
measurement.

The Department initiated work on re-targeting future 
federal investments to national priorities and achieving 
concrete results and measurable outcomes for adult 
Canadians who want the opportunity to improve their 
learning and literacy skills. In 2006 – 2007, the Adult 
Learning, Literacy, and Essential Skills Program signed 
155 projects in this area.

Initiated a project to develop a Performance 
Measurement Strategy for the Learning program 
activity. The resulting logic model and performance 
indicators will be used to enhance outcome 
measurement and accountability.
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Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

Implement measures to increase Canadians’ 
awareness of the Canada Learning Bond, and the 
importance of planning and saving for post-secondary 
education, including the Education Savings Incentive 
Pan-Canadian Community Outreach.

Finalized the implementation of the Canada Learning 
Bond. By March 2007, forty-seven Registered Education 
Savings Plan providers had signed agreements with 
the Department and upgraded their systems to make 
the Canada Learning Bond widely available. As a 
result, there was a considerable increase in uptake 
in 2006 – 2007.

In March 2007, the Department launched a national 
advertising campaign promoting the importance of 
planning and saving for a child’s education and sent 
letters to all families eligible for the Canada Learning 
Bond. As well, inserts describing the Program were 
sent to 3.4 million families in the Canada Child Tax 
Benefit notices in July.

Results for Canada Learning Bonds are in line with 
those experienced when Canada Education Savings 
Program first started in 1998.

Two projects were initiated under the Education 
Savings Incentive Pan Canadian Community Outreach.

Continue working with the Province of Alberta to 
deliver the Alberta Centennial Education Savings Plan.

Canada Education Savings Program solidified a 
partnership with the government of Alberta and is 
delivering the Alberta Centennial Education Savings 
Plan on its behalf.

Other Achievements in 2006 – 2007
• Laid the groundwork for the review of the Canada Student Loan Program announced in Budget 2007.

• Ensured ongoing partner compliance with Canada Education Savings Program rules through compliance 
reviews and grant payment monitoring.

• Concluded the negotiation of the new International Academic Mobility European Union-Canada cooperation 
program in Higher Education, Training and Youth (2006 – 2013).

• Facilitated provincial collaboration to establish Registered Education Savings Plans for children in care.

• Undertook negotiations with the Governments of British Columbia and Quebec on the delivery of provincial 
savings programs modeled on Canada Education Savings Grants.

• Negotiated and implemented an integrated Collections agreement between the Canada Student Loan 
Program and Newfoundland and Labrador to streamline the collections activities for loans to borrowers 
from that province.

• Review of all the Canada Student Loans Program’s Guidelines and Procedures documents used for the delivery 
of the Program in preparation for the transition to a new Service Provider.

• As a means to continuously improve our Program, a Summative Evaluation of the Canada Student Loans 
Program is being held over a 5-year period from 2006 – 2007 to 2010 – 2011, focusing on a different policy 
aspect of the program each year. The results of the first year indicate that the rationale for the program 
is still valid and the program appears to achieve objectives.

For more details relating to programs supporting these activities, please see Section IV – Other Items of Interest
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Financial and Human Resources 2006 – 2007

Learning

GROSS SPENDING PLANNED
(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) SPENDING AUTHORITIES ACTUAL

6.0515.2615.261serutidnepxEgnitarepOssorG
3.726.141.54snoitubirtnoCdnastnarGyrotutatS-noN
5.4785.4786.910,1stnemyaPrefsnarTyrotutatS
4.250,16.870,12.722,1serutidnepxEssorGlatoT

Loans disbursed under the Canada Student
     Financial Assistance Act 981.5 1,231.9 1,231.9

3.482,25.013,27.802,2latoT

FULL TIME EQUIVALENTS 589 624 624

Details by Program and Services 2006 – 2007

Learning

Planned
Spending

Authorities Actual
Spending

1,486.2 1,689.6 1,682.2
634.2 537.5 536.1

51.8 45.8 31.1
4.0 3.9 2.7

25.0 26.6 26.5
7.5 7.1 5.7

2,208.7 2,310.5 2,284.3

589 624 624

 Total 

Total FTE
Human Resources

Otherb

International Academic Mobility
Allocated Corporate Servicesa

Financial Resources (in millions of dollars)

Student Financial Assistance
Canada Education Savings Program
Adult Learning, Literacy and Essential Skills 
Program

a Corporate Services resources related to the Minister’s Office, the Deputy Minister’s Office, the Comptroller’s Office 
and the Shared Services have been prorated to each Strategic Outcome.

b Other category is for resources which are not directly related to the sub-activities identified.



Safe, Healthy, Fair, Stable, Cooperative, 
Productive Workplaces and Effective 

International Labour Standards
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Labour laws and standards are critical to the 
successful functioning of private and public sector 

organizations, and equally important to the personal 
and family lives of the vast numbers of individuals who 
go to work every day. Labour law and policy define 
and structure the relationship between employers 
and employees. Employees may deal with employers as 
individuals or organized into legally recognized unions. 
Labour law and policy also deal with the basic work 
environment, ensuring it is safe, healthy and productive 
and maintains a fair balance of employer and employee 
rights and responsibilities.

The Labour Program’s federal mandate reaches 
an estimated 46,000 Canadian workplaces and up 
to 1,132 million employees (approximately 8.5% of 
Canadian workers), is legislative in nature and is limited 
to the industries that fall under the jurisdiction of Parlia-
ment for labour matters. The federal labour jurisdiction 
comprises sectors of key importance to the Canadian 
economic infrastructure including transportation, com-
munications and banking, as well as federal Crown 
Corporations and industries declared by Parliament 
to be for the general advantage of Canada, such 
as grain handling and uranium mining.

The Labour Program serves the Canadian public 
and supports departmental objectives by fostering 
cooperation, coordination and knowledge sharing 
among Canadian governments and partners (workers’ 
and employers’ organizations) on labour issues. By 
providing dispute resolution and dispute prevention 
assistance to trade unions and employers under federal 
jurisdiction, the Labour Program helps to foster con-
structive and harmonious labour-management relations 
and contributes to cooperative and productive 
workplaces throughout Canada.

Labour legislation sets out minimum labour standards; 
strives to prevent accidents and injury to health in the 
course of employment through enforcement of occu-
pational health and safety protections; ensures the pro-
tection, conservation and minimization of risks to life 
and property due to fire; and works to remove barriers 
in the labour market. The Program also seeks to ensure 
equitable employment opportunity for all Canadians 
and provide compensation benefits to employees of 
federal departments, agencies and Crown Corporations 
for employment-related injuries and illnesses.

Strategic Outcome Indicators

Labour

Indicators Level

Percentage of total working days lost due to work stoppages 
(federal jurisdiction)

Less than 1% (0.04%)

Representation of designated groups in all occupations and 
workforce availability, employers covered under the Legislated 
Employment Equity Program

Representation of Designated Groups (2004)

Women 43.3%
Aboriginal Peoples 1.8%
Visible Minorities 14.1%
People with Disabilities 2.7%

Workforce Availability (2001)

Women 47.3%
Aboriginal Peoples 2.6%
Visible Minorities 12.6%
People with Disabilities 5.3%

People • Partnerships • Knowledge

Program Activity 
Labour
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The Program conducts and disseminates research 
and information on national and international labour 
laws and labour matters. It promotes internationally-
recognized core labour standards that protect workers 
in Canada and abroad and negotiates and manages 
international labour cooperation agreements that 
support Canada’s trade agenda and, consequently, 
Canadian businesses and prosperity. 

Key 2006 – 2007 accomplishments include:

• 96.9% of collective bargaining disputes were 
settled without a work stoppage.

• The number of days not worked due to labour 
disputes in 2006 – 2007 represented less than half 
of one per cent (0.04%) of the total available work 
time in the federal private sector.

• The Minister of Labour introduced and Parliament 
passed emergency back-to-work legislation to ensure 
the continuation of rail services at the Canadian 
National Railway Company after the union mem-
bership rejected a tentative settlement reached 
with the assistance of the Chief Mediator.

• The development of new Pay Equity Program activities 
were announced, including education, promotion, 
specialized mediation services and monitoring to 
help build fair workplaces where men and women 
working in the same establishment are paid the 
same for doing work of equal value.

• The Minister of Labour tabled, in Parliament, the 
Annual Report – Employment Equity Act 2005 on 
June 15, 2006. In total, 520 employment equity 
reports submitted by federally-regulated private 
sector employers were validated and consolidated 
in the summer of 2006. Tools to assist employers 
in the fulfillment of their reporting obligations 
(e.g., variance tool, narrative report template) 
were developed and distributed.

• The Minister of Labour hosted a major roundtable 
drawing together leading employers, unions and 
academics to examine the contribution of good 
workplace practices related to economic productivity.

• Federal, provincial and territorial Ministers 
responsible for Labour adopted a joint statement 
affirming their commitment to the effective 
integration of occupational health and safety 
concepts and competencies into education and 
training, including, where appropriate, through 
elementary, secondary and post-secondary 
education systems.

• The effectiveness of Canada’s international labour 
agreements increased with Quebec formally agreeing 
to accept, in its jurisdiction, the obligations of the 
Canada-Chile and Canada-Costa Rica agreements, 
bringing another 23% of the Canadian labour force 
under the auspices of these agreements.

• The Minister of Labour received a major report from 
the Federal Labour Standards Review Commission on 
modernizing Part III of the Canada Labour Code and 
responded to it by meeting with stakeholders to obtain 
their views, identifying priorities for administrative 
change, and launching development work 
on potential options for legislative change.

• The Minister of Labour supported the 
implementation of a new Wage Earner Protection 
Program, which would protect workers from loss 
of wages in the event of their employer’s bankruptcy, 
by drafting and proposing technical amendments to 
the Wage Earner Protection Program Act to ensure 
that it operates fairly and effectively, and by developing 
the necessary regulations and program design.

• The International Trade and Labour grants and 
contributions program funded over $1 million in 
labour capacity-building programming, mainly in 
Canada’s current and future trading partners in the 
Americas. Key project themes included preventing 
child labour in Central America, migrant worker 
outreach in the Caribbean, harmonizing labour legis-
lation in the Caribbean, strengthening occupational 
health and safety in Central America, Belize, and 
the Dominican Republic, and supporting the Inter-
American Conference of Ministers of Labour.

• Canada hosted a major conference on migrant workers’ 
rights and temporary workers’ programs, under the 
auspices of the Inter-American Conference of Ministers 
of Labour, with nearly 30 countries participating.

• Negotiations towards new international labour agree-
ments advanced, particularly with Korea and Singapore.

• The revised Operations Program Directive (OPD) 
governing the investigation of refusals to work under 
the Canada Labour Code, Part II, and the guidelines 
that interpret key terms in connection with these 
investigations, such as “danger” and “normal condi-
tion of employment”, took effect on March 7, 2007. 
The purpose of these revisions was to assist in the 
interpretation of the definition of danger, clarify the 
interpretation of normal condition of employment 
and ensure consistent application on the basis 
of the recent case law.
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Program Indicators

Labour

Indicators Notes

Percentage of collective bargaining disputes settled 
under Part I (Industrial Relations) of the Canada 
Labour Code without work stoppages

Target: 90%

Result: 96.9%

Percentage of unjust dismissal complaints settled 
by inspectors (Part III of the Canada Labour Code)

Target: 75%

Result: 74% 

The result was less than 75% because many of the 
parties in the unjust dismissal process are becoming 
more litigious and are requesting an adjudicator to 
decide their case, rather than accept the assistance 
of an inspector.

Disabling Injury Incidence Rate measuring the change 
in the rate of lost time injuries, illnesses and fatalities 
within federal jurisdiction industries from year to year. 

Target: To reduce the Disabling Injury Incidence Rate 
by 10% over five years (from 2001 – 2005) in identified 
high priority industry sectors through targeting proactive 
inspections and other interventions focussed 
on education and prevention.

Result: Percentage decrease in the Disabling Injury 
Incidence Rate from 2001 – 2005

• All industries reduced by 11.0%

• High priority industries reduced by 20.2%

Percentage of money collected in relation to the 
amount found to be owed for complaints under Part III 
(Labour Standards) of the Canada Labour Code 
(excluding unjust dismissal complaints).

Target: 75%

Result: 74%

The result was less than 75% because companies in 
Ontario and Quebec filed for bankruptcy protection. 
As the companies are under the protection of the 
Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, the Labour Program 
turned to the Directors for payment of the amounts 
owing, which attempt was not successful. This issue 
will be considered during the review of Part III 
(Labour Standards) of the Canada Labour Code.

Service Indicator

Client satisfaction with the quality of Workplace 
Information Directorate data.

Target: 80%

Result: 96.4%

96.4% rated the quality of Workplace Information’s 
products as good, very good and excellent

Additional Measures

The unionization rate defined as a proportion 
of non-agricultural workers who are covered 
by a collective agreement (national)

31.6% (2006)

Time loss injuries per 100 workers (all jurisdictions) 2.1 (2005)

Direct compensation cost per worker $418 (2005)
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Achievements Against Priorities

Labour

Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

Priority: Complete a comprehensive review of Part III (Labour Standards) of the Canada Labour Code

Receive the final report from the independent 
Commissioner.

• Report received in October 2006.

• The Minister of Labour has met with key 
stakeholders to obtain their views regarding the 
report’s recommendations on how to modernize 
labour standards in the federal jurisdiction.

Develop policy options in response 
to the recommendations.

• Priorities for administrative changes in response to 
the report’s recommendations have been identified 
and analysis of potential options for legislative 
change.

Priority: Develop policy options for a modernized Federal Workers’ Compensation System 
including a Federal Disability Management Strategy

Complete research and other preparations required 
to reform the system.

• An examination of current agreements in place 
with provincial Workers’ Compensation Boards and 
national and international models and approaches 
was launched.

• Engaged key expertise in the field to study and 
advise on the feasibility and benefits of program, 
operational and delivery improvements and changes.

Priority: Complete preparations for the Wage Earner Protection Program

Draft regulations and prepare for implementation 
of the new Act.

• Drafting instructions were provided to 
the Regulations Section of Justice Canada.

• Developed program design, audit and evaluation 
frameworks, risk assessment, and privacy impact 
assessment.

Priority: Parliamentary review of the Employment Equity Act

Draft the Minister of Labour’s five-year report, which 
would include a socio-economic analysis of current 
conditions among the designated groups, a 
presentation of program administrative data on 
progress, and accomplishments towards the 
recommendations made by the Committee in the 
previous review.

• A presentation document was drafted, along with 
supporting material for the Minister of Labour.

• A report on progress of the implementation of the 
recommendations in the previous review was drafted 
with input from all federal partners (intra and 
interdepartmental) with responsibility for 
implementation of the recommendations.
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Other Achievement 2006 – 2007

• The first phase of training related to the proactive administration of the Pay Equity Program has taken place. 
Employers have been contacted, specialized mediation services are now available, and a number of printed 
products are in the approval stage.

• The Minister of Labour and the Minister of Natural Resources collaborated with the government of Nova 
Scotia to create a single regulatory and administrative regime that will apply to the Donkin Mine.

Officials of the federal Labour Program, Natural Resources Canada and the provinces of Nova Scotia 
and Newfoundland and Labrador agreed, in principle, to a regime for the effective enforcement of occupational 
health and safety in the Atlantic offshore oil and gas industry.

• One Operational Program Directive and two Interpretations Policies and Guidelines were revised and developed 
to recognize the changing interpretations by the Appeal authorities of the definition of “danger” in Part II of 
the Canada Labour Code and the impact these interpretations have on employees’ right to refuse dangerous work.

• 75 awareness sessions were delivered to employers across Canada as part of the implementation of the Racism-
Free Workplace Strategy (a component of the Canada Action Plan Against Racism) providing operational tools, 
addressing potential racism-related issues in the workplace, and building a network of community resources.

• Completed a draft Aboriginal Labour Affairs Strategy that will focus on relationship-building with Aboriginal 
communities, implementing labour initiatives sensitive to cultural, economic, and geographic context, 
and fulfilling a policy research agenda to support the strategy.

• A Canada where service delivery is focused on citizen needs through:
– the creation of a more inclusive and user-friendly Labour Program web site for the use of all our partners 

and stakeholders, which allows for the availability of a wide range of labour information. and;
– the introduction of a 1-800 line for ready access to the National Labour Operations Directorate, at all times 

of the day and from all Canadian locations, to further enhance the delivery of our services.

For more details on programs supporting this activity, please see Section IV – Other Items of Interest.
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Financial and Human Resources 2006 – 2007

Labour

GROSS SPENDING PLANNED
(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) SPENDING AUTHORITIES ACTUAL

3.193.196.09serutidnepxEgnitarepOssorG
7.29.39.3snoitubirtnoCdnastnarGyrotutats-noN
0.00.07.82snoitubirtnoCdnastnarGyrotutatS

Workers' Compensation Payments 126.0 136.4 136.4
4.0326.1322.942latoT

FULL TIME EQUIVALENTS 904 863 863

Details by Program and Services 2006 – 2007

Labour

Planned
Spending

Authorities Actual
Spending

7.9 8.1             7.1
171.1 183.0         183.0

5.9 6.0             6.0
36.1 4.2             4.2
26.8 28.5           28.3

1.4 1.8             1.8
249.2 231.6         230.4

904 863 863Total FTE

Financial Resources (in millions of dollars)

Human Resources

Federal Mediation and Conciliation 
National Labour Operations
International and Intergovernmental 
Labour Affairs

Workplace Policy and Information
Allocated Corporate Servicesa

Otherb

Total

a Corporate Services resources related to the Minister’s Office, the Deputy Minister’s Office, the Comptroller’s Office 
and the Shared Services have been prorated to each Strategic Outcome.

b Other category is for resources which are not directly related to the sub-activities identified.





Enhanced Income Security, 
Access to Opportunities and Well-Being 

for Individuals, Families and Communities

T he Department continued helping individuals, families, and communities 
achieve their potential in contributing to Canadian society and sharing in 

the opportunities society provides. Challenges require that the Department be 
flexible in finding the most effective ways to provide assistance. At times, this 
involved providing direct assistance, such as the financial benefits paid to 
parents to help them choose the kind of care they want for their young 
children. Other approaches included working horizontally with other federal 
departments and orders of government; working with groups at the community 
level; tapping the capacity of non-profit organizations; or generating awareness 
about issues among the public at large. Some challenges, such as enhancing 
the income security of seniors, affect a broad segment of the population and 
involved providing pensions to millions of people; other challenges called for a 
more tailored approach to address particular circumstances, such as providing 
the assistance that helped more than 2,500 people with disabilities improve 
their employability. A new Homelessness Partnering Strategy that increases 
horizontality and partnerships was developed to improve access to the range of 
services and programs that homeless individuals and families need to move 
toward self-sufficiency. Working towards this strategic outcome also contributed 
to a number of Government of Canada outcomes, such as A Diverse Society 
that Promotes Linguistic Duality and Social Inclusion, Safe and Secure 
Communities, Income Security and Employment for Canadians, Strong 
Economic Growth and an Innovative and Knowledge Based Economy.



�2 2006 – 2007 Estimates  A Departmental Performance Report

C anada’s economic prosperity, its vibrant labour 
market, and the positive outlook for our country’s 

future are closely linked to the security and well-being 
of Canadians, their families and communities. 

The means by which individuals attain income security, 
care for and support a family and participate in their 
community contributes to the extent of their well-
being and inclusion in Canadian society. In 2006 – 2007, 
the Department continued to build and enhance 
social investments for Canadians.

Despite current economic successes, Canada still faces 
many social challenges that require our full attention 
and support. Individuals, families and communities 
are experiencing diverse impacts from a variety of 
different sources, such as changing family structures 
and dynamics, an aging population, and the challenge 
of securing adequate income. As a result, the 
Department worked with stakeholders, provinces 
and territories to address and develop collaborative 
solutions to these challenges.

Key areas of accomplishment in 2006 – 2007 include:

• Introduction and passage of legislation to amend 
the Canada Pension Plan and the Old Age Security 
Act (Bill C-36). 

• Extended the Labour Market Agreements for Persons 
with Disabilities for one-year, to March 31, 2008, 
with annual funding of $222 million made available 
to the provinces/territories.

• Selected 16 new communities in the Understanding 
the Early Years initiative through a Call for Proposals 
process.

• Approved 775 New Horizons for Seniors Program 
projects for a total of $14 million dollars. 

• Launched the new National Seniors Council to 
advise the Government on matters related to the 
health, well-being and quality of life of seniors.

• Developed and implemented Branch-wide 
information-gathering strategies to support 
reporting on results. 

People • Partnerships • Knowledge

Program Activity 
Social Investment
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Strategic Outcome Indicators

Social Investment

Indicators Current Level

Number and proportion of individuals aged 65 years+, who had low 
family income

242,000 6.1% (2005)

Number and proportion of individuals aged 65 years+ who would have 
had low income without public support

1,977,400 50.9% (2004)

Average income by which low-income individuals aged 65+ fall short 
of the relevant LICO threshold if public pension support is removed

2004 $3,137

Average combined annual Canada Pension Plan/Old Age Security/Guaranteed 
Income Supplement payments for persons over 65 years of age represented 
as percentage of annual Average Industrial Earnings

2006 40.6%

Proportion of income provided by the Old Age Security program 
as a percentage of total post-retirement income for seniors

2004 22.6%

Proportion of income provided by the OAS program as a percentage 
of total post-retirement income for low-income seniors

2004 57.5%

Proportion of income provided by the Canada Pension Plan program 
as a percentage of total post-retirement income for seniors

2004 17.8%

Persons living in Canada receiving a benefit from another country as a result 
of a Social Security Agreement

2005 171,229

Contribution of the Canada Pension Plan–Disability Program to income support 
of beneficiaries as measured by total disability payments as a percentage 
of total net income received from all sources (measure every three years 
from tax data)

2004 42.6% 
(includes QPP 

disability clients)
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Program Indicators

Social Investment

Indicators Notes

Proportion of Canada Pension Plan contributors 
who have contributory coverage/eligibility for Canada 
Pension Plan Disability
Target: new measure
Result: 67% (Males); 62% (Females)

Canada Pension Plan Disability contributory eligibility 
is based on workforce attachment, which is influenced 
by factors beyond the scope of program activities. To 
be eligible for benefits, contributors must have been 
employed or self-employed and have made Canada 
Pension Plan contributions in four of the last six years. 
The proportion of contributors with Canada Pension 
Plan Disability eligibility is expected to remain stable 
at 65% to the year 2010.

Number of Canada Pension Plan Disability recipients 
who report a return to work and leave benefits – 
proportion of this group of clients who have 
remained off benefits for six months or more
Target: new measure
Result: 2,107

The proportion of this group who remained off 
benefits for six months or more can only be measured 
in October 2007; hence, Results will be reported next 
fiscal year.

Number of partnerships concluded that provide 
the public with knowledge of the Old Age Security 
and Canada Pension Plan programs
Target: new measure
Result: not available

Indicator currently being tested in a pilot project 
in the Ontario region of the Department.

Labour Market Agreements for Persons with Disabilities

Number of participants in programs/services under 
the Labour Market Agreements for Persons with 
Disabilities
Target: 199, 812
Result: not available

Reports for 2006 – 2007 will be released 
in December 2007

Number and Percentage of participants completing 
a program or service through the Labour Market 
Agreements for Persons with Disabilities programming, 
where there is a specific start and end point 
to the intervention, by province
Target: 76,311 (38%)
Result: not available

Reports for 2006 – 2007 will be released 
in December 2007

Number and percentage of participants who obtained 
or were maintained in employment through LMAPD 
programming, where the program or service supports 
the activity.
Target: 43,680 (22%)
Result: not available

Reports for 2006 – 2007 will be released 
in December 2007
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Indicators Notes

Opportunities Fund for Persons with Disability

Number of clients served
Target: 5,539
Result: 4,923

Number and percentage of clients who obtained 
employment
Target: 1,711 (31%)
Result: 1,757 (36%)

Number and percentage of clients with enhanced 
employability
Target: 2,198 (40%)
Result: 2,642 (54%)

Number and percentage of clients who sought further 
skills upgrading (returned to school)
Target: 242 (4%)
Result: 223 (4.5%)

Social Development Partnerships Program

Knowledge is created and disseminated to meet 
the social development needs of citizens
Target: new measure
Result: see notes

Examples where knowledge was created 
or disseminated included:

• Participants from the Vibrant Communities project 
shared their knowledge and experience via the 
Government Learning Circle teleconferencing series 
which connects a virtual ‘community of practitioners’ 
who seek to understand how government can best 
play enabling roles in local, collaborative, well-being 
efforts. Three tele-learning sessions were held 
in 2006 – 2007, attracting 70 registrants, on average, 
per session.

• The cross-country dissemination of the Voluntary 
Sector Awareness Campaign, which promoted an 
increased understanding, among Canadians and 
the community non-profit sector, of the important 
contribution the sector makes to Canada’s economic 
and social well-being.

• La Fédération Canadienne des enseignantes et des 
enseignants produced a set of tools related to the 
« Profil d’entrée à la 1ère année dans une perspective 
langagière et culturelle». These tools are intended 
to enhance the development of young francophone 
children in official language minority communities.
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Indicators Notes

Understanding the Early Years Initiative

Number of communities that apply through 
the call for proposals process during each year
Target: new measure
Result: 33 communities applied for funding

New Horizons for Seniors Program

Number of seniors leading and or involved in funded 
project activities within the community
Target: new measure
Result: 106,745 (estimate)

Social Development Partnerships Program Office for Disability Issues

Number of proposals (from contribution agreements) 
funded
Target: 46
Result: 61
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Achievements Against Priorities

Social Investment

Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

Priority: Enhance income security and active participation in communities

Develop and implement a plan to inform people 
about the retirement income system and their role 
within it. Efforts will include a focus on Aboriginals 
on-reserve.

Work plan frameworks were developed for priority 
populations, revolving largely around how to develop 
the capacity of partners in reaching out to these groups. 
These plans are intended to guide regional and 
headquarter work in targeting hard-to-reach groups.

Efforts to better reach Aboriginal seniors included the 
design and testing of a training and learning initiative 
(Working Together Workshop) for service providers 
in First Nations communities.

Develop a Seniors Council that will assist in 
the development of a seniors’ policy agenda 
and the Plan of Action for Seniors.

The creation of the National Seniors Council 
and the appointment of its chair were announced 
on March 5, 2007. The Council will advise the 
Government on seniors’ issues of national importance 
and help ensure that government policies, programs 
and services meet the evolving needs of seniors.

The Council will initially focus on ways to raise 
awareness of and combat elder abuse, and to provide 
support to unattached, low-income senior women.

Priority: Break down barriers to full participation in the richness of Canadian life and communities

Undertake policy research and development on 
disability issues and work towards bringing forward 
a National Disability Act

Developed preliminary policy options on a legislative 
proposal to improve accessibility, engaging all 
partners within the Department and across 
government.

Extend the Labour Market Agreements for Persons 
with Disabilities

Extended the Labour Market Agreements for Persons 
with Disabilities for a one-year period to March 31, 2008, 
with annual funding of $222 million being made 
available to the provinces and territories.

Contribute to the Canada Pension Plan Triennial 
Review by managing the adoption of an amendment 
to relax contributory eligibility for long-term 
contributors applying for Canada Pension Plan 
Disability benefits, as well as other minor 
amendments, and planning for their eventual 
implementation

Developed policy proposals for the Canada Pension 
Plan Committee to ease contributory eligibility for 
Canada Pension Plan Disability for long-term contributors. 
Following approval in principle by federal-provincial-
territorial finance ministers, developed the legislative 
amendment as part of Bill C-36, and supported 
the tabling and passage through Parliament. Leading 
the implementation of the amendment on long-term 
contributors.

Start Phase One of a comprehensive evaluation of the 
Canada Pension Plan–Disability Program, including 
a review of existing literature and data, key informant 
interviews, and examination of the interactions between 
the Canada Pension Plan–D and other disability 
income programs

In collaboration with the Evaluation Directorate, 
a Request for Proposal process was conducted, 
and a contractor was selected to undertake Phase I 
of the Canada Pension Plan Disability evaluation.
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Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

Place Canada Pension Plan–Disability administrative 
data into Statistics Canada’s Research Data Centres 
for use by academic researchers to build the 
knowledge base about Canada Pension Plan–Disability

Worked with Statistics Canada to update the 
2006 Participation and Activity Limitation Survey 
(data collection phase complete). A conference is 
being planned to maximize the use of the new data 
once released.

Improve awareness, coherence, and horizontal 
management of disability policies and programs 
within HRSDC and across the Government of Canada

Launched the Task Team on Accessibility to make 
the Department fully accessible and a model employer 
for people with disabilities.

Worked with Infrastructure Canada to ensure that 
accessibility requirements are considered in projects 
funded through contributions by the Government 
of Canada.

Worked with the Centre for Emergency Preparedness 
and Response, Public Health Agency of Canada to ensure 
that accessibility is considered in the development 
of emergency preparedness plans.

Serve as a national focal point within the Government 
of Canada for national and international partners 
working to promote the full participation of people 
with disabilities

Work undertaken to advance the full participation, 
inclusion and well-being of people with disabilities 
included:
a) Extending the Terms and Conditions of the 

Opportunities Fund for Persons with Disabilities 
for 2 years; and contributing to policy development 
for new Labour Market Agreements; and

b) Contributing to policy discussions on the 
Working Income Tax Benefit that was announced 
in Budget 2007, an additional supplement for people 
with disabilities; commencing work towards a 
Registered Disability Savings Plan proposal as well 
as a legislative proposal to improve accessibility 
for people with disabilities.

Canada was an active contributor to the negotiations 
leading to the adoption by the UN General Assembly 
of the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with 
Disabilities in December 2006. Canada was one of 
the first countries to sign the Convention when it was 
opened for signature at a ceremony in New York City 
on March 30, 2007.

Progress toward revitalizing the Benefit Services 
for Person with Disabilities Working Group:
• Drafting new terms of reference
• Renewal of Labour Market Agreements for Persons 

with Disabilities to March 2008
• Drafted collaborative Federal/Provincial/Territorial 

workplan

Established new collaborative Federal/Provincial/
Territorial disability-related network by reaching out 
to Provincial/Territorial Offices for Disability Issues 
and Premiers’ Councils.
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Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

Priority:  Support non-profit community sector efforts to innovate, strengthen networks of collaboration, 
develop capacity and share good practices to contribute to community well-being

Increase the participation of seniors through the 
third Call for Applications under the New Horizons 
for Seniors Program

Investments were made in 775 new projects worth 
a total of $13.9 million under the New Horizons for 
Seniors Program to encourage seniors to share their 
knowledge and skills with others in their community.

Strategically invest in national and non-profit 
community sector organizations through the Social 
Development Partnerships Program

Investments were made in 78 active projects worth 
a total of $11.5 million under the Social Development 
Partnerships Program. This included issuing a Call for 
Proposals for funding to enable national organizations 
to improve the well-being of children and families.

Make investments to enhance early childhood 
development policies and programs for families 
in official language minority communities

A Call for Proposals was issued to strengthen early 
childhood development for official language minority 
communities. This resulted in the approval of a funding 
agreement to build a national vision shared by 
stakeholders involved in early childhood development 
for official language minority communities.

Additional communities will participate in the 
Understanding the Early Years initiative through 
its second Call for Proposals

A Call for Proposals for new Understanding the 
Early Years communities was issued which resulted 
in applications from 33 communities while continuing 
to manage ongoing projects in 21 communities worth 
$2.6 million.

Foster social innovation and entrepreneurship within 
the non-profit community sector in a move towards 
greater sustainability and self-sufficiency over 
the long term

Community non-profit stakeholders were consulted 
to identify priorities for investing in innovation which 
included a literature review, an online survey, interviews 
and a workshop that brought together stakeholders 
from across the country. This resulted in the development 
of a Call for Proposals for $2.6 million to be launched 
in 2007 – 2008.

A community finance advisory committee was 
established to review, collect and debate information 
and advice on community financing. Also, research 
was initiated to identify the scope of activities done 
by social enterprises in the Canadian economy.

Collaborated with Statistics Canada on the release 
of the 2004 Canada Survey of Giving, Volunteering 
and Participating.
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Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

Develop tools to foster growth and innovation 
for community-based socio-economic development

The Second Government Learning Circle in 
co-operation with Vibrant Communities was launched, 
which is supporting a virtual ‘community of practitioners’ 
who seek to understand how government can best 
play enabling roles in local, collaborative, well-being 
efforts.

Supported the Collaborative Community Initiatives 
Speaker Series, a learning series which has attracted 
audiences of over 200 people, with representation 
from more than 25 different federal organizations 
since February 2006.

Worked collaboratively with private sector 
organizations to develop instruments to measure 
and report on the social, environmental and financial 
impacts of investments in social-entrepreneurial activities. 
The Demonstrating Value Project was initiated to 
measure the social, environmental and economic 
impact of social enterprises. A financial fitness toolkit 
was developed to assist community sector organizations 
in the areas of accounting, financial planning 
and legal issues.

Make strategic investment to support the 
engagement of the non-profit community sector in 
policy dialogue and the sharing of innovative practices

The cross-country dissemination of the Voluntary 
Sector Awareness Campaign was promoted to 
increase the understanding, among Canadians and 
the community non-profit sector, of the important 
contribution the sector makes to Canada’s economic 
and social well-being.

Six studies were commissioned in collaboration 
with key stakeholders and federal partners to gather 
intelligence and advance policy analysis pertaining 
to social enterprises.

Demonstrate leadership and support other federal 
departments in their efforts to effectively work 
with the non-profit community sector

The Task Force on Community Investments published 
3 major reports on federal policies and practices related 
to transfer payments and the funding of horizontal 
initiatives. In November 2006, the Task Force 
recommended 41 ways to achieve more consistent 
and coherent funding practices which were subsequently 
reflected in the report of the Independent Blue Ribbon 
Panel on Grant and Contribution Programs 
in December 2006.

For more details on programs supporting this activity, please see Section IV – Other Items of Interest.
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T he Government of Canada recognizes that families 
are the building blocks of a society, and that child 

care is a priority for Canadian families. Canada’s Universal 
Child Care Plan, consisting of both the Universal child 
Care Benefit and Support for the Creation of Child 

Care Spaces, represents a new approach to child care 
that respects the role of parents in determining how 
best to care for their children and recognizes the 
responsibility of provincial and territorial governments 
for delivering child care services.

Strategic Outcome Indicators

Children and Families

Indicators Current Level

Percentage of children 4-5 years of age displaying 
normal to advanced development

2002 – 2003

86.9% of children 4 to 5 years of age displayed 
average to advanced levels of verbal development.

Distribution of children 0 – 6 by type of primary 
care arrangement

2002 – 2003

Parental Care 47%

Non-Parental Care 53%
Care in someone else’s home 45.9%
Care in child’s home 21.6%
Daycare centre 27.8%
Other 4.7%

Percentage of children for whom there is a regulated 
child care space (broken down by children ages 0 – 5 
and 6 – 12)

2004 Approximately:

Children 0 – 12 15.5%

Children under age 6 24%

School age children 6 – 12 9.3%

Percentage of children ages 0 – 5 displaying 
behaviour problems

2002 – 2003

Emotional problems-anxiety:
16.7% of children 2 to 5 years of age displayed signs 
associated with emotional problems-anxiety

Hyperactivity/Inattention:
5.5% of children 2 to 5 years of age displayed 
behaviour associated with hyperactivity or inattention

Aggression/Conduct Problems:
14.6% of children 2 to 5 years of age displayed signs 
of aggression or conduct problems

Age-appropriate personal and social behaviour:
15.7% of children from birth to 3 years of age did not 
display age-appropriate personal and social behaviour

Percentage of children living in families exhibiting 
positive family functioning

2002 – 2003

90.2% of children from birth to 5 years of age lived 
in well-functioning families

People • Partnerships • Knowledge

Program Activity 
Children and Families
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In addition, governments recognize that to secure a 
vibrant and productive society, the well-being of children 
is crucial. Through investments in key initiatives, partici-
pating governments have agreed to policy objectives 
that will enhance the well-being of children and the 
economic security of individuals as well as families 
with children. The Department is responsible for 
federal leadership on these initiatives and is actively 
involved in facilitating learning and reporting on results. 
Human Resources and Social Development Canada 
manages three horizontal initiatives in support of this 
strategic outcome including: the National Child 
Benefit Initiative, Federal-Provincial-Territorial Early 
Childhood Development Agreement and Federal-
Provincial-Territorial Multilateral Framework on Early 
Learning and Childcare.

Details on these horizontal initiatives can be found at:

http://www.nationalchildbenefit.ca/home_e.html
(National Child Benefit),

http://www.ecd-elcc.ca
(Early Childhood Development),

http://www.ecd-elcc.ca/en/ecd/ecd_home.shtml
(Federal/Provincial/Territorial Communiqué on Early 
Childhood Development).

The Department also plays a key role, on behalf of the 
Government of Canada, in the development and 
exchange of knowledge, information, and best 
practices related to children and their families.

Key accomplishments for 2006 – 2007 included:

• On-going policy work on Canada’s Universal Child 
Care Plan, including supporting the creation of child 
care spaces

• On-going implementation of the Early Childhood 
Development Agreement and the Multilateral 
Framework on Early Learning and Child Care, 
including monitoring of and reporting on activities 
and expenditures

• Implementation of the Universal Child Care Benefit

• The National Child Benefit Supplement for 
low-income families with children increased by 
approximately $185 per child, bringing maximum 
National Child Benefit Supplement benefits for 
a two-child family to $3,665 in 2006 – 2007. 
Government of Canada investment in the National 
Child Benefit Supplement was $3.5 billion 
in 2006 – 2007.4

4 While Human Resources and Social Development Canada is responsible for policy development with respect 
to the National Child Benefit initiative, the Canada Child Tax Benefit (including the National Child Benefit 
Supplement) is a tax measure, and is administered by Canada Revenue Agency.
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Program Indicators

Children and Families

Indicators Notes

Incidence of low income – the change in the number 
and percentage of families and children that fall below 
the post-tax Low Income Cut-Off, due to the National 
Child Benefit, in one year
Target: Actual data to be reported
Result:  In 2003, 60,500 families with 159,000 children 

were prevented from living in low income, due 
to the National Child Benefit. This is a reduction 
of 12.4 percent in the number of families with 
children living in low income.

The most recent analysis on this indicator is the year 
2003, published in May 2007 in the National Child 
Benefit Progress Report: 2005.

Depth of low income – the change in the aggregate 
amount of income that low-income families would 
need to reach the post-tax Low Income Cut- Offs, 
due to the National Child Benefit, in one year
Target: Actual data to be reported
Result:  In 2003, the National Child Benefit reduced 

the depth of low income, or the low-income 
gap, for families with children who received 
the National Child Benefit Supplement, 
by a total of $610 million, or 16.1%.

The most recent analysis on this indicator is the year 
2003, published in May 2007 in the National Child 
Benefit Progress Report: 2005.

Number of children under six years of age for whom 
their parents are receiving the Universal Child Care 
Benefit
Target: 95% of all children under six years of age.5

Result: 95%

The results reported are for the last month (March) 
of each fiscal year. In March 2007:
• There were 2,047,500 children under six years 

of age 6

• With 1,946,402 children under six years of age having 
received Universal Child Care Benefit payments

Therefore, 95% of eligible children under six years 
of age received the Universal Child Care Benefit 
in March 2007.

5 This target is for the first year of the program. For future years of the program the target will be 100% coverage.
6 Based on Statistics Canada population forecasts using 2001 Census.



�4 2006 – 2007 Estimates  A Departmental Performance Report

Achievements Against Priorities

Children and Families

Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

Priority: Provide support and choices for families, through Canada’s new Universal Child Care Plan and other 
existing initiatives, to help ensure their children have the best possible start in life

Ensure successful implementation of Canada’s 
Universal Child Care Plan through:

• Launch of the website on Canada’s Universal 
Child Care Plan
(www.universalchildcare.ca)

• Working with other government departments to 
implement the Universal Child Care Benefit effective 
July 2006.

• Effective July 1, 2006, through the Universal 
Child Care Benefit, families were eligible to receive 
$100 per month for each child under the age of six.

• Developing a strategy for the creation of new child 
care spaces, in consultation with other government 
departments, provinces and territories, stakeholders 
and Canadians.

• To inform the development of the approach to 
create child care spaces, cross-country consultations 
with provinces and territories, employers, child care 
providers and other stakeholders were conducted 
through the summer and fall of 2006.

• A Ministerial Advisory Committee was established to 
provide advice on the design of the Child Care Spaces 
Initiative, complementing ongoing consultations 
with provinces and territories and stakeholders.

• Budget 2007 announced an approach to support 
the creation of child care spaces, which involves:
– Transfer to provinces and territories of 

$250M per year to support the creation of child 
care spaces in a way that builds on their respective 
child care systems ; and

A non-refundable tax credit valued at 25% of eligible 
expenses to a maximum of $10,000 per space to support 
businesses interested in creating child care spaces 
in the workplace for the children of their employees 
and the wider community.

Ongoing implementation of the Federal, Provincial 
and Territorial Early Childhood Development Agreement 
and the Multilateral Framework on Early Learning 
and Child Care

• Continue to fulfill reporting commitments as outlined 
in the 2000 Federal, Provincial and Territorial Early 
Childhood Development Agreement and 
2003 Multilateral Framework on Early Learning 
and Child Care

• Draft of the report “The Well-Being of Canada’s 
Young Children: Government of Canada Report 
2006

• Amend drafts of the reports “Early Childhood 
Development Activities and Expenditures: 
Government of Canada Report 2004 – 2005” 
and “Early Learning and Child Care Activities 
and Expenditures: Government of Canada Report 
2004 – 2005” to include activities and expenditures 
for 2005 – 2006.

• On-going work of the Federal, Provincial and 
Territorial Committee on Early Childhood Development 
Knowledge, Information and Effective Practices

For more details on programs supporting this activity, please see Section IV – Other Items of Interest
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Financial and Human Resources 2006 – 2007

Social Investment and Children and Families

GROSS SPENDING PLANNED
(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) SPENDING AUTHORITIES ACTUAL

Gross Operating Expenditures 160.3 120.4 99.8
Non-Statutory Grants and Contributions 296.6 296.6 285.5
Statutory Grants and Contributions:
     Old Age Security 23,255.0 22,878.8 22,878.8
     Guaranteed Income Supplement 6,820.0 6,901.1 6,901.1
     Allowances 500.0 504.1 504.1
     Universal Child Care Benefit 1,610.0 1,784.4 1,784.4
     Child Care - Prov./Terr. Agreements 650.0 650.0 650.0
     Energy Cost Benefit 0.0 3.7 3.7
Total Statutory Grants and Contributions 32,835.0 32,722.1 32,722.1
Sub-Total 33,291.9 33,139.1 33,107.4

CPP Benefits 26,132.3 26,115.3 26,115.3
Total 59,424.2 59,254.4 59,222.7

FULL TIME EQUIVALENTS 872 500 500
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Details by Program and Services 2006 – 2007

Social Investment and Children and Families

Planned
Spending

Authorities Actual Spending

53,248.3 53,274.9 53,274.9
274.0 262.3 262.3

3,523.3 3,168.1 3,168.1
52.6 42.2           42.2
43.2 61.3           34.5

57,141.4 56,808.8 56,782.0

1,610.0 1,784.4 1,784.4

650.0 650.0 650.0
3.5 -             -
2.4 -             -
5.4 8.2             3.3

11.5 3.0            3.0
2,282.8 2,445.6 2,440.7

59,424.2 59,254.4 59,222.7

872 500 500
Human Resources

Full Time Equivalents

Allocated Corporate Servicesa

Otherb

Sub-Total
Total

Canada Pension Plan - Disability
Partnerships
Allocated Corporate Servicesa

Financial Resources (in millions of dollars)

Disability Programs
Seniors and Pensions
Social Investment

National Child Benefit

Sub-Total

Child Care

Early Childhood Development Agreements

Children and Families

Multilateral Framework for Early Learning 
and Child Care

a Corporate Services resources related to the Minister’s Office, the Deputy Minister’s Office, the Comptroller’s Office 
and the Shared Services have been prorated to each Strategic Outcome.

b Other category is for resources which are not directly related to the sub-activities identified.
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T he Government of Canada recognizes the 
importance of contributing to the reduction of 

homelessness in Canada. It does so by investing in 
121 communities across the country to provide them 
with the tools to develop a range of interventions to 
stabilize the living arrangements of homeless persons 
and prevent those at-risk from falling into homelessness. 
The government of Canada works with new and 
existing partners and stakeholders such as communities, 
Aboriginal organizations and other levels of government 
to share strategies, deliver programs and develop 
mechanisms to prevent and reduce homelessness in 
Canada. The Department carries out the above activities 
on behalf of the Government of Canada, through the 
delivery of the National Homelessness Initiative.

Included in its investments in 121 communities, the 
National Homelessness Initiative makes strategic 
investments in 61 high-profile designated communities, 
as well as in small, rural and Aboriginal communities 
across Canada to provide a range of supports and 
services such as drug counselling, rent banks, and 
supportive and longer-term housing that help 
homeless and at-risk people move toward self-sufficiency. 
The National Homelessness Initiative is contributing to 
the government of Canada outcomes by assisting 
homeless individuals through the provision of supports 
that assist in removing barriers to full participation in 
society, in an effort to strengthen the economic and 
social foundations of Canadian life and contributing 
to Canada’s economic growth.

Human Resources and Social Development Canada’s 
responsibility for direct service delivery to Canadians is 
anchored in a network of 320 Service Canada Centres, 
as well as regional offices in each of the provinces and 
territories operated by Service Canada. Regional 
Service Canada offices play a central role 
in implementing the National Homelessness Initiative 
and in building and enhancing horizontal partnerships 
within communities. By working closely with commu-
nities, the required services are determined, as well 
as the approach best suited to meeting those needs. 
Delivery can occur through agreements with commu-
nity entities, with third party service providers, and 

with other levels of government. Responsibility for 
direct delivery to homeless persons depends on 
the type of agreement in place.

A summative evaluation of the National Homelessness 
Initiative was conducted in 2006 – 2007 and will be 
completed in 2007 – 2008. The results of the evalua-
tion will be used to support results-based manage-
ment and accountability of the new Homelessness 
Partnering Strategy.

A new Homelessness Partnering Strategy was drafted 
and approved in December, 2006. The Homelessness 
Partnering Strategy replaces and builds upon the 
National Homelessness Initiative. The Homelessness 
Partnering Strategy also responds to the Auditor General’s 
recommendations in her report of November of 2005, 
to improve horizontal accountability through the intro-
duction of the Homelessness Accountability Network.

In 2006 – 2007, the key achievements were:

• Approximately $175.5 million in National Homeless-
ness Initiative funding helped a total of 1,140 
homelessness-related projects to provide support 
services to some of Canada’s most vulnerable 
citizens in 121 communities across the country.

• Existing authorities, including the Terms and 
Conditions of the National Homelessness Initiative, 
were extended to allow projects that could not be 
completed in 2006 – 2007 to be completed in the 
new fiscal year. This means that services to home-
less persons continued without disruption.

• The Housing and Homelessness Branch built upon 
best practices and lessons learned from the previous 
initiative to develop the policy framework for the 
new Homelessness Partnering Strategy, which shifts 
emphasis from remedial interventions, such as 
emergency shelters, to the prevention and reduction 
of homelessness through transitional and supportive 
housing. The policy development process was 
supported by national consultation, which resulted 
in the renewed broad-based support of stakehold-
ers, including provincial and territorial governments, 
for federal leadership in preventing and reducing 
homelessness. 

People • Partnerships • Knowledge

Program Activity 
Housing and Homelessness
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Strategic Outcome Indicators

Housing and Homelessness

Indicators Current Level*

Percentage of overall SCPI funding, for projects 
completed in 2006 – 2007 between:

(a) emergency shelters 33.33%

(b) transitional housing and supportive housing 66.67%

Number of National Homelessness Initiative funding 
partners in 2006 – 2007

742

Percentage of National Homelessness Initiative 
funding partners by Sectors for 2006 – 2007.

Non-profit 
26.4%

Sponsor/Organization/Recipient (internal fundraising) 
20%

All orders of Government (e.g. federal/agencies, 
provincial/territorial, regional/municipal) 
32.4%

Private Sector 
9.8%

Others (such as faith-based communities unions, etc.) 
11.4%

* Based on projects closed in 2006 – 2007
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Program Indicators

Housing and Homelessness

Indicators Notes

Percentage of investments directed toward the 
continuum of supports and services based on priorities 
established by the community.
Target: At least 75% invested in community priorities
Result: 100%

All investments were directed toward the continuum 
of supports and services based on priorities 
established by the community.

Based on projects closed in 2006 – 2007

Ratio of total National Homelessness Initiative 
investments versus funding by type of partners 
for each province and territory 2003 – 2007.
Target: 1 to 1.5
Result: 1 to 1.89

While the ratio of investments varied considerably 
across the country, the overall ratio exceeded 
the objective.

Cumulative result for Phase II of the National 
Homelessness Initiative (2003 – 2007)

Increase in accessible sources of information/data 
on homelessness
Target: Evidence of uptake of data/information
Result: yes

The National Homelessness Initiative website received 
an average of 1,593 “visits” per day from 2006 – 2007, 
showing an ongoing uptake of information 
on homelessness.

In addition, in 2006 – 2007, support from the National 
Research Program has allowed research organizations 
from across Canada to highlight homelessness 
information on their own websites, e.g. the Canadian 
Ethnic Studies Association, at http://umanitoba.ca/
publications/ces/CES_en_homelessness.htm. 
The National Research Program, in partnership 
with CIC-Metropolis, coordinated a one-day national 
symposium for academics, government researchers 
and service providers from across Canada on 
immigration and homelessness in March 2007. In the 
2006 – 2007 fiscal year, the National Research Program 
supported the creation of York University’s Homeless 
Hub: A Canadian Homelessness Research Library, which 
will go live in August 2007. The National Research 
Program also supported the University of British Columbia 
in the creation of knowledge dissemination projects 
on homelessness in British Columbia’s Lower Mainland, 
which will produce a variety of publications 
and web-based products by October 2007.
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Achievements Against Priorities

Housing and Homelessness

Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

Priority: Contribute to the reduction of homelessness in Canada 

Review and disseminate program funding allocation, 
guidelines and tools to ensure a smooth transition 
and efficient delivery of the National Homelessness 
Initiative during the extension year (2006 – 2007)

In 2006 – 2007, approximately $175.5 million in 
National Homelessness Initiative funding helped a 
total of 1,140 homelessness-related projects to provide 
support services to some of Canada’s most vulnerable 
citizens in 121 communities across the country.

Produce and disseminate National Homelessness 
Initiative results for the period of 2003 – 2007

Research generated by the National Homelessness 
Initiative has been disseminated in a number of peer-
reviewed journals and policy magazines, including the 
Journal of Human Behaviour in the Social Environment, 
the International Journal of Social Welfare, Canadian 
Issues, and Canadian Diversity. In addition, National 
Homelessness Initiative research findings have been 
presented at a number of conferences and other 
forums, including the Metropolis Conference and the 
Congress of the Humanities and Social Sciences. 
The National Homelessness Initiative also funded a 
special one-day conference on immigration and 
homelessness in March 2007.

Priority: Develop homelessness and housing policies for Canadians, including Aboriginal peoples

Develop policy options for the National Homelessness 
Initiative beyond March 2007

New policy options for addressing homelessness were 
developed in 2006 – 2007, and on December 19, 2006, 
the Government of Canada committed $269.6 million 
over two years (2007 – 2009) to more effective and 
sustainable solutions to addressing homelessness, 
including support for Aboriginal communities, through 
a new Homelessness Partnering Strategy, which replaced 
the National Homelessness Initiative.

Existing authorities were extended to allow projects 
that could not be completed in 2006 – 2007 to be 
completed in the new fiscal year. This means that 
services to homeless persons continued without 
disruption.

Priority: Strengthen horizontal links between housing and homelessness and other policy areas

Improve coordination and reporting of horizontal 
links with federal partners.

Coordination and reporting of horizontal linkages 
remained a priority throughout the year, and the lessons 
learned played an important role in the development 
of the new Homelessness Partnering Strategy.

Continued the National Tripartite Committee on 
Surplus Federal Real Property for Homelessness Initiative, 
which is composed of representatives from Human 
Resources and Social Development Canada, Public 
Works and Government Services Canada and Canada 
Mortgage and Housing Corporation.

Continued the Action for Neighbourhood Change, 
whose government partners included Public Safety 
and Emergency Preparedness, Health Canada, 
and the National Film Board.
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Financial and Human Resources 2006 – 2007

Housing and Homelessness

GROSS SPENDING PLANNED
(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) SPENDING AUTHORITIES ACTUAL

7.238.432.04serutidnepxEgnitarepOssorG
6.7511.5819.741snoitubirtnoCdnastnarGyrotutatS-noN
3.0919.9121.881latoT

Full Time Equivalents 383 303 303

Details by Program and Services 2006 – 2007

Housing and Homelessness

Planned
Spending

Authorities Actual
Spending

133.0 156.9 135.6
18.2 23.5 20.0
5.4 9.1 8.1
2.8 3.9 3.8

2.1 1.7 1.7

2.5 - -
13.1 13.9 13.0
11.0 10.9 8.1

188.1 219.9 190.3

383 303 303

Allocated Corporate Servicesa

Otherb

Total c

Total FTE
Human Resources

National Research Program
Homeless Individuals and Families
Information System
Surplus Federal Real Property for
Homelessness Initiative

Financial Resources (in millions of dollars)

Supporting Communities Partnership
Initiative

Regional Homelessness Fund
Urban Aboriginal Homelessness

a Corporate Services resources related to the Minister’s Office, the Deputy Minister’s Office, the Comptroller’s Office 
and the Shared Services have been prorated to each Strategic Outcome.

b Other category is for disposal of crown asset
c This amount includes resources for the delivery of programs and services by Service Canada. For a full accounting 

of Service Canada’s operations please refer to the previous table. 





Achieve Better Outcomes for Canadians 
Through Service Excellence 

Service Canada

S ervice Matters: In its second year of operation, 
Service Canada generated improvements in service 

to Canadians by introducing new service offerings, 
improving service across delivery channels, improving 
integrity of benefit programs and increasing invest-
ments for greater efficiency in the infrastructure 
supporting service delivery.

Service Canada was launched in 2005 based on 
approaches to service delivery that drew on careful 
research, analysis and planning. It was shaped by 
listening to Canadians about the approach to service 
they want to see and their views on what works best 
for them.

The result so far is a one-stop, easy-to-access services 
across multiple channels including phone, Internet, 
in-person and mail. Service Canada has over 
19,000 employees dedicated to serving Canadians; 
almost 600 points of service throughout the country, 
including outreach and mobile services; the national 
1-800-O-Canada phone service; a network of call 
centres, as well as a range of on-line services offered 
on the Internet through

servicecanada.gc.ca.

Service Canada, in collaboration with a number of 
federal departments and agencies as well as partners 
in other governments, delivers a range of integrated 
programs and services to Canadians, further stream-
lining how government services are provided. The Service 
Canada focus on making it easier for Canadians to access 

the programs and services they need is in the early stages 
of reaching a longer-term goal to contribute to improved 
policy outcomes, and better connecting citizens 
to government.

For 2006 – 2007, the Service Canada agenda had 
three major program activity focuses:

• Seamless, Citizen-centred Service; 

• Integrity; and

• Collaborative, Networked government Service.

Did You Know?

Did You Know?

Each year, Service Canada:

• Serves more than 31 million Canadians – 
from newborns to seniors

• Pays over $70 billion ($190M a day) in benefits 
to Canadians

• Handles over 53 million calls

• Handles over 11 million transactions online

• Mails over 20 million letters

• Averages 1 million transactions per day
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Consistent with the milestones set out in its 
multi-year plan, Service Canada made progress 

toward its goal of providing a one-stop personalized 
service experience for Canadians offering consistent, 
high-quality service across all delivery channels and 
responding to the identified service delivery interests 
of Canadians. The activities have emphasized a 
citizen-centred focus to delivering what Canadians 
want and to bring services as close to them as 
possible. That work took place under the three 
priorities: Transforming Service to Canadians; 
Achieving and Rewarding a Service Excellence Culture 
and Strengthening Accountability and Transparency.

Priority 
Transforming Service to Canadians

As set out in the Report on Plans and Priorities, Service 
Canada had already begun a multi-year plan to trans-
form service to Canadians, whether in person, using 
the telephone or via the Internet. That plan to trans-
form services to Canadians had the following five ele-
ments: Implementing Our Service Strategies for Client 
Communities; Undertaking Business and Product 
Development; Expanding Our Regional and Community 
Presence; Integrating Call Centres and Renewing 
Internet and Intranet Services, each of which is 
described below.

Implementing Our Service Strategies 
for Client Communities
Service Canada’s goal was to implement a service 
strategy for more meaningful and responsive service 
to client communities. As part of this effort, Service 
Canada followed through on its commitment to create 
client advisory groups that would lead to better under-
standing the priorities of particular groups of clients 

and identify client segment champions. The establish-
ment of the Service for People with Disabilities 
External Advisory Group in September 2006 and its 
subsequent work with Service Canada demonstrates 
the value of that engagement, which complemented 
existing work to improve services for people with 
disabilities.7 For example, a new policy on sign 
language services means that Service Canada Centres 
use a standardized approach to ensure they can com-
municate with Canadians who use sign language. 
Some 35 Service Canada Centres have improved their 
accessibility to Canadians with disabilities and the 
11 most commonly used Service Canada forms are 
now all available online. The Service Canada website 
was enhanced to include a “Read to me” automated 
reading service link on each page that assists visually 
impaired users.

The Service Canada Voluntary Sector Advisory Com-
mittee was established as a vehicle to build a strategic 
and positive relationship with non-profit service 
delivery organizations. The Committee began with a 
focus on the administrative issues surrounding grant 
and contribution programs. It provided advice on the 
implications for Service Canada of the recommenda-
tions of the Independent Blue Ribbon Panel on Grants 
and Contributions.8 However, the emphasis of Volun-
tary Sector Advisory Committee was broadened, 
enabling it to provide advice on the needs of seniors, 
families, newcomers to Canada and general service 
delivery improvements.9

A Newcomers to Canada segment strategy was devel-
oped in consultation with Citizenship and Immigration 
Canada, Human Resources and Social Development 
Canada and other federal departments and drew on 
consultations with immigrant-serving organizations.10 
An Official Languages Minority Community segment 
strategy was developed after consultations with commu-
nity organizations, opinion leaders and citizens.11 

7 http://www.servicecanada.gc.ca/en/audiences/disabilities/index.shtml
8 http://www.brp-gde.ca/
9 http://www1.servicecanada.gc.ca/en/gateways/organizations/menu.shtml
10 http://www.servicecanada.gc.ca/en/audiences/newcomers/index.shtml
11 http://www1.servicecanada.gc.ca/en/epb/olscc/olscc.shtml

People • Partnerships • Knowledge

Program Activity 
Seamless, Citizen-Centred Service
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A key commitment under a new three-year action 
plan was to establish 17 points of service designated 
to provide enhanced services to members of official 
language minority communities during 2006 – 2007. 
Service Canada exceeded that goal, establishing 
33 points of service, including outreach sites. For 
example, points of services in Saskatoon and Gravel-
bourg were established to provide services to franco-
phone clients in Saskatchewan.

In addition, Service Canada engaged national Aborigi-
nal organizations in discussions to develop more mean-
ingful and responsive services for Aboriginal citizens 
and in the development of an Aboriginal Client Service 
Strategy. In support of the Aboriginal and Newcomers 
to Canada segment strategies, Service Canada has 
produced fact sheets in seven Aboriginal and 12 foreign 
languages on the seven programs and services of 
greatest interest to those communities. Building on this 
work, Service Canada’s Multi-Language Service Initia-
tive continued to test various approaches to in-person 
multi-language service across the country. Ongoing 
pilot projects include the use of a third-party telephone 
interpretation service and hiring staff who speak targeted 
languages to deliver multi-language services in Service 
Canada Centres and through scheduled outreach.

Undertaking Business 
and Product Development
This priority centres on the Service Canada commit-
ment to develop processes and approaches that are 
founded on service offerings that reflect the needs of 
Canadians rather than the traditional program-driven 
approach delivered through separate service networks. 
A key to this was a commitment to improve and develop 
the service offerings that Canadians access through Service 
Canada. This commitment was met through the intro-
duction of 13 new service offerings and the enhance-
ment of others. New service offerings included access 
to pleasure craft licences, the Apprenticeship Incentive 
Grant, the Universal Child Care Benefit and Department 
of National Defence and Royal Canadian Mounted Police 
recruitment awareness. Service Canada and the Ontario 
government have collaborated to provide the Newborn 
Registration Service that enables parents to register their 
newborn child’s birth and apply for a birth certificate and 
Social Insurance Number at the same time. The full list is 
included in the Achievements Against Priorities chart 
later in this report.

Service Canada continued to introduce improvements 
to existing service offerings that responded to the 
needs of Canadians. The existing Passport Receiving 
Agent service that enables Canadians in smaller and 
more remote communities without Passport Canada 
locations to file their applications at Service Canada 
Centres was expanded by 58 to respond to increased 
demand. During the year, Service Canada handled 
more than 67,000 passport applications.12

A new “May I help you” feature was introduced. Service 
Canada developed a plan leading to the piloting of its 
new Service Experience Model, which defines the process 
and environment of service to citizens.

Expanding Our Regional 
and Community Presence
Service Canada committed to establishing itself as the 
Government of Canada network of choice by offering 
choice and access to Canadians through measures 
such as doubling the points of service. Service Canada 
has made progress towards that commitment in many 
ways. For example, it introduced 171 new points of 
service (5 new Service Canada Centres, 129 new 
Scheduled outreach locations and 37 new Service 
Canada Community Offices). Among those new 
Outreach locations, six were established in the North-
west Territories, 11 in Nunavut and 72 in Ontario.

By March 31, 2007, there were 587 Service Canada 
points of service. As a result, 95.1% Canadians live 
within 50 kilometres of a Service Canada point of 
service, exceeding the 90% target. The Service 
Canada website includes a “Find a Service Canada 
Centre Near You” feature that makes it simple for 
Canadians to find these points of service.13

Service Canada implemented extended hours of service 
at 53 sites against a target of 60 sites, achieving 88% 
of its stated commitment. However, among locations 
with extended hours, in Toronto alone, the Canada 
Quay site operates on Saturdays and Sundays and the 
Malvern Service Canada Centre have extended their 
hours of operation to weekday evenings and Saturday. 
Officially opening in October, 2006, the Malvern Service 
Centre is located in a priority Toronto neighbourhood, 
that has a higher than average percentage of youth 
facing barriers and visible minorities. This Centre provides 
a focal point at which youth can access information 
about employment and training opportunities as well 

12 http://www.servicecanada.gc.ca/en/goc/passportfaq/sc.shtml
13 http://www1.servicecanada.gc.ca/en/gateways/where_you_live/menu.shtml
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as the full suite of Service Canada offerings. In its first 
two weeks of operation, the Centre provided service 
to over 1,800 clients and has been well received by 
the community.

Service Canada began to implement a strong and consis-
tent visual identity that will be seen by Canadians in 
Service Canada Centre signage, advertising and public 
notices as well as the new Service Canada Internet 
site, described later in this section

Integrating Call Centres
Service Canada handled more than 53 million calls to 
its interactive voice response systems and to call 
centre agents in 2006 – 2007.

In a year in which call volumes rose by 22%, Service 
Canada met its target of answering 85% of calls to the 
1-800-O-Canada general information number within 
18 seconds, recording a 92% client satisfaction rate.

The Canada Student Loan Program, a specialized 
call centre service, exceeded its target of answering 
95% of calls with 180 seconds, achieving a 
98.4% call answer rate.

Service Canada continued to implement improve-
ments to other specialized services supporting its call 
centre network. Facing a number of challenges, 
Canada Pension Plan and Old Age Security call centres 
answered 85% of calls within 180 seconds, while 
Employment Insurance answered 44% of calls within 
180 seconds and 67% within five minutes. As a result 
of the introduction of a number of service improve-
ments, including Saturday service and extended hours 
of operation, Employment Insurance Call Centres 
were successful in achieving 72% service level in 
March, at the height of the winter peak. In the last 
quarter of the year, high volume messages decreased 
by 67% compared to the same period the previous 
year (659,124 compared to 2 million).

In addition, a plan to improve the Interactive Voice 
Response service was completed and a plan was devel-
oped for the implementation of a national Quality 
Assurance Program. A new Common Reference Tool 
was launched to provide consistent, accurate informa-
tion to all Service Canada call centre and processing 
agents at the same time. Service Canada has also 
completed a vision, and plan for the integration of call 

centres as well as migration to a new delivery model 
that will be sustainable, affordable and result in 
tangible service improvements for Canadians.

Renewing Internet and Intranet Services
As planned, Service Canada launched a new website 
that gives Canadians easy access to Government of 
Canada programs and services.14 Users now have simple 
access to the right programs, services or topics of 
interest to them. As noted above, the new site, has a 
“Read to me” feature that reads out content for 
clients. Information about Service Canada points of 
service now also includes photos of building and 
direction maps. In addition, the Service Canada site 
also enables clients to provide feedback on their user 
experience through questions with multiple choice 
answers and a rating scale. Service Canada’s Internet 
availability exceeded the 95% target for 24/7 access, 
achieving accessibility 99.3% of the time. This was a 
factor in enabling Canadians and other users to make 
more than 22.3 million visits to the Service Canada 
site during 2006 – 2007, quadrupling the number of 
visits in 2005 – 2006.

Service Canada staff and the Canadians who turn to 
them for answers and assistance began to benefit 
from a redesigned Service Canada Intranet site, which 
replaced more than 40 sites that had been in previous 
use. The new intranet site provides consistent tools 
and information that help employees find what they 
need in the workplace more easily and more quickly. 

Priority 
Achieving and Rewarding 
a Service Excellence Culture

When citizens deal with people who provide govern-
ment services and who do so efficiently and respon-
sively, they gain a greater confidence in government. 
In the same way, when client service is prized and 
supported, employees know that their personal 
commitment to service excellence is respected and 
valued. The plan to build the culture of service 
excellence that is central to plans for Service Canada 
had the following three elements: Building for Service 
Excellence; Achieving Service Excellence by Enhancing 
Employee Skills and Capabilities and Rewarding 
Service Excellence.

14  http://www.servicecanada.gc.ca
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Building for Service Excellence
Service Canada identified key themes and activities 
that it will use to build a culture of service excellence 
over the medium term, including defining the skills, 
behaviours and competencies that are linked to 
service excellence. To reflect an evolution of the work 
functions of performing program specific transactions, 
to delivering holistic, citizen-centred service, Service 
Canada has reclassified 5000 employees. Service 
Canada also initiated a program of service excellence 
training, delivered through the Service Canada 
College (as described below).

Targeted recruitment represented another step 
in establishing service delivery as a career path. 
For example, a new visible minority recruitment 
program was launched to enable Service Canada 
staffing to reflect the communities it serves, com-
plemented by a university recruitment strategy.

To ensure that staff has the necessary skills, Service 
Canada created an “Investing in our People” frame-
work to attract, develop and retain talent. It engaged 
staff through information efforts that included town 
hall meetings, enabling employees to ask questions 
directly of senior managers. A new “Rumour Busters” 
Intranet site allowed employees to post questions and 
concerns. Service Canada implemented a human resource 
planning process linked to the achievement of business 
objectives at both the strategic and operational levels 
and developed a range of human resource policies 
and tools under the new regime established through 
the Public Service Modernization Act. Its new Gover-
nance Framework for Official Languages was put in 
place to reinforce respect for both official languages 
and the use by employees of the official language 
of their choice.

There were also initial steps across many initiatives 
that will be finalized and implemented over the 
coming years, such as the development of generic 
service delivery roles, establishing a baseline to gauge 
improvements in the Service Canada culture of service 
excellence and introducing of a revamped employee 
wellness program and an informal conflict manage-
ment system to promote employee well-being 
in Service Canada.

Achieving Service Excellence by Enhancing 
Employee Skills and Capabilities
As planned, the Service Canada College was formally 
launched with the opening of the Galleria learning 
centre in Regina in September 2006, after substantial 
work to develop curricula and arrange staff participa-
tion.15 The College provides comprehensive manage-
ment of learning with a coordinated approach to 
training and funding the learning needs of the organi-
zation. It is the physical focus for Service Canada’s 
commitment to ensuring that staff receives the citizen-
centred service training they need to achieve the organi-
zation’s goals. Service Canada also launched a new 
Service Excellence Certification Program to ensure that 
those who deal with clients, as well as their managers, 
are knowledgeable first points of contact.16

Service Canada College partnered with the Canada 
School of Public Service to develop and implement a 
service delivery curriculum for use across the government. 
Service Canada also provided specialized courses to 
managers and employees. These included training to 
support new Service Canada service offerings including 
pleasure craft licensing and the Universal Child Care 
Benefit as well as courses and orientation programs 
provided by Service Canada regions.

Rewarding Service Excellence
The Government of Canada wants Canadians to expe-
rience service excellence every time they deal with 
Service Canada, whether in person, on the phone or 
through electronic services. To move towards that goal 
in 2006 – 2007, Service Canada launched some imme-
diate actions such as a new Pride and Recognition 
program to recognize employee service innovation 
and excellence, and those who “go the extra mile” in 
serving Canadians. The program included the first na-
tional Service Canada awards ceremony, which took 
place in Regina.

To stabilize the Service Canada executive ranks 
and plan for succession, the organization developed a 
targeted human resources strategy and implemented 
innovations in leadership training.  Also, as a means 
to strengthen and clarify accountabilities, a new 

15  http://www.servicecanada.gc.ca/en/about/college.shtml
16  http://www1.servicecanada.gc.ca/en/about/college.shtml#secp
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approach to the development of senior executive-level 
Performance Management Agreements was 
implemented.

Priority 
Strengthening Accountability 
and Transparency

A central Service Canada commitment was to report 
on service progress to Parliament and Canadians. In 
addition to the material provided through the Depart-
mental Performance Report, and Report on Plans and 
Priorities, Service Canada developed the first Service 
Canada Annual Report.17 It explained the background 
of Service Canada, service delivery improvements, 
integrity strategies, partnership building and, most 
relevant to this priority, Service Canada’s commitments 
to service. The Service Canada Annual Report described 
the what Canadians can expect from Service Canada 
and how they can provide feedback.18 It also provided 
information on Service Canada and the detailed 
Performance Scorecard for 2005 – 2006. The 
2006 – 2007 Scorecard results are included 
in the next Report.

A key element in improved transparency and service 
improvement was the work of the Office for Client 
Satisfaction.19 During 2006 – 2007, the Office received 
almost 2,000 formal pieces of feedback during the 
year (179 suggestions, 306 compliments, 730 complaints 
and 779 referrals of feedback to other departments). 
Based on analysis of that feedback, the Office for 

Client Satisfaction has developed recommendations 
for improvements to the delivery of benefits and 
services that are to be submitted to Service Canada 
management for review and consideration. The Office 
for Client Satisfaction met its own service standards 
of returning 99.9% of calls from individuals within 
24 hours (excepting weekends and holidays) and 
replying to 100% of inquiries within seven days.

A new role, the Fairness Advisor, was established.20 
The Office of the Fairness Advisor was put in place 
to provide an independent and impartial means for 
community service delivery organizations to address 
any issues they have with Service Canada. Organiza-
tions were encouraged to contact the Office of the 
Fairness Advisor with concerns or complaints about 
the administration or delivery of grants and contribu-
tions programs that they are unable to resolve with 
Service Canada. The Fairness Advisor acts as an 
independent and objective fact-finder in these cases. 
The Office of the Fairness Advisor is also a point of 
contact for dialogue and feedback on issues of 
fairness, integrity and respect of the rules surrounding 
those programs. When Service Canada issues a call for 
proposals to community service delivery organizations, 
in order to provide specific services to a community, 
the Office of the Fairness Advisor observes the 
evaluation of these proposals by Service Canada staff.

17  http://www.servicecanada.gc.ca/en/about/reports/ar_0506/index.shtml
18  http://www.servicecanada.gc.ca/en/about/charter/charter.shtml
19  http://www.servicecanada.gc.ca/en/about/reports/corp/ocs.shtml
20  http://www.servicecanada.gc.ca/en/about/ofa/index.shtml
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Achievements Against Priorities

Seamless, Citizen-Centred Service

Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

Priority:  Transforming service to Canadians

Implementing our Service Strategies 
for Client Communities

• Client advisory groups created (e.g., people 
with disabilities, voluntary sector, official language 
minority communities) that generated action plans 
and identified specific improvements to services

• Enhanced accessibility for Canadians with disabilities 
at Service Canada Centres and on the Service 
Canada website

• Strategies introduced to guide and improve services 
to newcomers to Canada and official language 
minority communities and Aboriginal people and 
communities

Undertaking business and product development 13 new service offerings:

• Delivery of Pleasure Craft Licences;

• Apprenticeship Incentive Grant;

• Information provided for the Targeted Initiative 
for Older Workers;

• Western Hemisphere Travel Initiative;

• Historical Recognition Initiatives;

• Integrated Death Notification;

• Information and referrals concerning 
the Universal Child Care Benefit;

• Promoting Canada Savings Programs;

• Targeted Assistance for Employment 
Insurance Recipients;

• Royal Canadian Mounted Police Recruitment 
Awareness;

• Department of National Defence Recruitment 
Awareness;

• Canada Summer Jobs;

• Newborn Registration Services in Ontario

Expansion of Passport Receiving Agent services 
to 93 locations to meet demand

Expanding our regional and community presence • 171 new points of service added to reach a total 
of 587 (10.1% over target for year and above 
accessibility target)

• Achieved extended hours including evenings and 
weekends in some 53 locations against a target of 
60 sites

• A new Service Canada “brand” and visual identity 
to establish recognition among Canadians, resulting 
in a 7% increase in call demand
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Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

Integrating call centres • The Service Canada 1-800 O-Canada general 
information met service level targets

• Canada Pension Plan and Employment Insurance 
telephone services introduced service improvements 
to mitigate impacts of funding constraints

• Review of the Interactive voice response service was 
completed and a plan developed for service 
improvements

• A plan for the implementation of a National Quality 
Assurance Program was finalized

• A new Common Reference Tool was implemented 
for National Call Centre and In-Person agents so 
that consistent information can be provided on 
all existing or new programs and services

Renewing Internet and Intranet Services • New website launched offering clearer access 
to information

• Visits to the Service Canada website quadrupled 
over 2005 – 2006 levels

• Online transactions doubled over 2005 – 2006 levels

• 24 /7 access 99.3% of the time

• A “Talk to Me” feature reads out contents 
of page to visually impaired clients

• A new intranet site replaced 40 sites and offers 
consistent tools and information for Service 
Canada staff

Priority:  Achieving and rewarding a service excellence culture

Building for service excellence • Reclassification of staff to deliver holistic, citizen-
centred service tailored to needs of individual 
citizen and communities

• Staff recruitment includes a focus on visible 
minorities and new university graduates

• A new “Investing in People” framework organizes 
Service Canada staff recruitment, retention and 
development

• A proactive communications program designed 
to let staff be heard

• Human resources planning, policies and tools 
updated

• A new official languages framework

• Initial work on many other Human Resources-
related actions

Achieving service excellence • Developed and opened the new Service Canada 
College, supported by a new curriculum with 
training staff in place

• Partnership with Canada School of Public Service 
for a government service delivery curriculum

• Specialized training provided to support delivery 
of new service offerings and other corporate needs
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Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

Rewarding service excellence • A new pride & recognition program honours 
innovative and client service oriented staff.

• New service excellence awards given nationally, 
plus regional actions.

• Framework for a leadership development program 
created.

• Performance Management Agreements include 
standardized commitments based on Service Canada 
government-wide priorities.

• Experiments with other forms of leadership learning.

Priority:  Strengthening accountability and transparency

Reporting on our commitments to Canadians 
and Parliamentarians 

• Service Charter, Service Standards and Performance 
Scorecard established and reported on comprehensively 
through the first Service Canada Annual Report.

• Office for Client Satisfaction addressed almost 
2,000 items of feedback from clients.

• Office of the Fairness Advisor was created to 
support relations with service delivery partner 
organizations relating to the grants and 
contributions program issues.
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A s an organization that issues over $70 billion in 
benefits to Canadians annually, Canadians expect 

Service Canada to ensure that these benefits go to the 
right people, in the right amounts and for the pur-
poses for which they were intended. Service Canada 
continued to place a strong emphasis on the use of 
risk management strategies to identify the best ways 
to improve the integrity of program operations, 
demonstrate sound stewardship of public funds and 
generate savings. That work took place under the 
Integrity priority which was originally organized in the 
Report on Plans and Priorities under two elements, 
Establishing Enterprise Integrity and Meeting our 
Saving Commitment. A third element, Achieving 
Processing Automation, was moved to this priority 
from the “Work as a Collaborative and Networked 
Government” priority to better reflect its importance 
to achieving Service Canada integrity goals.

Priority
Strengthening Accountability 
and Transparency

Establishing Enterprise Integrity
The centrepiece of Service Canada’s commitment to 
integrity was to strengthen the Social Insurance 
Number as a safe and secure common identifier for 
Service Canada’s Social Insurance Number-based 
programs. To help achieve this, Service Canada 
undertook a number of initiatives to further enhance 
the integrity of information in the Social Insurance 
Register. This work will enable Service Canada to 
establish clear and concrete goals for Social Insurance 
Register completeness, accuracy and reliability and to 
measure and report on these goals beginning in fiscal 
year 2007 – 2008. It will also address one of the 
Auditor General’s recommendations related to the 
Social Insurance Number, which are described in 
greater detail below. Another key initiative to further 
enhance the integrity of information in the Social 

Insurance Register is the vital events linkages initiative, 
which is a process to standardize data exchanges with 
the organizations in provincial and territorial govern-
ments that are responsible for recording vital events, 
such as births and deaths.

As part of Service Canada’s ongoing work, there were 
9,000 Social Insurance Number investigations related 
to issues such as suspected abuse and assistance to 
individuals and organizations faced with compromised 
Social Insurance Numbers. To make Canadians aware 
of proper and improper uses of their Social Insurance 
Numbers, Service Canada developed a Social Insurance 
Number Code of Practice for citizens, employers, 
employees and Service Canada partners. Service 
Canada posted the Code on its website and developed 
a preliminary marketing strategy.21

Identity authentication is the process by which Service 
Canada ensures authorized access to its personalized 
services by drawing on the Social Insurance Register 
data. During 2006 – 2007, Service Canada authenticated 
identities for over 11.7 million transactions in the 
online channel alone, acting as the front door of My 
Service Canada Account. This directly contributed to 
the integrity of the Social Insurance Registry database, 
relying on up-to-date vital statistics information and 
ensured proper access controls were and continue to 
be in place. This increasing data integrity was linked 
to other innovations, such as full implementation of 
Social Insurance Number Rapid Access. This risk-based 
Social Insurance Number issuance process allows 
Canadians with all the necessary documents to apply 
for and receive a Social Insurance Number in one visit 
to a Service Canada Centre. During 2006 – 2007, 
more than one million Social Insurance Number 
applications were processed or 67% of all applications 
using rapid access.

21  http://www.servicecanada.gc.ca/en/about/reports/sin/cop/toc.shtml
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In the Report on Plans and Priorities, Service Canada 
committed to expand its risk analysis capacity and its 
enterprise-wide quality framework, both of which 
contribute to achieving Service Integrity by providing 
the correct service offering to meet the client’s full 
entitlement to benefits and services. Both commit-
ments were achieved. It strengthened risk manage-
ment processes that were integrated across the 
organization and in its business plans. At a more 
targeted level, Service Canada successfully tested the 
concepts of integrating a risk-based approach into 
the client service experience model. This approach will 
provide citizens with services that are tailored to their 
needs and will allow better targeting of integrity 
activities.

Service Canada is building an enterprise-wide quality 
measurement system to better assess compliance with 
program authorities, as well as the accuracy of payments. 
This measurement system will help Service Canada 
ensure that the activities which it implements to 
mitigate and manage risk are applied correctly, and 
that service accuracy targets are achieved.

In February 2007, the Auditor General issued a 
Follow-up Status Report on the Management of the 
Social Insurance Number.22 It reviewed the progress of 
Human Resources and Social Development Canada, 
Service Canada and Treasury Board Secretariat in 
responding to recommendations in the 2002 Follow-
up Report of the Auditor General.

The Auditor General’s report noted satisfactory 
progress on several aspects of Social Insurance 
Number management within Human Resources and 
Social Development Canada and Service Canada’s 
responsibility including the redesign of the Social 
Insurance Number issuance process, updated stan-
dards for proving identity and in identifying and 
investigating Social Insurance Number related fraud. 
The review also noted that current efforts underway 
and plans to develop a comprehensive quality mea-
surement and reporting system for the Social Insur-
ance Register indicate a positive direction. However, 
the Office of the Auditor General found that not 
enough progress had been made on Integrity goals 
for the Social Insurance Register. The work described 
above is intended to address this issue.

Meeting Our Savings Commitments
Having achieved $292 million in savings in operating 
costs and program payments in 2005 – 2006, Service 
Canada generated $424 million of savings in 2006 – 2007.

A key contributor to achieving savings was the range 
of program integrity strategies. In 2006 – 2007, these 
included the implementation of increased preventative 
Claimant Information Sessions and risk-based claimant 
entitlement interviews to ensure the payments go only 
to eligible individuals. Service Canada also increased 
automated data-match program investigations to detect 
people who did not report earnings or absences from 
Canada while on claim. In addition, Canada Pension 
Plan and Old Age Security investigation programs 
were implemented that used information on deaths 
from provincial data to ensure that payments stopped 
as soon after a death as possible and other services 
were offered such as survivor benefits, as appropriate.

Benefit Processing Integrity
Service Canada made significant improvements to its 
benefit processing environment through the course of 
2006 – 2007. Service Canada implemented rigorous 
forecasting, planning, tracking and reporting for effec-
tive workload management through normal and peak 
periods in order to ensure that the $70B in benefit 
payments that Service Canada makes to Canadians 
were processed on time at a consistently high level of 
quality.

Service Canada exceeded its targets in a number of 
areas. For example, Service Canada achieved a national 
result of 92.8% for processing Canada Pension Plan 
retirement benefit payments within 30 days, well above 
the target of 85 %. Service Canada also surpassed its 
target of rendering 70% of Canada Pension Plan Disability 
reconsideration decisions within 120 days, achieving 
a level of 81.6%, up from 68.6 % in 2005 – 2006. 
Nationally, 94.1% of Old Age Security benefits 
were paid within 30 days.

A number of changes and improvements were also 
made to Employment Insurance benefit payment 
processes to address the challenges posed by summer 
and winter peak periods. As a result, 79.7% of Canadians 
who needed Employment Insurance benefits received 
their payments in the 28 days following receipt of 
claim against a target of 80%. Despite the introduction 

22  http://www.oag-bvg.gc.ca/domino/reports.nsf/html/20070206ce.html
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of new legislative and major changes to processes, the 
accuracy rate of Employment Insurance claims calcula-
tion was 94.5% against a target of 95%.

Achieving Processing Automation
A review of Employment Insurance payment processes 
resulted in simplified and standardized processes and 
procedures before the normal winter increase in 
claims allowing for a 10% increase in productivity and 
better service to Canadians. 

Service Canada recognizes that automation of the 
processes used to administer benefit programs 
improves program integrity. Automation eliminates 
the errors that arise in manual processing such as data 
not correctly entered and it prevents delays that arise 
when documents have to await manual data entry.

The benefit programs that Service Canada delivers 
represented early uses of electronic systems. For 
example, 92.7% of the Employment Insurance 
applications are now received online 23. These services 
have allowed Service Canada to be seen as leading 
e-government initiatives – and one that sees more 
opportunities to increase the automation of service 
delivery processes.

To build on this base, Service Canada continued to 
expand its use of increasingly automated processes to 
achieve internal operational efficiencies and improved 
effectiveness. Receiving Records of Employment (ROE) 
electronically is essential in order to automate the 
calculation of claims: 24.8% of Records of Employment 
representing some 55,000 businesses were submitted 
electronically achieving a 9.1% increase over the 

15.7% that were submitted electronically the previous 
fiscal year. This was 24,000 more employers than a 
year earlier, well ahead of the target of 15,500 new 
employers on Records of Employment Web. Other 
improvements include the digitization of Records of 
Employment, permitting Service Canada staff to obtain 
copies electronically through the Service Canada 
intranet or by e-mail when they are reviewing a file.

During the year, automated claims processing was 
used for 21,000 initial claims for Employment 
Insurance benefits exceeding the target of 3% and 
171,000 applications to renew existing Employment 
Insurance claims. The renewal claim activity covered 
31.5% of all such claims, exceeding the 30% target. 
One benefit of the increased automation of processing 
was that Service Canada staff in the regions were able 
to balance workloads across the country during the 
winter peak period. This resulted in improved service 
to Canadians.

23 http://www100.hrdc-drhc.gc.ca/ae-ei/dem-app/english/home2.html
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Achievements Against Priorities

Integrity

Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

Priority:  Strengthening accountability and transparency

Establishing enterprise integrity • Social Insurance Number system strengthened 
through 9,000 investigations of possible frauds

• Social Insurance Number Code of Practice launched 
to inform Canadians and key stakeholders of ways 
to use Social Insurance Numbers properly

• Progress in online authentication of identity, enabling 
Canadians to establish their identify by validating 
11.7 million transactions against the Social Insurance 
Register and provide authorized access to services 

• Social Insurance Number Rapid Access implemented, 
1 million applications processed

• Social Insurance Number Quality Management 
System piloted

• Expanded risk analysis capacity
• Framework for an enterprise-wide quality developed
• Risk-based approaches used to guide audit choices 

and business planning and investigations
• Responded to Auditor General’s report on Social 

Insurance Numbers, set out plans for improvements
• Developed draft key Performance Indicators for Social 

Insurance Register accuracy, completeness and reliability

Meeting our saving commitments • Had exceeded $355 million savings target
• Targeted activities to address most common forms 

of abuse in Employment Insurance and public 
pension benefit programs

Benefit Processing Integrity • Implemented rigorous forecasting, planning, 
tracking and reporting for effective workload 
management through normal and peak periods

• Exceeded targets for processing Canada Pension 
Plan retirement benefit; Canada Pension Plan 
Disability reconsideration decisions and Old Age 
Security benefits 

• Improvements made to Employment Insurance 
benefit payment processes

Achieving processing automation • Achievement of improved program integrity through 
expanded automated processing of Employment 
Insurance applications 

• Greater employer use of automated Record 
of Employment generation and submission 
(Record of Employment-Web)

• Implementation of Employment Insurance simplified 
and standardized processes and procedures

• Record of Employment Automation of internal 
Service Canada functions and processes.
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S ervice Canada partners with other government 
organizations to provide Canadians with single 

window access to government programs and services. 
Key aspects of collaborative and networked 
government are to achieve better client information 
integration and automate those processes involving 
client information. The work of this program activity 
took place under the two priorities, namely, 
Transforming Services to Canadians and Achieving 
Client Information Integration.

Priority 
Transforming Service to Canadians

Many of the initiatives that are helping to transform 
direct services to Canadians were described in earlier 
portions of this Report, particularly under the program 
activity: “Seamless, Citizen-centred Service.” The focus 
under this program activity was to expand relations with 
other departments and government organizations through 
two planning elements: Building Our Capacity as the 
Government of Canada network of choice and building 
partnership strategies.

Building our Capacity as the Government 
of Canada Network of Choice
By the end of 2006 – 2007, Service Canada was deliver-
ing services on behalf of 13 federal departments, 
agencies and organizations (Agriculture and Agri-food 
Canada, Canadian Heritage, Canada Revenue Agency, 
Citizenship and Immigration Canada, Correctional 
Service Canada, Human Resources and Social Devel-
opment Canada, Indian Residential Schools Resolution 
Canada, National Defence, Passport Canada, Public 
Works and Government Services Canada, the Royal 
Canadian Mounted Police, Transport Canada and 
Veterans Affairs Canada).

Service Canada pursued its commitment to use the 
best approaches possible to provide services on behalf 
of partners. For example, it issued more than 
123,000 pleasure craft licences in the first year of this 
activity on behalf of Transport Canada.24 A key to that 
result was an agreement with Service Canada, 
Transport Canada and Service New Brunswick, which 
developed an automated system with 24/7 access to 
processing licence applications in New Brunswick. 
This initiative received a Public Service Award for excel-
lence, recognizing the strong partnership approach.

Service Canada completed ten pilot projects that 
provided direct telephone access to Canada Revenue 
Agency services that involved more than 14,000 service 
requests. In Quebec, four Service Canada Centres 
continued a pilot providing access to Citizenship and 
Immigration Canada services and also experimented 
with an additional pilot project involving Canada 
Revenue Agency services. The commitment to partner-
ships was mutual, as indicated by the Service Canada 
pilot project in Manitoba to cost-share resources with 
Parks Canada to provide year-round services in 
Churchill and seasonal services in Riding Mountain 
National Park.

Building Partnership Strategies
Of the 13 federal departments and agencies listed 
under the previous element of this priority, five were 
either new Service Canada partners during the year 
or were the source of new service offerings. Service 
Canada provided access to Canadians on behalf of 
Human Resources and Social Development Canada to 
the new Universal Child Care Benefit and the Appren-
ticeship Incentive Grant.25 – 26 The Royal Canadian 
Mounted Police and Department of National Defence 
began work with Service Canada to support their recruit-
ment efforts. The Department of Canadian Heritage 
worked through Service Canada to deliver the Chi-

24  http://www.servicecanada.gc.ca/en/sc/boats/pleasurecraft.shtml
25 http://www.servicecanada.gc.ca/en/goc/universal_child_care.shtml
26 http://www.servicecanada.gc.ca/en/goc/apprenticeship.shtml
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nese Head Tax Initiative, just as Indian Residential 
Schools Resolution Canada did for the Common 
Experience Payment.27

Service Canada worked with other departments and 
agencies in support of the work of the Independent 
Blue Ribbon Panel on Grants and Contributions. This 
reflected Service Canada’s strong relationships with 
the voluntary sector and its delivery of many grants 
and contributions programs.28

Many Service Canada partnerships took place at the 
regional level. These included planning and coordina-
tion of intergovernmental agreements and collabora-
tion with provincial and territorial governments on 
issues of shared interest, particularly related to labour 
market issues.

In Ontario, the Canada-Ontario Labour Market 
Development Agreement that came into effect on 
January 1, 2007 involved the transfer of design and 
delivery responsibilities for Employment Insurance-
funded labour market programming to the provincial 
government.29 While the agreement involved the transfer 
of 13,000 contribution agreements and the salaries 
for 670 positions as well as operating costs, it took 
place with no negative impacts on Ontarians. In many 
communities, co-location agreements between Service 
Canada and provincial ministries meant that local 
residents, businesses and service delivery partners 
continued to deal with the same staff, who were now 
provincial employees, and continued to receive services 
through Service Canada Centres. This complemented 
another effort in Ontario to develop a memorandum 
of understanding with the Ontario government’s 
ServiceOntario to achieve collaborative service delivery 
for one-stop service.

In central Alberta, a June 2006 pilot project brought 
together services related to Canada Pension Plan Disabil-
ity Benefits and the Alberta Assured Income for the 
Severely Handicapped program. The introduction of a 
streamlined application and screening process meant 
that people with disabilities seeking benefits faced 
fewer steps in getting the benefits to which they were 
entitled from each program and had a far smaller risk 
of potential overpayments between both programs. 
The streamlining also reduced operating costs for the 
two governments by making the process far more 

efficient for all involved. Based on the success in that 
part of the province, a second phase began for people 
in southern Alberta in February 2007.

Priority 
Achieving Client 
Information Integration

Canadians have often complained about having to 
provide the same information over and over when 
applying for different government programs. Consis-
tent with its citizen-centred approach, Service Canada 
is addressing this issue by creating a single, integrated 
set of information on individual clients — all supported 
by appropriate privacy protections — that can be 
drawn on when they apply for benefits or services. 
In developing this information base, Service Canada 
used a 2006 – 2007 plan containing three elements (as 
set out in the Report on Plans and Priorities). However, 
as noted earlier, one element, Achieving Processing 
Automation, has been reported with Service Canada’s 
integrity commitments. The remaining two elements 
within this priority are: Establishing a One-Client View 
and Achieving Information Integration, and Trans-
forming Vital Events Management.

Establishing a One-Client View and 
Achieving Information Integration
To provide high-quality service to Canadians, Service 
Canada staff needs to be able to use the most complete 
information possible on individuals. While taking 
privacy issues into account and ensuring appropriate 
privacy protection, as the systems are designed. 
Service Canada is bringing together approaches and 
best practices from other organizations to collect, use 
and integrate information to better serve Canadians. 
Integrating information reduces the administrative 
burden for Canadians who deal with Service Canada 
and brings more efficiency, since Service Canada staff 
gain a clear view of what data is required and can 
merge duplicated data. The creation of this integrated 
“one client view” is complex and requires substantial 
planning and testing to achieve the best results with 
the most efficient use of public funds, all the while 
respecting Privacy legislation and guidelines. During 
the year, Service Canada developed a One Client View 

27 http://www.pch.gc.ca/progs/multi/redress-redressement/index_e.cfm
28 http://www1.servicecanada.gc.ca/en/gateways/individuals/audiences/unions.shtml
29 http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/epb/lmd/lmda/ontario/index.shtml
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Strategy and identified three different concepts for 
how it could be developed further. Testing of different 
client interaction scenarios began to compare the concepts 
to likely “real world” uses by Canadians.

Transforming Vital Events Management
Accurate identity information in the Social Insurance 
Register is a critical requirement for citizen-centred 
service and to address abuse in social programs 
Human Resources and Social Development Canada 
and Service Canada have been seeking to improve the 
integrity of Social Insurance Register data by moving 
from manual information entry based on inputs from 
many sources to standardized exchanges with the 
organizations in provincial and territorial governments 
that are responsible for recording vital events such as 
births and deaths. Working with provinces and 
territories and with other federal departments, Service 
Canada has been able to increase the accuracy of the 
Social Insurance Register through more timely and 
complete updates of vital event information such as 
birth, death and immigration data.

During the year, Service Canada worked towards develop-
ing a government-wide approach to the management of 
vital events, as well as an implementation strategy and 
business plan. It signed a memorandum of understanding 
on vital events with the Government of Alberta, which 
added to the two in place with Ontario and British 
Columbia that enable the validation of identity documents.

In Ontario, province-wide implementation of the 
new Newborn Registration Service was launched in 

September 2006.30 Almost 16,000 families took advan-
tage of the service that enables them to apply online 
to register the birth of their child, obtain a birth 
certificate and a Social Insurance Number through 
a single application. A similar process with British 
Columbia was developed and tested for implementa-
tion in April 2007.

Approximately 45,000 historical death records and 
over 92,000 death notifications from Ontario were 
received and matched against the Social Insurance 
Register. In addition, nearly 226,000 historical death 
records were received from British Columbia and over 
700,000 historical death records were received from 
Alberta.

Negotiations were undertaken between Service 
Canada and Citizenship and Immigration Canada 
toward agreements that, when finalized and imple-
mented, will enable newcomers to Canada to apply 
for a Social Insurance Number during the immigration 
process and will give Service Canada access to Citizen-
ship and Immigration Canada’s citizenship database 
to validate the data provided by the applicant.

30 http://www.servicecanada.gc.ca/en/sin/apply/newborn.shtml
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Achievements Against Priorities

Work as a Collaborative and Networked Government

Plan 2006 – 2007 Achievements

Priority:  Transforming service to Canadians

Building our capacity as the Government 
of Canada network of choice

• Service Canada delivered services on behalf 
of 13 federal organizations

• Year 1 of service for Transport Canada resulted 
in 123,312 pleasure craft licences issued

• The Canada Pension Plan-Employment Insurance 
Contributors project consists of reviewing, correcting 
and collecting applicable Canada Pension Plan-
Employment Insurance contributions by Canada 
Revenue Agency

• Local services responded to emergencies, (for example, 
ensuring business owners and residents who lost jobs 
as the result of a fire in Saskatchewan could benefit 
from Service Canada service offerings) and planning 
took place to be ready for pandemic influenza

Building partnership strategies • 5 new or expanded agreements with federal 
organizations for Service Canada service delivery

• Support for work of the Blue Ribbon Panel 
on Grants and Contributions

• Managed the transfer of labour market program 
responsibilities (including staff and resources) in Ontario 
to the provincial government, while providing seamless 
service over the transition

Priority:  Achieving client information integration

Establishing a one client view and achieving 
information integration

• One Client View Strategy developed with 3 concepts 
for its further development created and tested

Transforming vital events management • Agreements with British Columbia and Alberta to share 
data on vital events (including on \births and deaths)

• Implementation of Ontario Newborn Registration 
Service for parents

• Received death data from British Columbia, Alberta 
and Ontario and implemented ongoing death 
notification with Ontario
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Program Indicators

Service Indicators Notes

Increase in number of Service Canada points of service 
(from 320 in March 2005)
Target: 533
Result: 587

24/7 availability of Internet – information and 
transaction (compared to March 2005 where 
only information was accessible online)
Target: 95%
Result: 99.3%

Percentage of calls answered by an agent within 
180 seconds
Target: 95%
Result: 58.5%

Result  for the Canada Student Loans Program: 98.4%:

Result  for Canada Pension Plan and Old Age Security: 
85%

Result  for Employment Insurance: 44% within 
180 seconds

Result  for Employment Insurance: 67% within 
5 minutes 

A number of changes were made to address the 
service challenges posed by Employment Insurance’s 
summer and winter peak periods. As a result of these 
continuous improvements, Employment Insurance call 
centres were successful in achieving a 72% service level 
in March at the height of the winter-peak period.

Extend hours of service in Service Canada Centres 
(from 0 in March 2005)
Target: 60
Result: 53

Percentage of availability of the Interactive Voice 
Response System
Target: 95%
Result: 98%

Maintain or reduce number of official language 
complaints
Target: Actual results to be reported
Result: 23

Establish Official Language Minority Community 
Groups points of service (from 0 in March 2005)
Target: 17
Result: 33

Of the 33, 23 are outreach sites, including 
1 community partner.

Offer service in languages other than English 
or French (from 0 in March 2005)
Target: 10
Result: 19

A total of 7 fact sheets/publications were made 
available in languages other than English or French 
(in 7 Aboriginal languages/dialects and in 12 foreign 
languages).
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Service Indicators Notes

Provide forms online in formats accessible for people 
with disabilities
Target: 10
Result: 11

Percentage of notifications sent within seven days 
of receipt of applications
Target: 80%
Result: 65.6%

Includes the automated and non-automated 
notifications for Canada Pension Plan, Employment 
Insurance in addition to the Old Age Security inquiries. 
Results will improve with automation of claims 
(Old Age Security planned for 2009).

Percentage of Employment Insurance payments 
issued within 28 days of filing
Target: 80%
Result: 79.7%

Percentage of passports delivered by Passport Canada 
within 20 working days of receiving the application 
from Service Canada, excluding mailing time
Target: 90%
Result: Accountability rests with Passport Canada 
to report on results

Memorandum of Understanding between Human 
Resources and Social Development Canada and 
Passport Canada was signed where there was an 
agreement to measure the “effectiveness of the Passport 
Receiving Agents (Service Canada)”. Indicators were 
developed to measure critical and non-critical errors 
committed by Service Canada as a receiving agent.

Percentage of Canada Pension Plan retirement 
first payment within the month of entitlement
Target: 85%
Result: 92.8%

Percentage of Old Age Security first payment 
issued within 30 days of entitlement
Target: 90%
Result: 94.1%

Percentage of pleasure craft licences issued 
in one visit (service not offered in March 2005)
Target: 90%
Result: 80%

Percentage of Social Insurance Numbers issued 
in one visit (service not offered in March 2005)
Target: 90%
Result: 67%

Results for this new service showed a steady increase 
throughout the fiscal year from a base of 0.

Maintain or increase client satisfaction
Target: Actual result to be reported
Result: Not available

Survey not conducted.
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The following indicators also provide information concerning the Department’s performance.

Additional Measures

Indicators Notes

Web Usage
Target: Actual volumes to be reported
Result: 22,364,438

Phone Usage – Agent Calls (Total number of 
specialized and general call answered by agents)
Target: Actual volumes to be reported
Result: 11,227,567

Phone Usage – interactive voice response system calls
Target: Actual volumes to be reported
Result: 49,541,252

Service Canada Centre visits (in-person)
Target: Actual volumes to be reported 
Result: 9,275,672

Accuracy rate of Employment Insurance benefit 
payments
Target: 95%
Result: 94.8%

Employment Insurance Appeals scheduled to be heard 
by the Board of Referees within 30 days of receipt 
of the appeal
Target: 90%
Result: 87.1%

Employment Insurance client appeal dockets received 
at the office of the Umpire within 60 days from date 
of appeal filing (date of receipt)
Target: 100%
Result: 99.5%

Number of employment programs clients served 
Target: 675,000 
Result: 661,714 including former and non-insured 
Employment Benefits and Support Measures claimants

In the 2006 – 2007 results, there were an additional 
44,977 Career Placements participants served.

Annual increase in job seekers in Job Bank 
Target: increase by 5%
Result: increased by 49%

Important increase likely due to the consolidation of 
Job Bank and Job Cluster services (which includes Job 
Alert from Training and Careers). This item is reflected 
by the number of visits to our site (94 million for 
2006 – 2007 versus 63 million for 2005 – 2006).

Annual increase in vacancies posted in Job Bank
Target: increase by 5%
Result: increased by 11.7%

Increase from 948,198 jobs for 2005 – 2006 
to 1,073,948 jobs for 2006 – 2007.
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Indicators Notes

Client satisfaction with labour market information 
products and services – usefulness in conducting 
a job search
Target: Actual result to be reported
Result: Not available

Survey was not conducted. 

Passport applications handled 
Target: Actual volumes to be reported
Result: 67,260

Pleasure Craft Licences applications handled
Target: Actual volumes to be reported
Result: 123,312

Social Insurance Number Applications (requests) 
received
Target: Actual volumes to be reported
Result: 1,564,224

Canada Pension Plan Applications (processed)
Target: Actual volumes to be reported
Result: 614,173

Employment Insurance Applications (initial and 
renewal claims received)
Target: Actual volumes to be reported
Result: 2,702,444

Old Age Security Applications (processed)
Target: Actual volumes to be reported
Result: 808,972

Volume does not include the 1,390,375 Guaranteed 
Income Supplement automatic renewals

Number of new Service Offerings
Target: Actual volumes to be reported
Result: 13

For more details on programs supporting this activity, please see Section IV – Other Items of Interest
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Financial and Human Resources 2006 – 2007

Service Canada

Gross Operating Expenditures PLANNED SPENDING AUTHORITIES ACTUALS
Financial Resources (in millions of dollars)

9.952,1tekraMruobaL 8.061,1 6.851,1
8.22ssensselemoH 6.71 6.71
1.35sllikSecalpkroW 6.26 5.26

Service Delivery 556.5 8.785 5.865

3.298,1adanaCecivreSlatoT 8.828,1 2.708,1

135,02latoT-tnelaviuqEemiTlluF 795,91 795,91

DPR Expenditure Profile 2006 – 2007

Service Canada

PLANNED SPENDING AUTHORITIES ACTUALS
Budgetary
Operating Costs (Vote 1 & 10) 563.3 8.085 1.175
Delivery Cost related to:

4.831,1tnuoccAecnarusnItnemyolpmE° 6.220,1 9.510,1
6.091nalPnoisnePadanaC° 4.522 2.022
0.923,1latot-buS 0.842,1 1.632,1

3.298,1stsoCgnitarepOssorG a 1,828.8 a 1,807.2 a

Delivered on behalf of Human Resources and
Social Development Canadab

1.686)51&5etoV(snoitubirtnoCdnastnarGdetoV 4.657 6.086

Statutory Payments:
 ° Old Age Security 23,255.0 8.878,22 8.878,22

0.028,6tnemelppuSemocnIdeetnarauG° 1.109,6 1.109,6
 ° Allowance Pay 0.005stnem 1.405 1.405

  Sub-total Statutory Pay 0.575,03stnem 0.482,03 0.482,03
3.231,62stifenebnalPnoisnePadanaC 3.511,62 3.511,62

Employment Insurance benefits
0.244,21ItraP• 5.299,11 5.299,11
9.840,2IItraP• 3.050,2 1.640,2

Sub-total Employ 9.094,41stifenebecnarusnItnem 8.240,41 6.830,41
6.7stsoCtnemecnahnEmetsyS-ADML 6.7 5.5
0.1tif-eReciffO-ADML 0.1 7.0

Total Statutory Transfer Payments 71,206.8 7.054,07 1.444,07

Total Delivered on behalf of HRSDC 71,892.9 c 71,207.1 c 71,124.7 c

2.587,37latoTdetadilosnoC 9.530,37 9.139,27      

(millions of dollars)

a Includes statutory items for employee benefit plans.
b The financial strategy for Service Canada establishes that statutory funds, including Employment Insurance, Canada 

Pension Plan, Old Age Security and voted grants and contributions related to the delivery of specified programs 
are allocated annually by HRSDC.

c This amount directly benefits Canadians or organizations and is delivered on behalf of HRSDC.
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Financial and Human Resources 2006 – 2007

Service Delivery

GROSS SPENDING PLANNED
(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) SPENDING AUTHORITIES ACTUAL

Human Resources and Skills Development Canada
Gross Operating Expenditures 109.4 122.4 117.5
Social Development Canada

4.8947.2251.744serutidnepxEgnitarepOssorG
9.5161.5465.655latoT

FULL TIME EQUIVALENTS 6,305 6,422 6,422

Details by Program and Services 2006 – 2007

Service Delivery

Planned
Spending

Authorities Actual
Spending

75.8 80.6 75.9
33.6 41.8 41.6

109.4 122.4 117.5
447.1 522.4 498.2

- 0.3 0.2
556.5 645.1 615.9

6,305 6,422 6,422Total FTE

Financial Resources (in millions of dollars)

Human Resources

Service Delivery - Human Resources and Skills 
Development Canada

Service Delivery - Social Development Canada
Otherb

Total c

Allocated Corporate Servicesa

Sub-Total

a Corporate Services resources related to the Minister’s Office, the Deputy Minister’s Office, the Comptroller’s Office 
and the Shared Services have been prorated to each Strategic Outcome.

b Other category is for disposal of crown asset
c This amount includes resources for the delivery of programs and services by Service Canada. For a full accounting 

of Service Canada’s operations please refer to the following table.
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P lease note that financial tables provided in this 
section present Human Resources and Skills 

Development and Social Development separately in 
order to align with the 2006 – 2007 Main Estimates.

Human Resources and Skills 
Development Canada

In 2006 – 2007, the department was authorized to 
spend $19,449.7 million or $269.6 million less than 
the consolidated planned spending of $19,719.3 million 
(tables 1 and 3). The variance is explained by: 

• A decrease of $332.8 million in the Specified Purpose 
Accounts mostly attributable to a revised forecast of 
Employment Insurance Part I benefits in the Employment 
Insurance Account. Employment Insurance benefits 
declined mainly as a result of a decrease in the 
number of beneficiaries, consistent with lower 
unemployment;

• A net decrease of $195.6 million in the statutory 
payment authorities mostly attributable to:

 A decrease of $70.0 million in Canada Education 
Savings Grants (CESG), due to downward estimate 
adjustment mainly due to sluggish payments of 
the Additional CESG (A-CESG). Lower than expected 
A-CESG payments are attributable to several factors 
including low awareness and more gradual implemen-
tation from Registered Education Savings Plan 
promoters;

 A decrease of $58.2 million in Payments related to 
the direct financing arrangement under the Canada 
Student Financial Assistance Act, is mainly due to a 
decrease in the alternative payments payable to 
non-participating provinces, resulting from the 
fact that defaulted loans, which is a component 
of that payment, was significantly reduced;

 A decrease of $28.7 million for the Wage Earner 
Protection Program which was not implemented 
in 2006 – 2007;

 A decrease of $27.3 million in Liabilities under the 
Canada Student Loans Act due to the fact that 
actual spending is presented net of the recoveries 
on claims while the planned spending represents 
the forecast expenditure of claims payments;

 A decrease of $23.2 million in Canada Learning 
Bond due to downward estimate adjustment due 
to limited uptake as a result of the recent introduction 
of the Canada Learning Bond, delayed readiness 
of the delivery systems of Registered Education 
Savings Plan promoters, and limited marketing of 
the Canada Learning Bond from communications 
and outreach activities;

 A decrease of $23.0 million associated with 
contributions to employee benefit plans.

 An increase of $26.5 million in Canada Study Grants, 
is the result of higher than expected up-take of 
the Canada Access Grants (Low Income Families 
and Permanent Disability), proposed in Budget 
2004 and effective August 2005.

 An increase of $7.4 million for the provision of 
funds for interest payments and liabilities in the 
form of Risk Shared loans under the Canada Student 
Financial Assistance Act. The variance is mainly 
due to the continuous impact of debt management 
measures as well as the outstanding balance of the 
in-study portfolio being higher and expiring slower 
than previously forecasted.

• A decrease of $10.8 million in grants and contributions 
mostly related to: 

 A decrease of $31.6 million for the Workplace 
Skills Initiative reprofiled to future years;

 A decrease of $24.8 million further to the announce-
ment of September 25, 2006 on Effective Spending 
of which $10 million is related to the Youth 
Employment Strategy, $8.0 million related to the 
Training Centre Infrastructure Fund, $4.8 million 
related to the Adult Learning Literacy and Essential 
Skills program and $2.0 million related to Workplace 
Partners Panel;

 A decrease of $6.2 million for items included in 
planned spending for which resources were not 
requested in 2006 – 2007 for Aboriginal Skills and 
Employment Partnerships ($5.3 million) and 
Foreign Credential Recognition ($1.0 million);

 Offset by an increase of $52.2 million further to:

– a reprofile from 2005 – 2006 to 2006 – 2007 
for the National Homelessness Initiative 
($37.2 million);

People • Partnerships • Knowledge

Financial Performance Overview
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– new funding announced for the Targeted 
Initiative for Older Workers and Expert Panel 
($8.0 million) to assist unemployed older workers 
in communities with ongoing high unemployment 
and/or affected by downsizing; and 

– additional funding for the Apprenticeship 
Incentive Grant of $7.0 million (from $25.0 million 
to $32.0 million), to encourage more Canadians 
to pursue apprenticeships and reward progression 
by providing $1,000 per year to apprentices 
successfully completing their first or second year 
of an apprenticeship program in a Red Seal Trade.

• An increase of $250.4 million in Loans disbursed 
under the Canada Student Financial Assistance Act 
is mainly due to actual gross amount of repayments 
being much lower than anticipated as a result of the 
major decrease in accounts returned to government.

• An increase of $19.2 million in net operating 
expenditures mainly due to: 

 Operating budget Carry-forward from 2005 – 2006 
($13.3 million);

 Compensation for salary adjustments ($8.3 million);

 Transfer from the Privy Council Office of $3.1 million 
for the Policy Research Initiative as a result of 
government restructuring;

 Operating funds for Targeted Initiative for Older 
Workers and Expert Panel ($2.7 million);

 Funding to enable the Labour Program to respond 
to critical program pressures resulting from 
steadily increasing responsibilities ($1.8 million);

 Offset by decreases for:

– Items included in planned spending for which 
resources were not requested in 2006 – 2007 
such as Wage Earner Protection Program 
($3.2 million) and Foreign Credential Recognition, 
($1.0 million);

– An amount of $2.3 million transferred to Social 
Development Canada for the training of 
employees to achieve high service delivery 
standards for Canadians;

– Funding no longer required pursuant to modified 
resourcing requirements of the new recovery 
initiative of the Canada Student Loans 
($2.1 million);

– A decrease of $2.0 million further to the 
announcement of September 25, 2006 on 
Effective Spending;

The actual consolidated expenditures of $19,235.4 million 
were $214.3 million lower than our total consolidated 
authorities of $19,449.7 million. This was mainly due to: 

• Grants and contributions expenditures being 
$108.6 million less than the authorities for: 

 The Apprenticeship Incentive Grant ($31.3 million). 
Funding approval for the Apprenticeship Incentive 
Grant was confirmed at the end of March 2007. 
The launch and promotional activities required to 
create awareness of the new program were 
delayed;

 The Homelessness Initiative ($25.1 million), this 
amount will be requested for re-profile to 2007 – 2008 
to ensure that funds will be available for proposals 
that are developed for activities to alleviate 
homelessness; 

 Adult Learning, Literacy and Essential Skills Program 
($13.1 million) mainly due to a late launch of Call 
for Proposals deferring spending to 2007 – 2008;

 Youth Employment Strategy ($8.1 million), due to 
the uncertainty in determining funding requirements 
for the Skills Link initiative;

 Targeted Initiative for Older Workers ($8.0 million), 
due to length of time to sign Federal-Provincial/
Territorial agreements, pushing required work into 
2007 – 2008;

 The contribution agreement with Joint Voisey’s 
Bay Employment and Training Authority ended 
earlier than anticipated on March 31, 2006, as the 
construction of the Voisey’s Bay Nickel/Mine site 
was a year ahead of schedule ($4.7 million);

 Aboriginal Skills and Employment Partnerships 
($3.8 million), due to length of time to establish 
the agreements. The funds were re-profiled into 
future years;

 Sector Council Program ($3.8 million), a result of 
delays in the implementation of certain projects;

 Costs were lower than anticipated for the World 
Urban Forum ($2.4 million) due to a favourable 
exchange rate. Funds set aside for contingencies 
were not required as the event ran smoothly;

 Foreign Credential Recognition ($2.1 million) due 
to projects deferred to future years, particularly in 
the agreements with provinces;

 Workplace Skills Initiative ($2.0 million) due to a 
deferral of projects to the next fiscal year; 

 Training Centre Infrastructure Fund ($1.5 million) 
partly due to the withdrawal of projects by the 
recipients;
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 Labour Management Partnership Program 
($1.2 million) due to the non-approval of some 
projects;

 Other lapses ($1.5 million).

• A decrease of $96.7 million in the Specified Purpose 
Accounts. The variance is related to the 

 Employment Insurance Account with $35.5 million 
in Employment Insurance Part I; Employment 
Insurance benefits declined in 2006 – 2007 due to a 
decrease in the number of beneficiaries, consistent 
with lower unemployment, and due to the intro-
duction of the Quebec Parental Insurance Plan, 

 $50.7 million in Employment Insurance Part II out 
of a total budget of $2.166 billion, due to normal 
delays in the implementation of projects and 
lower than expected expenditures by some projects;

 $49.5 million in administrative costs, mainly due 
to a lapsed surplus of $30.4 million for Human 
Resources and Social Development Canada and 
$12.8 million for Social Development Canada;

 offset by $43.9 million in doubtful accounts as a 
result of an increase in the overpayments bad debt;

 and to the Canada Pension Plan Account with 
$4.9 million in administrative costs; and

• A net operating lapse of $ 9.0 million related to 
$1.6 million in frozen resources and $7.4 million in 
general lapse. The frozen items are attributable to 
the Canada Student Loans Program ($1.1 million), 
and a year-end transfer price between salary and 
non-salary ($0.5 million).

Social Development Canada

In 2006 – 2007, the department was authorized to spend 
$60,787.3 million or $700.8 million more than the 
consolidated planned spending of $60,086.5 million 
(tables 1 and 3). The variance is explained by:

• A variance of $646.4 million in Grants and 
Contributions representing the residual amount 
frozen for the National Early Learning Program. 

• An increase of $166.6 million in the Specified 
Purpose Accounts related to the Canada Pension 
Plan and the Employment Insurance accounts: 

 an amount of $115.0 million for the 
administrative costs of the Canada Pension Plan 
Investment Board which was previously netted 
against the revenues of the Board; 

 a $35.7 million increase in administrative costs 
payable to the Canada Revenue Agency related 
to a $31.5 million increase and adjustment in the 

basic costs to administer Part I of the Canada 
Pension Plan and $4.2 million to undertake a 
special Canada Pension Plan contribution project; 

 an increase of $27.7 million in other Canada 
Pension Plan administration costs;

 In the Employment Insurance Account, the 
increase in departmental administrative costs 
($5.2 million) is mainly due to collective 
bargaining increases.

 The increase is offset by a revision to forecast in 
Canada Pension Plan benefits of $17.0 million. 

• An increase of $14.4 million in net operating 
expenditures is largely due to: 

 Compensation for salary adjustments ($14.8 million);

 Operating budget Carry forward from 2005 – 2006 
($11.9 million);

 An increase of $7.7 million for Service Canada to 
deliver the lump sum payments recognizing the 
experience of residing at an Indian Residential 
School and its impact (Common Experience 
Payments);

 An amount of $2.3 million transferred from 
Human Resources and Skills Development for the 
training of employees to achieve high service 
delivery standards for Canadians;

 Offset by decreases as a result of:

– Transfers to the Canada Revenue Agency and 
Public Works and Government Services Canada 
for National Collection Services ($20.0 million);

– The announcement of September 25, 2006 on 
Effective Spending related to Understanding the 
Early Years ($2.9 million); and

• A net decrease of $126.6 million in statutory 
payment authorities mostly related to:

 a decrease of $376.2 million in the Old Age Security 
(OAS) forecast can be attributed to several factors. 
The average monthly rate of the Old Age Security 
pension for 2006 – 2007 was less than forecasted 
due to a greater proportion of partial pensions. 
There was also an increase in the average number 
of monthly Old Age Security recipients. Lastly 
there was an increase in forecasted benefit repayment 
from higher-income Old Age Security recipients 
through the Old Age Security Recovery Tax. 

 a transfer of $18.5 million to the Canada Revenue 
Agency for the National Collection Services and 
Collection, Litigation and Advisory Services as a 
result of government restructuring;
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 offset by increases for:

– Universal Child Care Benefits paid to Canadian 
families with young children ($174.4 million);

– Guaranteed Income Supplement ($81.1 million) 
resulting from an increase in the forecasted 
average monthly rate. In 2006 – 2007, the average 
monthly Guaranteed Income Supplement rate 
was higher than estimated. This increase was 
partially offset by a decrease in the average 
forecasted number of monthly recipients; 

– Contributions to the Employee Benefit Plan 
($4.5 million);

– Allowance Payment ($4.1 million) which can be 
attributed to an increase in the forecasted 
average monthly rate of the benefit; and 

– Energy cost benefits ($3.7 million) which are 
one-time payments for energy costs incurred by 
low income seniors and families with children.

The actual consolidated expenditures of $60,070.7 million 
were $716.6 million lower than our total consolidated 
authorities of $60,787.3 million. The variance is 
largely explained by:

• A net operating lapse of $33.6 million resulting 
from $15.0 million in frozen resources such as the 
Canada Student Loans Program ($2.9 million) and 
year-end transfer price between salary and non-
salary ($12.1 million) and $18.6 million in general 
lapse;

• A Grants and Contributions variance of $657.5 million 
including $648.6 million in frozen resources and 
$8.9 million in general lapse; and

• A decrease of $25.4 million in Special Purpose 
Accounts related to a decrease in administration 
costs recoverable from the Employment Insurance 
and the Canada Pension Plan accounts.

Table 1A   Comparison of Planned to Actual Spending (including full-time equivalent) 
Human Resources and Skills Development Canada

2004-2005 2005-2006 Main Planned
(millions of dollars) Actual Actual Estimates a Spending Authorities Actual
Program Activities b

3.455ecnarusnItnemyolpmE 838.1 883.4 879.5 760.3 750.5
8.447smargorPtnemyolpmE 928.9 969.2 997.2 988.9 953.1
8.37sllikSecalpkroW 120.7 184.5 219.3 186.2 141.5
4.988gninraeL 1,009.8 1,226.9 1,227.2 1,078.6 1,052.4
3.281ruobaL 221.8 217.3 249.2 231.6 230.4
8.711ssensselemoH 171.9 188.3 188.1 219.9 190.3
0.98yrevileDecivreS 158.3 c 128.1 109.4 122.4 117.5
0.09troppuSmargorPdnayciloP 161.3 103.2 120.1 141.6 140.9

Total Gross Expenditures 2,741.4 3,610.8 3,900.9 3,990.0 3,729.5 3,576.6
)3.568(seuneverelbadnepseR (1,400.6) (1,425.8) (1,435.2) (1,362.0) (1,326.7)

Total Net Expenditures 1,876.1 2,210.2 2,475.1 2,554.8 2,367.5 2,249.9
Non-Budgetary
Loans disbursed under the Canada Student

Financial Assistance Act 1,215.7 1,331.3 981.5 981.5 1,231.9 1,231.9
Total Department 3,091.8 3,541.5 3,456.6 3,536.3 3,599.4 3,481.8

Plus: Specified Purpose Accounts
6.483,61ecnarusnItnemyolpmE 16,050.3 7.062,61 15,931.7 15,814.6

Other Specified Purpose Accounts 55.1 51.4 3.84 48.6 48.6
Departmental Recoveries charged to the CPP 5.3 13.0 7.41 15.8 10.9
Departmental Employee Benefit Plan
     recoverable from EI Account (83.8) (132.8) )7.041( (145.8) (120.5)
Consolidated Total HRSDC 19,453.0 19,523.4 3.917,91 19,449.7 19,235.4

Less: Non-Respendable Revenues 374.4 512.7 5.846 640.4 640.4
Plus: Cost of services received without charge 173.0 d 18.4 7.71 20.8 20.8

Net cost of HRSDC 19,251.6 19,029.1 5.880,91 18,830.1 18,615.8

135,21stnelaviuqEemiTlluF 17,094 18,006 18,068 17,060 17,060

2006-2007

a As published in Main Estimates 2006 – 2007.
b Amounts include resources for Corporate Services related to the Minister’s Office, the Deputy Minister’s Office, 

the Comptroller’s Offfice and the Shared Services prorated to each program activity.
c The amounts include resources related to the Toronto Waterfront Revitalization Initiative.
d Includes services received without charge from SDC for corporate services.



136 2006 – 2007 Estimates  A Departmental Performance Report

Table 1B   Comparison of Planned to Actual Spending (including full-time equivalent) 
Social Development Canada

2004-2005 2005-2006 Main Planned
(millions of dollars) Actual Actual Estimates Spending Authorities Actual
Program Activities

2.563,82tnemtsevnIlaicoS 29,959.4 31,009.7 33,291.9 33,139.1 33,107.4
Social Development Policy & Innovation 2.2 2.3 684.8 67.3 710.5 54.7

2.441yrevileDecivreS 152.3 508.8 447.1 522.7 498.4
2.928secivreSetaroproCevitceffE a - - - - -

Total Gross Expenditures 29,340.8 30,114.0 32,203.3 33,806.3 34,372.3 33,660.5
)8.087(seuneverelbadnepseR (295.0) (301.2) (300.9) (332.7) (312.1)

Total Net Expenditures 28,560.0 29,819.0 31,902.1 33,505.4 34,039.6 33,348.4
Plus: Specified Purpose Accounts
Canada Pension Plan b 24,179.8 25,439.2 1.035,62 26,693.6 26,689.2
Departmental Recoveries charged to EI 560.6 66.6 8.86 74.0 61.2
Departmental Employee Benefit Plan

)9.52(tnuoccAPPCmorfelbarevocer (27.1) )8.71( (19.9) (28.1)
Consolidated Total SDC 53,274.5 55,297.7 5.680,06 60,787.3 60,070.7

5.38seuneveRelbadnepseR-noN:sseL 41.3 8.62 41.7 41.7
Plus: Cost of services received without charge 12.2 14.4 7.61 14.2 14.2
Net cost of SDC 53,203.2 55,270.8 4.670,06 60,759.8 60,043.2

093,11stnelaviuqEemiTlluF 6,632 6,226 6,206 6,042 6,042

2006-2007

a Includes Shared Services for both HRSDC and SDC. In 2005 – 2006, HRSDC’s portion of the Shared Services was transferred to HRSDC. 
The remainder of Corporate Services was charged to the other program activities.

b Amounts for Canada Pension Plan for 2004 – 2005 and 2005 – 2006 have been restated to include CPP Investment Board 
Administrative Expenses, as presented in 2006 – 2007
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Table 2A   Resources by Program Activity Human Resources 
and Skills Development Canada
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TOTAL b

PROGRAM ACTIVITIES

Employment Insurance
  Main Estimates a 883.3 - 883.3 0.1 883.4 (783.3) 100.1 - 100.1
Planned Spending 879.3 - 879.3 0.2 879.5 (780.0) 99.5 - 99.5
A 2.067seitirohtu - 760.2 0.1 760.3 (674.0) 86.3 - 86.3
Actual 750.4 - 750.4 0.1 750.5 (664.5) 86.0 - 86.0

Employment Programs
  Main Estimates a 429.0 540.2 969.2 - 969.2 (322.2) 647.0 - 647.0
Planned Spending 444.9 552.3 997.2 - 997.2 (330.1) 667.1 - 667.1
A 5.544seitirohtu 543.4 988.9 - 988.9 (334.7) 654.2 - 654.2
Actual 434.6 518.5 953.1 - 953.1 (324.9) 628.2 - 628.2

Workplace Skills
  Main Estimates a 96.1 88.4 184.5 - 184.5 (56.4) 128.1 - 128.1
Planned Spending 102.9 116.4 219.3 - 219.3 (62.0) 157.3 - 157.3
A 9.601seitirohtu 79.3 186.2 - 186.2 (64.1) 122.1 - 122.1
Actual 102.9 38.6 141.5 - 141.5 (60.1) 81.4 - 81.4

Learning
  Main Estimates a 162.2 45.1 207.3 1,019.6 1,226.9 (15.6) 1,211.3 981.5 2,192.8
Planned Spending 162.5 45.1 207.6 1,019.6 1,227.2 (15.8) 1,211.4 981.5 2,192.9
A 5.261seitirohtu 41.6 204.1 874.5 1,078.6 (16.4) 1,062.2 1,231.9 2,294.1
Actual 150.6 27.3 177.9 874.5 1,052.4 (9.4) 1,043.0 1,231.9 2,274.9

Labour
  Main Estimates a 213.4 3.9 217.3 - 217.3 (78.0) 139.3 - 139.3
Planned Spending 216.6 3.9 220.5 28.7 249.2 (78.0) 171.2 - 171.2
A 7.722seitirohtu 3.9 231.6 - 231.6 (87.6) 144.0 - 144.0
Actual 227.7 2.7 230.4 - 230.4 (87.6) 142.8 - 142.8

Homelessness
  Main Estimates a 40.4 147.9 188.3 - 188.3 - 188.3 - 188.3
Planned Spending 40.2 147.9 188.1 - 188.1 - 188.1 - 188.1

8.43seitirohtuA 185.1 219.9 - 219.9 - 219.9 - 219.9
 Actual 32.7 157.6 190.3 - 190.3 - 190.3 - 190.3

 Service Delivery
  Main Estimates a 128.1 - 128.1 - 128.1 (89.2) 38.9 9.83
Planned Spending 109.4 - 109.4 - 109.4 (78.0) 31.4 4.13

4.221seitirohtuA - 122.4 - 122.4 (88.6) 33.8 - 33.8
 Actual 117.5 - 117.5 - 117.5 (83.7) 33.8 - 33.8

 Policy and Program Support 
  Main Estimates a 103.2 - 103.2 - 103.2 (81.1) 22.1 - 22.1
Planned Spending 120.1 - 120.1 - 120.1 (91.3) 28.8 - 28.8

1.041seitirohtuA 1.5 141.6 - 141.6 (96.6) 45.0 - 45.0
 Actual 139.4 1.5 140.9 - 140.9 (96.5) 44.4 - 44.4

 Total 
  Main Estimates a 2,055.7 825.5 2,881.2 1,019.7 3,900.9 (1,425.8) 2,475.1 981.5 3,456.6
Planned Spending 2,075.9 865.6 2,941.5 1,048.5 3,990.0 (1,435.2) 2,554.8 981.5 3,536.3
Authorities 2,000.1 854.8 2,854.9 874.6 3,729.5 (1,362.0) 2,367.5 1,231.9 3,599.4
Actual 1,955.8 746.2 2,702.0 874.6 3,576.6 (1,326.7) 2,249.9 1,231.9 3,481.8

BUDGETARY

a As published in Main Estimates 2006 – 2007.
b Total excludes Specified Purpose Accounts.
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Table 2B   Resources by Program Activity Social Development Canada
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TOTAL b

Social Investment
  Main Estimates a 138.1 296.6 434.7 30,575.0 31,009.7   (30.4) 30,979.3
Planned Spending 160.3 296.6 456.9 32,835.0 33,291.9   (49.0) 33,242.9

4.021seitirohtuA 296.6 417.0 32,722.1 33,139.1   (49.1) 33,090.0
Actual 99.8 285.5 385.3 32,722.1 33,107.4   (41.7) 33,065.7

Social Development Policy & Innovation
  Main Estimates a 34.8 650.0 684.8 - 684.8 (14.9) 669.9
Planned Spending 67.3 - 67.3 - 67.3 (21.5) 45.8

1.46seitirohtuA 646.4 710.5 - 710.5 (24.0) 686.5
Actual 54.7 - 54.7 - 54.7 (19.0) 35.7

Service Delivery
  Main Estimates a 508.8 - 508.8 - 508.8 (255.9) 252.9
Planned Spending 447.1 - 447.1 - 447.1 (230.4) 216.7

7.225seitirohtuA - 522.7 - 522.7 (259.6) 263.1
Actual 498.4 - 498.4 - 498.4 (251.4) 247.0

Total
  Main Estimates a 681.7 946.6 1,628.3 30,575.0 32,203.3   (301.2) 31,902.1
Planned Spending 674.7 296.6 971.3 32,835.0 33,806.3   (300.9) 33,505.4

2.707seitirohtuA 943.0 1,650.2 32,722.1 34,372.3   (332.7) 34,039.6
Actual 652.9 285.5 938.4 32,722.1 33,660.5   (312.1) 33,348.4

2006-2007

a As published in Main Estimates 2006 – 2007.
b Total excludes Specified Purpose Accounts.
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Table 3A   Voted and Statutory Items Human Resources 
and Skills Development Canada

Main Planned
Estimates a Spending Authorities Actual

Vote/
Statutory

item  (millions of dollars)
Department

2.323serutidnepxegnitarepO1 3.333 5.253 343.5
4.528snoitubirtnocdnastnarG5 6.568 8.458 746.2

(S) Minister of Human Resources and Skills Development – Salary and motor car 
allowance 0.1 1.0 1.0 0.1

1.0ecnawollaracrotomdnayralaS–ruobaLforetsiniM)S( 1.0 1.0 0.1
(S) Payments related to the direct financing arrangement under the Canada

Student Financial Assistance Act 304.6 6.403 4.642 246.4

(S) The provision of funds for interest payments under the Canada Student 
Loans Act 0.1 1.0 1.0 0.1

(S) The provision of funds for liabilities including liabilities in the form of 
guaranteed loans under the Canada Student Loans Act 9.5 5.9 (17.8) (17.8)

(S) The provision of funds for interest and other payments to lending institutions 
and liabilities under the Canada Student Financial Assistance Act 46.4 4.64 8.35 53.8

(S) Canada Study Grants to qualifying full and part-time students pursuant to the 
Canada Student Financial Assistance Act 119.9 9.911 4.641 146.4

(S) Canada Education Savings Grant payments to Registered Education Savings 
Plans (RESPs) trustees on behalf of RESP beneficiaries to support access to 
encourage Canadians to save for post-secondary education of children

575.0 0.575 0.505 505.0

(S) Canada Learning Bond payments to Registered Education Savings Plans 
(RESPs) trustees on behalf of RESP beneficiaries to support access to post-
secondary education to children from low-income families

45.0 0.54 8.12 21.8

-margorPnoitcetorPrenraEegaW)S( 28.7 - -
-snoisnep'stnegaseitiunnA–stifeneBtnemeriteRyratnemelppuS)S( - - -
-stessAnworCfolasopsidmorfsdeecorpfognidnepS)S( - 0.1 0.1

(S) Labour Adjustment benefits in accordance with the terms and conditions 
prescribed by the Governor in Council to assist workers who have been laid 
off as a result of import competition, industrial restructuring, or severe 
economic disruption 

- - - -

1.0stnemtsujdaytilibaillairautcaecnarusnIecivreSliviC)S( 1.0 1.0 0.1
(S) Payments of compensation respecting government employees and merchant 

seamen 48.0 0.84 8.84 48.8

7.771snalptifenebeeyolpmeotsnoitubirtnoC)S( 3.871 3.551 155.3
Total Budgetary 2,475.1 7.455,2 5.763,2 9.942,2
Plus: Non-Budgetary
Loans disbursed under the Canada Student Financial Assistance Act 981.5 5.189 1,231.9 1,231.9
Total Department 3,456.6 2.635,3 4.995,3 8.184,3

Plus: Specified Purpose Accounts:
7.062,61stsoc)IE(ecnarusnItnemyolpmE 7.139,51 15,814.6
3.84stsocstnuoccAesopruPdeificepSrehtO 6.84 48.6

Costs recoverable from the CPP 14.7 8.51 10.9
)6.041(tnuoccAIEehtmorfelbarevocernalPtifeneBeeyolpmE )8.541( (120.5)

Total Consolidated Expenditures 19,719.3 7.944,91 4.532,91

Full Time Equivalents 18,006 18,068 17,060 17,060

2006-2007

a As published in Main Estimates 2005 – 2006.
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Table 3B   Voted and Statutory Items Social Development Canada

Main Planned
Estimates a Spending Authorities Actual

Vote/
Statutory

item  (millions of dollars)
Department

10 6.592serutidnepxegnitarepO 289.1 303.5 269.9
15 6.649snoitubirtnocdnastnarG 296.6 943.0 285.5
(S) 0.552,32stnemyaPytiruceSegAdlO 23,255.0 22,878.8 22,878.8
(S) Guaranteed Income Supplement payments 6,820.0 6,820.0 6,901.1 6,901.1
(S) 0.005stnemyaPecnawollA 500.0 504.1 504.1
(S) -tifeneBeraCdlihClasrevinU 1,610.0 1,784.4 1,784.4
(S) -.rreT&.vorPotrefsnarteraCdlihC 650.0 650.0 650.0
(S) -stifeneBtsoCygrenE - 3.7 3.7
(S) Payments to private collection agencies pursuant 

to Section 17.1 of the Financial Administration Act 18.5 18.5 - -
(S) Spending proceeds from the disposal of surplus 

Crown assets - - 0.3 0.2
(S) 4.66snalptifenebeeyolpmeotnoitubirtnoC 66.2 70.7 70.7

Total Department 31,902.1 4.505,33 6.930,43 4.843,33

Plus: Specified Purpose Accounts:
Canada Pension Plan 26,530.1 6.396,62 26,689.2
Departmental Recoveries charged to EI 68.8 0.47 61.2
Departmental Employee Benefit Plan
     recoverable from CPP Account (17.8) )9.91( (28.1)
Total Consolidated Expenditures 60,086.5 3.787,06 7.070,06

Full Time Equivalents 6,226 6,206 6,042 6,042

2006-2007

a As published in Main Estimates 2006 – 2007.

Table 4A   Services Received Without Charge Human Resources 
and Skills Development Canada

Actual
2006-2007

(millions of dollars)

Contributions covering employers' share of employee's insurance premiums and 
expenditures paid by TBS 15.9

9.4adanaCecitsuJybdedivorpsecivreslagelfoserutidnepxedetaicossadnayralaS

Total 2006-2007 Services received without charge. 20.8
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Table 4B   Services Received Without Charge 
Social Development Canada

2006-2007
(millions of dollars)

Contributions covering employers' share of employees' insurance 
premiums and expenditures paid by TBS (excluding revolving funds) 13.7

Worker's compensation coverage provided by Human Resources and 
Skills Development 0.3

Salary and associated expenditures of legal services provided by 
Justice Canada 0.2

2.41egrahctuohtiwdeviecersecivreS7002-6002latoT

Actual

Table 5   Loans, investments and advances (non-budgetary)

2004-2005 2005-2006
Main Planned

Loans, Investments and Advances (millions of dollars) Actual Actual Estimates Spending Authorities Actual

Learning

Total 1,215.7 1,331.3 981.5 981.5 1,231.9 1,231.9

2006-2007

981.5 1,231.9 1,231.9
Loans disbursed under the Canada Student Financial 
Assistance Act 5.1893.133,11,215.7



142 2006 – 2007 Estimates  A Departmental Performance Report

Table 6A   Sources of respendable and non-respendable revenue 
Human Resources and Skills Development Canada

2004-2005 a 2005-2006 a

Main Planned

(millions of dollars) Actual Actual Estimates Revenues Authorities Actual

Respendable Revenue 
Employment Insurance

1.484yrevoceRIE 749.1 783.3 780.0 674.0 664.5

Employment Programs

5.831yrevoceRIE 322.7 322.2 330.1 334.7 324.9

Workplace Skills

7.94yrevoceRIE 60.0 56.4 62.0 64.1 60.1

Learning

9.31yrevoceRIE 1.4 15.6 15.8 16.4 9.4

Labour

1.47DGO-noitasnepmoCs'rekroW 76.6 77.4 77.4 87.0 87.0

7.0yrevoceRIE 0.7 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6

Homelessness

Service Delivery

3.5yrevoceRPPC 13.0 14.7 14.7 15.8 10.9

1.84yrevoceRIE 86.1 75.7 63.3 72.8 72.8

Policy and Program Support

9.05yrevoceRIE 91.0 79.9 91.3 96.6 96.5
3.568euneveRelbadnepseRlatoT 1,400.6 1,425.8 1,435.2 1,362.0 1,326.7

By Type:

Total CPP Recovery 5.3 13.0 14.7 14.7 15.8 10.9

Total EI Recovery 737.8 1,311.0 1,333.7 1,343.1 1,259.2 1,228.8

Total Worker's Compensation - OGD 74.1 76.6 77.4 77.4 87.0 87.0

Non-Respendable Revenue

5.1PPCmorfyrevoceRPBElatoT 1.9 2.1 2.1 1.5 1.5

8.38IEmorfyrevoceRPBElatoT 132.9 140.2 140.6 120.5 120.5

Adjustment to Prior Years' Payables 7.5 6.2 - - 6.0 6.0

Canada Student Loans 275.2 360.6 - 503.6 497.4 497.4

Actuarial Surplus - Government Annuities Account 0.2 3.5 - - 8.3 8.3

User Fees

Federal Workers' Compensation Administrative Fees 2.0 2.1 - 2.2 2.2 2.2

Labour Fire Protection Engineering Service Fee 0.1 0.1 - - 0.1 0.1

Miscellaneous Items 4.1 5.4 - - 4.4 4.4
4.473euneveRelbadnepseR-noNlatoT 512.7 142.3 648.5 640.4 640.4

2006-2007

a The actual figures are restated to reflect the 2006 – 2007 Activity Architecture.
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Table 6B   Sources of respendable and non-respendable and revenue 
Social Development Canada

2004-2005 2005-2006

Main Planned

(millions of dollars) Actual Actual Estimates Revenues Authorities Actual

Respendable Revenue

Social Investment

-yrevoceRIE - 6.1 5.7 - -

0.32yrevoceRPPC 36.1 24.3 43.3 49.1 41.7

Social Development Policy & Innovation

-yrevoceRIE - 2.5 8.6 24.0 19.0

-yrevoceRPPC - 12.4 12.9 - -

Service Delivery

1.96yrevoceRIE 66.6 60.6 54.5 50.0 42.2

6.221yrevoceRPPC 192.3 195.3 175.9 209.6 209.2

Effective Corporate Services

5.194yrevoceRIE - - - - -

6.47yrevoceRPPC - - - - -
8.087euneveRelbadnepseRlatoT 295.0 301.2 300.9 332.7 312.1

By Type:

Total EI Recovery 560.6 66.6 69.2 68.8 74.0 61.2

Total CPP Recovery 220.2 228.4 232.0 232.1 258.7 250.9

Non-Respendable Revenue

Total EBP Recovery from CPP 25.8 27.1 17.8 17.8 28.1 28.1
Total EBP Recovery from EI 52.3 8.0 7.0 7.0 7.4 7.4
Adjustment to Prior Years' Payables 1.8 2.5 - - 2.5 2.5
User Fees 

Searches of the CPP and OAS data bank to locate individuals 0.1 0.1 - 0.1 0.2 0.2
Social Insurance Number replacement card fee 1.9 1.9 - 1.9 2.0 2.0

Miscellaneous Items 1.6 1.7 - - 1.5 1.5
5.38euneveRelbadnepseR-noNlatoT 41.3 24.8 26.8 41.7 41.7

2006-2007
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Table 7A – HRSDC   User Fees Act  
Human Resources and Skills Development Canada

Note: The Tables 7B for Policy on Service Standards for External Fees Human Resources and Skills Development 
Canada and Policy on Service Standards for External Fees Social Development Canada can be found on line at: 
http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/est-pre/estime.asp
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B. Date Last Modified:

C. Other Information:

a The Full Costs represent the total expenditures for Fire Protection Services program of which only a small portion is recoverable 
through user fees for the fire protection engineering service delivery to Crown Corporations.

b Even though the legislative deadline is 30 calendar days, extensions are allowed depending on the complexity of the request.
c On February 6, 2006, the government consolidated the Department of Human Resources and Skills Development with Social Development 

Canada to create a new department called Human Resources and Social Development Canada (HRSDC). 2006 – 2007 and Future years’ 
data for Social Development Canada is included with Human Resources and Skills Development Canada.

1 Regulatory (R) or Other Products and Services (O).
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Table 7A – SDC   User Fees Act 
Social Development Canada
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B. Date Last Modified:

C. Other Information:
a Depending on the volume of commercial search requests, the searches will be completed no later than 10 working days after receipt of the request.
b Performance standard introduced in 2004 – 2005 is considered as standard measure.
c On February 6, 2006, the government consolidated the Department of Human Resources and Skills Development with Social Development 

Canada to create a new department called Human Resources and Social Development Canada (HRSDC). 2006 – 2007 and Future years’ data 
for Social Development Canada is included with Human Resources and Skills Development Canada.

1 Regulatory (R) or Other Products and Services (O).
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Table 8   Progress against the Department’s Regulatory Plan

In order to reduce the volume of printed material, this table was not to be included in the printed Departmental 
Performance Report but can be found at:  
http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/est-pre/estime.asp

Table 9   Details on Transfer Payments Programs

Human Resources and Social Development Canada has a number of transfer payment programs. These programs 
support individuals, communities, labour, other governments and Aboriginal organizations. HRSDC is subject to 
the revised policy on transfer payments, which was introduced on June 1, 2000. That policy requires departments 
to report on those payment programs that are worth at least $5 million. 

Note: Actual figures reflect program costs and exclude operating resources necessary to deliver the programs.
1. Youth Employment Strategy
2. Aboriginal Human Resources Development Strategy
3. Aboriginal Skills and Employment Partnerships
4.  Aboriginal Human Resources Development Program – the Joint Voisey’s Bay Employment 

and Training Authority
5. Targeted Initiative for Older Workers
6. Enabling Fund for Official Language Minority Communities
7. Sector Council Program 
8. Foreign Credential Recognition Program
9. Apprenticeship Incentive Grant
10. Training Centre Infrastructure Fund 
11. Workplace Skills Initiative
12. Adult Learning, Literacy and Essential Skills Program 

13. Canada Study Grant / Canada Access Grant 

14. Canada Student Loans Program – Direct Financing Arrangement

15. Canada Student Loans Program – Interest Payments and Liabilities

16. Canada Student Loans Program – Liabilities

17. Canada Education Savings Program – Canada Education Savings Grant

18. Canada Education Savings Program, Canada Learning Bond

19. Social Development Partnerships Program

20. Guaranteed Income Supplement

21. Labour Market Agreements for Persons with Disabilities

22. New Horizons for Seniors Program

23. Old Age Security

24. Opportunities Fund for Persons with Disabilities

25. Allowance

26. Early Learning and Child Care

27. Universal Child Care Benefit

28. National Homelessness Initiative

Further information on these Transfer Payments Programs can be found at 
http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/est-pre/estimE.asp
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Table 10   Foundations (Conditional Grants)

During fiscal year 2006 – 2007, Human Resources and Social Development Canada was involved in the following 
Foundations.

1. Read to Me! Foundation Inc.

2. Peter Gzowski Foundation for Literacy

3. Canadian Council on Learning

4. The Winnipeg Foundation

5. The Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation

Further information on these Foundations (Conditional Grants) can be found at 
http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/est-pre/estime.asp

Table 11   Response to Parliamentary Committees, and Audits and Evaluations

Chapters Comments

Response to the Auditor General (including to the Commissioner of the Environment 
and Sustainable Development — CESD)

November 2006 
Report of the Auditor General of Canada

CHAPTER 6 
Old Age Security

Issue: There is a lack of consistency of administration 
across the country. Also, the Department is not in 
compliance with the requirements of the Financial 
Administration Act, which calls for the charging of 
interest on overpayments. Additionally, penalty 
provisions contained in the Old Age Security Act 
(OAS Act) have not yet been brought into force.

The Department will make improvements in collecting 
and reporting information on client satisfaction, 
services and overpayments, and issue a revised policy on 
overpayments.

Royal Assent was given to Bill C-36 on May 3, 2007 this 
included amendments to the OAS Act to introduce 
improvements and to prescribe the conditions under 
which interest should be charged (e.g. deliberate 
misrepresentation). Furthermore, the penalty provisions 
are being updated, along with appropriate policies and 
procedures and will come into force on Order in Council 
as soon as this process has been completed.

The government’s response can be found at 
http://www.oag-bvg.gc.ca/domino/reports.nsf/
html/20061106ce.html
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Chapters Comments

February 2007 
Status Report of the Auditor General of Canada

CHAPTER 1 
Advertising and Public Opinion Research

Issue: This was a follow-up audit that examined 
progress made in response to a 2003 audit report. 
There is one recommendation, which calls for written 
notification of research to be provided to Public 
Works Government Services Canada (PWGSC) prior to 
contact with research firms.

Treasury Board Secretariat, Privy Council Office and 
Public Works and Government Services agreed with the 
recommendation.

The Department and Service Canada have formalized 
public opinion research procedures and centralized public 
opinion and research and advertising activity to improve 
overall management of the function.

The government’s response can be found at 
http://www.oag-bvg.gc.ca/domino/reports.nsf/
html/20070201aa_e.html

CHAPTER 6 
The Management of the Social Insurance Number

Issue: Follow-up audit that assessed whether the 
Department and the Treasury Board Secretariat had 
taken satisfactory action to ensure the appropriate 
use of the SIN; to strengthen the process for issuing 
new Social Insurance Numbers and replacement cards; 
to ensure the accuracy, completeness, and reliability 
of data in the Social Insurance Register; and to 
improve the investigation of SIN-related fraud

To address this issue, Service Canada will complete work 
currently underway on benchmark levels to define key 
performance indicators for the ongoing measurement 
of SIR completeness, accuracy and reliability. Based on 
these results, Service Canada will establish goals for SIR 
data and develop a plan to measure and report on 
performance in 2007 – 2008.

The government’s response can be found at:  
http://www.oag-bvg.gc.ca/domino/reports.nsf/
html/20070206ab_e.html

November 2006 
Commissioner of the Environment and Sustainable 
Development Annual Report

CHAPTER 4 
Sustainable Development Strategies

Issue: Chapter 4 of the 2006 Report of the 
Commissioner of the Environment and Sustainable 
Development observed that organizations whose 
progress was unsatisfactory, had poor systems for 
planning, implementing, and monitoring their 
sustainable development commitments

Following the 2005 – 2006 audit of the departmental 
Sustainable Development Strategy for 2003 – 2006, the 
Department of Human Resources and Social Development 
Canada (which integrates the former departments of 
Human Resources and Skills Development Canada and 
Social Development Canada) developed a Sustainable 
Development Strategy for 2007 – 2009, which was 
approved in late 2006. The new strategy has strengthened 
the management structure, and established systems for 
planning, implementing, and monitoring its sustainable 
development commitments.

CHAPTER 5 
Environmental Petitions

Issue: A review of environmental petitions across the 
government found that HRSDC responded to 100% 
of them on time
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Chapters Comments

Internal Audits or Evaluations

To provide canadians with: As demonstrated by the findings of the following:

Enhanced Canadian productivity and participation 
through efficient and inclusive labour markets, 
competitive workplaces and access to learning

Audit of the Office of Learning Technologies*

Safe, healthy, fair, stable, cooperative, productive 
workplaces and effective international labour 
standards

Audit of Occupational Health and Safety

Preliminary Survey of the Federal Mediation and 
Conciliation Service*

Audit of Wellness Program*

Enhanced income security, access to opportunities and 
well-being for individuals, families and communities

Early Implementation Review of New Horizons for 
Seniors Program*

2004 – 2005 Attest Audit of the Administrative Costs 
Charged to the Canada Pension Plan Account*

2005 – 2006 Attest Audit of the Administrative Costs 
Charged to the Canada Pension Plan Account

Annual Audit of the Old Age Security Program 
Expenditures*

Achieve better outcomes for Canadians through 
service excellence

Evaluation of the Pleasure Craft License

Other Audits and Evaluations Audit of Grants and Contributions – Segregation 
of Duties

Information Technology Business Continuity Planning*

Review Engagement of Consolidated Financial 
Statements*

Audit of the Performance Tracking Directorate*

Efficient and inclusive labour market transitions 
through temporary income support and active 
employment measures

Reports produced in support of the 2005 Employment 
Insurance Monitoring and Assessment Report 

Summative Evaluation of Employment Benefits and 
Support Measures Delivered Under the Canada/
Newfoundland and Labrador Labour Market 
Development Agreement*

Formative and Summative Evaluation of Nunavut 
Benefits and Measures Delivered under the Canada-
Nunavut Labour Market Development Agreement*

Formative Evaluation of Youth Employment Strategy* 

Summative Evaluation of Employment Insurance Part I: 
A Summary of Evaluation Knowledge to Date* 

Enhanced productivity and competitiveness of 
Canadian workplaces by supporting investment in 
and recognition and utilization of skills

Formative Evaluation of Foreign Credential Recognition 
Program*

* Approved by the Audit and Evaluation Committee.
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Table 12   Sustainable Development Strategy

Following the consolidation of the Departments of Social Development Canada and Human Resources and Skills 
Development Canada into the Department of Human Resources and Social Development in February 2006, a new 
strategy was developed to guide the sustainable development efforts of the new department for 2007 – 2009 and 
was tabled in December 2006.

The vision of the new strategy is to support the Government of Canada’s approach to sustainable development 
by committing the Department to achieve tangible results both in terms of greening its operations and in 
promoting long-term sustainability in Canadian society through social development and labour market policies 
and programs: “Advancing sustainable development by supporting a strong, inclusive labour market and society, 
and by being an example of sustainability in the provision of Government of Canada services to Canadians in a 
manner that reduces the impact on the environment”.

Human Resources and Social Development Canada manages, through Service Canada, one of the federal 
government’s largest regional and local service delivery networks across the country. In 2006 – 2007, the 
Department has made significant efforts to support the Government’s objective on greening of its operations. 
For example, citizens have been encouraged to use direct deposit for social security and Employment Insurance 
cheques, more services and documentation were made accessible online to reduce paper usage, and energy 
consumption was reduced through the implementation of conservation-focused office design and energy-
efficient lighting. Work is underway to refine existing performance indicators to measure progress against 
expected results and targets in supporting the greening of government operations.

The Department has developed, under Part II of the Canada Labour Code, new occupational health and safety 
regulations to deal with workplace violence, which are expected to come into force by the end of 2007, and are 
currently seeking to make amendments to the Hazard Prevention Program Regulations to further improve 
workplace safety and security in the federal jurisdiction.

The Department has undertaken work to develop a more effective process to conduct Strategic Environmental 
Assessments in support of its policy, plans and program proposals.

Detailed information on the 2007 – 2009 Sustainable Development Strategy (SDS-IV), including specific goals, 
objectives and targets, is available at the following departmental website: 
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/cs/sp/hrsd/cpa/publications/reports/sds-2007-2009/hrsdc_sds_2007-2009.pdf

Table 13   Procurement and Contracting

In order to reduce the volume of printed material, this table is not included in the printed Departmental 
Performance Report but can be found at: 
http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/est-pre/estime.asp

Table 14   Client-Centred Service

In order to reduce the volume of printed material, this table is not included in the printed Departmental 
Performance Report but can be found at: 
http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/est-pre/estime.asp

http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/rma/eppi-ibdrp/hrdb-hrbd/profil_e.asp
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Table 15   Horizontal Initiatives

During fiscal year 2006 – 2007 Human Resources and Social Development Canada was involved in the following 
horizontal initiatives. Unless otherwise mentioned in the list, Human Resources and Social Development Canada 
acts as the lead department for these initiatives.

1. Aboriginal Human Resources Development Strategy

2. Aboriginal Skills and Employment Partnership Program

3. Labour Market Development Agreements

4. Youth Employment Strategy

5. Targeted Initiative for Older Workers

6. Foreign Credential Recognition Program

7. Sector Council Program

8. Canada Student Loans Program

9. National Homelessness Initiative

10. National Child Benefit

11. Multilateral Framework on Early Learning and Child Care

12. Early Childhood Development Agreement

For further information on the above-mentioned horizontal initiatives, see: 
http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/est-pre/estime.asp

Table 16   Travel Policies

HRSDC applied the TBS travel policy parameters with respect to departmental travel transactions

http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/rma/eppi-ibdrp/hrdb-hrbd/profil_e.asp
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Introduction

S pecified Purpose Accounts are special 
categories of revenues and expenditures. They 

report transactions of certain accounts where enabling 
legislation requires that revenues be earmarked and 
that related payments and expenditures be charged 
against such revenues. The transactions of these 
accounts are to be accounted for separately.

Human Resources and Skills Development Canada is 
responsible for the stewardship of three such accounts:

• the Employment Insurance Account;

• the Government Annuities Account; and

• the Civil Service Insurance Fund.

The Employment Insurance Account is a consoli-
dated Specified Purpose Account and is included in 
the financial reporting of the Government of Canada. 
Consolidated Specified Purpose Accounts are used 
principally where the activities are similar in nature 
to departmental activities and the transactions do not 
represent liabilities to third parties but, in essence, 
constitute Government revenues and expenditures.

The Government Annuities Account is a 
consolidated Specified Purpose Account and is 
included in the financial reporting of the Government 

of Canada. It was established by the Government 
Annuities Act, and modified by the Government 
Annuities Improvement Act, which discontinued sales 
of annuities in 1975. The account is valued on an 
actuarial basis each year, with the deficit or surplus 
charged or credited to the Consolidated Revenue 
Fund.

The Civil Service Insurance Fund is a consolidated 
Specified Purpose Account and is included in the 
financial reporting of the Government of Canada. 
It was established by the Civil Service Insurance Act. 
Pursuant to subsection 16(3) of the Civil Service 
Insurance Regulations, the amount of actuarial deficits 
is transferred from the Consolidated Revenue Fund to 
the Civil Service Insurance Account in order to balance 
the assets and liabilities of the program.

The following information updates forecasted 
data on the Employment Insurance Account that the 
Department provided in the 2006 – 2007 Report on Plans 
and Priorities. That report presented multi year financial 
data and general information. Additional information 
on performance and year end data is available at 
the internet addresses provided in this section.

People • Partnerships • Knowledge

Specified Purpose Accounts 
Human Resources and 
Skills Development Canada
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Employment Insurance Account
The table below summarizes the financial results for the EI Account from 2004 – 2005 to 2006 – 2007.

EI Account   Statement of Operations a

Actual
(millions of dollars) 2004-05 2005-06 2006-07

Expenditures
970,41814,41847,41stifeneB

Administrative Costs 1,542 1,576 1,636

Doubtful Accountsb 95 56 99

518,51050,61583,61latoT-buS

EI Premiums and Penalties

901,71719,61556,71smuimerP

650515seitlaneP

561,71769,61607,71latoT-buS

153,1719123,1ecnairaV

700260025002etaRmuimerP

(% of Insurable Earnings)

%08.1%78.1%59.1eeyolpmE

%25.2%26.2%37.2reyolpmE

a The EI Account is a consolidated SPA and is included in the financial reporting of the Government of Canada. Consolidated SPAs 
are used principally where the activities are similar in nature to departmental activities and the transactions do not represent liabilities 
to third parties but, in essence, constitute government revenues and expenditures.

b Represents write-offs and estimates of uncollectible account receivables for benefit overpayments and penalties imposed.

In 2006 – 2007 revenue from EI premiums increased 
due to growth in employment and earnings, partially 
offset by a lower premium rate and by the premium 
reduction associated with the introduction of the 
Quebec Parental Insurance Plan (QPIP), under which 
maternity and parental benefits in Quebec are a 
provincial responsibility as of January 2006. Mean-
while, EI benefits declined in 2006 – 2007 due to a 
decrease in the number of beneficiaries, consistent 
with lower unemployment, and due to the introduc-
tion of the QPIP. As a result, revenues to the EI 
Account for 2006 – 2007 exceeded expenditures 

by $1.4 billion. Including interest of $2.0 billion, the 
notional cumulative surplus in the EI Account was 
$54.1 billion at March 31, 2007. 

More detailed information is reported in the 2006 – 2007 
audited EI Account financial statements that are 
included in the 2007 Public Accounts of Canada, 
Volume 1, Section 4.31 HRSDC also offers information 
on Employment Insurance on its website.32 This 
provides information on the authority, objectives and 
details of the program as well as links to Actuarial 
Reports and the EI Commission’s annual Monitoring 
and Assessment Reports.

31 For further information, see http://www.pwgsc.gc.ca/recgen/text/pub-acc-e.html
32 For further information, see http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/ei/legislation/ei_act_tofprov_1.shtml
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Government Annuities Account
The table below summarizes the financial results for the Government Annuities Account 
from 2004 – 2005 to 2006 – 2007.

Government Annuities Account   Receipts and Disbursements

(millions of dollars) 2004-2005 2005-2006 2006-2007
Actuarial Liabilities –

2.7432.7738.504raeYfogninnigeBtaecnalaB
4.325.423.62emocnI
3.840.156.45segrahCrehtOdnastnemyaP

28.3 26.5 24.9
9.25.33.0sulpruSlairautcA

Actuarial Liabilities –
4.9132.7432.773raeYehtfodnEtaecnalaB

Excess of Payments and Other Charges Over Income
for the Year

Actual

The annual report and financial statements for Government Annuities are available in the 2007 Public 
Accounts of Canada, Volume 1, Section 6.33

Civil Service Insurance Fund
The table below summarizes the financial results for the Civil Service Insurance Fund 
from 2004 – 2005 to 2006 – 2007.

Civil Service Insurance Fund   Receipts and Disbursements

(millions of dollars) 2004-2005 2005-2006 2006-2007

Revenue

3.66.61.7ecnalaBgninepO

0.01.00.0stiderCrehtOdnastpieceR
3.04.05.0segrahCrehtOdnastnemyaP

0.5 0.3 0.3

0.63.66.6raeYehtfodnEtaecnalaB

Excess of Payments and Other Charges Over Income
for the Year

Actual

The annual report and financial statements for Civil Service Insurance Fund are available 
in the 2007 Public Accounts of Canada, Volume 1, Section 6.34

33  For further information, see http://www.pwgsc.gc.ca/recgen/text/pub-acc-info-e.html
34 For further information, see http://www.pwgsc.gc.ca/recgen/text/pub-acc-info-e.html
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Introduction

S pecified Purpose Accounts are special categories 
of revenues and expenditures. They report 

transactions of certain accounts where enabling legis-
lation requires that revenues be earmarked and that 
related payments and expenditures be charged against 
such revenues. The transactions of these accounts are 
to be accounted for separately.

The Canada Pension Plan is a Specified Purpose 
Account but is not consolidated as part of the Govern-
ment of Canada financial statements. It is under joint 
control of the government and the participating 
provinces. As administrator, the government’s author-
ity to spend is limited to the balance in the Plan.

The following information updates forecasted data 
on the Canada Pension Plan provided in Human 

Resources and Social Development Canada’s 2006 – 2007 
Part III ‑ Report on Plans and Priorities.35 That report 
presented multi-year financial data and general 
information. Additional information on performance 
and year-end data is available at the internet addresses 
provided in this section.

Canada Pension Plan
The following table summarizes the financial results 
for the Canada Pension Plan from 2004 – 2005 to 
2006 – 2007.

More information relating to 2006 – 2007 is reported 
in the Canada Pension Plan financial statements which 
can be found in the 2007 Public Accounts of Canada, 
Volume 1, Section 6.

35  For further information, see http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/rpp/0607/hrsdc-rhdsc/hrsdc-rhdsc_e.asp

CPP Summary   

2004-2005 2005-2006
($ millions) Forecast 4 Actual
Revenue

149,82snoitubirtnoC        30,117      31,395      32,355
Investment Income

070,2nalPnoisnePadanaC          1,093        514         256          
CPP Investment Board 1 5,014         12,193      1,574        12,788
CPP Investment Fund 2 (945)         (254)         N/A -               

931,6emocnItnemtsevnIlatoT          13,032      2,088        13,044
080,53euneveRlatoT        43,149      33,483      45,399

Expenditures
367,32stnemyaPtifeneB        24,977      26,136      26,115

Administrative Expenses 3 417           462         529         574          
081,42serutidnepxElatoT        25,439      26,665      26,689

Increase 10,900       17,710      6,818        18,710
Year-end Balance 83,411       101,121    107,939    119,831

Actual
2006-2007

1 Canada Pension Plan Investment Board actual amounts are based on their audited financial statements. The CPP Investment Board invests 
mainly in equities. The investment income is determined mainly by the change in fair values of these investments.

2 The Canada Pension Plan Investment Fund is made up of provincial, territorial and government bonds. As of March 31, 2006, these are valued 
at fair value. Since May 2004, the rights and titles of the CPP Investment Fund bonds are being transferred, over a three year period and on 
a monthly basis, to the CPP Investment Board. The revenue of the fund is made up of the interest from the bonds as well as the change in fair 
values of these investments. The revenue from the Investment Fund is presented in both the “Canada Pension Plan” and the “CPP Investment 
Board” items of this section.

3 Administrative Expenses have been revised to include CPP Administrative Expenses as well as CPP Investment Board Administrative Expenses.
4 2006 – 2007 Forecast are figures reported in the 2007 – 2008 Report of Plans and Priorities.

People • Partnerships • Knowledge

Specified Purpose Accounts 
Social Development Canada
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Old Age Security

The Old Age Security program is one of the cornerstones 
of Canada’s retirement income system. Benefits include 
the basic Old Age Security pension, the Guaranteed 
Income Supplement and the Allowance. The Old Age 

Security program is financed from Government of 
Canada general tax revenues. The following tables 
present information on monthly benefits, beneficiaries 
and payments by province or territory.

Statutory Annual Reports   Summary of Maximum Montly Benefits

(dollars)
Basic

Pension
esaercnIrovivruSralugeRdeirraMelgniSraeYlacsiF

Monthly benefit by fiscal year
2006-2007 Actuals

39.1947002,1yraunaJ     620.91     410.04    901.97    999.81     0.0%
39.1946002,1rebotcO     602.91     395.54    887.47    981.81     0.9%
45.7846002,1yluJ     597.53     392.01    879.55    973.05     0.6%
36.4846002,1lirpA     593.97     389.67    874.30    967.24     0.0%

2006-2007 Estimates
93.4947002,1yraunaJ     623.93     412.01    906.40    1,004.72   0.4%
24.2946002,1rebotcO     603.52     395.93    888.35    982.79     0.8%
15.8846002,1yluJ     598.73     392.79    881.30    974.99     0.6%
06.5846002,1lirpA     595.16     390.45    876.05    969.18     0.2%

2005-2006 Actuals
36.4846002,1yraunaJ     593.97     389.67    874.30    967.24     1.0%
38.9745002,1rebotcO     570.27     371.46    851.29    939.84     0.6%
79.6745002,1yluJ     566.87     369.24    846.21    934.24     0.7%
56.3745002,1lirpA     562.93     366.67    840.32    927.74     0.4%

Fiscal year average
(annual benefits)

90.868,5slautcA70-6002 7,245.96  4,761.78  10,629.87 11,765.73 4.2%
67.288,5setamitsE70-6002 7,264.02  4,773.54  10,656.30 11,795.04 4.4%
42.547,5slautcA60-5002 6,882.12  4,491.12  10,236.36 11,307.18 1.7%

AllowanceIncome Supplement

Statutory Annual Reports   Number of Persons Receiving Old Age Security Benefits 
by Province or Territory and by Type

Province or Territory

Old Age
Security (OAS)

Pension

Guaranteed
Income

Supplement
(GIS) Allowance

GIS as % of
OAS

Old Age
Security (OAS)

Pension

Guaranteed
Income

Supplement
(GIS) Allowance

GIS as % of
OAS

Newfoundland 69,356             44,869            4,401         64.69       70,794             44,864            4,489            63.37
Prince Edward Island 19,363             9,380              601          48.44      19,696           9,281            570               47.12
Nova Scotia 132,984           59,153            4,237       44.48      135,432         58,505          4,301            43.20
New Brunswick 105,377           53,181            4,112       50.47      107,663         53,560          4,252            49.75

750,640,1cebeuQ          499,278          31,436     47.73      1,075,251       501,897        31,691          46.68
348,175,1oiratnO          468,064          26,986     29.78      1,606,920       468,269        27,864          29.14
729,751abotinaM            60,623            3,530       38.39      159,080         58,949          3,488            37.06

Saskatchewan 145,999           59,366            3,392       40.66      146,036         57,631          3,356            39.46
098,633atreblA            119,454          6,774       35.46      345,817         117,357        6,412            33.94

British Columbia 557,106           190,683          10,864     34.23      570,592         189,185        10,891          33.16
852,2nokuY                760                42            33.66      2,370             774               42               32.66

Northwest Territoriesa 2,743               1,538              135            56.07       2,834               1,519              121               53.60
Internationalb 80,111             8,894              84              11.10       83,366             8,841              69               10.61

Total 4,228,014         1,575,243       96,594       37.26       4,325,851         1,570,632       97,546          36.31

7002hcraM6002hcraM

a Data for Nunavut are included.
b Persons receiving Canadian Old Age Security benefits under International Agreements on Social Security.

People • Partnerships • Knowledge

Statutory Annual Reports



Section III  Supplementary Information 15�

Statutory Annual Reports   Old Age Security Payments, by Province or Territory 
and by Type, Fiscal Year 2006 – 2007

(dollars)

Province or Territory
Old Age Security (OAS)

Pension
Guaranteed Income
Supplement (GIS) Allowance Total

568,525,114dnaldnuofweN 070,267,281 609,766,42 148,559,816  
074,854,411dnalsIdrawdEecnirP 559,716,73 209,007,2 723,777,451  
638,231,687aitocSavoN 104,050,622 612,234,02 354,516,230,1  
275,578,326kciwsnurBweN 006,011,212 650,846,12 822,436,758  
824,017,651,6cebeuQ 712,595,170,2 295,763,051 732,376,873,8  
762,463,609,8oiratnO 731,498,991,2 271,672,251 675,435,852,11  
232,173,919abotinaM 627,603,532 293,172,81 053,949,271,1  
395,483,658nawehctaksaS 539,920,922 351,377,71 186,781,301,1  
827,234,939,1atreblA 074,349,715 771,735,43 573,319,194,2  
629,284,811,3aibmuloChsitirB 816,028,398 306,264,95 741,667,170,4  
323,085,31nokuY 503,191,3 051,152 877,220,71    

Northwest Territoriesa 16,433,314 327,207,7 849,129 589,750,52    
Internationalb 103,405,331 937,360,48 724,338  188,302,497  

588,751,669,32latoT 698,880,109,6 496,341,405 574,093,173,13  

Recovery tax portion of OAS (1,087,335,231)  (1,087,335,231)  

Total including recovery tax 22,878,822,654 698,880,109,6 496,341,405 442,550,482,03  

a Data for Nunavut are included.
b Persons receiving Canadian Old Age Security benefits under International Agreements on Social Security.
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I n August 2000, the Canada Student Loans 
Program was shifted from the risk-shared financing 

arrangements that had been in place with financial 
institutions between 1995 and July 2000 to a direct 
student loan financing plan.36

This meant that the Program had to redesign the 
delivery mechanism in order to directly finance student 
loans. In the new arrangement, the Government of 
Canada provides the necessary funding to students 
and two service providers have contracts to administer 
the loans.

Reporting Entity
The entity detailed in this report is the Canada Student 
Loans Program only and does not include departmental 
operations related to the delivery of the Canada Student 
Loans Program. Expenditures figures are primarily 
statutory in nature, made under the authority of the 
Canada Student Loans Act and the Canada Student 
Financial Assistance Act.

Basis of Accounting
The financial figures are prepared in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles and as 
reflected in the Public Sector Accounting Handbook 
of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants.

Specific Accounting Policies
Revenues

Two sources of revenue are reported: interest revenue 
on Direct Loans and recoveries on Guaranteed and 
Put Back Loans. Government accounting practices 
require that recoveries from both sources be credited 
to the Government’s Consolidated Revenue Fund. 
They do not appear along with the expenditures in 
the CANADA STUDENT LOANS PROGRAM accounts, 
but are reported separately in the financial statements 
of Human Resources and Social Development Canada 
and the government.

• Interest Revenue on Direct Loans – Borrowers are 
required to pay simple interest on their student 
loans once they leave full-time studies. At the time 
they leave school, students have the option of 
selecting a variable (prime + 2.5%) or fixed (prime + 
5%) interest rate. The figures represent the interest 
accrued on the outstanding balance of the 
government-owned Direct Loans. Borrowers continue 
to pay the interest accruing on the guaranteed and 
risk-shared loans directly to the private lender 
holding these loans. Effective August 1, 2005, the 
weekly loan limit increased from $165 per week to 
$210 per week of study. As more funds will be 
available to students, total loan disbursements will 
likely grow, and as a result the interest revenue 
generated will likely increase.

• Recoveries on Guaranteed Loans – The government 
reimburses the private lenders for any loans issued 
prior to August 1, 1995 that go into default (i.e., 
lenders claim any amount of principal and interest 
not repaid in full). The figures represent the recovery 
of principal and interest on these defaulted loans.

• Recoveries on Put-back Loans – Under the risk-
shared agreements, the government will purchase 
from the participating financial institutions any 
loans issued between August 1, 1995 to July 31, 
2000 that are in default of payments for at least 
12 months after the period of study, that in 
aggregate, do not exceed 3% of the average 
monthly balance of the lender’s outstanding student 
loans in repayments. The amount paid is set at 5% 
of the value of the loans in question. The figures 
represent the recovery of principal and interest on 
these loans.

Canada Study Grants and Canada 
Access Grants

Canada Study Grants and Canada Access Grants 
improve access to post-secondary education by 
providing non repayable financial assistance to post-
secondary students. Four types of Canada Study 
Grants are available to assist: (1) students with 

People • Partnerships • Knowledge

Consolidated Report on Canada
Student Loans Programs

36 For further information on the Canada Student Loans Program, see 
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/gateways/nav/top_nav/program/cslp.shtml
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permanent disabilities in order to meet disability-
related educational expenses (up to $8,000 annually); 
(2) students with dependants (up to $3,120 for full-
time students and up to $1,920 for part time 
students, annually); (3) high-need part-time students 
(up to $1,200 annually); and (4) women in certain 
fields of Ph.D. studies (up to $3,000 annually for up 
to three years). Two Canada Access Grants are 
available since August 1, 2005, to assist: (1) students 
from low-income families entering their first year of 
post secondary studies (50% of tuition, up to $3,000); 
and (2) students with permanent disabilities in order 
to assist with education and living expenses (up to 
$2,000 annually).37

Collection Costs

These amounts represent the cost of using private 
collection agencies to collect defaulted Canada 
Student Loans. The loans being collected include: risk-
shared and guaranteed loans that have gone into 
default and which the government has bought back 
from the private lender; and Direct Loans issued after 
July 31, 2000, that are returned to HRSDC by the 
third party service provider as having defaulted. As of 
August 1, 2005 the Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) 
Non Tax Collections Directorate undertook the 
responsibility for the administration of the collection 
activities of the guaranteed, risk-shared and direct 
student loans.

Service Provider Costs 

Canada Student Loans Program uses third party 
service providers to administer loan origination, in-
study loan management, post-studies repayment 
activities and debt management. This item represents 
the cost associated with these contracted services.

Risk Premium

Risk premium represents part of the remuneration 
offered to lending institutions participating in the risk-
shared program from August 1, 1995 to July 31, 2000. 
The risk premium represents 5% of the value of loans 
being consolidated which is calculated and paid at the 
time students leave studies and go into repayment. In 
return, the lenders assume the risk associated with 
non-repayment of these loans.

Put-Back

Subject to the provisions of the contracts with lending 
institutions, the government will purchase from a 
lender the student loans that are in default of 
payment for at least 12 months and that, in 
aggregate, do not exceed 3% of the average monthly 
balance of the lender’s outstanding student loans in 
repayments. The amount paid is set at 5% of the 
value of the loans in question. The figures also include 
any refund made to participating financial institutions 
on the recoveries.

Administrative Fees to Provinces 
and Territories 

Pursuant to the Canada Student Financial Assistance 
Act (CSFA Act), the government has entered into 
arrangements with nine provinces and one territory to 
facilitate the administration of the Canada Student 
Loans Program. They administer the application and 
needs assessment activities associated with federal 
student financial assistance and in return they are paid 
an administrative fee. As of August 1, 2005 adminis-
trative fees paid to provinces were increased to improve 
the compensation for their part in the administration 
of the Canada Student Loans Program.

In-Study Interest Borrowing Expense

The capital needed to issue the Direct Loans is raised 
through the Department of Finance’s general financing 
activities. The cost of borrowing this capital is recorded 
in the Department of Finance’s overall financing 
operations. The figures represent the cost attributed 
to Canada Student Loans Program in support of Direct 
Loans while students are considered in study status. 
Weekly loan limits increased effective August 1, 2005. 
As more funds will be available to students, total loan 
disbursements are likely to grow, and as a result the 
in-study interest borrowing expense will rise.

In-Repayment Interest Borrowing Expense

The capital needed to issue the Direct Loans is raised 
through the Department of Finance’s general 
financing activities. The cost of borrowing this capital 
is recorded in the Department of Finance’s overall 
financing operations. The figures represent the cost 
attributed to Canada Student Loans Program in 
support of Direct Loans while students are in 
repayment of their Canada Student Loans.

37  The new Canada Access Grant for Student with Permanent disabilities has replaced the Canada Study Grant 
for High-need Students with Permanent Disabilities.
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In-Study Interest Subsidy

A central feature of federal student assistance is that 
student borrowers are not required to pay the interest 
on their student loans as long as they are in full-time 
study and, in the case of loans negotiated prior to 
August 1, 1993, for six months after the completion 
of studies. Under the guaranteed and risk-shared 
programs, the government pays the interest to the 
lending institutions on behalf of the student.

Interest Relief

Assistance may be provided to cover loan interest and 
suspend payments on the principal of loans in 
repayment for up to 54 months for borrowers 
experiencing temporary difficulties repaying their 
loans. The shift from Guaranteed and Risk-Shared 
Loans to Direct Loans did not alter interest relief for 
loans in distress from the borrower’s perspective; 
however, the method of recording associated costs 
changed. For loans issued prior to August 1, 2000, 
Canada Student Loans Program compensates lending 
institutions for lost interest equal to the accrued 
interest amount on loans under Interest Relief (IR). For 
loans issued after August 1, 2000, an interest relief 
expense is recorded to offset the accrued interest on 
direct loans. Effective August 1, 2005 income 
thresholds used to determine IR eligibility increased in 
order to make IR accessible to a greater number of 
borrowers.

Debt Reduction in Repayment

Debt Reduction in Repayment assists borrowers 
experiencing long-term difficulties repaying their 
loans. It is a federal repayment assistance program 
through which the Government of Canada reduces a 
qualifying borrower’s outstanding Canada Student 
Loans principal to an affordable amount after Interest 
Relief has been exhausted and only after 5 years have 
passed since the borrower ceased to be a student. As 
of August 1, 2005, the maximum amount of DRR 
assistance is $26,000, which is available to eligible 
borrowers in an initial deduction of up to $10,000, a 
second deduction of up to $10,000 and a final 
deduction of up to $6,000 For loans issued prior to 
August 1, 2000, Canada Student Loans Program pays 
the lending institutions the amount of student debt 

principal reduced by the Government of Canada 
under DRR. For loans issued after August 1, 2000, the 
Government of Canada forgives a portion of the loan 
principal. 

Claims Paid and Loans Forgiven

From the beginning of the program in 1964 until July 
31, 1995, the government fully guaranteed all loans 
issued to students by private lenders. The government 
reimburses private lenders for any of these loans that 
go into default (i.e., subject to specific criteria, lenders 
may claim any amount of principal and interest not 
repaid in full, after which the Canada Revenue 
Agency’s Collection Services will attempt to recover 
these amounts).38 The risk-shared arrangements also 
permitted loans issued from August 1, 1995 to July 
31, 2000 to be guaranteed under specific 
circumstances. This item represents the costs 
associated with loan guarantees.

Pursuant to the Canada Student Loans Act and the 
Canada Student Financial Assistance Act, the government 
incurs the full amount of the unpaid principal plus 
accrued interest in the event of the death of the 
borrower or, if the borrower becomes permanently 
disabled and cannot repay the loan without undue 
hardship.

Bad Debt Expense

Under Direct Loans, the government owns the loans 
issued to students and must record them as assets. 
As a result, generally accepted accounting principles 
require a provision be made for potential future losses 
associated with these loans. The provision must be 
made in the year the loans are issued even though the 
losses may occur many years later. The figures represent 
the annual expense against the provisions for Bad 
Debt and Debt Reduction in Repayment on Direct Loans.

Alternative Payments to Non-participating 
Provinces and Territories

Provinces and territories may choose not to participate 
in the Canada Student Loans Program. These 
provinces and territories receive an alternative 
payment to assist in the cost of delivering a similar 
student financial assistance program.

38  An announcement was made on August 1, 2005 which transfers collections activities previously carried 
out by Social Development Canada (SDC) to Canada Revenue Agency.
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Figure 1   Consolidated Canada Student Loans Programs – Combined Programs

2006-2007
(millions of dollars) 2004-2005 2005-2006 Forecast Actual

Revenues

Interest Revenue on Direct Loans 226.6 315.7 419.8 453.3
3.556.668.662.67snaoLdeetnarauGnoseirevoceR
5.411.711.310.11snaoLkcaB-tuPnoseirevoceR

Total Revenues 313.8 395.6 503.5 523.1

Expenses
Transfer Payments

Canada Study Grants & Canada Access Grants 64.5 129.7 119.9 146.4

Loan Administration
Collection Costsa 14.8 13.6 18.5 12.4

6.563.662.050.64stsoCuaeruBecivreS
8.18.47.25.5muimerPksiR
7.44.43.42.4kcaB-tuP

Administrative Fees to Provinces and Territories 9.4 13.9 14.6 14.7
Total Loan Administration Expenses 79.9 84.7 108.6 99.2

Cost of Government Support
Benefits Provided to Students
In-Study Interest Borrowing Expense (Class A)b 163.8 159.3 166.5 185.7
In Repayment Interest Borrowing Expense (Class B)b 96.6 111.4 161.4 145.0

5.116.61.211.61ydisbuStseretnIydutS-nI
2.487.072.762.36feileRtseretnI
1.022.514.131.72tnemyapeRninoitcudeRtbeD
2.425.618.427.72nevigroFsnaoL&diaPsmialC

Bad Debt Expense c

6.93.313.315.11esnepxEtnemyapeRninoitcudeRtbeD
4.0625.2232.7922.654esnepxEtbeDdaB

Total Cost of Government Support Expenses 862.2 716.7 772.7 740.7
Total Expenses 1,006.6 931.1 1,001.2 986.3

Net Operating Results 692.8 535.5 497.7 463.2
Alternative Payments to Non-Participating Provinces d 175.8 158.2 151.0 91.3

Final Operating Results 868.6 693.7 648.7 554.5

Actual

a These costs are related to collection activities performed by the Private Collection Agencies. Effective July 31, 2006, the defaulted loans were 
transferred to CRA. Therefore, the collection costs for fiscal year 2006 – 2007 are reported in part by the Human Resources and Social Development 
Canada and in part by the Canada Revenue Agency. From April 1, 2006 to July 31, 2006, HRSDC reported $3.6M in collection costs. From 
August 1, 2006 to March 31, 2007, CRA reported $8.8M in collection costs.

b These costs are related to Canada Student Direct Loans but reported by the Department of Finance.
c This represents the annual expense against the Provisions for Bad Debt and Debt Reduction in Repayment as required under Accrual 

Accounting.  The Bad Debt Expense figure for 2004 – 2005 include an adjustment of $257.1M following the revised Bad Debt Provision Rate 
published by the Office of the Chief Actuary in the Actuarial Report on the CSLP as at July 31, 2004. This adjustment is retroactive back to 
the beginning of the Direct Loans Regime (2000). In addition, the Bad Debt Expense figure for 2006 – 2007 includes an adjustment of $(52.9)M 
while the Debt Reduction in Repayment Expense figure includes an adjustement of $(3.8)M. These adjustments are also retroactive back to 
the beginning of the Direct Loans Regime (2000). It is the result of a new methodology. In fact, as published by the Office of the Chief Actuary 
in the Actuarial Report on the CSLP as at July 31, 2006, the methodology was changed to a prospective approach that uses a snapshot of the 
portfolio at a particular point in time to determine the amount of the allowance at that time.

d Starting in 2003 – 2004, the figures represent the annual expense recorded under the Accrual Accounting as opposed to the actual amount 
disbursed to the Non-Participating Provinces. For 2006 – 2007, the total amount disbursed as Alternative Payments is $ 117.6 M.
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Figure 2   Consolidated Canada Student Loans Programs – Risk Shared 
and Guaranteed Loans Only

2006-2007
(millions of dollars) 2004-2005 2005-2006 Forecast Actual

Revenues
3.556.668.662.67snaoLdeetnarauGnoseirevoceR
5.411.711.310.11snaoLkcaB-tuPnoseirevoceR

Total Revenues 87.2 79.9 83.7 69.8

Expenses

Loan Administration
Collection Costsa 7.8 6.7 7.2 5.3

8.18.47.25.5muimerPksiR
7.44.43.42.4kcaB-tuP

Total Loan Administration Expenses 17.5 13.7 16.4 11.8

Cost of Government Support
Benefits Provided to Students

5.116.61.211.61ydisbuStseretnIydutS-nI
8.020.413.328.43feileRtseretnI
1.022.514.131.72tnemyapeRninoitcudeRtbeD
0.710.117.517.52nevigroFsnaoL&diaPsmialC

Total Cost of Government Support Expenses 103.7 82.5 46.8 69.4
Total Expenses 121.2 96.2 63.2 81.2

Final Operating Results 34.0 16.3 (20.5) 11.4

Actual

a These costs are related to collection activities performed by the Private Collection Agencies. Effective July 31, 2006, the defaulted loans were 
transferred to CRA. Therefore, the collection costs for fiscal year 2006 – 2007 are reported in part by the Human Resources and Social Development 
Canada and in part by the Canada Revenue Agency.
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Figure 3   Consolidated Canada Student Loans Programs – Direct Loans Only

2006-2007
(millions of dollars) 2004-2005 2005-2006 Forecast Actual

Revenue

Interest Revenue on Direct Loans 226.6 315.7 419.8 453.3
Total Revenue 226.6 315.7 419.8 453.3

Expenses
Transfer Payments

Canada Study Grants & Canada Access Grants 64.5 129.7 119.9 146.4

Loan Administration
Collection Costsa 7.0 6.9 11.3 7.1

6.563.662.050.64stsoCuaeruBecivreS
Administrative Fees to Provinces and Territories 9.4 13.9 14.6 14.7

Total Loan Administration Expenses 62.4 71.0 92.2 87.4

Cost of Government Support
Benefits Provided to Students
In-Study Interest Borrowing Expense (Class A)b 163.8 159.3 166.5 185.7
In Repayment Interest Borrowing Expense (Class B)b 96.6 111.4 161.4 145.0

4.367.659.344.82feileRtseretnI
2.75.51.90.2nevigroFsnaoL

Bad Debt Expense
6.93.313.315.11esnepxEtnemyapeRninoitcudeRtbeD
4.0625.2232.7922.654esnepxEtbeDdaB

Total Cost of Government Support Expenses 758.5 634.2 725.9 671.3
Total Expenses 885.4 834.9 938.0 905.1

Net Operating Results 658.8 519.2 518.2 451.8
Alternative Payments to Non-Participating Provinces d 175.8 158.2 151.0 91.3

Final Operating Results 834.6 677.4 669.2 543.1

Actual

c

a These costs are related to collection activities performed by the Private Collection Agencies. Effective July 31, 2006, the defaulted loans 
were transferred to CRA. Therefore, the collection costs for fiscal year 2006 – 2007 are reported in part by the Human Resources and Social 
Development Canada and in part by the Canada Revenue Agency.

b These costs are related to Canada Student Direct Loans but reported by the Department of Finance.
c This represents the annual expense against the Provisions for Bad Debt and Debt Reduction in Repayment as required under Accrual 

Accounting. The Bad Debt Expense figure for 2004 – 2005 include an adjustment of $257.1M following the revised Bad Debt Provision 
Rate published by the Office of the Chief Actuary in the Actuarial Report on the CSLP as at July 31, 2004. This adjustment is retroactive 
back to the beginning of the Direct Loans Regime (2000). In addition, the Bad Debt Expense figure for 2006 – 2007 includes an adjustment of 
$(52.9)M while the Debt Reduction in Repayment Expense figure includes an adjustement of $(3.8)M. These adjustments are also retroactive 
back to the beginning of the Direct Loans Regime (2000). It is the result of a new methodology. In fact, as published by the Office of the 
Chief Actuary in the Actuarial Report on the CSLP as at July 31, 2006, the methodology was changed to a prospective approach that uses 
a snapshot of the portfolio at a particular point in time to determine the amount of the allowance at that time.

d Starting in 2003 – 2004, the figures represent the annual expense recorded under the Accrual Accounting as opposed to the actual amount 
disbursed to the Non-Participating Provinces. For 2006 – 2007, the total amount disbursed as Alternative Payments is for $117.6M.





Note to Reader:

The following unaudited financial statements are prepared in accordance with accrual accounting 
principles. Any other financial tables included in the Departmental Performance Report are prepared 
on a modified cash basis accounting in order to be consistent with appropriations-based reporting. 
Consequently, readers might not be able to reconcile financial information included in the following 
unaudited financial statements with the rest of the financial information included in this report.

Human Resources and 
Social Development Canada 

Financial Statements (Unaudited) 
for the Year Ended March 31, 2007
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Human Resources and Social Development Canada 
Management Responsibility for unaudited Financial Statements 

2

Responsibility for the integrity and objectivity of the accompanying financial statements for the 
year ended March 31st, 2007 and all information contained in these unaudited financial 
statements rests with the Human Resources and Social Development Canada (HRSDC) 
management. These financial statements have been prepared by the management of Service 
Canada in agreement with the management of HRSDC and were prepared in accordance with 
Treasury Board accounting policies which are consistent with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles for the public sector. 

Some of the information in the financial statements is based on management’s best estimates 
and judgments and gives due consideration to materiality. To fulfil its accounting and reporting 
responsibilities, management maintains a set of accounts that provides a centralized record of 
HRSDC’s financial transactions. Financial information submitted to the Public Accounts of 
Canada and included in HRSDC’s Departmental Performance Report is consistent with these 
financial statements. 

Management maintains a system of financial management and internal control designed to 
provide reasonable assurance that financial information is reliable, that assets are safeguarded 
and that transactions are in accordance with the Financial Administration Act, are executed in 
accordance with prescribed regulations, within Parliamentary authorities, and are properly 
recorded to maintain accountability of Government funds. Management also seeks to ensure the 
objectivity and integrity of data in its financial statements by careful selection, training and 
development of qualified staff, by organizational arrangements that provide appropriate divisions 
of responsibility, and by communication programs aimed at ensuring that regulations, policies, 
standards and managerial authorities are understood throughout the organisation.  

Management is also supported and assisted by programs of internal audit and evaluation 
services and audit committees. The HRSDC Management Audit and Evaluation Committee 
(MAEC) is a management committee which provides advice and guidance to the Deputy Minister 
on the results-driven accountability system of the department. The key responsibility of the MAEC 
is to exercise active oversight on core areas of departmental control and accountability. As well, 
Service Canada’s Audit & Evaluation Committee (AEC) provides assurance on all key aspects of 
Service Canada’s control frameworks and practices, the assessment of the effectiveness of its 
service delivery, and the relevance and appropriateness of the information used to support 
decision-making and reporting. The Office of the Auditor General has free and full access to the 
MAEC and AEC. 

The financial statements of HRSDC have not been audited. 
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Human Resources and Social Development Canada 
Statement of Operations (Unaudited)
For the year ended March 31 

4

2007 2006 
(in thousands of dollars) 

Expenses (Note 4)
Social Investment 33,129,277 29,736,719 
Employment Insurance  13,740,895 14,060,122 
Employment Programs 2,657,610 2,543,417 
Learning 1,373,160 1,371,586 
Service Delivery 496,452 435,034 
Homelessness 192,456 178,656 
Labour 147,996 151,602 
Workplace Skills 103,686 93,277 
Social Development Policy and Innovation 47,377 2,172 
Policy and Program Support 42,339 62,339 
   

Total expenses 51,931,248 48,634,924 
   
Revenues (Note 5)

Employment Insurance  19,129,299 18,330,478 
Learning 498,281 362,118 
Service Delivery 233,272 215,153 
Social Investment 46,622 57,839 
Labour 2,239 2,244 
Social Development Policy and Innovation 57 14 
Employment Programs 8 - 
Homelessness 1 - 
Policy and Program Support - 134 
Workplace Skills - - 

   
Total revenues 19,909,779 18,967,980 
Net cost of operations 32,021,469 29,666,944 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Human Resources and Social Development Canada 
Statement of Financial Position (Unaudited)
At March 31 

5

2007 2006 
(in thousands of dollars) 

Assets
Financial assets

Accounts receivable and advances (Note 6) 3,714,865 4,361,712 
Canada Student Loans (Note 7) 7,960,945 7,028,065 

Total financial assets 11,675,810 11,389,777 
Non-financial assets

Prepaid expenses (Note 8) 16,573 23,341 
Tangible capital assets (Note 9) 138,385 162,344 

Total non-financial assets 154,958 185,685 

Total 11,830,768 11,575,462 
   
Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 10) 1,238,732 1,179,135 
Vacation pay and compensatory leave 53,068 57,105 
Employee severance benefits (Note 11) 298,940 291,404 
Government Annuities account (Note 12) 319,295 347,337 
Due to Canada Pension Plan (Note 13) 53,584 150,851 
Other liabilities (Note 14) 45,669 15,342 
Capital lease obligations - 6,079 

Total liabilities 2,009,288 2,047,253 
   
Equity of Canada (Note 15) 9,821,480 9,528,209 
   
Total 11,830,768 11,575,462 

Contingent liabilities (Note 17) 
Contractual obligations (Note 18) 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Human Resources and Social Development Canada 
Statement of Equity of Canada (Unaudited)
At March 31 

6

2007 2006 
(in thousands of dollars) 

Equity of Canada, beginning of year 9,528,209 4,713,735 
Net cost of operations (32,021,469) (29,666,944) 
Current year appropriations used (Note 3) 36,830,046 33,360,496 
Revenue not available for spending (Note 3) (667,361) (551,576) 
Change in net position in the Consolidated 
     Revenue Fund  (Note 3) (3,879,559) 1,640,012 
Services provided without charge by other 
     government departments (Note 19) 34,746 32,486 
Change in equity due to transfer of activities 
     (Note 16) (3,132) - 

Equity of Canada, end of year (Note 15) 9,821,480 9,528,209 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements



1�2 2006 – 2007 Estimates  A Departmental Performance Report

Human Resources and Social Development Canada 
Statement of Cash Flow (Unaudited)
For the year ended March 31 

7

2007 2006 
(in thousands of dollars) 

Operating Activities 
Net costs of operations 32,021,469 29,666,944 
Non-cash items: 

Amortization of tangible capital assets (61,054) (72,343) 
Services provided without charge by other  
   government departments (34,746) (32,486) 
Adjustments to tangible capital assets (6,116) 1,757 
Net gain (loss) on disposal of tangible 
   capital assets (249) 282 

   
Variations in Statement of Financial Position: 

(Decrease) increase in accounts receivable and  
   advances (646,847) 1,256,824 
   Portion related to transfer of activities (901) - 
Increase in Canada Student Loans 932,880 1,010,867 
(Decrease) increase in prepaid expenses (6,768) 6,675 
Decrease in liabilities 37,965 2,565,809 
   Portion related to transfer of activities 4,350 - 

Cash used by operating activities 32,239,983 34,404,329 
   
Capital investment activities   

Acquisitions of tangible capital assets 52,310 54,758 
Transfer of work in progress to tangible  
   capital assets (9,096) (9,806) 
Proceeds from dispositions of tangible  
   capital assets (71) (348) 

Cash used by capital investment activities 43,143 44,604 

Financing activities
Net cash provided by Government of Canada 32,283,126 34,448,933 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Human Resources and Social Development Canada 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Unaudited)

8

1. Authority and objectives 

The Department of Human Resources and Social Development Canada (HRSDC) was 
established, effective February 6, 2006, through the amalgamation of the departments of Human 
Resources and Skills Development Canada and Social Development Canada, as an agent of Her 
Majesty of Canada. It is a Department named in the Schedule I of the Financial Administration 
Act and reports to Parliament through the Minister of Human Resources and Skills Development 
Canada. 

HRSDC works to improve the standard of living and the quality of life of all Canadians by 
promoting a highly skilled and mobile workforce as well as an efficient and inclusive labour 
market. It supports human capital development, labour market development and is dedicated to 
establishing a culture of life long learning for Canadians. 

Service Canada (SC) is a branch of HRSDC and is the public’s primary access point to many 
Government of Canada programs and services, providing better, one-stop service to more 
Canadians in more communities. SC will continue to bring federal services and benefits together 
making it easier for Canadians to get more of the help they need in one place. SC integrates a 
range of services from a number of federal departments to form a single service delivery network. 

HRSDC operates under a number of Acts and Regulations: Department of Human Resources 
and Skills Development Act, Old Age Security Act and Regulations, Employment Insurance Act 
and Regulations, Government Annuities Act, Canada Pension Plan Act and Regulations, Canada 
Student Financial Assistance Act and Regulations, Canada Student Loans Act and Regulations,
Corporations and Labour Unions Returns Act, Section 16, and Regulations, Fair Wages and 
Hours of Labour Act and Regulations, Family Orders and Agreements Enforcement Assistance 
Act, Federal-Provincial Fiscal Arrangements Act, Status of the Artist Act, Part II and Regulations,
Vocational Rehabilitation of Disabled Persons Act and Wages Liability Act, Canada Labour Code 
and Regulations, Employment Equity Act and Regulations and Labour Adjustment Benefits Act. 

Human Resources and Social Development Canada achieves its objectives under ten 
major programs: 

Social Investment 
Provides Canadians with pensions and benefits for retirement, death, and disability through the 
Old Age Security Act and the Canada Pension Plan. It also includes Social Investment programs, 
policies and grants and contributions designed to ensure that children, families, seniors, 
communities and people with disabilities are provided with knowledge, information and 
opportunities to move forward with their own solutions to social and economic challenge. 

Provides support to families to ensure all children have the best possible start in life, that parents 
have choice in childcare, to ensure the needs of those who provide care to loved ones are taken 
into account and that families' economic security is sustained through programs such as the 
Canada's Universal Child Care Plan, the National Child Benefit, and Multilateral Framework on 
Early Learning and Child Care. 
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Employment Insurance 
Provides temporary financial assistance for unemployed Canadians, as well as to Canadians who 
need to take a temporary absence from work due to sickness, pregnancy, to care for a newborn 
or adopted child, or to provide care or support to a gravely ill family member with a significant risk 
of death.

Employment Programs 
Enables Canadians, including unemployed adult individuals and targeted groups such as youth 
and Aboriginal peoples, to develop their skills and encourage them to become self-reliant, invest 
in themselves and become more adaptable to labour market changes. 

Learning
Supports the Government of Canada's significant investments in skills and learning to assist 
Canadians to acquire, throughout their lives, the education and skills that will enable them to 
participate more fully in a knowledge-based economy and society. In collaboration with provinces, 
territories, learning institutions, community-based organizations and other key stakeholders, the 
following programs are delivered: Canada Student Loans, Canada Study Grants, Canada 
Education Savings Grant, Canada Learning Bond, National Literacy Secretariat, Learning 
Initiatives Program, International Academic Mobility and Office of Learning Technologies 

Service Delivery 
Provides direct, in-person service to clients through an integrated service delivery network as part 
of the Service Canada Initiative; delivering seamless citizen-centered service that is integrated, 
easy to access, simple to use, tailored for the individual circumstance, efficient and sustainable. 
This will enhance the integrity of programs by building public trust and confidence and ensuring 
that the right client receives the right service and benefits at the right time and for the intended 
purpose. 

Homelessness 
Assists communities, through partnerships, in implementing measures that help homeless 
individuals and families to move toward self-sufficiency, to become active in society and 
contribute to the economy.  

Labour 
The Labour program activity promotes and sustains stable industrial relations and a safe, fair, 
healthy, equitable and productive workplace within the federal labour jurisdiction. It collects and 
disseminates labour and workplace information, represents Canada at international labour 
activities, fosters constructive labour-management relationships and ensures that minimum 
labour standards and occupational health and safety protections are enforced. 

Workplace Skills 
Supports the collaboration of industry partners and stakeholders in identifying, addressing and 
promoting workplace skills development and recognition issues that reflect the realities of 
Canadian workplaces in our rapidly evolving labour market. Workplace also develops and 
disseminates knowledge and information from a national, regional and local perspective, which is 
vital in supporting and contributing to a well-functioning labour market.  

Social Development Policy and Innovation 
Leads and collaborates with key partners to mobilize the many levers across governments and 
society that together drive social development and well-being in Canada. 
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Advances policy development across the spectrum of new and emerging social policy issues, 
leading to the development of policies, programs and knowledge products that are relevant and 
responsive to Canadians' needs and expectations and that fosters social development and well-
being in Canada. 

Develops policies that enable communities to enhance their own skills and resources to address 
locally identified needs and improve the lives of Canadians. 

Policy and Program Support
Provides an evidence basis for the review and development of broad policy frameworks and 
strategies. It provides audit, evaluation and research that underpin strategic policy and ensure 
accountability. It also oversees the establishment of relationships with other governments and 
stakeholders as well as plays a key role in planning, communications and ministerial support 
services. 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Treasury Board accounting 
policies which are consistent with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for the 
public sector.  

Significant accounting policies are as follows: 

(a) Parliamentary appropriations – HRSDC is financed by the Government of Canada through 
Parliamentary appropriations. Appropriations provided to the department do not parallel financial 
reporting according to generally accepted accounting principles since appropriations are primarily 
based on cash flow requirements. Consequently, items recognized in the statement of operations 
and the statement of financial position are not necessarily those provided through appropriations 
from Parliament. Note 3 provides a high-level reconciliation between the bases of reporting. 

(b) Net Cash Provided by Government – HRSDC operates within the Consolidated Revenue 
Fund (CRF) which is administered by the Receiver General for Canada. All cash received by 
HRSDC is deposited to the CRF and all cash disbursements made by HRSDC are paid from the 
CRF. The net cash provided by Government is the difference between all cash receipts and all 
cash disbursements including transactions between departments of the federal government. 

(c) Change in net position in the Consolidated Revenue Fund is the difference between the net 
cash provided by Government and appropriations used in a year, excluding the amount of non 
respendable revenue recorded by the department. It results from timing differences between 
when a transaction affects appropriations and when it is processed through the CRF.  

(d) Revenues: 
 EI Premiums are recognized as revenue in the period in which they are earned. EI Premiums 

earned in the period are measured from amounts assessed by the Canada Revenue Agency 
(CRA) and from estimates of amounts not assessed based on cash received. Premium 
revenue also includes adjustments between actual and estimated premiums of previous 
years.

 Interest revenues on student loans are recognized in the year they are earned. 
 Recoveries of Canada Pension Plan administration costs are recognized in the accounts 

based on the services provided in the year. 
 Other revenues are accounted for in the year in which the underlying transaction or event 

occurred that gave rise to the revenues. 
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(e) Expenses – Expenses are recorded on the accrual basis: 
 Grants are recognized in the year in which the conditions for payment are met. In the case of 

grants which do not form part of an existing program, the expense is recognized when the 
Government announces a decision to make a non-recurring transfer, provided the enabling 
legislation or authorization for payment receives parliamentary approval prior to the 
completion of the financial statements. 

 Contributions are recognized in the year in which the recipient has met the eligibility criteria or 
fulfilled the terms of a contractual transfer agreement. 

 Vacation pay and compensatory leave are expensed as the benefits accrue to employees 
under their respective terms of employment. 

 Services that are provided without charge by other federal government departments for the 
employer’s contribution to the health and dental insurance plans and legal services are 
recorded as operating expenses at their estimated costs. 

(f) Employee future benefits: 
 Pension benefits: Eligible employees participate in the Public Service Pension Plan, a multi-

employer plan administered by the Government of Canada. HRSDC contributions to the Plan 
are charged to expenses in the year incurred and represent the total departmental obligation 
to the Plan. Current legislation does not require HRSDC to make contributions for any 
actuarial deficiencies of the Plan. 

 Severance benefits: Employees are entitled to severance benefits, as provided for under 
labour contracts or conditions of employment. These benefits are accrued as employees 
render the services necessary to earn them. The obligation relating to the benefits earned by 
employees is calculated using information derived from the results of the actuarially 
determined liability for employee severance benefits for the Government as a whole. 

(g) Accounts receivable – Accounts receivable are stated at amounts expected to be ultimately 
realized. A provision is made for accounts receivable where recovery is considered uncertain. 

(h) Canada Student Loans – Loans are recorded at original cost plus accrued interest receivable 
less reimbursements and valuation allowances. Interest revenue is accrued in the period earned 
for loans in good standing. Interest is not accrued on loans considered unrecoverable. 

An allowance is recorded in HRSDC’s financial statements in order to consider bad debts and 
debt reduction in repayment (DRR) for Canada Student Loans. The allowance rate is determined 
according to an actuarial estimate based on the age of the accounts and their status. For the year 
ended March 31, 2007, the rate was established at 14.6% (14.6% in 2006) of the disbursements 
incurred since the beginning of the program for bad debts and at 0.7% (0.7% in 2006) of the 
same amount for DRR. The allowance for bad debts is calculated on a monthly basis.  

(i) Contingent liabilities – Contingent liabilities are potential liabilities which may become actual 
liabilities when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. To the extent that the future event 
is likely to occur or fail to occur, and a reasonable estimate of the loss can be made, an estimated 
liability is accrued and an expense recorded. If the likelihood is not determinable or an amount 
cannot be reasonably estimated, the contingency is disclosed in the notes to the financial 
statements. 
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(j) Tangible capital assets – All tangible capital assets and leasehold improvements having an 
initial cost of $10,000 or more are recorded at their acquisition cost. Amortization of tangible 
capital assets is done on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset as 
follows:  

Asset Class    Amortization period 
Machinery and equipment  5 years 
Informatics hardware   5 years 
Informatics software   3-5 years 
Other equipment and furniture  5 years 
Motor vehicles    5 years 
Capital leases    term of the lease 
Leaseholds improvements  term of the lease 
Assets under construction  once in service, in accordance with asset type 

(k) Measurement uncertainty – The preparation of these financial statements in accordance with 
the Treasury Board accounting policies which are consistent with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles for the public sector requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses 
reported in the financial statements. At the time of preparation of these statements, management 
believes the estimates and assumptions to be reasonable. The most significant items where 
estimates are used are the determination of the allowances for doubtful accounts, the contingent 
liabilities, the liability for employee severance benefits, the EI premiums, the OAS benefit 
repayments and the useful life of tangible capital assets. Actual results could significantly differ 
from those estimated. These estimates are reviewed periodically and, as adjustments become 
necessary, they are recorded in the financial statements in the year they become known. 

3. Parliamentary appropriations 

HRSDC receives most of its operating funding through annual Parliamentary appropriations. 
Items recognized in the statement of operations and the statement of financial position in one 
year may be funded through Parliamentary appropriations in prior, current or future years. 
Accordingly, HRSDC has different net costs of operations for the year on a government funding 
basis than on an accrual accounting basis. Furthermore, as a consolidated specified purpose 
account, the Employment Insurance (EI) account expenses and revenues recognized in 
HRSDC’s statement of operations do not affect Parliamentary appropriations. The differences are 
reconciled in the following tables: 
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(a) Reconciliation of net cost of operations to current year appropriations used: 

2007 2006 
(in thousands of dollars) 

Net cost of operations  32,021,469 29,666,944 
Adjustments for items affecting net cost of 
operations but not affecting appropriations:   

Add (less):   
Net EI transactions 3,302,393 2,268,843 
Revenues not respendable by the department 667,361 551,576 
Bad debts (417,289) (367,849) 
Amortization (61,054) (72,343) 
Services provided without charge by 
   other government departments (34,746) (32,486) 
Adjustments to grants and contributions 17,177 (9,403) 
Refunds of program expense 56,306 8,482 
Net (loss) gain on disposal of tangible 
   capital assets (249) 282 
Decrease of allowance for loan guarantees 
   and other allowances 9,229 12,987 
(Increase) of severance pay accrual (6,594) (36,264) 
Decrease (increase) in vacation pay  
   and compensatory leaves 4,271 (3,605) 
(Decrease) in prepaid expenses (1,582) (1,774) 
Justice Canada legal fees (6,298) (6,067) 
Reclassification of tangible capital assets 5 1,758 

 35,550,399 31,981,081 
   

Adjustments for items not affecting net cost of   
   operations but affecting appropriations: 

Add (less):   
Canada Student Loans disbursed 1,231,928 1,331,300 
Debt Reduction and Forgiveness of Canada  
   Student Loans 3,504 97 
Increase in prepaid expenses 973 1,582 
Tangible capital assets acquisitions 52,310 54,758 
Transfer of work in progress to finished assets (9,096) (9,806) 
Capital leases repayments 28 1,484 

Current year appropriations used 36,830,046 33,360,496 
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(b) Appropriations provided and used: 

2007 2006 
(in thousands of dollars)

Vote 1 – Operating expenditures 655,567 588,073 
Vote 5 – Grants and contributions 1,797,801 1,137,944 
Vote 7 – Debt Write offs 424 - 
Statutory amounts:   

Old Age Security 30,284,055 28,992,324 
Canada Student loans 1,231,928 1,331,300 
Other 3,669,239 1,434,290 

Less:   
Available for use in subsequent years (111) (367) 
Lapsed appropriations:    

Operating  (42,642) (47,379) 
Grants and contributions (766,058) (75,649) 
Debt Write offs (88) - 
Statutory (69) (40) 

Current year appropriations used  36,830,046 33,360,496 

(c) Reconciliation of net cash provided by Government to current year appropriations 
used: 

2007 2006 
(in thousands of dollars)

Net cash provided by Government 32,283,126 34,448,933 
Revenue not respendable by the department 667,361 551,576 
Change in net position in the Consolidated Revenue  
   Fund: 

Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable 
   and advances 647,748 (1,256,824) 
Increase in liabilities (other than the Canada 
   Pension Plan) 54,952 54,384 
(Decrease) in Canadian Pension Plan (CPP)  (97,267) (2,620,193) 
Net EI transactions 3,302,393 2,268,843 
Other (28,267) (86,223) 

Current year appropriations used 36,830,046 33,360,496 
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4. Expenses 

The following table presents details of expenses by category:  

2007 2006 
(in thousands of dollars) 

Benefits and transfer payments    
EI benefits and support measures 14,077,937 14,418,190 
Individuals 32,786,425 29,938,701 
Other levels of government within Canada 1,026,411 450,624 
Non-profit organizations 694,845 687,811 
Industry 30,367 27,225 
Other countries and international organizations 2,645 2,578 

Total transfer payments 48,618,630 45,525,129 

Operating    
Salaries and benefits 1,724,568 1,713,519 
Professional and special services 416,295 371,297 
Bad debts on Canada Student Loans 409,175 355,123 
Administration costs related to EI 229,259 171,052 
Rentals 193,464 172,563 
Transportation and telecommunication 122,962 113,807 
Bad debts 107,085 68,394 
Amortization 61,054 72,343 
Others 48,756 71,697 

Total operating expenses 3,312,618 3,109,795 
   
Total expenses 51,931,248 48,634,924 

The operating expenditures of HRSDC include the consolidated expenditures of the EI account, 
which amount to $1,736,640 thousand ($1,631,894 thousand in 2006). 
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5. Revenues 

The following table presents details of revenues by category:  
2007 2006 

 (in thousands of dollars) 
Employment Insurance account:   

Employment Insurance (EI) premiums 17,109,171 16,916,659 
Interest on the balance of the EI account  1,912,249 1,323,562 
Penalties and interest on EI receivables 95,550 78,706 

Subtotal EI revenues 19,116,970 18,318,927 
   
Interest on Canada Student Loans 497,421 360,579 
Recovery of Canada Pension Plan 
   administration costs 278,911 270,345 
Other revenues 16,477 18,129 
Total revenues 19,909,779 18,967,980 

6. Accounts receivable and advances 

The following table presents details of accounts receivable and advances: 
2007 2006 
(in thousands of dollars) 

Accounts receivable from other federal government 
departments and agencies:   

EI premiums and benefit repayments receivable  
   from the Canada Revenue Agency 1,253,655 1,501,075 
Old Age Security benefit repayments receivable 
   from the Canada Revenue Agency 1,087,336 1,656,523 
Other 385,001 458,412 

Accounts receivable external to the Government:   
EI overpayments to be recovered 481,688 478,982 
EI fines and penalties 180,445 203,731 
Accrued interest on loans receivable 443,893 436,255 
Other 586,451 345,192 

Total accounts receivable 4,418,469 5,080,170 

Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts on  
   external accounts receivable (716,737) (731,595) 
Net accounts receivable 3,701,732 4,348,575 

Advances to Provincial Workers Compensation 13,013 13,013 
Advances to employees 120 124 

Total accounts receivable and advances 3,714,865 4,361,712 
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7. Canada Student Loans 

Loans issued on or after August 1, 2000 are operated under the authority of section 6.1 of the 
Canada Student Financial Assistance Act, which authorizes HRSDC to enter into loan 
agreements directly with qualifying students.  Direct Loans and the Risk-Shared Loans under the 
Canada Student Financial Assistance Act are provided interest-free to full-time students and 
afterwards bear interest at either a variable rate of 2.5% above the prime rate or a fixed rate of 
5.0% above the prime rate. The maximum repayment period is 10 years. 

Loans issued prior to August 1, 2000 include loans outstanding which are amounts related to 
student loans subrogated to the Crown under the Canada Student Loans Act and under the 
Canada Student Financial Assistance Act. The Guaranteed Loans under the Canada Student 
Loans Act are provided interest-free to full-time students and afterwards bear interest as was set 
by the Canada Student Loan Program. The maximum repayment period is 10 years. 

2007 2006 
 (in thousands of dollars) 

Direct Loans 9,430,977 8,199,049 
Guaranteed Loans  435,395 554,910 
Risk-Shared Loans 201,720 234,529 
Unamortized discount on defaulted risk shared loans (191,635) (222,803) 
Allowance for doubtful accounts (1,915,512) (1,737,620) 
Total Canada Student Loans 7,960,945 7,028,065 

Guaranteed and Risk-Shared loans write-offs for the year ended March 31, 2007 are $159 million 
($54 million in 2006) and payments received while account is in write-off status are $0.3 million 
($0.4 million in 2006). 

8. Prepaid expenses 

Prepayments on transfer payments are issued when it is necessary to meet program objectives 
and it is permitted under the agreement.  Prepayments on transfer payments do not exceed the 
expenditures expected to be incurred by the recipient during April.  Other prepaid expenses 
include prepayments of postage, rent, maintenance fees, legal fees and other operations 
expenses. 

2007 2006 
 (in thousands of dollars) 

Prepaid transfer payments 15,600 21,759 
Other prepaid expenses 973 1,582 
Total prepaid expenses 16,573 23,341 
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10. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

 2007 2006 
(in thousands of dollars)

Accrued salaries and wages 92,890 49,860 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities to 
   external parties 735,686 829,980 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities to other 
   federal government departments and agencies 299,486 151,330 
Allowance for alternative payments for non- 
   participating provinces to Canada Student Loans 78,835 105,065 
Allowance for loan guarantees 29,279 38,508 
Other payables and accrued liabilities 2,556 4,392 
Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,238,732 1,179,135 

11. Employee benefits 

(a) Pension benefits: The department’s employees participate in the Public Service Pension Plan, 
which is sponsored and administered by the Government of Canada.  Pension benefits accrue up 
to a maximum period of 35 years at a rate of 2% per year of pensionable service, times the 
average of the best five consecutive years of earnings. The benefits are integrated with 
Canada/Quebec Pension Plans benefits and they are indexed to inflation.  

Both the employees and the department contribute to the cost of the Plan. The expense for the 
year ended March 31, 2007 amounts to $167.7 million ($180 million in 2006), which represents 
approximately 2.2 times the contributions by employees (2.6 in 2006). The department’s 
responsibility with regard to the Plan is limited to its contributions. Actuarial surpluses or 
deficiencies are recognized in the financial statements of the Government of Canada, as the 
Plan’s sponsor.  

(b) Severance benefits: The department provides severance benefits to its employees based on 
eligibility, years of service and final salary. The severance benefit liability is based on a 
percentage provided by Treasury Board, applied to the eligible payroll as at March 31. Treasury 
Board determines the percentage based on an actuarial evaluation of the future liability for the 
entire government eligible employees. The rate as at March 31, 2007 was 23.64% (23.2% at 
March 31, 2006). These severance benefits are not pre-funded.  Benefits will be paid from future 
appropriations.  Information about the severance benefits, measured as at March 31, is as 
follows: 

2007 2006 
(in thousands of dollars) 

Accrued benefit obligation, beginning of year 291,404 255,140 
Increase due to activities transfer 942 - 
Expense for the year 53,209 62,009 
Benefits paid during the year (46,615) (25,745) 
Accrued benefit obligation, end of year 298,940 291,404 



Section III  Supplementary Information 1�5

Human Resources and Social Development Canada 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Unaudited)

20

12. Government Annuities 

HRSDC administers the Government Annuities Accounts. This account was established by the 
Government Annuities Act, and modified by the Government Annuities Improvement Act, which 
discontinued sales of annuities in 1975. The account is valued on an actuarial basis each year, 
with the deficit or surplus charged or credited to the Consolidated Revenue Fund. 

The purpose of the Government Annuities Act was to assist Canadians to provide for their later 
years, by the purchase of Government annuities.  

Receipts and other credits consist of premiums received, funds reclaimed from the Consolidated 
Revenue Fund for previously untraceable annuitants, earned interest and any transfer needed to 
cover the actuarial deficit. Payments and other charges represent matured annuities, the 
commuted value of death benefits, premium refunds and withdrawals, and actuarial surpluses 
and unclaimed items transferred to non-tax revenues. The amounts of unclaimed annuities, 
related to untraceable annuitants, are transferred to non-tax revenues. 

Total income amounted to $23.4 million ($24.5 million in 2006), $22.5 million ($24.4 million in 
2006) of which represented interest of 7% credited to the account. Premiums received totalled 
$21,253 ($8,200 in 2006). Total disbursements of $48.3 million ($51 million in 2006) originated 
mainly from the $47.9 million ($50.5 million in 2006) in payments made under matured annuities. 
An amount of $71,877 ($98,379 in 2006) was used to refund premiums at death before maturity 
or when the annuity would have been too small, and $180,781 ($202,346 in 2006) was 
transferred to the Consolidated Revenue Fund as a result of unclaimed annuities. 

2007 2006 
 (in thousands of dollars) 

Government Annuities, beginning of year 347,337 377,266 
Receipts and other credits 22,765 24,726 
Payments and other charges (50,807) (54,655) 
Government Annuities, end of year 319,295 347,337 

13. Due to Canada Pension Plan (CPP) 

The Minister of HRSDC, on behalf of the Government of Canada, is responsible for the 
administration of the Canada Pension Plan. The financial activities of the Canada Pension Plan 
(the Plan) are not part of HRSDC’s reporting entity because it is under joint control of the federal 
and the participating provincial governments. Established in 1965, the CPP operates in all parts 
of Canada, except in Quebec which operates a comparable program. 

The Plan is a compulsory and contributory social insurance program which is designed to provide 
a measure of protection to Canadian workers and their families against loss of earnings due to 
retirement, disability or death. 

Under existing arrangements, all pensions, benefits and expenditures incurred in the 
administration of the Plan are financed from contributions made by employees, employers and 
self-employed persons, and from investment returns. 
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The CPP account (the Account) was established in the accounts of Canada by the CPP Act to 
record the contributions, interests, pensions and benefits and operating expenses of the Plan. It 
also records the amounts transferred to or received from the CPP Investment Board.  

The revenues and expenses are recorded as increases and decreases to the account. The 
detailed revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are reported in the CPP distinct set of 
Consolidated Audited Financial Statements. The year-end liability represents the balance of the 
CPP assets on deposit in the Consolidated Revenue Fund. 

2007 2006 
(in thousands of dollars) 

Canada Pension Plan, beginning of year 150,851 2,771,044 
Receipts and other credits 59,563,344 55,319,600 
Payments and other charges (59,660,611) (57,939,793)
Canada Pension Plan, end of year 53,584 150,851 

14. Other liabilities 

Labour Market Development Agreement - Ontario:  HRSDC and the Government of Ontario 
(Ontario) entered into a Labour Market Development Agreement on January 1st, 2007 where the 
design and delivery of the active employment benefits and support measures have been 
devolved to the province.  A specified purpose account was established to account for funds 
received from Ontario to support interim administrative agreements.  

Civil Service Insurance Fund: This account was established by the Civil Service Insurance Act,
introduced to enable the Minister of Finance to contract with a person appointed to a permanent 
position in any branch of the public service, for the payment of certain death benefits.  No new 
contracts have been entered into since 1954, when the Supplementary Death Benefit Plan for the 
Public Service and Canadian Forces was introduced as part of the Public Service 
Superannuation Act and the Canadian Forces Superannuation Act, respectively. As of April 1st,
1997, the Department of HRSDC assumed responsibility for the administration and the actuarial 
valuation of the Civil Service Insurance Act.

Other liabilities: This account includes certain other funds in which special categories of revenues 
and expenses report transactions of certain accounts where enabling legislation requires that 
revenues be earmarked, and that related expenses be charged against such revenues.  The 
expenses and revenues are recorded as increases and decreases to the liability accounts and 
are not recorded as revenues and expenses of HRSDC. 
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2007 2006 
 (in thousands of dollars) 

Labour Market Development Agreement - Ontario 30,780 - 
Civil Service Insurance Fund 6,133 6,284 
Other liabilities 8,756 9,058 
Total other liabilities 45,669 15,342 

15. Equity of Canada 

The department includes in its revenues and expenses transactions of the Employment Insurance 
program. The Employment Insurance Act and regulations requires that the employer and 
employee contributions and related revenue be segregated and that related expenses be charged 
against this revenue. 

 2007 2006 
 (in thousands of dollars) 

Restricted Equity for EI, opening balance 50,816,262 48,547,419 
Revenues under the EI program 19,116,970 18,318,927 
Expenses under the EI program (15,814,577) (16,050,084) 

Restricted Equity for EI, closing balance 54,118,655 50,816,262 
Unrestricted Equity (44,297,175) (41,288,053) 
Equity of Canada 9,821,480 9,528,209 

16. Transfer of Activities 

On September 12, 2005 the Prime Minister announced a significant reorganization of 
government. Effective April 1, 2006 Public Works and Government Services Canada (PWGSC) 
has transferred the Public Access Programs which includes the four following areas: Canada 
Site, Publiservice, Canada Enquiry Centre, and Gateways and Clusters; to the department under 
the Service Canada initiative. The prior year figures have not been restated to reflect this transfer.  
The effect on the 2007 Statement of Financial Position is shown as follows: 
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2007

 (in thousands of dollars) 
Assets

Financial assets
Accounts receivable and advances  901 

Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 9) 317 

Total 1,218

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  3,174 
Employee severance benefits (Note 11) 942 
Vacation pay and compensatory leave 234 

4,350

Equity of Canada (3,132) 

Total 1,218

The bulk of the revenues and expenses for these programs remained with PWGSC for the 2006-
07 fiscal year as the funding will not be provided to the department until the 2007-08 fiscal year. 
Comparative figures are not available since the necessary financial information is not reasonably 
determinable. 

17. Contingent Liabilities 

(a) Claims and litigation 

Claims, litigations and grievances have been made against the department in the normal course 
of operations. Some of these potential liabilities may become actual liabilities when one or more 
future events occur or fail to occur. To the extent that the future event is likely to occur or fail to 
occur, and a reasonable estimate of the loss can be made, an estimated liability is accrued and 
an expense recorded in the financial statements. Based on Justice Canada’s legal assessment of 
potential liability, no liability was recorded at March 31, 2007.

(b) Loan guarantees 

Losses on loan guarantees are recorded in the accounts when it is likely that a payment will be 
made to honour a guarantee and where the amount of the anticipated loss can be reasonably 
estimated. The amount of the allowance for losses is determined by taking into consideration 
historical loss experience and current economic conditions. The increase or decrease in the 
allowance for loan losses between years is recorded in operating expenses. As at March 31, 
2007, HRSDC has guaranteed the following debt: 
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   Authorized Limit Contingent Liability 
 (in thousands of dollars) 
Guaranteed loans under the 

Canada Student Loans Act 10,781,963            177,451 

Under the Canada Student Loans Act, HRSDC guarantees loans made by banks, credit unions, 
and certain other companies to qualifying students. The terms of repayment are established on 
the basis of the attendance at a designated educational institution. As at March 31, 2007, HRSDC 
has an allowance for loan losses of $29.2 million for these guarantees ($38.5 million as at March 
31, 2006). 

18. Contractual obligations 

The nature of the HRSDC’s activities can result in some large multi-year contracts and obligations 
whereby HRSDC will be obligated to make future payments when the services/goods are 
received. Significant contractual obligations that can be reasonably estimated are summarized as 
follows: 

 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 and 
thereafter 

Total

 (in thousands of dollars) 
Transfer 
payments 1,054,664 520,615 53,682 1,190 - 1,630,151
Operating and 
Maintenance 120,000 28,000 - - - 148,000
Total
contractual 
obligations 1,174,664 548,615 53,682 1,190 - 1,778,151

19. Related party transactions 

HRSDC is related in terms of common ownership to all Government of Canada departments, 
agencies and Crown Corporations. The department enters into transactions with these entities in 
the normal course of business and on normal trade terms.  Also, during the year, the department 
received services which were obtained without charge from other federal government 
departments as presented in part (a). 

(a) Services provided without charge: 

During the year, HRSDC received services without charge from other federal government 
departments. These services include the employer’s contribution to the health and dental 
insurance plans and legal fees. These services without charge have been recognized in the 
department’s Statement of Operations as follows:  
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2007 2006
(in thousands of dollars)

Employer’s contributions to the health and dental 
   insurance plans paid by Treasury Board Secretariat 29,600 29,054
Legal services provided by Justice Canada 5,146 3,432

Total services provided without charge 34,746 32,486

The Government has structured some of its administrative activities for efficiency and cost-
effectiveness purposes so that one department performs these on behalf of all without charge.  
The costs of these services, which include payroll and cheque issuance services provided by 
Public Works and Government Services Canada and audit services provided by the Office of the 
Auditor General, are not included as an expense in the department’s Statement of Operations. 

(b) Agreements signed with other federal government departments: 

HRSDC, through the Service Canada (SC) initiative, has several agreements with other federal 
government departments in order to provide Canadians with better access to programs and 
services. As of March 31, 2007, SC had signed agreements with the following departments: 
Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, Citizenship and Immigration Canada, Canada Border 
Services Agency, Public Works and Government Services Canada, Passport Canada, Transport 
Canada, Veterans Affairs Canada, Department of National Defence, Public Service Commission, 
Royal Canadian Mounted Police, Canadian Heritage, Office of Indian Residential Schools 
Resolutions Canada and Fisheries and Oceans. 

20. Comparative information  

Comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation. 
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Policies and Programs 
that meet the human 
capital and social 
development needs 
of Canadians
Program Activity: Policy, 
Research and Communication

The policy, research and communication program 
activity provides strategic policy leadership with a focus 
on domestic and international partnerships, and supports 
the development of programs and policies with audit, 
evaluation and research functions. This activity also 
supports the achievement of the Department’s strategic 
and operational goals through planning and 
communications.

Strategic Policy
The Department focuses on addressing social and 
human capital challenges of Canadians through 
strategic, innovative solutions. To move forward with 
implementing the Government’s commitments in the 
area of human resources and social development, the 
Department develops foundational policy frameworks 
and strategies. These frameworks and strategies also 
enable the Department to identify emerging policy 
issues for Canadians.

Knowledge, Analysis, 
Audit and Evaluation
Knowledge management, audit and evaluation support 
strong accountability, innovative and responsive policies 
and programs and evidence-based decision-making by 
governments, public institutions, businesses, communities, 
families and citizens.

Public Affairs and Engagement
The Department pursues engagement activities to 
develop better policies and programs by seeking 
Canadians’ views and broadening knowledge and 
research.

Enhanced Canadian 
productivity and 
participation through 
efficient and inclusive 
labour markets, 
competitive workplaces 
and access to learning
Program Activity: Labour Market

Labour market programming includes income benefits 
and active employment measures which provide 
temporary income support to eligible workers and 
enables Canadians to develop their skills, maintain or 
improve their employment earnings and become more 
adaptable to labour market changes.

Employment Insurance
Employment Insurance promotes individual well 
being, economic stability and a flexible labour market 
by providing temporary income support to unemployed 
workers who qualify under Part I of the Employment 
Insurance Act. Employment Insurance encompasses 
a wide range of benefits to address the needs 
of workers and the labour market.

Employment Insurance Benefits– This program 
provides temporary financial assistance to unemployed 
Canadians (including self-employed fishers) while they 
look for work, participants in work-sharing agreements, 
and to Canadians who need to take a temporary 
absence from work for sickness, pregnancy and 

People • Partnerships • Knowledge

Programs Supporting Priorities 
by Strategic Outcome
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childbirth, caring for a newborn or adopted child, or 
to provide care or support to a gravely ill family member 
with a significant risk of death. Temporary income 
support is provided to unemployed workers under 
Part I of the Employment Insurance Act. Through an 
Agreement with the Government of Canada, as of 
January 2006, the province of Quebec provides its 
own maternity and parental coverage for its residents, 
rather than through the Employment Insurance 
program.

http://www1.servicecanada.gc.ca/en/ei/menu/
eihome.shtml

Operational activities that support delivery of 
Employment Insurance benefits include:

Claims Processing – Assessment, calculation and 
adjudication of Employment Insurance claims to 
determine entitlement and eligibility for benefits.

Appeals – This provision of the Employment 
Insurance Act provides a right of appeal for 
claimants, employers and the Employment Insurance 
Commission. There are four levels of appeals, 
namely, the Board of Referees, the Umpire, the 
Federal Court and the Supreme Court of Canada.

Investigation and Control – Prevention, deterrence, 
and detection activities and controls that prevent 
abuse and fraud against the Employment Insurance 
Program.

Program Management and Service Improvement – 
This measure provides functional guidance, policy 
direction, actuarial services, performance 
measurement and reporting, and Employer services 
including premium reductions.

Employment Insurance Premium Collection – Payments 
to Canada Revenue Agency for the collection of 
Employment Insurance premiums, insurability rulings 
and related appeals on behalf of the Employment 
Insurance Commission.

http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/menu-e.html

Employment Programs
Employment programs and services are funded under 
the Consolidated Revenue Fund and Part II of the 
Employment Insurance Act. These enable Canadians, 
including unemployed adults and targeted groups 
such as youth and Aboriginal peoples, to develop their 
skills and encourage them to invest in themselves and 
become self-reliant.

Employment Benefits and Support Measures

Part II of the Employment Insurance Act authorizes the 
design and implementation of Employment Benefits 
and Support Measures to help unemployed participants 
to prepare for, find and keep employment and to 
support organizations, businesses and communities 
that provide employment assistance services.

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/gateways/nav/ 
top_nav/program/gc.shtml

Labour Market Development 
Agreements Transfers

Under the authority of the Employment Insurance Act, 
Labour Market Development Agreements have been 
signed with all provinces and territories, including a 
recent agreement with Ontario implemented January 
1, 2007. Eight of these agreements are in the form of 
a transfer agreement under which six provinces and 
two territories have assumed responsibility for the 
design and delivery of provincial/territorial programs 
and services similar to Employment Benefits and 
Support Measures. Under co-management Labour 
Market Development Agreements in four provinces 
and one territory, the Employment Benefits and Support 
Measures are designed and managed jointly among 
Service Canada, Human Resources and Social 
Development Canada and the provinces/territories. 
Pan-Canadian programs maintained under the Human 
Resources and Social Development Canada management 
are available to address labour market issues and 
priorities that are national or multi-regional in scope.

http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/rma/eppi-ibdrp/ 
hrdb-rhbd/lmda-edmt/description_e.asp 

Aboriginal Human Resources 
Development Strategy 

The Aboriginal Human Resources Development 
Strategy is designed to assist Aboriginal people to prepare 
for, find and keep employment and builds Aboriginal 
capacity for human resources development. The 
Aboriginal Human Resources Development Strategy is 
delivered through agreements with 80 Aboriginal 
Human Resource Development Agreements holders 
across the country. The Aboriginal Human Resources 
Development Strategy integrates most of the Department’s 
Aboriginal programming 

http://srv119.services.gc.ca/AHRDSInternet/
general/public/thestrategy/thestrategy_e.asp
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Aboriginal Skills 
and Employment Partnerships 

Complementary to the Aboriginal Human Resources 
Development Strategy, Aboriginal Skills and Employment 
Partnerships is a nationally managed program geared 
toward supporting collaboration among Aboriginal 
groups, the private sector and provincial/territorial 
governments. The goal of Aboriginal Skills and 
Employment Partnerships is to ensure sustainable 
employment for Aboriginal people in major, large-
scale economic opportunities, (such as diamond 
mining, oil and gas exploration and development and 
major forestry initiatives) leading to long-term Benefits 
for Aboriginal communities, families and individuals.

http://srv119.services.gc.ca/AHRDSInternet/
general/public/asep/asep_e.asp

Youth Employment Strategy

The Youth Employment Strategy programs ensure that 
Canada’s youth are well prepared to participate and 
succeed in today’s changing labour market. The 
Strategy is delivered in partnership with the private 
sector and non-governmental organizations through 
the collective efforts of twelve federal departments, 
agencies and corporations, with the Department in 
the lead role. Under the Strategy, youth employment 
initiatives target youth from 15 to 30 years of age 
who are unemployed or underemployed. This national 
strategy offers a broad range of initiatives under three 
programs: Skills Link, Summer Work Experience and 
Career Focus.

http://www.youth.gc.ca

Youth Awareness Initiative: Youth Awareness is an 
initiative funded under EI Part II that complements the 
Youth Employment Strategy Programs. The Youth 
Awareness Program provides young Canadians with 
accurate information that will enable them to make 
appropriate career choices. Youth Awareness also 
ensures that employers find well-prepared young people 
to respond to future labour needs.

Labour Market Adjustments

Labour Market Adjustments provide assistance to 
employers and workers to avert temporary layoffs and 
retain skills by providing timely response to 
emergencies.

Official Language Minority Communities

Enabling Fund for Official Language Minority 
Communities – Human Resources and Social 
Development Canada provides funding to Official 
Language Minority Communities designated 
organizations, Regroupements de développement 
économique et d’employabilité and Community 
Economic Development and Employability 
Committees through contribution agreements. 
The funding ensures continuity of activities for the 
organizations that foster the development of human 
resources, economic growth, and job creation and 
retention in official language minority communities.

http://www1.servicecanada.gc.ca/en/epb/ 
olscc/fund.shtml

Other
Work Sharing Program

The Work Sharing Program enables employers to 
retain workers and avoid layoffs during temporary 
work slowdowns, while allowing employees to 
maintain their skills.

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/epb/sid/cia/ 
grants/ws/desc_ws.shtml

Targeted Initiative for Older Workers 

Targeted Initiative for Older Workers is a two-year 
federal-provincial/territorial cost shared initiative to 
assist unemployed older workers in communities 
affected by significant downsizing or closures, or 
ongoing high unemployment, through programming 
aimed at reintegrating them into employment. The 
initiative is delivered through bilateral agreements 
with provinces and territories which are responsible 
for identifying affected communities, as well as the 
design and delivery of projects.

This interim initiative has been put in place while a 
feasibility study to evaluate current and potential 
measures to address the challenges faced by displaced 
older workers is undertaken.

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/cs/sp/hrsd/ 
eppd/tiow.shtml

Program Activity: Workplace Skills

The Workplace Skills program activity supports the 
collaboration of industry partners and stakeholders in 
identifying, addressing and promoting workplace skills 
development and recognition issues that reflect the 
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realities of Canadian workplaces in our rapidly evolving 
labour market. It also develops and disseminates 
knowledge and information, which is vital in supporting 
and contributing to a well-functioning labour market.

Workplace Partnerships
Workplace Partnerships advance partnerships with 
industry and the learning system to ensure that 
Canadians have the skills and knowledge required for 
the workplace. The activities are divided into the following 
main business lines/programs.

Sector Council Program

Sector Councils are formal, national partnerships of 
businesses and workers that address human resources 
and workplace skills development on a sectoral basis. 
Contribution payments under the Sector Council Program 
support research and project based activities proposed 
by Sector Councils and other national organizations 
(sector-like) working on skills and learning issues.

Sector Council Program supports sector 
council activities that include: 

• Labour market forecasting and analysis; 

• National occupational standards; 

• Curriculum tailored to industry needs; 

• Skills development tools, including e-learning;

• Essential skills initiatives; and 

• Integration of foreign trained workers.

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/gateways/ 
nav/top_nav/program/spi.shtml

Trades and Apprenticeship

The Directorate implements the Trades and Apprenticeship 
Strategy in cooperation with the Canadian Council of 
Directors of Apprenticeship and provides direction and 
advice to Service Canada for the implementation of 
the new Apprenticeship Incentive Grant program. The 
Directorate also works with the provinces and territories 
through the Canadian Council of Directors of 
Apprenticeship to facilitate and increase the labour 
mobility of skilled trades’ workers; and works with 
public and private sector partners and stakeholders to 
strengthen apprenticeship systems in Canada enabling 
them to respond more effectively to the demands of 
the knowledge-based economy.

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/gateways/ 
nav/top_nav/program/almi.shtml

The Interprovincial Standards 
“Red Seal” Program

This is an interprovincial program, designed to facilitate 
mobility through interprovincial certification based on 
national occupational standards and examinations for 
the 49 Red Seal trades. It also encourages standardization 
of provincial and territorial apprenticeship training and 
certification programs. Apprentices who have completed 
their training and certified journeypersons are able to 
obtain a “Red Seal” endorsement on their Certificates 
of Qualification and Apprenticeship Completion by 
successfully completing an Interprovincial Standards 
“Red Seal” Examination.

http://www.red-seal.ca/Site/index_e.htm

The Training Centre Infrastructure Fund

The Training Centre Infrastructure Fund was a three-
year pilot project to encourage, through federal 
funding, increased investment by unions and employers 
in purchasing up-to-date training equipment for 
union-employer training centres. The Infrastructure 
Fund was discontinued in the fall of 2006.

The Workplace Skills Initiative 

This initiative supports partnership-based projects that 
test and evaluate promising, outcomes-focused 
approaches to skills development for employers and 
employed Canadians. 

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/ws/initiatives/ 
wsi/index.shtml

The Workplace Partners Panel

The Panel provided Canadian industry and the 
Government of Canada with a forum to exchange 
perspectives and intelligence, and a research capacity 
focused on workplace skills issues. It was charged with 
galvanizing Canada’s industry, educational partners 
and governments to integrate the workplace into 
Canada’s learning system. The Workplace Partners 
Panel completed its work and was disbanded in the 
Fall of 2006.

Foreign Workers and Immigrants 
Foreign Workers and Immigrants helps internationally 
trained individuals integrate and participate effectively 
in the Canadian labour market, as well as enhances 
interprovincial mobility of internationally and domestically 
trained workers. This work is done in conjunction with 
Provincial and Territorial partners and stakeholders 
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across Canada, including other federal departments, 
industry, and regulatory bodies. The activities are 
divided into four main business lines/programs.

Foreign Credential Recognition 

Foreign Credential Recognition supports knowledge 
and project-based activities proposed by various 
stakeholders such as sector councils, industry groups, 
regulatory bodies, provinces/territories, and educational 
bodies, working on foreign credential assessment and 
recognition issues.

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/ws/programs/ 
fcr/index.shtml

Going To Canada Immigration Portal 

Going to Canada immigration portal provides prospective 
immigrants, students, workers and newcomers with 
settlement and labour market information, services 
and tools to help them make informed decisions about 
coming to Canada and facilitate their integration into 
Canada’s labour market and society. Workplace Skills 
is responsible for enhancing the Working in Canada 
section of the Going to Canada Immigration Portal.

http://www.directioncanada.gc.ca/

Foreign Worker Program

The Foreign Worker Program assists Canadian employers 
in meeting their human resource needs by facilitating 
the entry of temporary foreign workers into areas of 
the labour market with demonstrated occupational 
shortages, while still considering the employers’ efforts 
to hire and recruit Canadians.

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/gateways/nav/ 
top_nav/program/fw.shtml

Interprovincial Labour Mobility 

Interprovincial Labour Mobility co-ordinates federal 
activity to improve interprovincial labour mobility under 
the Agreement on Internal Trade, so that workers who 
qualify in one province/territory can have their 
qualifications recognized in another.

Skills and Labour Market Information
Skills and Labour Market Information is available to 
help employed and unemployed job seekers, people 
choosing a career, career practitioners, employment 
service providers, employers, education/learning 
institutions, and community development organizations 
in making informed decisions related to skills, human 
resources and the labour market. LMI and related 
products and services contribute to a well-functioning 
labour market. Workplace Skills’ LMI activities are 
divided into three main business lines.

National Occupational Classification

National Occupational Classification provides a 
standardized language for describing the work performed 
by Canadians in the labour market and continues to 
be the authoritative resource on occupational information 
in Canada. The NOC contains the classification 
structure and descriptions of 520 occupational unit 
groups and includes over 30,000 occupational titles.

http://www.sdc.gc.ca/en/hip/hrp/noc/ 
noc_index.shtml

Essential Skills

Essential Skills are required for work, home and 
community, provide the foundation for learning all 
other skills, such as job-related technical skills, thus 
enabling people to evolve with their jobs and adapt to 
workplace and workforce changes. The Essential Skills 
Initiative aims to improve the essential skills levels of 
Canadians who are entering – or already in – the 
labour market. The starting point is the development 
of profiles that show how Essential Skills are used in 
various occupations and their level of complexity, and 
provide samples of authentic workplace materials 
used on the job. Partnerships with provinces/territories 
and other workplace stakeholders help to increase the 
knowledge base of Essential Skills; promote under-
standing and their greater utilization in the workplace; 
and develop tools and other resources to facilitate 
their integration into the workplace.

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/essentialskills

Labour Market Information 

Labour Market Information policy development and 
research activities are designed to contribute to the 
enhancement of skills and labour market information 
and the Pan-Canadian consistency of LMI content, 
products and services. Through HRSDC and Service 
Canada, information is provided on: national and 
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regional employment trends; local employment 
prospects; wage rates; skills and education required by 
occupation; employment and training opportunities. 
Service Canada also offers job posting, job search, job 
alert and job matching services to job seekers and 
employers.

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/gateways/nav/ 
top_nav/program/lmi.shtml
http://www.jobbank.gc.ca
http://www.labourmarketinformation.ca

Other
The Apprenticeship Incentive Grant

The Apprenticeship Incentive Grant was introduced to 
reduce the financial barriers faced by many Canadians 
who wish to pursue a career in the skilled trades. It is 
available to registered apprentices who have completed 
their first or second year in a Red Seal trade program, 
on or after January 1, 2007. Information on how to 
apply and conditions of eligibility, can be found on 
Human Resources and Social Development’s website at

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/asp/gateway.asp?hr=en/
hip/hrp/corporate/apprenticeship/ 
app_incentive_grant.shtml&hs=hzp

In addition to the Apprenticeship Incentive Grant Budget 
2006 announced two other measures, an Apprenticeship 
Job Creation Tax Credit and a Tradesperson’s Tools 
Deduction, all of which are aimed at recognizing the 
important contribution that apprenticeships and trades 
people make to the Canadian economy. Information 
on these tax-based measures can be found at:

http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/whatsnew/
apprenticeship-e.html 

Program Activity: Learning

The Learning program activity assists Canadians to 
acquire the education and skills that will enable them 
to participate more fully in a knowledge-based economy 
and society. Programs within this area are delivered 
nationally and include statutory and non-statutory 
programs. The operating expenditures are funded 
from the Consolidated Revenue Fund and the 
Employment Insurance Account.

Student Financial Assistance
Canada Student Loans Program, Repayment 
and Debt Management Assistance, the Canada 
Access Grants and the Canada Study Grants 

The Canada Student Loans Program, including Canada 
Access Grants and Canada Study Grants, promotes 
accessibility to post-secondary education by providing 
loans and grants to help lower financial barriers for 
those with a demonstrated financial need. The Program 
also offers debt management measures to borrowers 
to help with repayment. These include Revision of 
Terms, Interest Relief, Debt Reduction in Repayment 
and loan forgiveness in the event of the permanent 
disability or death of a qualified borrower.

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/gateways/topics/ 
cxp-gxr.shtml and

http://www.canlearn.ca/cgi-bin/gateway/
canlearn/en/parent.asp 

Canada Education Savings Program
Canada Education Savings Grant 
and the Canada Learning Bond

Canada Education Savings Program includes the Canada 
Education Savings Grant and the Canada Learning 
Bond. This program provides grants to encourage 
Canadians to save for the post-secondary education 
of their children through Registered Education Savings 
Plans. The Canada Learning Bond is designed to help 
low-income Canadian families to acquire education 
savings for their children.

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/gateways/ 
topics/cgs-gxr.shtml

Adult Learning, Literacy and Essential 
Skills Program
 On March 23, 2006, Treasury Board approved the 
integration of three of its grants and contributions 
programs into a single coherent program. The Adult 
Learning, Literacy and Essential Skills Program brings 
together the National Literacy Program, the Office of 
Learning Technologies Program and the Learning 
Initiatives Program under one set of Terms and Conditions. 
Adult Learning, Literacy and Essential Skills Program 
works through non-statutory grants and 
contributions. The key objectives of the Adult 
Learning, Literacy and Essential Skills Program are: 

• to promote lifelong learning by reducing non-
financial barriers to adult learning; and
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• to facilitate the creation of opportunities for 
Canadians to acquire the learning, literacy and 
essential skills they need to participate in a 
knowledge-based economy and society.

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/hip/lld/olt/
ADULTLLESP.shtml

International Academic Mobility
The International Academic Mobility initiative 
advances the development of international skills and 
knowledge among Canadian students, and promotes 
international linkages among post-secondary 
education institutions.

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/gateways/nav/ 
top_nav/program/iam.shtml

Safe, healthy, fair, 
stable, cooperative and 
productive workplaces 
and effective international 
labour standards
Program Activity: Labour

The Labour Program actively promotes and sustains 
stable industrial relations and a safe, fair, healthy, 
equitable and productive workplace within the federal 
labour jurisdiction. It collects and disseminates labour 
and workplace information, represents Canada at 
international labour activities, fosters constructive 
labour-management relationships and ensures that 
minimum labour standards and occupational health 
and safety protections are enforced.

Federal Mediation 
and Conciliation Service 
This service is responsible for providing dispute 
resolution and dispute prevention assistance to trade 
unions and employers under the jurisdiction of Part I 
(Industrial Relations) of the Canada Labour Code 
and Part II of the Status of the Artist Act.

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/asp/gateway.asp?hr=/
en/lp/fmcs/02About.shtml&hs=mxm

National Labour Operations
This program ensures consistent and cost-effective 
administration of Part II (Occupational Health and 
Safety) and Part III (Labour Standards) of the Canada 
Labour Code, as well as the Employment Equity Act, 
Federal Contractors Program for Employment Equity, 
Fair Wages and Hours of Labour Act and the Non‑
smokers’ Health Act. National Labour Operations is 
responsible, as well, for administering the Government 
Employees’ Compensation Act and the Merchant 
Seamen Compensation Act. It also administers Fire 
Protection Services on behalf of Treasury Board.

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/gateways/nav/ 
top_nav/program/labour.shtml

International and Intergovernmental 
Labour Affairs
This program promotes the development, observance 
and effective enforcement of internationally recognized 
labour principles, and fosters cooperation and 
coordination among labour jurisdictions in Canada on 
international and national labour issues and facilitates 
dialogue with Program stakeholders.

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/lp/ila/index.shtml

Workplace Policy and Information
This program identifies emerging trends and changes 
in the workplace and provides leadership in labour 
policy development. It manages a national database 
of collective agreements, conducts research on 
employment relationships and disseminates key 
information, research and analysis. See Work-life 
Balance and Ageing Workforce at:

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/lp/wid/info.shtml

Other
Aboriginal Labour Affairs

Aboriginal Labour Affairs Office ensures a coordinated 
program approach to Aboriginal labour issues and 
facilitates the identification of, and appropriate response 
to, issues arising in the context of self-government 
negotiations and program service delivery. 
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Enhanced income 
security, access 
to opportunities 
and well-being for 
individuals, families 
and communities
Program Activity: Social Investment

Human Resources and Social Development Canada 
develops and administers a broad range of programs 
that address the needs of seniors, persons with 
disabilities and children and families.

Seniors and Pensions
Canada Pension Plan 

The Canada Pension Plan is a joint federal-provincial 
plan that operates throughout Canada, except in 
Quebec, which has its own comparable plan. The 
Canada Pension Plan provides for a variety of benefits 
based on life changes. It provides benefits for surviving 
partners and children of contributors, people with 
disabilities and their children and a one-time maximum 
benefit of $2,500 in the event of death. It is a contributory 
plan; contributors are employers, employees or self-
employed persons between the ages of 18 and 70 who 
earn at least a minimum amount during a calendar 
year. Benefits are calculated based on how much and 
for how long a contributor has paid into the Plan. 
Benefits are not paid automatically – everyone must 
apply and provide proof of eligibility. Approximately 
12 million Canadians over the age of 18 contribute 
annually to the Plan and approximately 4 million 
Canadians received benefits during 2006 – 2007.

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/asp/gateway.asp?hr=en/
isp/cpp/cpptoc.shtml&hs=cpr

Old Age Security 

The Old Age Security program is one of the cornerstones 
of Canada’s retirement income system, providing a 
basic monthly pension to most Canadians aged 65 or 
older who meet the residence and legal status 
requirements. It is financed from Government of Canada 
general tax revenues and indexed quarterly to the 
Consumer Price Index. Recognizing the difficult financial 

circumstances faced by many seniors, the Old Age 
Security program provides additional income-tested 
benefits for low-income individuals, namely the 
Guaranteed Income Supplement, the Allowance and 
the Allowance for the Survivor.

• The Guaranteed Income Supplement is a monthly 
benefit available to Old Age Security pensioners 
with little to no other income. The amount of the 
benefit is dependent upon income, residence, and 
marital status.

• The Allowance is a monthly benefit paid to a 
60 – 64 year old spouse or common-law partner of 
an Old Age Security pensioner. The Allowance for 
the Survivor is available to low-income persons aged 
60 – 64, and whose spouse or common-law partner 
is deceased. To be eligible, Allowance and Allowance 
for the Survivor recipients must reside in Canada 
and have low income. 

• The Allowance for the Survivor is available to low-
income individuals aged 60 to 64 whose spouse or 
common-law partner is deceased and who have not 
re-married nor entered into a common-law relationship.

Approximately 4.3 million Canadians are in receipt of 
Old Age Security benefits, of which 1.5 million also 
receive Guaranteed Income Supplement benefits.

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/asp/gateway.asp?hr=en/
isp/oas/oastoc.shtml&hs=ozs 

New Horizons For Seniors Program

The New Horizons for Seniors Program provides 
funding for community-based projects across Canada. 
Its projects encourage seniors to contribute their skills, 
experience and wisdom in support of social well-being 
in their communities and promote the ongoing 
involvement of seniors in their communities to reduce 
their risk of social isolation. The New Horizons for 
Seniors Program funding also strengthens networks 
and associations among community members, community 
organizations, and governments; and enhances 
opportunities for building community capacity and 
partnerships to respond to existing or emerging social 
challenges.

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/isp/horizons/toc.shtml
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Disability Programs
Human Resources and Social Development Canada is 
the lead department for the Government of Canada 
on issues affecting people with disabilities. The Office 
for Disability issues provides a national focal point on 
disability within the Government of Canada, and 
promotes the full participation of people with disabilities 
in all aspects of society and community life. The 
Department builds awareness and engages partners, 
citizens, and Provincial and Territorial partners in order 
to improve disability policy and programming.

The Office for Disability Issues also administers a variety 
of programs for people with disabilities. In 2006 – 2007, 
these programs included Labour Market Agreements 
for Persons with Disabilities, which provide provincial 
governments with support related provincial 
programming and the Opportunities Fund, which 
assists eligible people with disabilities to prepare for, 
obtain, and keep jobs or self-employment.

Through the Social Development Partnerships 
Program – Disability Component, the Department 
supports non-profit organizations that are working 
to meet the social development needs of people 
with disabilities. 

Labour Market Agreements for Persons 
with Disabilities 

The goal of the Labour Market Agreements for Persons 
with Disabilities is to improve the employment situation 
of Canadians with disabilities, by enhancing their 
employability, increasing the employment opportunities 
available to them, and building on their existing 
knowledge base. The Agreements facilitate coordination 
in labour market programming targeted to persons 
with disabilities through agreements with provinces.

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/hip/odi/ 
08_multilateralFramework.shtml 

Opportunities Fund for Persons 
with Disabilities 

The Opportunities Fund for Persons with Disabilities is 
designed to assist people with disabilities who are 
otherwise ineligible for employment programs 
available through the Employment Insurance program 
to return to work. Funding under the Opportunities 
Fund assists eligible people with disabilities to prepare 
for and obtain employment or self-employment as 
well as to develop the skills necessary to maintain that 
new employment. The Fund also supports effective 

and innovative activities such as encouraging employers 
to provide individuals with work opportunities and 
experience; assisting individuals to increase their 
employment skill level and helping individuals to start 
their own business; and working in partnership with 
organizations for people with disabilities, including 
the private sector, to support innovative approaches to 
integrate individuals with disabilities into employment 
or self-employment, and address barriers to an individual’s 
labour market participation

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/epb/sid/cia/grants/
of/desc_of.shtml#1

Canada Pension Plan – Disability
The enhanced social and economic participation of 
people with disabilities is also supported through the 
disability benefits that are payable to eligible individuals 
under the Canada Pension Plan. The Canada Pension 
Plan Disability Program is Canada’s largest long-term 
disability insurance plan. In 2006 – 2007, $3.4 billion 
in benefits were paid to 304,000 individuals and 
90,000 of their children. Approximately 64,000 new 
applications were received in the same year 

Canada Pension Plan – Disability Benefits

Canada Pension Plan – Disability benefits are payable 
to contributors who meet the minimum contributory 
requirements and whose disability is “severe and 
prolonged,” as defined in the legislation; that is, a 
mental or physical disability that prevents them from 
working regularly at any job at a substantially gainful 
level. In determining an individual’s medical eligibility, 
consideration is given to personal characteristics such 
as age, education and work experience. Socio-economic 
factors such as the availability of work are not. Children 
of Canada Pension Plan disability beneficiaries are also 
eligible for a monthly benefit up to the age 18, or up 
to age 25 if attending school full-time.

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/isp/cpp/summary.
shtml

Community Development 
and Partnerships
The Social Development Partnerships Program enables 
social non-profit organizations to improve the social 
well-being of children and families, individuals with 
disabilities, and minority language communities, and 
encourages Vibrant Communities and other community-
based collaborations. 
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In addition, this program carries out policy research, 
analysis and development; monitors Canadian and 
international experience for model approaches and 
lessons learned; supports the efforts of the community 
sector to innovate, strengthens networks of collaboration, 
promotes self-sufficiency, and shares good practices to 
contribute to community well-being; and brings 
together experts from the federal government and 
external organizations to discuss issues, challenges 
and opportunities and to share best practices in 
collaboration to address the complex problems facing 
our cities, communities and community sector.

Social Development Partnerships Program 

The Social Development Partnerships Program provides 
funding to organizations to promote new knowledge, 
develop networks and strengthen the non-profit sector’s 
ability to meet the needs of vulnerable populations. 
It funds projects to support social inclusion, improve 
the lives of children and families, people with disabilities 
and official language minority communities. It also 
provides funding for the Understanding the Early 
Years initiative and the Voluntary Sector Strategy. 

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/community_
partnerships/sdpp/index.shtml

Understanding the Early Years 

Understanding the Early Years helps communities 
across Canada better understand the needs of their 
young children and families. Understanding the Early 
Years is a national initiative providing communities 
with information about the readiness to learn of their 
children, community factors influencing child 
development, and local resources available to support 
young children and their families. Communities use 
this information to develop community action plans to 
guide future policies, programs, or investments that 
help their children thrive in the early years.

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/hip/sd/ 
300_UEYinfo.shtml

Program Activity: Children 
and Families

This Program provides support and choices for 
families, through Canada’s Universal Child Care Plan 
and other existing initiatives, to help ensure their 
children have the best possible start in life.

Child Care
In 2006, the Government of Canada introduced Canada’s 
Universal Child Care Plan consisting of two key 
elements designed to give parents choice in child care 
so they can balance work and family life.

Universal Child Care Benefit

In July 2006 families began to receive up to 
$1,200 per year for each child under six, taxable in 
the hands of the lower-income spouse. Payments are 
made directly to parents so that they can choose the 
child care that is best for their children and their 
family’s needs. The Universal Child Care Benefit is 
provided in addition to existing federal programs such 
as the Canada Child Tax Benefit and the National 
Child Benefit Supplement and does not affect the 
benefits families receive under these programs or the 
Child Care Expense Deduction. Further information 
can be found at

www.universalchildcare.ca.

Supporting the Creation of Child Care Spaces

 Recognizing the availability of child care spaces is a 
challenge faced by many families. Budget 2007 
proposes to transfer $250M per year to provinces and 
territories via the Canada Social Transfer, with federal 
support growing by 3% every year thereafter to 
2013 – 2014. This new investment will support 
provinces and territories in the creation of child care 
spaces that are responsive to the needs of parents and 
administered in an efficient and accountable manner. 
In addition, effective March 19, 2007, a 25% non-
refundable investment tax credit, to a maximum of 
$10,000 per space created, is available to support 
businesses in the creation of licensed child care spaces 
in the workplace for the children of their employees 
and potentially, for children in the surrounding 
community.

Multilateral Framework for 
Early Learning and Child Care
The objectives of the federal, provincial and territorial 
Multilateral Framework on Early Learning and Child 
Care are to promote early childhood development and 
support the participation of parents in employment or 
training by improving access to affordable, quality 
early learning and child care programs and services. 
In 2003 – 2004, the Government of Canada began 
transferring $1.05 billion over five years through the 
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Canada Social Transfer to support provincial and 
territorial government investments in early learning 
and child care. Further information can be found at

http://www.ecd-elcc.ca

Early Childhood Development Agreements
Through the Early Childhood Development Agreement, 
federal, provincial and territorial governments have 
committed to improving and expanding early 
childhood development supports for young children—
prenatal to age six—and their parents. The Government 
of Canada transfers $500 million per year, via the 
Canada Social Transfer, to provincial and territorial 
governments to improve and expand programs and 
services in four key areas: promoting healthy pregnancy; 
birth and infancy; improving parenting and family 
supports; strengthening early childhood development, 
learning and care; and strengthening community 
supports.

http://www.ecd-elcc.ca

National Child Benefit Initiative 
Introduced in 1998, the National Child Benefit 
initiative is a key commitment in helping to ensure 
that children in low-income families get the best 
possible start in life. The National Child Benefit is a 
partnership among federal, provincial, and territorial 
governments 39, including a First Nations component, 
which provides income support, as well as benefits 
and services, to low-income families with children. 
The National Child Benefit aims to: help prevent and 
reduce the depth of child poverty; promote attachment 
to the labour market by ensuring families are always 
better off as a result of working; and reduce overlap 
and duplication by harmonizing program objectives 
and benefits and simplifying administration.

Under this initiative, the Government of Canada provides 
income support to low-income families with children 
through the National Child Benefit Supplement 40. 
Maximum National Child Benefit Supplement benefits 
for a two-child family were $3,665 in 2006 – 2007. 
Human Resources and Social Development Canada is 

responsible for policy development with respect to the 
National Child Benefit, and the Minister of Human 
Resources and Social Development represents the 
Government of Canada in this federal/provincial/
territorial initiative. Joint federal/provincial/territorial 
reports on the progress of this initiative are available 
on the National Child Benefit website:

http://www.nationalchildbenefit.ca

Other
Child Disability Benefit

The Child Disability Benefit is paid by the Canada 
Revenue Agency as a monthly supplement to the 
Canada Child Tax Benefit and Children’s Special 
Allowances payments to low- and modest-income 
families with a severely disabled child. Social 
Development Canada participated in the development 
of the Child Disability Benefit and is involved in its 
ongoing implementation.

The Department also plays a key role, on behalf of the 
Government of Canada, in the development and 
exchange of knowledge, information, and best 
practices related to children and their families.

Program Activity: Housing 
and Homelessness

This program activity assists communities, through 
partnerships, in implementing measures – such as 
shelters, supportive and transitional housing, and 
related support services – that help homeless 
individuals and families as well as those at risk of 
homelessness move towards self-sufficiency, thereby 
contributing to society and the economy.

http://www.homelessness.gc.ca/home/ 
index_e.asp

Supporting Communities 
Partnership Initiative
The Supporting Communities Partnership Initiative 
aims to increase availability and access to a range of 
services and facilities (emergency shelters, transitional/

39 The Government of Quebec has stated that it agrees with the basic principles of the National Child Benefit. 
Quebec chose not to participate in the initiative because it wanted to assume control over income support 
for children in Quebec; however, it has adopted a similar approach to the National Child Benefit. Throughout 
this section, references to joint federal/provincial/territorial positions do not include Quebec.

40 The Canada Child Tax Benefit including the National Child Benefit Supplement) is a tax measure, and is 
administered by Canada Revenue Agency. As such, the Canada Revenue Agency reports on strategic priorities, 
indicators and outcomes of the Canada Child Tax Benefit.
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supportive housing, and prevention) along the 
continuum from homelessness to self-sufficiency and 
an independent lifestyle. Projects funded by the 
Supporting Communities Partnership Initiative support 
the priority areas identified through an inclusive 
community planning process. Along with providing 
financial support to communities, the Supporting 
Communities Partnership Initiative encourages them 
to work in partnership with provincial/territorial and 
municipal governments as well as the private and 
voluntary sectors to strengthen existing capacity and 
to develop integrated responses to homelessness. 
Communities are allocated a maximum funding level 
that must be matched from other community sources 
(i.e., fundraising, local sponsors, etc.). Communities 
must also explain how their activities are sustainable 
(i.e., how they will continue once Supporting 
Communities Partnership Initiative funding ends).

http://www.homelessness.gc.ca/initiative/ 
scpi_e.asp

Urban Aboriginal Homelessness 
Aboriginal homelessness is a serious issue in some 
communities and is best addressed by developing 
local responses. The National Homelessness Initiative 
will continue to address the unique needs of the 
Aboriginal population through its Urban Aboriginal 
Homelessness component. This component provides 
flexibility to meet the needs of homeless Aboriginal 
people, through culturally sensitive services. Enhancing 
capacity building – both within and outside of Aboriginal 
communities – through community planning, decision 
making and the formulation of partnerships is a key 
Urban Aboriginal Homelessness focus. Cost-matching 
is not required; however, community contributions are 
encouraged where and when possible. The Housing 
and Homelessness Branch, formerly called the National 
Secretariat on Homelessness, works with the Federal 
Interlocutor’s Division of Indian and Northern Affairs 
Canada to ensure the complimentarity of the Urban 
Aboriginal Strategy pilot projects and the National 
Homelessness Initiative’s Urban Aboriginal 
Homelessness component.

http://www.homelessness.gc.ca/initiative/ 
uah_e.asp

Regional Homelessness Fund
The Regional Homelessness Fund is designed to 
provide support to small and rural communities that 
are experiencing homelessness in their local areas, but 

often need to build greater capacity in order to respond 
to homelessness issues. Homeless individuals or those 
at risk of homelessness in smaller, isolated communities 
must often move to larger urban centres to access 
homeless-related supports and services. This in turn 
can place a burden on the service systems of these 
larger communities. The Regional Homelessness Fund 
provides funding to establish support services needed 
to prevent homelessness and to help stabilize the 
living conditions of at-risk individuals and families. 
The Fund also encourages a wide range of partnerships 
and takes the unique needs of youth populations into 
consideration in the planning and implementation 
process.

http://www.homelessness.gc.ca/initiative/ 
rhf_e.asp

National Research Program
The National Research Program is designed to address 
the gaps and priorities in knowledge around issues of 
homelessness in Canada. The program works to: further 
increase the base of policy and community-relevant 
research; encourage and support research partnerships 
(with research and community organizations, other 
federal departments, and academic researchers); and 
facilitate the sharing of best practices and transfer of 
knowledge. By providing funding to partners to 
strengthen their capacity to develop a deeper under-
standing of homelessness, the National Research 
Program will help foster the development and assess-
ment of appropriate and effective solutions to home-
lessness. This is vital to making efficient use of scarce 
resources and sustaining community efforts over the 
long term.

http://www.homelessness.gc.ca/initiative/ 
nrp_e.asp

Homeless Individuals and Families 
Information System
Homeless Individuals and Families Information System 
is a user-friendly, robust software application that 
provides a portrait of shelters and their clientele. It gives 
service providers an electronic data management 
system that enables them to share information and 
develop partnerships with local, private, municipal, 
provincial/territorial and federal levels. Data on 
demographic characteristics and shelter use patterns 
of people experiencing homelessness address knowledge 
gaps and support local planning efforts. The benefits 
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resulting from a network of data-sharing communities 
contribute to the development of a national database 
that informs effective policies and programs.

The Homeless Individuals and Families Information 
System Initiative have compiled a National Shelter List. 
It has identified 1,020 shelters representing more than 
26,000 regular shelter beds. The Homeless Individuals 
and Families Information System have up to 
520 registered users, including shelters and other 
service providers such as food banks, drop-in centres 
and supportive housing organizations.

www.hifis.ca 

Surplus Federal Real Property 
for Homelessness Initiative
The Surplus Federal Real Property for Homelessness 
Initiative provides surplus federal properties to 
communities across Canada to address their local 
homelessness-related needs through the Housing and 
Homelessness Branch coordination. The homelessness 
projects, which must be financially viable and 
sustainable, help communities overcome the high 
capital costs of buying land or buildings. Government 
departments and agencies, which are encouraged to 
identify such properties, receive compensation at 
market value and transfer them – to community 
organizations, the not-for-profit sector and other 
orders of government – for a nominal cost to help 
alleviate and prevent homelessness. Additional funding 
for construction and renovation costs may also be 
available through related federal programs such as the 
Supporting Communities Partnership Initiative and 
Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation programs. 
Three Government of Canada organizations – Public 
Works and Government Services Canada, Human 
Resources and Social Development Canada and the 
Housing and Homelessness Branch, and Canada 
Mortgage and Housing Corporation – act as partners 
at the national and regional levels in implementing 
and managing this initiative.

http://www.homelessness.gc.ca/initiative/ 
sfrphi_e.asp

Achieve better outcomes 
for Canadians through 
service excellence
Program Activity: Service Canada

Seamless, Citizen-Centred Service
This program activity focuses on delivering seamless 
citizen-centred service by providing integrated, one-
stop service based on citizen needs and helping to 
deliver better policy outcomes.

Integrity
This program activity seeks to enhance the integrity 
of programs by building trust and confidence in the 
integrity of our social programs and by achieving 
significant savings in program payments. Its expected 
results are that benefits are delivered in the most cost-
effective manner to the right citizen, at the right time, 
and for the purpose they were intended.

Collaborative, Networked 
Government Service
This program activity seeks to encourage work as a 
collaborative, networked government by building 
whole-of-government approaches to service that enables 
information sharing, integrated service delivery and 
strategic investment for the benefit of Canadians. 
Its expected results are that programs and services are 
synchronized within the federal government and 
across jurisdictions to enhance efficiency and ease of 
accessibility for citizens.

Accountable and Responsible to Government

This program activity seeks to demonstrate 
accountable and responsible government by delivering 
results for Canadians and government, savings for 
taxpayers, and transparency in reporting. Its expected 
results are sound stewardship of public funds ensuring 
value-for-money and transparent performance 
reporting.
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Service Excellence Culture 

This program activity seeks to build a service excellence 
culture by supporting our people, encouraging 
innovation, and building leadership and capacity to 
provide citizen-centred service. Its expected results are 
the presence in Service Canada of a skilled and dynamic 
workforce focused on citizen-centered service.

As part of its citizen focus, Service Canada has developed 
a Service Charter that describes its commitment for 
better service, service standards to communicate 

the level of service Canadians should expect, and a 
Performance Scorecard which includes service indicators 
for measuring access and Client Satisfaction results. 
An Office for Client Satisfaction was created to 
monitor and manage suggestions, compliments and 
complaints and identify where Service Canada can 
improve its processes to be more responsive and fair.



20� 2006 – 2007 Estimates  A Departmental Performance Report

Human Resources and Social 
Development Canada Website
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/home.shtml

Service Canada Website
http:www.servicecanada.gc.ca/en/home.shtml

The Honourable Monte Solberg P.C., M.P.
Minister of Human Resources and Social 
Development Canada

http://www2.parl.gc.ca/Parlinfo/Files/
Parliamentarian.aspx?Item=a41f0339-61c7-4e13-
9988-3388def0e162&Language=E&Section=Fede
ralExperience

The Honourable Jean-Pierre Blackburn 
Minister of Labour and Minister of the Economic 
Development Agency of Canada for the Regions 
of Quebec

http://www2.parl.gc.ca/Parlinfo/Files/
Parliamentarian.aspx?Item=74df2965-5f3e-47af-
8a91-cdf4d6e3f66a&Language=E&Section=Feder
alExperience

http://pm.gc.ca/eng/bio.asp?id=50

Acts and Regulations Governing Human 
Resources and Skills Development Canada 
and Social Development Canada
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/cs/fas/as/contact/acts.
shtml 

Human Resources and Social Development 
Canada Internal Audit
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/cs/sp/sdc/audit/
page00.shtml

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/cs/fas/iarms/toc.shtml 

Human Resources and Social Development 
Canada Evaluation
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/gateways/nav/left_nav/
publications.shtml

Human Resources and Social 
Development Canada Overview

List of HRSDC Programs and Services
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/gateways/nav/top_nav/
ps.shtml

Speech from the Throne, April 4, 2006 
http://www.pm.gc.ca/eng/media.asp?id=1087

Enhanced Canadian productivity and 
participation through efficient and 
inclusive labour markets, 
competitive workplaces and access 
to learning

Labour Market
Employment Insurance Benefits
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/gateways/nav/top_nav/
program/ei.shtml

Employment Benefits and Support Measures
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/gateways/nav/top_nav/
program/gc.shtml

Labour Market Development Agreements 
http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/rma/eppi-ibdrp/hrdb-
rhbd/lmda-edmt/description_e.asp

Aboriginal Human Resources Development 
Strategy 
http://www17.hrdc-drhc.gc.ca/AHRDSInternet/
general/public/HomePage1_e.asp

http://www17.hrdc-drhc.gc.ca/AHRDSInternet/
general/public/HomePage1_f.asp

Aboriginal Skills and Employment 
Partnerships
http://www17.hrdc-drhc.gc.ca/AHRDSInternet/
general/public/asep/asep_e.asp

Youth Employment Strategy
http://www.youth.gc.ca

People • Partnerships • Knowledge

Website References
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Official Language Minority Communities
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/gateways/nav/top_nav/
program/solmc.shtml

Work Sharing
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/epb/sid/cia/grants/ws/
desc_ws.shtml 

Workplace Skills
Human Resources Partnerships

The Sector Council Program 
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/gateways/nav/top_nav/
program/spi.shtml

Essential Skills
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/hip/hrp/essential_skills/
essential_skills_index.shtml

National Occupational Classification
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/hip/hrp/noc/noc_index.
shtml

Apprenticeship and Labour Mobility 
Initiatives
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/gateways/nav/top_nav/
program/almi.shtml

The Foreign Worker Program
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/gateways/nav/top_nav/
program/fw.shtml

Labour Market Information 
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/gateways/nav/top_nav/
program/lmi.shtml 

Red Seal Program
http://red-seal.ca/

Workplace Skills Strategy
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/ws/index.shtml

Workplace Skills Initiative
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/ws/initiatives/wsi/index.
shtml

Foreign Credential Recognition
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/asp/gateway.asp?hr=en/
ws/programs/fcr/index.shtml&hs=hzp

Learning
Canada Student Loans and Grants
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/gateways/topics/cxp-
gxr.shtml

http://www.canlearn.ca

Canada Education Savings Grant: General 
Information
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/gateways/topics/cgs-
gxr.shtml

Adult Learning, Literacy and Essential Skills 
Program
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/gateways/topics/lxa-
gxr.shtml

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/gateways/topics/lxi-gxr.
shtml

International Academic Mobility
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/gateways/nav/top_nav/
program/iam.shtml

Safe, healthy, fair, stable, 
cooperative and productive 
workplaces and effective 
international labour standards

Labour
The Federal Mediation and Conciliation 
Service
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/asp/gateway.asp?hr=/en/
lp/fmcs/02About.shtml&hs=mxm

National Labour Operations 
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/gateways/nav/top_nav/
program/labour.shtml

International Labour Affairs
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/lp/ila/index.shtml

Labour Policy and Workplace Information 
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/lp/wid/info.shtml

Enhanced income security, access 
to opportunities and well-being 
for individuals, families and 
communities

Social Investment
Canada Pension Plan 
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/asp/gateway.asp?hr=en/
isp/cpp/cpptoc.shtml&hs=cpr

Canada Pension Plan and Old Age Security 
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/oas-cpp/index.shtml
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Canada Pension Plan – Disability:
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/isp/cpp/summary.shtml

Canada Pension Plan Disability Benefits 
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/oas-cpp/cpp_disability/
index.shtml

Community Development and Partnerships 
Directorate 
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/community_
partnerships/index.shtml 

Labour Market Agreements for Persons with 
Disabilities: 
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/hip/odi/08_
multilateralFramework.shtml 

New Horizons for Seniors Program: 
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/isp/horizons/toc.shtml

Old Age Security 
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/asp/gateway.asp?hr=en/
isp/oas/oastoc.shtml&hs=ozs 

Opportunities Fund for Persons with 
Disabilities: 
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/epb/sid/cia/grants/of/
desc_of.shtml#1

Social Development Partnerships Program: 
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/community_
partnerships/sdpp/index.shtml

The Office for Disability Issues 
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/disability_issues/index.
shtml

Understanding the Early Years: 
http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/hip/sd/300_UEYinfo.
shtml

Children and Families
Canada’s Universal Child Care Plan
http://www.universalchildcare.ca

Federal/Provincial/Territorial Early Childhood 
Development Agreement
http://www.ecd-elcc.ca

Multilateral Framework on Early Learning 
and Child Care
http://www.ecd-elcc.ca

The National Child Benefit
http://www.nationalchildbenefit.ca

Housing and Homelessness
The National Homelessness Initiative
http://www.homelessness.gc.ca/home/index_e.
asp

The National Homelessness Initiative 
Programs
http://www.homelessness.gc.ca/initiative/
nhiprograms_e.asp

Achieve better outcomes for 
Canadians through service 
excellence

Service Canada
http://www.servicecanada.gc.ca/en/home.html

Questions and Public Enquiries

If you have questions about departmental programs 
and services, you may contact your nearest Service 
Canada office listed in the Government of Canada 
pages of the telephone book or through the HRSDC 
website at

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/gateways/nav/top_
nav/our_offices.shtml.

To obtain HRSDC publications, please contact the 
Public Enquiries Centre at

http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/gateways/nav/left_
nav/publications.shtml
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A
Aboriginal Human Resources Development Strategy  

 21, 26, 49, 51, 53, 54, 58, 144, 149, 193, 194, 206

Aboriginal Labour Affairs 78, 198

Aboriginal People 40, 48, 53, 54, 74, 99, 108, 172, 
193, 194, 203

Aboriginal Skills and Employment Partnerships 49, 54, 
58, 130, 131, 144, 194, 206

Active Employment Measures 52, 147, 192

Adult Learning, Literacy and Essential Skills Program  
 16, 22, 65, 66, 70, 72, 131, 144, 197, 207

Allowance Payments 18

B
Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act 76 

Budget 77, 18, 21, 23, 40, 41, 44, 49, 54, 65, 70, 
71, 87, 93, 123, 130, 131, 132, 133, 135, 137, 
139, 197, 201 

Business Lines 195, 196

C
Canada Access Grant 65, 130, 144, 156, 157, 197

Canada Education Savings Grant 18, 22, 27, 66, 67, 
68, 71, 130, 137, 144, 172, 197, 207 

Canada Education Savings Program 16, 27, 66, 67, 
69, 71, 72, 144, 197

Canada Labour Code 17, 22, 27, 28, 75, 76, 77, 78, 
148, 171, 198 

Canada Learning Bonds 71 

Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation 64, 65, 
66, 145 

Canada Pension Plan 7, 17, 18, 23, 30, 82, 83, 86, 
87, 95, 105, 109, 112, 114, 116, 118, 119, 120, 
122, 123, 128, 132, 133, 134, 138, 147, 153, 168, 
171, 173, 177, 179, 183, 184, 199, 200, 207 

Canada Pension Plan Disability 82, 83, 86, 87, 112, 
114, 116, 200, 207 

Canada Student Loans Program 27, 65, 66, 68, 69, 
70, 71, 119, 127, 132, 133, 144, 149, 156, 157, 
158, 159, 160, 161, 197

Canada Study Grant 65, 130, 137, 144, 156, 157, 
172, 197 

Canadian Council on Learning 65, 145

Children and Families 14, 16, 23, 29, 88, 90, 92, 9, 
94, 95, 199, 201, 208 

Civil Service Insurance Fund 18, 127, 150, 152, 
184, 185

Communities 3, 14, 15, 16, 20, 22, 23, 24, 28, 29, 
31, 35, 45, 49, 50, 52, 54, 58, 62, 64, 78, 81, 82, 
83, 84, 85, 86, 88, 89, 96, 97, 99, 100, 103, 104, 
106, 108, 109, 116, 131, 144, 147, 171, 172, 173, 
191, 192, 193, 194, 199, 201, 203, 204, 207 

Compassionate Care 21, 49, 53 

Conditional Grants 127, 145 

Consultations – Labour 32, 34, 35, 44

Corporate Risks 35

D
Debt Management Measures 70, 130, 197 

Debt Reduction 68, 70, 158, 159, 161, 174, 176, 197

E
Early Childhood Development Agreement 16, 23, 91, 

93, 95, 149, 202, 208 

Employment Benefits and Support Measures 26, 43, 
50, 52, 56, 58, 121, 147, 184, 193, 206 

Employment Equity Act 17, 75, 77, 171, 198

Employment Insurance Account 18, 127, 130, 132, 
150, 151, 179, 197 

Employment Insurance Benefits 18, 26, 50, 53, 58, 
112, 113, 123, 130, 132, 192, 193, 206 

Employment Insurance Part I 43, 49, 53, 130, 132, 147

Employment Insurance Part II 17, 132 

People • Partnerships • Knowledge

Index
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Essential Skills 16, 22, 55, 61, 62, 65, 66, 70, 72, 
130, 196, 197, 198, 206, 207 

Expected Results 148, 204, 205 

Expenditure Profile 3, 17 

Expenditure Review 34, 112

F
Fact Sheets 104, 119 

Fair Wages and Hours of Labour Act 171, 198 

Federal Contractors Program for Employment 
Equity 198 

Federal Labour Standards Review – “Fairness at 
Work” 22, 75 

Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service 16, 147, 
198, 207 

Federal Workers’ Compensation System 77 

Fire Protection Services 142, 198 

Foreign Credential Recognition 43, 60, 61, 130, 
131, 144, 147, 149, 196, 207

Foreign Workers and Immigrants 63, 195 

Foundations 65, 96, 127, 145

G
Government Annuities Account 18, 127, 140, 150, 

152, 168, 183 

Government Employees’ Compensation Act 198 

Grants and Contributions 17, 18, 32, 33, 34, 36, 46, 
75, 94, 103, 107, 110, 116, 118, 123, 130, 131, 
132, 133, 147, 171, 176, 177, 197

Guaranteed Income Supplement 7, 18, 82, 94, 122, 
133, 138, 144, 154, 199

H
Health and Safety 8, 74, 75, 78, 147, 148, 172, 198 

Horizontal Initiatives 21, 49, 65, 89, 91, 127, 149

Homelessness Accountability Network 97 

Homelessness Partnering Strategy 7, 24, 81, 97, 99 

Housing and Homelessness 16, 23, 29, 96, 97, 98, 
99, 100, 202, 203, 204, 208 

I
Income Support 14, 21, 40, 48, 49, 53, 82, 147, 

192, 193, 202 

Interest Relief 68, 70, 158, 197

International Academic Mobility 16, 71, 72, 172, 
198, 207 

International Agreements 154, 155 

International and Intergovernmental Labour 
Affairs 16, 79, 198 

International Labour Organization

L
Labour 3, 8, 10, 14, 15, 16, 17, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 

24, 26, 27, 28, 32, 33, 40, 42, 43, 44, 47, 48, 49, 
50, 51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 56, 57, 58, 59, 60, 61, 62, 
63, 73, 74, 75, 76, 77, 78, 79, 82, 83, 86, 87, 116, 
118, 122, 128, 131, 132, 135, 137, 140, 142, 144, 
147, 148, 149, 167, 171, 172, 174, 184, 185, 190, 
192, 193, 194, 195, 196, 197, 198, 200, 202, 
206, 207 

Labour Cooperation Agreements 8, 75

Labour Force 17, 19, 21, 26, 47, 48, 50, 75 

Labour Market Adjustment 58, 194 

Labour Market Agreements for Persons with 
Disabilities 23, 28, 49, 82, 83, 86, 87, 144, 
200, 207 

Labour Market Development Agreement 21, 43, 49, 
50, 52, 58, 116, 147, 149, 184, 185, 193, 206 

Labour Market Information 16, 55, 60, 61, 62, 63, 
122, 196, 207

Labour Mobility 60, 61, 62, 195, 196, 207

Labour Policy and Workplace Information 207 

Labour Standards 3, 8, 15, 16, 22, 27, 28, 73, 74, 
75, 76, 77, 147, 172, 191, 198, 207 

Learning 3, 14, 15, 16, 18, 21, 22, 23, 27, 34, 35, 
41, 47, 59, 64, 65, 66, 68, 69, 70, 71, 72, 84, 86, 
89, 91, 93, 95, 106, 110, 128, 130, 131, 132, 135, 
137, 139, 140, 144, 145, 147, 149, 167, 171, 172, 
190, 192, 195, 196, 197, 198, 202, 206, 207, 208

Learning Initiatives Program 66, 70, 172, 197

Lifelong Learning 14, 22, 64, 65, 66, 70, 197 

Literacy 14, 16, 22, 31, 55, 62, 65, 66, 70, 72, 130, 
131, 144, 145, 172, 197, 198, 207
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M
Mandate 3, 14, 17, 21, 36, 41, 48, 65, 74 

Merchant Seamen Compensation Act 198 

Multilateral Framework for Early Learning 
and Child Care 95, 202 

N
National Child Benefit 16, 23, 29, 91, 92, 95, 149, 

171, 201, 202, 208

National Homelessness Initiative 24, 29, 96, 97, 98, 
99, 130, 144, 149, 203, 208

National Labour Operations 16, 78, 79, 198, 207

National Literacy Secretariat 172

National Occupational Classification 196, 207

New Horizons for Seniors 23, 29, 83, 85, 88, 144, 
147, 199, 207

Non‑smokers’ Health Act 198

O
Occupational Health and Safety 8, 74, 75, 78, 147, 

148, 172, 198

Office of Learning Technologies 66, 70, 147, 172, 197 

Official Language Minority Communities 23, 31, 50, 
52, 58, 84, 88, 104, 108, 144, 194, 201, 206 

Official Languages 31, 50, 52, 102, 106, 109

Old Age Security 7, 17, 18, 23, 30, 82, 83, 94, 105, 
112, 114, 119, 120, 122, 123, 127, 128, 132, 144, 
145, 147, 154, 155, 171, 177, 179, 199, 207, 208

Older Workers (Targeted Initiative for Older 
Workers – TIOW) 7, 21, 49, 56, 108, 131, 144, 
149, 194

Opportunities Fund for persons with Disabilities  
 28, 87, 144, 200, 208 

P
Performance Measurement Framework 25, 33, 66

Persons with Disabilities 7, 23, 24, 28, 32, 44, 49, 
82, 83, 86, 87, 144, 199, 200, 207, 208 

Peter Gzowski Foundation for Literacy 65, 145

Plans 7, 9, 14, 15, 20, 23, 25, 26, 42, 51, 52, 54, 
61, 71, 86, 87, 103, 105, 107, 108, 111, 112, 
114, 116, 123, 130, 137, 148, 150, 153, 174, 
182, 187, 188, 197, 201

Plans and Priorities 7, 9, 14, 20, 25, 103, 107, 111, 
112, 116150, 153

Post-Secondary Education 14, 22, 32, 35, 40, 41, 44, 
64, 65, 66, 68, 70, 71, 75, 137, 156, 197, 198

Priorities 3, 7, 9, 14, 15, 17, 20, 24, 25, 29, 32, 40, 
41, 42, 43, 44, 52, 61, 70, 75, 77, 86, 88, 93, 98, 
99, 103, 104, 107, 108, 110, 111, 112, 114, 115, 
116, 118, 150, 153.191, 192, 193, 202, 203

Program Indicators 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 50, 60, 
68, 76, 83, 92, 98, 119

R
Read to Me! Foundation Inc. 145 

Red Seal Program 195, 207 

Registered Education Savings Plans 71, 137, 197 

Risk 3, 7, 33, 34, 35, 36, 56, 74, 77, 96, 111, 112, 
114, 116, 130, 156, 157, 158, 160, 172, 180, 
193, 199, 203

S
Sector Councils 40, 59, 62, 195, 196 

Service Canada 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 24, 25, 27, 30, 
31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 49, 52, 58, 60, 63, 65, 66, 96, 
100, 102, 103, 104, 105, 106, 107, 108, 109, 110, 
111, 112, 113, 114, 115, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 
123, 124, 128, 129, 132, 146, 148, 165, 171, 172, 
185, 188, 193, 195, 196, 197, 204, 205, 208

Service Delivery 7, 17, 21, 24, 32, 35, 49, 53, 78, 
96, 102, 103, 106, 107, 109, 110, 113, 115, 116, 
118, 123, 124, 131, 132, 135, 136, 140, 141, 142, 
148, 165, 167, 171, 172, 198, 204

Service Indicators 27, 30, 69, 119, 120, 205

Social Development Partnerships Program 23, 29, 
84, 85, 88, 144, 200, 201, 208

Social Insurance Number 24, 25, 30, 33, 104, 111, 
112, 114, 117, 120, 122, 144, 143, 146

Social Investment 23, 28, 82, 83, 86, 94, 95, 136, 
141, 167, 171, 199, 207
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Specified Purpose Accounts 14, 18, 127, 139, 132, 
133, 135, 136, 137, 138, 150, 153

Stakeholders – Labour 21, 22, 33, 35, 40, 45, 49, 52, 
53, 54, 59, 61, 75, 77, 78, 82, 88, 172, 173, 194, 
195, 196, 198

Strategic Outcomes 15, 25

Student Financial Assistance 16, 17, 18, 72, 130, 
131, 137, 139, 156, 157, 158, 171, 180, 197

Students 35, 40, 65, 66, 70, 137, 156, 157, 158, 
159, 160, 180, 187, 196, 198

Supporting Communities Partnership Initiative  
 203, 204

Surplus Federal Real Property for Homelessness 
Initiative 99, 204

Sustainable Development Strategy 127, 146, 148

T
Trades and Apprenticeship 61, 195

Transfer Payments 17, 18, 54, 89, 123, 127, 144, 
178, 180, 187

U
Understanding the Early Years 29, 83, 85, 88, 132, 

201, 208

Universal Child Care Benefit 7, 17, 18, 23, 24, 29, 90, 
91, 92, 93, 94, 104, 106, 108, 115, 133, 144, 201 

V
Voisey’s Bay 49, 131, 144

W
Wage Earner Protection Program Act 75

Winnipeg Foundation 65, 145

Workers Compensation 18, 77, 79, 140, 142, 179

Workplace Information 28, 76, 172, 198, 207 

Workplace Skills 14, 21, 22, 27, 47, 52, 59, 60, 61, 
63, 128, 130, 131, 135, 140, 144, 167, 172, 194, 
195, 196, 206, 207

Y
Youth 26, 43, 48, 49, 50, 51, 55, 56, 58, 64, 71, 

104, 130, 131, 144, 147, 149, 172, 193, 194, 
203, 306

Youth Employment Strategy 26, 43, 49, 50, 51, 55, 
58, 130, 131, 144, 147, 149, 194, 206


